
 

 

www.lichfielddc.gov.uk 
 

 

/lichfielddc 
 

 

lichfield_dc 

 

 

MyStaffs App 

 

Your ref  

 

Our ref     
Ask for Wendy Johnson 

Email wendy.johnson@lichfielddc.gov.uk 

  

 

District Council House, Frog Lane 
Lichfield, Staffordshire WS136YU  

 
Customer Services 01543 308000 

Direct Line 01543308075 

16 July 2020 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
In light of the current Covid-19 pandemic and government advice on social distancing, the 
Planning Committee meeting to take place on MONDAY, 27TH JULY, 2020 at 6.00 PM will 
be held as a virtual meeting and streamed online (further information is available on our 
website).  
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Christine Tims 
Head of Governance & Performance 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Members of Planning Committee 
 

Councillors Marshall (Chairman), Baker (Vice-Chair), Anketell, Barnett, Birch, 
Checkland, Cox, Eagland, Evans, Ho, Humphreys, Leytham, Matthews and Tapper 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

www.lichfielddc.gov.uk 
 

 

/lichfielddc 
 

 

lichfield_dc 

 

 

MyStaffs App 

 

 
AGENDA 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  3 - 4 

4. Planning Applications  5 - 192 

 



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

1 JUNE 2020 
 

PRESENT: 
 
Councillors Marshall (Chairman), Baker (Vice-Chair), Anketell, Barnett, Birch, Checkland, Cox, 
Eagland, Evans, Ho, Leytham and Matthews 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
 
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the Planning Committee Meeting to be held online and 
streamed live. 
 
 

46 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Brown and Councillor Humphreys. 
 
 

47 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Chairman, Councillor Marshall, declared a non-pecuniary interest in application no. 
20/00230/FUH as the Objector, Mrs Helen Bielby, is known to him as she is an Officer of 
Lichfield District Council as did Councillor Baker, Barnett, Cox, Eagland, Evans, Ho, Leytham 
and Matthews 
 
Councillor Ho declared a personal interest in application no. 20/00230/FUH as Councillor Mark 
Warfield had been his teacher at school. 
 
 

48 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 May 2020 previously circulated were taken as read, 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

49 PLANNING APPLICATION  
 
Applications for permission for development were considered with the recommendations of the 
Head of Economic Growth and Development and any letters of representation and petitions of 
observations/representations together with the supplementary report of 
observations/representations received since the publication of the agenda in association with 
Planning Application 20/00230/FUH 
 
20/00230/FUH – Retention of 2no boundary fences 
31 Yew Tree Avenue, Lichfield, Staffordshire, WS14 9UA 
For Mrs L Keatley 

 
RESOLVED:-  That this application be approved subject to the conditions outlined in 
the report of the Head of Economic Growth and Development.  

 
(Prior to consideration of the application, representations were made by Mrs Helen Bielby 
(Objector), Councillor Mark Warfield (Ward Councillor) and Mr Nigel Cresswell (Applicant’s 
Representative)). 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
50 CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 441-2020 - CATERHAM 

CRESCENT, STREETHAY, LICHFIELD, STAFFORDSHIRE  
 
As per supplementary report, the objection relating to the above mentioned Tree Preservation 
Order had been withdrawn.   
 
As a result TPO no. 441-2020 will be confirmed via Officer delegated authority. 
 
 

51 CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 443-2020 - YOXALL WAY TO 
BUDDLEIA AVENUE, STREETHAY, LICHFIELD, STAFFORDSHIRE  
 

RESOLVED:-  That the Committee confirm the Tree Preservation Order without 
modifications. 
 

(Prior to consideration of the application, representations were made by Mr and Mrs Baker 
(Objectors) via written submission). 
 
 

52 CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 444-2020 - PARKES DRIVE TO 
HAMSTALL CLOSE, STREETHAY, LICHFIELD, STAFFORDSHIRE  
 

RESOLVED:-  That this application be deferred to allow further consideration on 
matters related to property covenants and planning condition requirements in relation 
to the tree planting. 
 

(Prior to consideration of the application, representations were made by Mr Glen Willetts 
(Objector)). 
 
 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 8.28 pm) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 4



 

    Planning Committee 
 

       27 July 2020 
 

       Agenda Item 4 
 

       Contact Officer: Claire Billings 
 

Telephone: 01543 308171 

 
Report of the Head of Economic Growth and Development 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT, 1985 
 

All documents and correspondence referred to within the report as History, Consultations and 
Letters of Representation, those items listed as ‘OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS’ together with 
the application itself comprise background papers for the purposes of the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act, 1985. 
 
Other consultations and representations related to items on the Agenda which are received after its 
compilation (and received up to 5 p.m. on the Friday preceding the meeting) will be included in a 
Supplementary Report to be available at the Committee meeting.  Any items received on the day of 
the meeting will be brought to the Committee’s attention. These will also be background papers for 
the purposes of the Act. 
 

 
FORMAT OF REPORT 
 
Please note that in the reports which follow 
 
1 ‘Planning Policy’ referred to are the most directly relevant Development Plan Policies in each 

case. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy 2008-2029 
(2015), Lichfield District Local Plan Allocations 2008-2029 (2019), any adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan for the relevant area, the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire 2015-
2030 (2017) and the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Waste Local Plan 2010–2026 
(2013). 

 
2 The responses of Parish/Town/City Councils consultees, neighbours etc. are summarised to 

highlight the key issues raised.  Full responses are available on the relevant file and can be 
inspected on request. 

 
3 Planning histories of the sites in question quote only items of relevance to the application in 

hand.         
 
ITEM ‘A’ Applications for determination by Committee - FULL REPORT  
 
ITEM ‘B’ Lichfield District Council applications, applications on Council owned land (if any) 

and any items submitted by Members or Officers of the Council.  
 
ITEM ‘C’ Applications for determination by the County Council on which observations are 

required (if any); consultations received from neighbouring Local Authorities on 
which observations are required (if any); and/or consultations submitted in relation 
to Crown applications in accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance on which 
observations are required (if any).  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 
 

ITEM A 
 

APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY COMMITTEE:  FULL REPORT 
 

27 July 2020 
 

CONTENTS 
 

Case No. Site Address Parish/Town Council 

 
19/00753/OUTMEI 

 
Rugeley Power Station Armitage Road Armitage 

 
Armitage With Handsacre 

 

 
19/01015/OUTM 

 
Land At Streethay Burton Road Streethay 

 
Fradley And Streethay 

 

 
20/00587/FUH 

 
22 Gaiafields Road Lichfield 

 
Lichfield 

 

 
19/01341/OUT 

 
The Mount Pike Lane Armitage 

 
Armitage With Handsacre 
 

 
 
 

Page 6



D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20201:12,000LOCATION PLAN
19/00753/OUTMEI

Rugeley Power Station
Armitage Road Armitage

Page 7



19/00753/OUTMEI 
 
OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION FOR THE CREATION OF DEVELOPMENT PLATFORM AND THE 
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING OFFICE BUILDING, ENVIRONMENTAL CENTRE, AND SECURITY 
GATEHOUSE, SITE CLEARANCE, REMEDIATION AND PHASED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT 
COMPRISING UP TO 2,300 NEW DWELLINGS AND RESIDENTIAL UNITS (USE CLASSES C3 AND C2), 
UP TO 1.2 HA OF MIXED-USE (USE CLASSES A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, C2, C3, D1 AND D2), UP TO 5 HA 
OF EMPLOYMENT (USE CLASSES B1A, B, C AND B2), A SCHOOL (ALL THROUGH SCHOOL OR 1 NO. 2 
FORM ENTRY PRIMARY SCHOOL (USE CLASS D1)), FORMAL AND INFORMAL PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE 
OPEN SPACE, KEY INFRASTRUCTURE INCLUDING NEW ADOPTABLE ROADS WITHIN THE SITE AND 
THE PROVISION OF A NEW PRIMARY ACCESS JUNCTION ON TO THE A513, GROUND AND ROOF 
MOUNTED SOLAR PANELS AND 2 NO. EXISTING ELECTRICITY SUBSTATIONS (132 KV AND 400 KV) 
RETAINED (ALL MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT ACCESS) 
RUGELEY POWER STATION, ARMITAGE ROAD, ARMITAGE, RUGELEY 
FOR RUGELEY POWER LIMITED 
 
Registered: 07/06/2019 – Revised submission received: 11/05/2020 
 
Parish: Armitage with Handsacre 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee, due to the significant scale of 
the development; that an Issues Paper on the application has been previously considered by 
members of the Planning Committee on 1st July 2019; that the planning application when first 
submitted was considered by the Planning Committee at its meeting on the 13th January 2020; and 
due to there being more than 3 obligations contained within the proposed S106 agreement. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
(1) Subject to the owners/applicants first entering into a Section 106 Legal Agreement under the 
Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) to secure contributions/planning obligations 
towards:- 
 

1. On-site affordable housing provision;  
2. On-site sports provision (including changing facilities and management) and off-site 

cricket contribution; 
3. On-site Public Open Space provision (including delivery of the waterside park, retained 

and new allotments and public art); 
4. Education provision, including on-site delivery of either a 2 form entry primary school 

with off-site secondary school contribution or an on-site all through school;  
5. Highways and transport contributions (comprising off-site highway works (junction 

improvements), canal towpath improvements, public transport service enhancement sum 
and Trent Valley Station improvements); 

6. Travel plan monitoring sum; 
7. Cannock Chase SAC air quality mitigation scheme; and 
8. On-site community building. 

 
(1a) Also, subject to the completion of a separate Unilateral Undertaking agreement relating to 
the payment of £178.60 per CIL exempt dwelling for recreational mitigation for the Cannock Chase 
SAC. 
 
(2) If the S106 legal agreement and Unilateral Undertaking are not signed/completed by the 2nd 
November 2020 or the expiration of any further agreed extension of time, then powers to be 
delegated to officers to refuse planning permission, based on the unacceptability of the 
development, without the required contributions and undertakings, as outlined in the report. 

 
Then APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 

Page 8



 

 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
Application(s) for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of twenty years from the date of this permission. 

 
2. The first reserved matters application shall be made within 3 years of the date of this planning 

permission. 
 
3. The development authorised by this permission shall be carried out in complete accordance 

with the approved plans and specification, as listed on this decision notice, except insofar as 
may be otherwise required by other conditions to which this permission is subject. 

 
4. This is an outline planning permission and no phase of development shall be commenced 

(excluding works identified as “exempt development” in Note 23 of Notes to Applicant) until 
details of layout of the site, including the disposition of roads and buildings; existing and 
proposed ground level and finished floor level; the design of all buildings and structures; the 
external appearance of all buildings and structures including materials to be used on all 
external surfaces; boundary treatments; housing mix; surfacing treatments; the means of 
pedestrian and cycle access and parking layout; and the landscape and planting of the site 
(except the approved access to the A513, through Lichfield District Council application number 
17/00453/FULM) have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority by 
way of reserved matters application(s). 

 
CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to the submission of any Reserved Matters applications: 
 
5. Before the submission of the first Reserved Matters application (with the exception of the 

Western Gateway and the Riverside Park), pursuant to Condition 4, a scheme for the phasing 
of the development of the entire site (to be broadly in accordance with the Illustrative Phasing 
Plan reference 01585_PP_06 Revision P5), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in broad 
accordance with the approved phasing plan/details. 

 
CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to the commencement of development hereby approved: 
 
6. a) Prior to the first application of any Reserved Matters for a sub-phase of development (with 

the exception of the Western Gateway or the Riverside Park), pursuant to Condition 4, a Site 
Wide Design Code, to include a Regulating Plan, for the development of the site, shall be 
submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Site Wide Design Code 
will be broadly in accordance with the Design and Access Statement and Landscape Design 
Statement submitted with the application and shall include the following, where relevant: 

 
Built form 
(i) Character areas; 
(ii) Principles of building forms and housing mix; 
(iii) Development parcel access locations; and 
(iv) Detail of key nodes / building groupings. 
 
Public realm 
(i) A movement framework including street types, road hierarchy, street layout and character, 
and measures to restrain the speeds of vehicles to 20mph and to give consideration to the 
need to accommodate access for oversize / wide-load vehicles; 
(ii) Landscape design principles; 
(iii) Detail of key green infrastructure elements (location, size, function and character); 

Page 9



 

(iv) Footpath and cycle networks; 
(v) Connections to the surrounding area for all transport modes; and 
(vi) Connections through the site for all transport modes. 
 
b) Prior to the submission of any Reserved Matters for a sub-phase of development (with the 
exception of the Western Gateway or the Riverside Park), a Detailed Design Code, to include 
an Illustrative Masterplan, pursuant to Condition 4, for the development of the wider phase 
within which the sub-phase is located will be submitted for approval in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The Design Code will be broadly in accordance with the Site Wide Design 
Code and shall include the following, where relevant: 
 
Built Form 
(i) Principles of corner treatment; 
(ii) Principles of elevational design; 
(iii) Principles for placement of entrances; 
(iv) Building materials palette; 
(v) Principles of energy efficiency; 
(vi) Principles of service arrangements;  
(vii) Continuation in use of existing substations (including access for vehicles where 

necessary);  
(viii) Consideration of housing mix, with reference to the Parameter Plans pursuant to 

Condition 3 and the latest evidence on need; and 
(ix) Principles of dwelling garden sizes, parking standards and separation distances / daylight 

standards.  
 
Public Realm 
(i) Boundary treatments; 
(ii) Surface materials palette; 
(iii) Planting palette; 
(iv) Ecological design principles; 
(v) Parking strategy including the provision of secure cycle parking facilities for all uses on 

site; 
(vi) The locations, layout and specifications of public open space and SUDs; and 
(vii) The location, proposed uses and layout of the Neighbourhood Square in the Northern 

Mixed Use Area. 
 
c) The submission of any Reserved Matters for a phase of development relating to the 
Western Gateway (comprising approximately 300m of spine road from the A51 access) or the 
Riverside Park, pursuant to Condition 4, shall be accompanied by a Design Brief, to include a 
Masterplan, for the development of that phase, or phases, for approval in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The Design Brief will be broadly in accordance with the Design and Access 
Statement and Landscape Design Statement submitted with the application and shall include 
the following: 
 
(i)  A movement framework, including the approach for connecting the site to enable 

sustainable movement through the site for all transport modes;  
(ii) Detailed landscape design; and 
(iii) Detail of key green infrastructure elements (location, size, function and character). 

 
7. Each application for the approval of Reserved Matters, pursuant to Condition 4, shall be 

accompanied by a statement that demonstrates that such details of reserved matters accord, 
as applicable, with the design principles of the approved Site Wide Design Code and relevant 
Detailed Design Code pursuant to Condition 6 a/b or the relevant Design Brief pursuant to 
Condition 6c.  The statement shall include matters of the following as relevant: 
 
(i) Building mass; 
(ii) Public realm and amenity space; 

Page 10



 

(iii) Accessibility for all; 
(iv) Footpaths and cycle ways; 
(v) Car and cycle parking, including visitor car parking and secure cycle parking; 
(vi) Vehicular accesses and circulation; 
(vii) Service arrangements; 
(viii) Details of hard and soft landscaping; 
(ix) Ecological design principles; 
(x) Existing and proposed levels; 
(xi) Security and safety; 
(xii) Principles of energy efficiency; 
(xiii) Materials; and 
(xiv) Layout. 

 
The development of that Reserved Matters phase shall not be commenced until the 
statement has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development of that 
phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
8. Each application for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 4, shall be 

accompanied by a Landscape Management Plan for that phase, to include an implementation 
timetable; long term design objectives; management responsibilities; and maintenance 
schedules for all landscape areas, other than small, privately owned domestic gardens, for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Landscape Management Plan shall 
thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details and timescales. 

 
9. Each application for Reserved Matters, pursuant to condition 4, shall be accompanied by a 

Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and Habitat Management Plan (HMP) 
for that phase expanding upon the information provided within the Environmental Statement 
(May 2020), Chapter 9 Ecology, Technical Appendix 9.8 Biodiversity Net Gain, Appendix 9.12 – 
Outline Ecological Mitigation Strategy, Figure 9.10 Biodiversity Calculations and Proposed 
Development Habitats and Section 9.7 Additional Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement 
Measures of the Environmental Statement, detailing in full, measures to protect existing 
habitat during construction works and the formation of new habitat to secure an overall site 
wide net gain value of no less than 27.91 Biodiversity Units, for approval in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Within the CEMP/HMP document the following information shall be 
provided:  

 
i) Current soil conditions of any areas designated for habitat creation and detailing of what 

conditioning must occur to the soil prior to the commencement of habitat creation works 
(for example, lowering of soil pH via application of elemental sulfur); 

ii) Descriptions and mapping of all exclusion zones (both vehicular and for storage of 
materials) to be enforced during construction to avoid any unnecessary soil compaction 
on area to be utilised for habitat creation; 

iii)  Details of both species composition and abundance (% within seed mix etc.) where 
planting is to occur; 

iv)  Proposed management prescriptions for all habitats for a period of no less than 25 years; 
v)  Assurances of achievability;   
vi)  Timetable of delivery for all habitats; and 
vii)  A timetable of future ecological monitoring to insure that all habitats achieve their 

proposed management condition as well as description of a feed-back mechanism by 
which the management prescriptions can be amended should the monitoring deem it 
necessary. 

 
The development of the phase shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved CEMP/HMP. 

 
10. Each application for Reserved Matters, pursuant to condition 4, shall be accompanied by an 

Ecological Mitigation Strategy for that phase, expanding upon the information provided within 

Page 11



 

Section 9.7 Additional Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Measures of the 
Environmental Statement (May 2020) and Chapter 9 Ecology, the Environmental Statement 
Addendum and Appendix 9.12 – Outline Ecological Mitigation Strategy, detailing in full, 
ecological mitigation measures, for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development of the phase shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
Ecological Mitigation Strategy. 

 
11. Each application for Reserved Matters for each phase of development, pursuant to Condition 

4, shall be accompanied by a detailed Surface Water Drainage Strategy for that phase for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Surface Water Drainage Strategy shall 
be in accordance with the principles set out in the approved Flood Risk Assessment (Report 
no. WORK\34060387\v.2 dated April 2020 compiled by AECOM) and Drainage Strategy Report 
(WORK\34060242\v.2 Rev 7 dated April 2020 complied by AECOM) and shall include details of 
the following measures:  

 
i)  Percolation assessments carried out in accordance with BRE digest 365 to determine 

infiltration potential; 
ii) The assessment of existing outfalls and remediation where required to accommodate 

flows from the development; 
iii) The incorporation of SuDS features including source control, permeable paving, swales 

and open water features within the drainage design to provide adequate water quality 
treatment in accordance with CIRIA C753; 

iv) Surface water discharge from each Area to be limited to the combined restricted rates for 
the equivalent return period storms as specified in Appendix A of the Drainage Strategy 
Report; 

v) The provision of adequate on-site attenuation features across the site to limit the 
maximum surface water discharge to the combined restricted rates for the equivalent 
return period storms as specified in Appendix A of the Drainage Strategy Report; 

vi) Where attenuation features are allocated to serve multiple phases, they will be 
constructed and operational to serve the relevant phase; 

vii) Finished floor levels are set no lower than 150mm above local surrounding ground levels; 
viii) The management of overland flows in the event of exceedance or blockage of the 

drainage network to ensure no flooding to property; 
ix) The details of an achievable and site-specific maintenance plan for each phase of the 

development including the provision of access; 
x) All built development located in Flood Zone 1 taking account of Figure 5.2 of the Flood 

Risk Assessment; and 
xi) No ground raising in the flood plain. 

 
The development in that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
provisions of the approved Surface Water Drainage Strategy. 

 
12. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within each phase of the 

development (as approved by condition 5), a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The management plan shall: 
 
i)  Specify details of the site compound, cabins, material storage areas and vehicular access 

point; 
ii) Specify the delivery and working times; 
iii) Specify the types of vehicles; 
iv) Specify noise, air quality and dust control; 
v) The management and routing of construction traffic; 
vi) Provide for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors and wheel washing 

facilities;  
vii) Provide for the loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
viii) Provide for temporary trespass proof fencing adjacent to the railway;   

Page 12



 

ix) Provide for the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; and 
x) Provide details for the restoration of the site. 

 
The development in that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and thereafter be adhered to throughout the construction period. 

 
13. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), a timetable for the provision/improvement of on-
site linkages to footpaths, footways and cycleways adjacent to that phase, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development of the phase 
there of shall be carried out in accordance with the approved timetable. 

 
14. Before the development hereby approved is commenced within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by Condition 5) that includes the ‘community square’, spine road 
or All Through School, details of the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority and the approved details implemented, prior to first use of the 
phase to which the measures relate: 

 
i)  Bus layover facilities at “community square”, or All Through School, as mutually agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authorities and the applicant, to include passive electric 
charging infrastructure, shelter, flag, timetable case and Real Time Passenger Information 
display; 

ii)  Bus stop facilities along the rest of the spine road shall be provided with shelter, flag, time 
table case and bus markings; 

iii) Measures to restrict speed, on-street parking, loading and waiting on the spine road 
outside of the proposed All Through School; and 

iv) Improved pedestrian facilities including guardrails outside of the accesses to the All 
Through School. 

 
15. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), the trees and hedgerows that are to be retained as 
part of the approved landscape and planting scheme for that phase of the development shall 
be protected in accordance with BS 5837:2012, in accordance with details to be first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed tree/hedge 
protection measures shall be put in place prior to the commencement of any construction 
works within a particular phase and, shall be retained for the duration of construction works 
within that phase (including any demolition and / or site clearance works), unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No fires, excavation, change in levels, 
storage of materials, vehicles or plant, cement or cement mixing, discharge of liquids, site 
facilities or passage of vehicles, plant or pedestrians, shall occur within the protected areas.  
The approved scheme shall be kept in place until all parts of the development within that 
phase have been completed, and all equipment; machinery and surplus materials have been 
removed for that phase of development. 

 
16. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), details of all proposed boundary treatments within 
the respective phase, including full details of any treatment within Public Open Spaces, and a 
trespass proof fence to be erected adjacent to the railway boundary, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved trespass proof fence 
shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of any dwelling within the phase and 
thereafter be retained for the life of the development.  The Public Open Space boundary 
treatment shall be provided before first use of that Public Open Space. The residential 
boundary treatments shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details, prior to 
the occupation of the dwelling(s) to which the respective boundary treatment(s) is to serve. 

 
17. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development that includes buildings (as approved by condition 5), full details of the proposed 

Page 13



 

foul water drainage system for the specific phase of development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved drainage system shall 
thereafter be provided before the first occupation or use of any of the buildings in that phase. 

 
18. a) Recognising that separate remediation works, which are not part of this development, are 

being undertaken on the site to surrender environmental permits under the exclusive 
jurisdiction and control of the Environment Agency and that this condition is not intended to 
conflict with such works, before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any 
relevant phase of development (as approved by condition 5), a site redevelopment 
remediation strategy to ensure the particular phase in question is suitable for its intended use, 
that includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with contamination 
of the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 
(i)  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

i.  All previous uses; 
ii.  Potential contaminants associated with those uses; 
iii.  A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and 
iv. Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site in the 

context of this development. 
(ii) A site investigation scheme to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk 

to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site; 
(iii)  The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (i) and, 

based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken; and 

(iv)  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the site development remediation strategy are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant 
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

 
b) A validation report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority within 1 month of the approved development remediation being completed, to 
ensure that all contaminated land issues on the specific phase of development have been 
adequately addressed prior to the first occupation of any part of that phase of the 
development.  The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in 
accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site development 
remediation criteria have been met.  It shall also include any plan (a "long-term monitoring 
and maintenance plan") for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved. 

 
19. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), a Water Framework Directive Enhancement 
Opportunities Plan for that phase shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  The Plan shall include the following elements: 

 
i)  Details of enhancement proposals for all affected water bodies; 
ii) Details of design and management of buffers around on site water bodies; and 
iii) Details on how SUDs will be maintained in the long-term to ensure no deterioration in 

outfall water quality. 
 

The Water Framework Directive Enhancement Opportunities Plan for that phase shall be 
carried out as approved. 

 

20. Before the development hereby approved is commenced within the phase of development (as 

approved by condition 5), which incorporates the artificial pitches and multi-use games areas, 

details of their design and layout shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 14



 

Planning Authority.  The hockey artificial grass pitch, 3G artificial grass pitch and multi-use 

games areas shall not be constructed, other than in accordance with the approved details and 

shall thereafter be maintained for the life of the development, in accordance with the 

approved details. 
 
21. Before the development hereby approved is commenced within the phase of development (as 

approved by condition 5), which incorporates the proposed bowling green, details of 
floodlighting (including location, specification, maintenance and hours of operation) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The floodlighting for the 
bowling green shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details, before the bowling 
green is operational, and the floodlighting shall thereafter be managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
22. Before the development hereby approved is commenced within the phase of development (as 

approved by condition 5), which incorporates the proposed Sports Pitches (as defined in the 
Section 106 Agreement), the following documents shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 
i)  A detailed assessment of ground conditions (including drainage and topography) of the 

land proposed for the playing field, which identifies constraints which could adversely 
affect playing field quality; and 

ii)  Where the results of the assessment to be carried out pursuant to (i) above identify 
constraints which could adversely affect playing field quality, a detailed scheme to 
address any such constraints.  

 
The scheme shall include a written specification of the proposed soils structure, proposed 
drainage, cultivation and other operations associated with grass and sports turf establishment 
and a programme of implementation. 

 
The approved scheme shall be carried out in full and in accordance with the approved 
programme of implementation.  The land shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with 
the scheme and made available for playing field use in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 
23. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, an overarching written scheme of 

investigation (WSI), which sets out a proportionate programme of archaeological work for all 
relevant phases of the development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The WSI shall provide details of a programme of archaeological 
works, including details of a programme of archaeological earthwork survey to be carried out 
across surviving areas of ridge and furrow within the site. The WSI shall include post-
excavation reporting and appropriate publication. The WSI shall thereafter be implemented in 
full in accordance with the approved details and timescales. 

 
24. Before the development hereby approved is commenced within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), a scheme of any proposed external lighting for 
that phase, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved lighting scheme for that phase shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
25. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, within any relevant phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), a Site Waste Management Plan for that phase 
(which shall accord with the mitigation measures identified within the ‘Outline Solid Waste 
Management Strategy’ produced by Savills dated April 2020) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development of that phase shall 
thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved Site Waste Management Plan. 

 
All other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 

Page 15



 

26. The off-site highway improvements shall be broadly in accordance with the works shown on 
drawings: 

 
i)  J32 – 3955 – PS - 100 D (Proposed Infrastructure Improvements – Overview Plan),  
ii) J32 – 3955 – PS – 101 D (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

Rugeley Trent Valley Approach).  
iii) J32 – 3955 – PS – 102 D (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

Northern Site Access).  
iv) J32 – 3955 – PS – 103 C (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

Armitage Road and Rugeley Town Station). 
v) J32 – 3955 – PS – 104 D (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

A513/A51 and Canal Proposals) [or any subsequent revision agreed via condition 51]. 
vi) J32 – 3955 – PS – 105 C (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

Brereton Hill Roundabout).  
vii) J32 – 3955 – PS – 106 A (Proposed Off-Site Junction Improvements A51/RWE 

Roundabout).  
viii) J32 – 3955 – PS – 107 A (Proposed Off-Site Junction Improvements A51/Wheelhouse 

Road Roundabout).  
ix) J32 – 3955 – PS – 108 B (Proposed Off-Site Junction Improvements A51/A513 Armitage 

Road Roundabout).  
x) J32 – 3955 – PS - 109 A (Proposed Off-Site Junction Improvements A51/Wheelhouse 

Road Roundabout). 
xi) J32 – 3955 – PS – 111 A (Proposed Pedestrian and Cycle Infrastructure Improvements – 

Power Station Link Road). 
 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with a phased approach as set out in the 
Section 106 Agreement. 

 
27. The cycle parking for any apartments, commercial premises (including showers and lockers for 

B Class Uses), All-Through School or primary school, health facility or community hall shall be 
implemented, in accordance with the approved details pursuant to Condition 6, prior to the 
first occupation or use of those buildings and shall thereafter be retained for their designated 
purpose for the life of the development. 

 
28. Before the formation of building foundations in a particular phase (as approved by condition 

5), a detailed noise and vibration assessment for that phase of development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include an 
assessment of all sources of noise and vibration, including that associated with the railway and 
existing road network, electricity infrastructure, the sports uses and any classes within Use 
Class A, B and D (as defined under the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as 
amended, and the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, 
as amended, forming part of the development, and details of any mitigation required. The 
approved mitigation for the phase shall be carried out in full prior to first occupation of any 
building within that phase, or other use of approved sports pitches or A, B and D Use Class 
within the development. 

 
29. The distributor road between the A51 and A513 shall be broadly in accordance with the 

Access and Movement Parameter Plan as approved under Condition 3.  The distributor road as 
shown on the Access and Movement Parameter Plan shall be completed to a level to allow for 
Passenger Carrying Vehicles to deliver a service, in accordance with the approved details, on 
or before the first occupation of the 301st dwelling served from either the A51 or A513 access 
in the development.  

 
30. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMS), which are detailed in Section 9.7 Additional 
Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Measures of the Environmental Statement and 

Page 16



 

Chapter 9 Ecology (May 2020).  The measures shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved timetables and shall thereafter be retained throughout construction works.  

 
31. Before undertaking any vibro-impact works or piling on site, a risk assessment and method 

statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved measures. 

 
32. Before the first occupation of any dwellings and apartments, within each phase of 

development (as approved by condition 5), details of active Electric Vehicle Charging Points to 
serve 5% of the publicly available visitor parking spaces, which will serve these uses, along 
with appropriate passive infrastructure to serve up to a further 15% of the publicly available 
visitor parking spaces (that is a total provision of up to 20% of spaces), shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Details of passive Electric Vehicle 
Charging infrastructure to serve each individual dwelling shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The active Electric Vehicle Charging Point (in the case of 5% of visitor spaces) and passive 
Electric Vehicle Charging infrastructure shall be installed prior to first occupation / use of the 
dwelling / visitor spaces to which they relate and thereafter be retained for the life of the 
development. 

 
33. Before the first use of the commercial and community buildings, details of active Electric 

Vehicle Charging Points to serve 5% of the parking spaces, which will serve these uses, along 
with appropriate passive infrastructure to serve up to a further 15% of these spaces (that is a 
total provision of up to 20% of spaces), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The active Electric Vehicle Charging Points and passive 
infrastructure shall be installed prior to first use of the respective unit of the phase to which it 
relates and thereafter be retained for the life of the development. 

 
34. Before erecting any scaffold within 10 metres of a boundary of the railway line, a method 

statement, including details of measures to be taken to prevent construction materials from 
the development reaching the railway (including protective fencing) shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be retained 
in place throughout the construction phase on the specified buildings. 

 
35. Before the first occupation of any dwellings hereby approved, the parking and turning areas 

associated with each respective property shall be provided and thereafter retained for their 
designated purposes for the life of the development. 

 
36. Before the first use of the non-residential building to which it relates, the car parking, 

servicing and circulation areas, for each respective building, shall be provided. The car parking 
space, servicing and circulation areas shall be sustainably drained, hard surfaced in a bound 
material, lit and marked out and thereafter, shall be retained in accordance with the approved 
plans, for the life of the development. 

 
37. Before the first occupation of any dwelling in phases 2a, 2b and 2c (as shown on Illustrative 

Phasing Plan reference 01585_PP_06 Revision P5), the proposed roundabout access onto the 
A513, shown illustratively on drawing J32-2608-PS-111 rev A, shall be completed. 

 
38. All site clearance works associated with the development hereby approved, shall take place 

and be completed outside of the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive) or if works 
are required within the nesting season, an ecologist will be present to check for evidence of 
breeding birds immediately prior to the commencement of works. Works could then only 
commence if no evidence is recorded by the ecologist. If evidence of breeding is recorded, a 
suitable buffer zone would be set up to avoid disturbance until the young have fledged. 

 

Page 17



 

39. The Reserved Matters within each phase of development to be submitted pursuant to 
Condition 4 of this permission shall include details of noise attenuation measures designed to 
protect future occupants of that particular phase from noise nuisance arising from external 
noise sources, including road and rail traffic and existing and future residents from potential 
noise sources from uses and activities within the site, including the sports pitches.  Any 
required approved noise mitigation measures shall thereafter be implemented, in accordance 
with the approved details, prior to the occupation of any dwelling. 

 
40. All phases of development (as approved by condition 5) that deliver Class C3 dwellings, shall 

deliver a minimum of 15% of the Class C3 dwellings as affordable housing, with an overall 
minimum provision site wide of 17.6%. 

 
41. There shall be no more than 2,300 dwellings provided on the site. 
 
42. Before the first occupation of any dwellings and apartments within each phase of 

development (as approved by condition 8), high speed broadband infrastructure shall be 
installed. 

 
43. Should the southern mixed use area (as identified on the approved Land Use Parameter Plan 

pursuant to Condition 3, provide more A1 floor space than the threshold in the adopted Local 
Plan (currently 100 sq m), the relevant reserved matters to be submitted pursuant to 
condition 4 of this permission, shall be accompanied by a retail impact assessment, in order to 
justify the level of retail proposed. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
44. Within the northern mixed use area (as identified on the approved Land Use Parameter Plan 

pursuant to Condition 3), a maximum of 2,499sqm gross external floorspace of main town 
centre uses (as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF 2019) excluding Class B1a offices shall be 
provided, with no more than 500sqm gross external floorspace of Main Town Centre Uses 
provided in any one unit. 

 
Within the southern mixed use area (as identified on the approved Land Use Parameter Plan 
pursuant to Condition 3), a maximum of 1,000sqm gross floorspace of main town centre uses 
(as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF 2019) excluding Class B1a offices shall be provided, with no 
more than 99sqm gross floorspace of Class A1 retail floorspace to be provided. 

 
The total amount of A1 Use Class Retail floorspace should not exceed 2,499sqm across the 
whole site. 

 
45. The All-Through School or Primary School and any B1 or B2 unit, erected within the 

employment area (located within Lichfield District), which has a floor area greater than 1,000 
square metres, shall, within 6 weeks of the completion of the shell and core works, have a 
certificate of compliance, from an accredited assessor confirming that the unit has achieved a 
minimum BREEAM rating of Very Good (2018), submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
46. Before the first use of any buildings approved by a reserved matters application, as a 

Restaurant or Café (Class A3), a Drinking Establishment (Class A4) or a Hot Food Takeaway 
(Class A5), details of a scheme for the control of odour and other emissions shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved odour mitigation 
shall be installed before the development is first brought into use and shall thereafter be 
retained for the life of the buildings use as a Restaurant or Café. 

 
47. Before the first use of any external plant or water storage tanks, associated with the approved 

employment uses, details of these machines and structures and any associated enclosures 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority along with full 
details of any noise mitigation measures. Any approved mitigation or enclosure shall be 

Page 18



 

installed prior to the first use of the plant or water tank and shall thereafter be maintained for 
the life of the development. 

 
48. Before the occupation of the first dwelling, details of a pedestrian and cycle link between the 

A51 and Power Station Road shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include a timeframe for the delivery of the link and measures for 
its long-term maintenance. The link shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details 
and shall thereafter be retained for public access in perpetuity. 

 
49. There shall be no more than a total of 150 Use Class C2 bed-spaces provided across two 

campuses on the site (Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 

 
50. Prior to the commencement of the 50th dwelling, details of the towpath improvements, as 

shown indicatively on drawing number J32 – 3955 – PS – 104 D, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include details of the towpath 
surfacing, including its width and material, and details of safety measures for the pinch point 
underneath the A513 Armitage Road Bridge 62.  The agreed details shall be carried out in 
accordance with the timescales as set out in the Section 106 Agreement. 

 
51. Prior to the removal of the Kidney Ponds, and as set out in Section 7.1 of the Flood Risk 

Assessment (April 2020), details of the replacement fluvial flood storage lost by the removal of 
the Kidney Ponds shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. These 
details shall include hydraulic modelling of the compensatory storage and details of its design 
and location. The agreed works will be completed prior to the first use of the former Kidney 
Pond site and retained thereafter for the life of the development. 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 
1. In order to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended. 
 
2. In order to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended. 
 
3. For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the applicant’s stated intentions, in order 

to meet the requirements Core Policies 3 and 6 and Policies H2, BE1 and East of Rugeley of the 
Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power 
Station Development Brief Supplementary Planning Document, Policy AH5 of the Armitage 
with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The application has been made for outline permission only with these matters 

reserved for subsequent approval.  Therefore, such details are required to be submitted and 
agreed in order to ensure a satisfactory form of development, safeguard the character of the 
area and amenity of future residents, in accordance with the requirements of 
Core Policies 3 and 6 and Policies H2, BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan 
Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station 
Development Brief Supplementary Planning Document, Policy AH5 of the Armitage with 
Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. To ensure the appropriate timing of delivery of housing, green infrastructure, highway 

and transport improvements and social infrastructure, to promote a sustainable 
development, to safeguard residential amenity and the appearance of the development, in 
accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3 and 4, and Policies BE1, IP1, HSC1 
and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Trees, Landscaping and 

Page 19



 

Development, Biodiversity and Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents, Policies AH2 and AH5 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. To ensure the high quality form and appearance of the development, ensure continuity in use 

of the site within the electricity network and to enhance natural habitat, in accordance with 
the requirements of Core Policies 3 and 13, and Policies NR3, NR4, BE1 and East of Rugeley of 
the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power 
Station Development Brief, Trees, Landscaping and Development, Biodiversity and 
Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents, Policies AH2 and 
AH5 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
7. To ensure a high quality and cohesive form and appearance of development, and in the 

interests of highway safety; to comply with Staffordshire County Council requirements for 
access; and to safeguard the amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with the 

requirements of Core Policies 3, 4 and 10, and Policies BE1, IP1, HSC2, NR3 and East of Rugeley 
of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley 
Power Station Development Brief, Trees, Landscaping and Development, Biodiversity and 
Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents, Policies AH2 and 
AH5 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
8. In order to safeguard the arboriculture and ecological interests of the site, secure biodiversity 

enhancements and to ensure the long term management of the site in preparation of 
significant public use, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3, 11 and 13 and 
Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development and Trees, 
Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
9. In order to safeguard the ecological interests of the site and encourage enhancements in 

biodiversity and habitat in accordance with Core Policies 3 and 13 and Policy NR3 of the Local 
Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document, Policy 
AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
10. In order to safeguard the ecological interests of the site and encourage enhancements in 

biodiversity and habitat in accordance with Core Policies 3 and 13 and Policy NR3 of the Local 
Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document, Policy 
AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
11. To ensure the provision of satisfactory means of drainage to serve the development, to reduce 

the risk of creating or exacerbating flooding problems, to minimise the risk of pollution and 
protect controlled waters, protect the on-going operation of the railway network and to 
ensure that sustainability and environmental objectives are met, in accordance with 
provisions of Core Policy 3, and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
12. In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of existing and future residents, 

in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy 
R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
13. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation in accordance with Policies BE1 

and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 

Page 20



 

Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
14. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation in accordance with Policies BE1 

and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15. To ensure the high quality form and appearance of the development and to enhance the 

natural habitat, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3, 13, and 14 and 
Policies NR3, NR4, BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local 
Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Trees, Landscaping 
and Development, Biodiversity and Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Documents, Policies AH2 and AH5 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16. To ensure the high quality form and appearance of the development and to safeguard the on-

going operation of the railway network, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 
3, 13, and 14 and Policy BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the 
Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents, Policies AH2 and AH5 of the Armitage 
with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17. To ensure the provision of satisfactory means of drainage to serve the development, to reduce 

the risk of creating or exacerbating flooding problems and to minimise the risk of pollution 
and to ensure that sustainability and environmental objectives are met, in accordance with 
provisions of Core Policy 3, and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
18. To ensure protection Controlled Water Receptors, to ensure remedial works where required 

are completed to a satisfactory standard and to safeguard future residential amenity, in 
accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 3 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and Water Framework Directive. 

 
19. In order to safeguard the ecological interests of the site, secure biodiversity enhancements 

and to secure opportunities for improving the Water Framework Directive status of the River 
Trent Catchment use in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3, 11 and 13 and 
Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. To provide suitable replacement sports facilities, to secure a sustainable form of development, 

in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3, 10 and 11 and Policies HSC2 and BE1 
of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21. To protect the amenity of future residents, provide suitable replacement sports provision and 

limit any impact upon protected species, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 
3, 10 and 11 and Policies HSC2, NR3 and BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
22. To ensure the provision of suitable replacement sports pitches, in accordance with the 

requirements of Core Policies 3, 10 and 11 and Policies HSC2 and BE1 of the Local Plan 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
23. To ensure full evaluation of and protection of any archaeological remains within the site, in 

accordance with Core Policies 3 and 14, and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of 

Page 21



 

the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Historic Environment Supplementary Planning 
Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. To ensure the high quality form and appearance of the development and to protect natural 

habitat, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3, 13, and 14 and Policies NR3, 
NR4, BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Biodiversity and Development and 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents, Policies AH2 and AH5 of the Armitage 
with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
25. To protect the water environment, reduce the transportation of waste off-site and to 

safeguard residential amenity, in accordance with the requirements of Policy 1.2 of the 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Waste Local Plan, Core Policies 3 and 14, and Policy BE1 
of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
26. To ensure the appropriate timing and delivery of the off-site highway works and in the 

interests of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST2 of 
the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power 
Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
27. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation in accordance with Policies BE1 

and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
28. To protect the amenity of the future residents and safeguard the on-going operation of the 

railway network and electricity infrastructure, in accordance with the requirements of Core 
Policies 3 and 14, and Policies BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of 
the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
29. To ensure an acceptable form of development and in the interests of highway safety, in 

accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 5 and 14, and Policies BE1 and East of 
Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
30. In order to safeguard the ecological interests of the site in accordance with Core Policies 3 and 

13 and Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document, Policy AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
31. To prevent any piling works and associated vibration from destabilising or impacting upon the 

railway network and to ensure the protection of Controlled Waters, in accordance with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
32. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation and to help mitigate the 

development’s impact upon the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation, in accordance 
with Policies BE1, NR7 and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan 
Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Biodiversity and 
Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
33. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation and to help mitigate the 

development’s impact upon the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation, in accordance 

Page 22



 

with Policies BE1, NR7 and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan 
Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Biodiversity and 
Development and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
34. In the interests of the safe operation of the railway network, in accordance with guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
35. In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of existing and future residents, 

in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy 
R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
36. In the interests of highway safety, to protect the amenity of existing and future residents and 

to promote the use of sustainable means of drainage, in accordance with the requirements of 
Policies BE1 and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design 
Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
37. In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and 

ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley 
Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Documents 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
38. In order to safeguard the ecological interests of the site, in accordance with the requirements 

of Core Policies 3 and 13, and Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document, Policy AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
39. To safeguard the amenity of existing and future residents in accordance with the 

requirements of Core Policies 3 and 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
40. To ensure an appropriate mix and tenure of dwellings, in accordance with Policy H2 of the 

Local Plan Strategy, the Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
41. In accordance with the applicants stated intentions in order to meet the requirements Core 

Policies 3 and 6 and Policies H2, BE1 and East of Rugeley of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 
of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Policy 
AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
42. To promote home-working and thereby help to mitigate the development’s impact upon the 

Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation, in accordance with Policy NR7 of the Local Plan 
Strategy, the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief, Biodiversity and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
43. In order for the development to reflect the basis on which this application has been assessed, 

to minimise the impact on existing, committed and planned commercial investment in 
Lichfield District, and to protect the vitality and viability of Armitage with Handsacre, in 
accordance with Core Policy 6, Strategic Policy 9 and Policy E1 of the Local Plan Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
44. In order for the development to reflect the basis on which this application has been assessed, 

to minimise the impact on existing, committed and planned commercial investment in 

Page 23



 

Lichfield District, and to protect the vitality and viability of Armitage with Handsacre, in 
accordance with Core Policy 6, Strategic Policy 9 and Policy E1 of the Local Plan Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
45. To ensure that the development is constructed in a sustainable manner, in accordance with 

Core Policy 3 and Policy SC1 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
46. To safeguard the amenity of existing and future residents in accordance with the 

requirements of Core Policy 3 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
47. To safeguard the appearance of the development and to protect the amenity of neighbouring 

residents in accordance with the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
48. To promote the use of sustainable modes of transportation in accordance with Policies BE1 

and ST1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
49. To ensure an appropriate mix and tenure of dwellings throughout the site, in accordance with 

Policy H2 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
50. To ensure the appropriate timing and delivery of the off-site canal towpath improvement 

works, to secure pedestrian improvements, in accordance with the requirements of Policies 
BE1 and ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy R1 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
51. To ensure the provision of satisfactory means of drainage to serve the development, to reduce 

the risk of creating or exacerbating flooding problems and to minimise the risk of pollution 
and to ensure that sustainability and environmental objectives are met, in accordance with 
provisions of Core Policy 3, and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
NOTES TO APPLICANT: 
 
1. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015), Lichfield 

District Local Plan Allocations (2019) and the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan 
(2018). 

 
2. The applicant’s attention is drawn to The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications,  

Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2017, which requires 
that any written request for compliance of a planning condition(s) shall be accompanied by a 
fee of £34 for a householder application or £116 for any other application including reserved 
matters. Although the Council will endeavour to deal with such applications in a timely 
manner, it should be noted that legislation allows a period of up to 8 weeks for the Local 
Planning Authority to discharge conditions and therefore this timescale should be borne in 
mind when programming development. 

 
3. Please be advised that Lichfield District Council adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) Charging Schedule on the 19th April 2016 and commenced charging from the 13th June 
2016.  A CIL charge applies to all relevant applications. This will involve a monetary sum 
payable prior to commencement of development.  In order to clarify the position of your 
proposal, please complete the Planning Application Additional Information Requirement 

Page 24



 

Form, which is available for download from the Planning Portal or from the Council's website 
at www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/cilprocess.  

 
4. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments of Central Networks as detailed within 

their e-mail dated 24th October 2019. 
 
5. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments and requirements of 

Network Rail dated 13th June 2019.  Where there is any conflict between these comments and 
the terms of the planning permission, the latter takes precedence. 

 
6. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the Council’s 

Operational Services Customer Relations and Performance Manger specific to waste services 
dated 28th October 2019. 

 
7. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the Police 

Architectural Liaison Officer dated 3rd June 2020.  Where there is any conflict between these 
comments and the terms of the planning permission, the latter takes precedence. 

 
8. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the 

Environment Agency dated 4th July 2019.  
 
9. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the 

Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service dated 19th May 2020. 
 
10. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the National 

Grid contained within the letter provided by RPS group dated 12th July 2019. In particular, 
regard should be had to the location of internal access road and when considering landscaping 
details, to guidance contained within the National Grid Document ‘A Sense of Place: Design 
Guidelines for Development near Pylons and High Voltage Overhead Power Lines’. 

 
11. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from Western 

Power contained within the letter provided by Pegasus Group dated 12th July 2019.  In 
particular, regard should be had, when considering sport pitch design, to guidance contained 
within HSE Guidance Note GS6. 

 
12. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from the Coal 

Authority dated 24th October 2019. 
 
13. The applicant is advised to note and act upon as necessary the comments from South Staffs 

Water dated 15th June 2020. 
 
14. The accesses and off-site highway works will require a Major Works Agreement with 

Staffordshire County Council and the applicants are therefore requested to contact 
Staffordshire County Council in respect of securing the Agreement. The link below provides a 
further link to a Major Works Information Pack and an application form for the Major Works 
Agreement. Please complete and send to the address indicated on the application form which 
is Staffordshire County Council at Network Management Unit, Staffordshire Place 1, 
Wedgwood Building, Tipping Street, Stafford, Staffordshire ST16 2DH (or email to 
nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk) 
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/. 

 
15. This consent will require approval under Section 7 of the Staffordshire Act 1983 and also 

require a Section 38 approval of the Highways Act 1980.  The applicant is advised therefore to 
contact Staffordshire County Council to ensure the necessary approvals and agreements are 
secured. 

 

Page 25

mailto:nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/


 

16. The applicant is advised that when seeking to discharge condition 12, it is likely that during the 
period of construction of any phase of the development, no works including deliveries will be 
permitted outside of the following times: 0730 and 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 
and 1300 hours on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays (other 
than in relation to emergency works). 

 
17. The applicant is advised to refer to the ‘Code of Practice for Works affecting the Canal & River 

Trust’ to ensure that any necessary consents are obtained. 
 
18. The applicant is advised that any new access points to the canal corridor / towpath or other 

encroachment will require the agreement of the Canal & River Trust and is advised to contact 
Canal & River Trust’s Estate Surveyor to discuss any commercial agreements / licenses that 
may be required. 

 
19. The applicant is advised that any surface water discharge into the canal will require prior 

consent from the Canal & River Trust.  As the Trust is not a land drainage authority, such 
discharges are not granted as of right and where they are granted they are subject to 
completion of a commercial agreement.  Contact the Utilities Surveyor at the Trust to discuss 
further.   

 
20. The applicant is advised that this permission does not absolve them from their responsibilities 

in relation to protected species. If evidence of bats, badgers or other protected species are 
found during clearance works / demolition / construction, all work should cease and the 
services of a licensed ecologist procured to ensure an offence is not committed under the 
habitats legislation. 

 
21. With reference to the provision of cycle storage at residential dwellings, if it is proposed to 

include this in a garage then the minimum internal dimensions of the garage will need to be 
6.0m x 3.0m in order for it to be considered suitable for the storage of a bicycle and a motor 
car. 

 
22. The applicant is advised that if there remains a requirement to continue to extract and 

remove waste Pulverised Fuel Ash from the site, beyond the first implementation of the 
planning permission and the site is no longer operational, then a separate planning permission 
for such, from Staffordshire County Council will be required. 

 
23. The applicant is advised that, as approved by condition 3, the height and density of the 

proposed buildings within the development shall not exceed those identified on plans 
‘Building Heights’ reference 01585_PP_03 Rev P6 and ‘Density Parameter Plan’ reference 
01585_PP_05 Rev P5. 

 
24. The applicant is advised that any archaeological works or ancillary archaeological works, 

survey of existing structures, demolition, site clearance, site preparation, site reclamation, site 
remediation works, preliminary landscaping, service diversions or decommissioning, laying of 
services (including in relation to street furniture for the temporary trialling of automated 
vehicles within the site), the erection of fences or hoardings and scaffolding, site or soil 
investigations, ground modelling and other works of site establishment preparatory to the 
commencement of construction and works associated with the construction of the spine road 
and operations permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 are considered as exempt development and such would not 
comprise the commencement of development in the terms of this decision. 

 
25. The applicant is advised that the playing field scheme should comply with the relevant 

industry Technical Guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, National 
Governing Bodies for Sport.  Particular attention is drawn to ‘Natural Turf for Sport’, (Sport 
England, 2011). 

 

Page 26



 

26. The applicant is advised that the design and layout of the hockey artificial grass pitch, 3G 
artificial grass pitch and multi-use games areas should comply with the relevant industry 
Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, National 
Governing Bodies for Sport.  Particular attention is drawn to: Sport England’s Artificial Surfaces 
for Outdoor Sports; FA Guide to 3G Football Turf Pitch Design Principles and England Hockey’s 
Gen2 Multi-Sports Areas Sports Pitch Design Guidance. 

27. The applicant is advised that the 3G artificial grass pitch should be tested in accordance with 

the FA standard code of rules and be registered on the FA Register for 3G Football Turf 

Pitches. The pitch should also be built in accordance with FIFA Quality Concept for Football 

Turf - FIFA Quality or International Match Standard (IMS), as a minimum. 
 
28.  The development is considered to be a sustainable form of development which complies with 

the provisions of paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING Outline Permission including DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
POLICIES that were relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
The decision to approve outline permission has been taken because the Council is satisfied that, on 
balance, the development will integrate successfully into the character of the area, successfully 
mitigate or improve its highway, arboricultural or ecological impact, including its impact upon the 
Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation and would not adversely affect the special character 
and setting of any nearby Listed Buildings, or the amenity of nearby residents.  The concerns raised 
by consultees and others have furthermore been given due consideration and on balance, it is 
considered that subject to conditions and legal agreements, the proposals are acceptable and 
broadly conform to the provisions of the Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
The decision to approve outline permission has also been taken having regard to all the relevant 
material planning considerations and to the following relevant policies and proposals of the 
Development Plan: Local Plan Strategy Core Policy 1 (The Spatial Strategy), Core Policy 2 
(Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development), Core Policy 3 (Delivering Sustainable 
Development), Core Policy 4 (Delivering our Infrastructure), Core Policy 5 (Sustainable Transport), 
Core Policy 6 (Housing Delivery), Core Policy 7 (Employment and Economic Development), Core 
Policy 8 (Our Centres), Core Policy 10 (Healthy and Safe Lifestyles), Core Policy 11 (Participation in 
Sport and Physical Activity), Core Policy 12 (Provision for Arts and Culture), Core Policy 13 (Our 
Natural Resources), Core Policy 14 (Our Built and Historic Environment), Policy SC1 (Sustainability 
Standards for Development), Policy SC2 (Renewable Energy), Policy IP1 (Supporting & Providing our 
Infrastructure), Policy ST1 (Sustainable Travel), Policy ST2 (Parking Provision), Policy H1 (A Balanced 
Housing Market), Policy H2 (Provision of Affordable Homes), Policy HSC1 (Open Space Standards), 
Policy NR3 (Biodiversity, Protected Species and their Habitats), Policy NR4 (Trees, Woodlands and 
Hedgerows), Policy NR5 (Natural and Historic Landscapes), Policy NR6 (Linked Habitat Corridors & 
Multi-functional Greenspaces), Policy NR7 (Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation), Policy BE1 
(High Quality Development), Policy: East of Rugeley, Local Plan Allocations Document Policy NR10 
(Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty), Policy BE2 (Heritage Assets) and Policy R1 
(East of Rugeley Housing Land Allocations), the Sustainable Design, Trees, Landscaping and 
Development, Developer Contributions, Biodiversity and Development, Historic Environment, 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief and Rural Development Supplementary Planning 
Documents and Policy AH1 (Conserving and Enhancing Non-Designated Heritage Assets), Policy AH2 
(Conserving and Enhancing the Local Natural Environment), Policy AH4 (Protected Open Spaces), 
Policy AH5 (Better Design), Policy AH6 (Maintaining the Rural Nature of the Villages) and Policy AH7 
(Retaining and Enhancing Existing Community Facilities) of the Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
PLANS CONSIDERED AS PART OF THIS RECOMMENDATION: 
Site Boundary Dwg No. 01585_S-001 Rev P4 
Parameter Plans:  

Page 27



 

Access and Movement Dwg No. 01585_PP_01 Rev P7 
Land Use Dwg No. 01585_PP_02 Rev P6 
Building Heights Dwg No. 01585_PP_03 Rev P8 
Green Infrastructure Dwg No. 01585_PP_04 Rev P6 
Density Dwg No. 01585_PP_05 Rev P7 
Revised Junction Layout Dwg No. J32-2608-PS-111 Rev A 
 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
National Design Guide 
National Policy for Waste 
Manual for Streets 
 
Local Plan Strategy  
Core Policy 1 – The Spatial Strategy 
Core Policy 2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 3 – Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 4 – Delivering our Infrastructure 
Core Policy 5 – Sustainable Transport 
Core Policy 6 – Housing Delivery 
Core Policy 7 – Employment and Economic Development 
Core Policy 8 – Our Centres 
Core Policy 10 – Healthy & Safe Lifestyles 
Core Policy 11 – Participation in Sport and Physical Activity 
Core Policy 13 – Our Natural Resources 
Core Policy 14 – Our Built and Historic Environment 
Policy SC1 – Sustainability Standards for Development 
Policy SC2 – Renewable Energy 
Policy IP1 – Supporting & Providing our Infrastructure 
Policy ST1 – Sustainable Travel 
Policy ST2 – Parking Standards 
Policy H1 – A Balanced Housing Market 
Policy H2 – Provision of Affordable Homes 
Policy HSC1 – Open Space Standards 
Policy HSC2 – Playing Pitch & Sport Facility Standards 
Policy NR1 – Countryside Management 
Policy NR3 – Biodiversity, Protected Species & their Habitats 
Policy NR4 – Trees, Woodland & Hedgerows 
Policy NR5 – Natural & Historic Landscapes 
Policy NR6 – Linked Habitat Corridors & Multi-functional Green spaces 
Policy NR7 – Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation 
Policy BE1 – High Quality Development 
 
Local Plan Allocations Document  
Policy NR10: Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Policy BE2: Heritage Assets 
Policy R1: East of Rugeley Housing Land Allocations 
Appendix E: Rugeley Power Station Concept Statement 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Sustainable Design 
Trees, Landscaping and Development 
Developer Contributions 

Page 28



 

Biodiversity and Development 
Historic Environment 
Rural Development 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
 
Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan  
Policy AH1 – Conserving and Enhancing Non-Designated Heritage Assets  
Policy AH2 – Conserving and Enhancing the Local Natural Environment 
Policy AH4 – Protected Open Spaces 
Policy AH5 – Better Design 
Policy AH6 – Maintaining the Rural Nature of the Villages 
Policy AH7 – Retaining and Enhancing Existing Community Facilities 
 

Local Plan Review: Preferred Options (2018-2040) (Draft) 
Strategic objective and priority 3: Climate Change 
Strategic objective and priority 4: Our Infrastructure 
Strategic objective and priority 5: Sustainable transport 
Strategic objective and priority 6: Meeting housing need 
Strategic objective and priority 7: Economic Prosperity 
Strategic objective and priority 8: Employment opportunities 
Strategic objective and priority 11: Healthy and safe lifestyles 
Strategic objective and priority 12: Countryside character 
Strategic objective and priority 13: Natural resources 
Strategic objective and priority 14: Built environment 
Strategic objective and priority 15: High quality development 
Strategic Policy OSS1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Strategic Policy OSS2: Our spatial strategy 
Strategic Policy OSC1: Securing sustainable development 
Strategic Policy OSC2: Renewables and low carbon energy 
Strategic Policy OSC3: Sustainable building standards for non-domestic buildings 
Strategic Policy OSC4: High quality design 
Strategic Policy OSC5: Flood risk, sustainable drainage & water quality 
Strategic Policy INF1: Delivering our infrastructure 
Strategic Policy OST1: Our sustainable transport 
Strategic Policy OST2: Sustainable travel 
Local Policy LP1OST: Parking provision 
Strategic Policy OHF1: Housing provision 
Strategic Policy OHF2: Providing a balanced housing market and optimising housing density 
Strategic Policy OHF4: Affordable housing 
Strategic Policy OEET1: Our employment and economic development 
Strategic Policy OEET2: Our centres 
Strategic Policy OHSC1: Healthy & safe communities 
Preferred Policy OSR2: Open space and recreation 
Strategic Policy OHSC2: Arts and culture 
Strategic Policy ONR2: Habitats and biodiversity 
Strategic Policy ONR3: Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation & River Mease Special 
Area of Conservation 
Strategic Policy ONR4: Green infrastructure and connectivity 
Strategic Policy ONR5: Natural and historic landscapes 
Strategic Policy OBHE1: Historic environment 
Strategic Policy OBHE2: Loss of heritage assets 
Strategic Policy OBHE4: Evidence to support heritage proposals 
Local Policy AH1: Armitage with Handsacre environment, services and facilities 
Local Policy AH2: Armitage with Handsacre economy  
 

Other 
The Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018 

Page 29



 

Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill 2018 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) 
The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations (1994) 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017)  
The Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 
The Protection of Badgers Act 1992 
Defra Net Gain Consultation Proposals (2018) 
Lichfield Employment Land Review (2012) 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Waste Local Plan 
Staffordshire Residential Design Guide (2000) 
Housing and Planning Act (2016) 
Annual Monitoring Review (2018/2019) 
Lichfield Distract Council Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (2016) 
Lichfield District Council Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2019)  
Lichfield District Council Independent Living Study (Draft) (2019) 
Strategic Housing Marketing Assessment (2012) 
Providing for Journeys on Foot (2000) 
Urban Capacity Assessment 
Five Year Housing Land Supply Paper (June 2019) 
Water Framework Directive 
A Sense of Place: Design Guidelines for Development near Pylons and High Voltage Overhead Power 
Lines 
Health and Safety Executive Guidance Note GS6 
Lichfield District Economic Development Strategy 
Lichfield District Nature Recovery Network (2019) 
Cannock Chase District Nature Recovery Network (Emerging) 
South Staffordshire District Nature Recovery Network (Emerging) 
Stafford Borough Nature Recovery Network (Emerging) 
Birmingham City Council Nature Recovery Network (Emerging) 
Staffordshire Historic Environment Record 
Statement of Community Involvement (2019)  
AONB Management Plan 2014-2019 
Active Design – Planning for Health and Wellbeing through Sport and Activity 
Natural England’s approach to advising competent authorities on the assessment of road traffic 
emission under the Habitats Regulations (2018) 
Recreation to Cannock Chase SAC Report (2012) 
Cannock Chase SAC – Planning Evidence Base Review (2017) 
European Site Conservation Objectives for Cannock Chase SAC (2014) 
Planning for Landscape Change – Staffordshire County Council (2000) 
‘A Hard Rain’ – Staffordshire County Council’s Corporate Climate Change Strategy (2005) 
Staffordshire County-wide Renewable/Low Carbon Energy Study (2010) 
UK Solar PV Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future (2013) 
UK Solar PV Strategy Part 2 (2014) 
Climate Change Act (2008) 
Lichfield District Council Air Quality Annual Status Report (2017) 
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning and Noise: New Residential Development (2017) 
Air Quality Management Guidance (2014) 
Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard (England) (2018) 
Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership Planning Protocol between 
Constituent Local Planning Authorities and the Cannock Chase AONB Joint Committee (2019) 
 
Cannock Chase Development Plan 
Local Plan (2014) 
Issues and Options (Draft) 
Rugeley Town Centre Area Action Plan 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document  

Page 30



 

Parking Standards, Travel Plan & Developer Contributions for Sustainable Transport Supplementary 
Planning Document 
Developer Contributions & Housing Choices Supplementary Planning Document 
Trent & Mersey Canal Conservation Area Appraisal 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

    

18/01098/FULM Demolition of Rugeley B Power Station, including 
decommissioning, removal of hazardous materials 
and dismantling of all associated buildings and 
structures 

Approved     22/10/2018 

18/00390/DEMCON 
 
 
17/00453/FULM 
 
 
15/00880/FUL  
10/01201/REMM 
 
 
10/01200/REMM 
 
 
10/00916/FUL 
 
 
 
10/00793/FUL  
 
10/00420/REMM  
 
10/00616/FULM 
 
 
09/01380/FULM 
 
 
09/00991/REMM  
 
08/00388/REMM 
 

Removal, demolition and site clearance of various 
structures, buildings, plant and equipment, contained 
within Rugeley Power Station 
Creation of second access into the power station site 
from Rugeley Road (A513) including new roundabout 
junction 
Creation of landscape bund and associated works 
Proposed development of 219 residential dwellings 
and associated works, roads, public open space and 
drainage (Phases 4 & 5) 
Proposed development of 117 residential dwellings 
and associated works, roads, public open space and 
drainage (Phase 3) 
Application for 2 additional dwellings Plots 78 & 79 
following approval of 10/00616/FULM (Variation of 
Condition 3 to previous Reserved Matters Approval 
08/00387/REMM) 
Creation of secondary access (Extension of time for 
application 07/00577/FUL) 
Proposed erection of 72 dwellings, garages, 
associated car parking and landscaping works 
Variation of Condition 3 of planning permission 
08/00387/REMM to allow partial amendment to the 
layout and amendments to house types 
Removal of condition 8 from planning permission 
03/00627/OUT (in order to allow for construction of 
roundabout at junction with A513) 
Residential development (81 dwellings): Re plan of 
previous layout and substitution of house types 
Proposed development of 74 residential dwellings 
with associated works, roads, public open space and 
drainage (Phase 1) 

Prior Approval 
Required 

 
Approved 

 
 

Approved 
Approved 

 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 

05/04/2018 
 
 
15/09/2017 
 
 
02/10/2015 
02/05/2013 
 
 
11/11/2011 
 
 
06/09/2010 
 
 
 
04/08/2010 
 
13/07/2010 
 
01/07/2010 
 
 
23/02/2011 
 
 
10/12/2009 
 
15/07/2008 

07/00577/FUL Creation of Secondary Access Approved 18/12/2007 

03/00627/OUT Outline Application for Residential and Industrial (B2 
and B8 use) Development, with associated highway 
works 

Approved 14/09/2005 

03/00628/FUL Remediation treatment of Former Rugeley ‘A’ Power 
Station 

Approved 04/11/2004 

97/00309/FUL Store Shed for Miniature Railway and Sports and 
Social Area 

Approved 20/05/1997 

L960637 B1, B2 and B8 Development Approved 04/11/1996 

L890665 
L870779 
L8600 
L2585 

Sports pavilion and changing rooms 
Extension to Recreational Facilities 
Extensions to Sports and Social Club 
Extensions and Alterations to the Sports and Social 

Approved 
Approved 
Approved 
Approved 

15/08/1989 
01/02/1988 
21/12/1981 
27/09/1976 

Page 31



 

Club 

 
   

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Note any consultation responses received after the 11th May 2020 relate to the revised submission.  
Any prior to this date relate to the original submission.  
 
Armitage with Handsacre Parish Council – No comment (08/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Overall approve of the development. However, raise concerns over the Borrow 
Pit area and the demolition of the environmental hut. The planned properties on the banks of the 
Borrow Pit are not in keeping with this, being a recreational area, protected by the Neighbourhood 
Plan.  The borrow pit is a barrier from Armitage and it is crucial that dwellings are not erected within 
this area. 
 
The Parish Council were advised that the Environmental Centre was to be retained, as it is a hub for 
all recreational groups in the area and would continue to be used, if handed over for the benefit of 
the community (22/11/2019). 
 
Colton Parish Council - Additional housing is welcomed (especially with the need for it to include 
affordable housing). The development must however include appropriate additional infrastructure - 
most specifically, provision for a GP surgery and a secondary school, as current services in the area 
are insufficient (12/07/2019). 
 
Mavesyn Ridware Parish Council – No objections (28/05/2020 & 28/11/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: Object. 

 2,300 Dwellings are only served by one small two classroom primary school. 
• There does not seem to be any inclusion for medical care – Doctor, Dentist, Hospital.  
• The housing area seems quite dense with a minimum of outside common space.  However, 
recognise that there are large areas of open space bordering the river and at the eastern edge of 
the development.  
• There does not seem to be any consideration for leisure facilities, such as Restaurant’s or 
Pubs and to promote Rugeley as the northern gateway to Cannock Chase and should better 
develop the riverside area to provide facilities for tourism.  Regard should however be had 
throughout for adequate provision for wildlife conservation. 
• Surveys and recommendations have been made to try to accommodate current populations 
of wildlife, such as bird populations (some rare) and other animals and insect populations (again 
some rare) have also been given consideration, which is a positive. 
• Another positive is the provision of a large area of solar panels. 
• Consideration should be given to upgrading of Rugeley Trent Valley railway station to better 
accommodate the increase in commuters from the new development and to provide more 
frequent services.  The station does not have a ticket office/waiting room with toilets and there 
does not appear to be provision for better pedestrian access from the new estate.  This 
argument is the same for Rugeley Town station (26/06/2019). 

 
Brereton and Ravenhill Parish Council – Share the concerns expressed by Persimmon Homes 
(13/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Support the proposal for an all-through school and also support the views of 
Sports England that there should either be provision for cricket on the site or a financial contribution 
for cricket off site - possibly a second square at Rugeley Cricket Club.  There should also be adequate 
off-street car parking provision for the MUGA (05/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Object.  The proposal is considered to be unsustainable, due to inadequacies in 
of its employment provision, which, given the site’s previous status as the area’s major employer, is 

Page 32



 

considered unacceptable.  The essential nature of this development is housing for commutting, most 
of which will be made via private motor vehicles.  
 
The parameters in the outline application are defective in both providing too little employment land, 
and in using a wording that would allow the developer to do less than apparently proposed.  At least 
10 Hectares of employment land should be provided.  Making their 5Ha a maximum with the 
dangerous phrase ‘upto’ means that it could be far less than the 5Ha proposed.  The result is a 
proposal that is contrary to Lichfield Core Policies 1 and 3.   
 
In terms of National Policy, the development conflicts with each of the three objectives in NPPF, 
(2019) through failing to limit the need to travel by car, contrary to Paragraphs 103 and 122(c).  The 
proposals hinder the move to a low carbon future contrary to Paragraph 148.  
 
Raises concern regarding the consultation process.  The applicant has pursued its original intentions, 
ignoring views contrary to those intentions in report-backs and claiming incorrectly that people at 
events supported those original intentions, when it did not seek the views of most people 
(24/07/2019).  
 
National Planning Casework Unit – No Comments (22/08/2019). 
 
Ecology Team – LDC – No objection.  Satisfied with the methodologies and information provided 
within the submitted updated Environmental Statement, Chapter 9 Ecology and all other supporting 
ecological information.  Concur with the conclusions of the above documents in that (given the data 
provided) it can now be considered unlikely that the proposed works would negatively impact upon 
a European Protected Species (EPS). 
 
The LPA is therefore in a position to demonstrate compliance with regulation 9(3) of the Habitat 
Regs. 1994 (as amended 2017), which places a duty on the planning authority when considering an 
application for planning permission, to have regard to its effects on European protected species.  It is 
also deemed that the LPA has sufficient understanding to discharge its “Biodiversity Duty” (as 
defined under section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006). 
 
Adherence by the applicant to all recommendations and methods of working detailed within Chapter 
9 Ecology, the Environmental Statement must be made a condition of any future planning approval 
including the submission of a Habitat Management Plan (HMP), Ecological Mitigation Strategy (EMS), 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), prior to submission of Reserved Matters and 
the adoption of Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMS) and further surveys as required, 
throughout the phasing of the development. 
 
Satisfied with the quantitative data submitted by the applicant at this time, via the Technical 
Appendix 9.8, Biodiversity Net Gain dated April 2020.  The data is an accurate depiction of value/s of 
the habitat currently on the site of proposed development and agrees it to be accurate for the sites 
current biodiversity value to be viewed as 403.77 Biodiversity Units (BU). 
 
Equally, agree that the Biodiversity Impact Calculator is accurate in describing the likely achievable 
biodiversity value of the site post development, as 431.68 BU.  The net gain of 27.91 BU is 
welcomed, whilst the new habitats proposed for creation as part of the development scheme are 
acceptable and in adherence with the Lichfield District Biodiversity Opportunity Map and the 
recently adopted Nature Recovery Network Mapping.  As such, the development is likely to achieve 
a 20% net-gain to Biodiversity Value and so complies with both policy NR3 of the Local Plan and the 
requirements of the Biodiversity and Development SPD. 
 
However, the applicant will need to submit a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) 
and a Habitat Management Plan (HMP) detailing, in full, the future habitat creation works (and 
sustained good management thereof) demonstrating a net gain to a value of no less than 27.91 BU.  
This should be supported by an updated biodiversity metric for the site. 
 

Page 33



 

The Landscape Design Strategy, which covers the overall scope of the site, must display in outline (if 
not in detail) the delivery of no less than 27.91 biodiversity units net gain and clearly denote what 
proportion of (in terms of habitat types/size/location/BU/etc.) will be brought forward in each phase 
of the development. This should form part of the Landscape Design Strategy condition. 
 
Satisfied that there is sufficient information contained within the shadow Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) to determine that there will not be any significant impacts to the Cannock Chase 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) in respect of NOx, subject to the outlined avoidance and 
mitigation measures being delivered. 
 
The mitigation measures outlined in the shadow HRA are proportional to the scale of impact on 
Cannock Chase SAC and are deliverable, with LDC facilitating the delivery of 186 Biodiversity Units of 
connecting heathland/associated habitat within the Nature Recovery Network (heathland zone) to 
buffer Cannock Chase SAC and increase habitat connectivity.  This suggested mitigation 
complements the measures outlined in the Natural England’s, Cannock Chase SAC Supplementary 
Nature Conservation Objectives (in order for the site to achieve favourable condition) for connecting 
the heathland network. 
 
As such, the LPA’s, as the competent authorities, should be able to complete the Habitat Regulation 
Assessment with respect of Nitrogen Impacts on Cannock Chase SAC and send to Natural England, as 
the appropriate authority, for further consideration and sanction (18/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Currently finalising the agreed mitigation for the development in relation to 
determined ecological harm to Natura 2000 sites.  Further comments will be provided on completion 
of these discussions (04/06/2020). 
 
No objection.  There is sufficient information contained within the shadow Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) to determine that there will not be any significant impacts to Cannock Chase 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) in respect of NOX, subject to the outlined avoidance and 
mitigation measures being delivered. 
 
The mitigation measures outlined in the shadow HRA are proportional to the scale of impact on 
Cannock Chase SAC and are deliverable, with LDC facilitating the delivery of 191 Biodiversity Units of 
connecting heathland/associated habitat within the Nature Recovery Network (heathland zone) to 
buffer Cannock Chase SAC and increase habitat connectivity.  The suggested mitigation 
complements the measures outlined in the Natural England’s, Cannock Chase SAC Supplementary 
Nature Conservation Objectives (in order for the site to achieve favourable condition) for connecting 
the heathland network. 
 
As such the LPA’s as the competent authorities should be able to complete the HRA's with respect of 
Nitrogen Impacts on Cannock Chase SAC and send to Natural England as the appropriate authority 
for further consideration and sanction (12/12/2019). 
 
No objection.  Satisfied with the methodologies and the information provided within the submitted 
Environmental Statement, Chapter 9 Ecology, the Environmental Statement Addendum, Technical 
Appendix 9.8, Biodiversity Net Gain and Letter Appendix A – Ecology Correspondence.  Concurs with 
the conclusions of these documents in that it can now be considered unlikely that the proposed 
works would negatively impact upon a European Protected Species (EPS), subject to the appropriate 
suggested measures of avoidance and mitigation as outlined in 9.7 Additional Mitigation, 
Compensation and Enhancement Measures of the Environmental Statement, Chapter 9 Ecology, the 
Environmental Statement Addendum.  Further conditions of any future planning approval should 
require, prior to the submission of any reserved matters, the submission of a Habitat Management 
Plan (HMP), Ecological Mitigation Strategy (EMS), a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) and the adoption of Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMS) and further surveys as 
required throughout the phasing of the development. 
 

Page 34



 

The quantitative data submitted is an accurate depiction of value/s of habitat within the application 
site (as regards total area, type, distinctiveness and condition) and agrees it to be accurate for the 
sites current biodiversity value to be viewed as 398.31 Biodiversity Units (BU). 
 
The Biodiversity Impact Calculator is considered accurate in describing the likely achievable 
biodiversity value of the site post development, as 426.20 Biodiversity Units (BU). 
 
Achievement of both No-Net-Loss to Biodiversity and a sufficient Quantitative net-gain as described 
by the Technical Appendix 9.8, Biodiversity Net Gain dated May 2019 and as depicted in the Green 
Infrastructure Plan and Ecology Environmental Statement, is unlikely to result in a net-loss to 
biodiversity value and as such, is deemed to conform to the guidance of paragraphs 9, 109 and the 
requirements of paragraph 175 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Welcomes the applicant’s intention to deliver net gains of 27.89 BU as part of the proposed 
development scheme.  Approves of the new proposed habitats, which are considered compliant 
with the Lichfield District Biodiversity Opportunity Map and the recently adopted Nature Recovery 
Network Mapping.  As such, the development is viewed as likely to achieve a 20% net-gain to 
Biodiversity Value and so complies with both Policy NR3 of the Local Plan and the requirements of 
the Biodiversity and Development SPD. 
 
However, the applicant will need to submit to the LPA a Construction Environment Management 
Plan (CEMP) and a Habitat Management Plan (HMP) detailing, in full, the future habitat creation 
works (and sustained good management thereof) demonstrating a net gain to a value of no less than 
27.89 BU.  This should be supported by an updated biodiversity metric for the site (27/11/2019). 
 
Until mitigation measures in respect of Nitrogen Oxide deposition have been satisfactorily resolved, 
this application would currently fail at Appropriate Assessment, hence further information in respect 
of this should be submitted by the applicant, prior to the LPA completing Stage 2 (Appropriate 
Assessment) of the HRA. 
 
In respect of the Riverside Country Park area being promoted as a Suitable Alternative Natural Green 
Space (SANGS), consider that this is unlikely to fully mitigate for the development’s likely visitor 
impacts (walkers, mountain bikers, dog walkers, horse riders) and consider this approach to be 
unsound.  A full bespoke mitigation package covering all of the above user groups would need to be 
presented to the Local Authority.  It is advised that the applicant deliver mitigation for recreational 
impacts on Cannock Chase SAC, by means of the Strategic Access Management & Monitoring 
(SAMM) measures. 
 
In addition, if this area were to be used as a SANGS for the above user groups, the Ecology Team 
considers that this would notably depreciate its predicted future biodiversity value, due to increased 
recreational usage, including nutrient enrichment from dog fouling, disruption to wildlife and 
increased visitation. Should this option be put forward, detailed plans and a revision to the 
biodiversity metric and Figures 9-10a to c will be required. 
 
The Environmental Statement and Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Appendix, notes the inclusion of 
the following areas for the purposes of ecological habitat compensation and biodiversity net gain: 
Riverside Country Park; ornamental pond and surrounding habitats; aquatic and woodland habitats 
around the borrow pit lake; Rugeley social area; Langleley Common and green corridors between 
development blocks or employment land. 
 
It is noted that it is the applicant's intention to use these areas to create, restore, enhance and 
manage on site habitats to achieve 20% net gain.  
 
Further details with regard to the proposed enhancements, within these areas, are required prior to 
any planning decision being made.  Figures 9-10a, 9-10b and 9-10c do not reflect the information 
contained within the Environmental Statement and show in fact that the majority the Riverside 
Country Park will be retained as semi improved grassland, with no works being completed on them.  

Page 35



 

This is in conflict with the Environmental Statement, which is promoting this area as the Riverside 
Country Park for the purposes of informal recreation.  It is presumed such recreational requirements 
will necessitate that area will contain infrastructure to support site users.  It is imperative that 
further information be provided in respect of these areas i.e. car parking and footpath provision, 
recreational facilities, dog walking facilities, biodiversity enhancements, habitat management etc. as 
all of the above is likely to have a negative impact on the existing biodiversity value and could 
contribute to a net loss of biodiversity.  
 
A key principle of securing 'no net loss' and biodiversity net gain will obviously be dependent on 
what enhancements are suggested in the Riverside Country Park area.  
 
The quantitative data submitted is an accurate depiction of value/s of the habitat current on the site 
(as regards total area, type, distinctiveness and condition) and agrees it to be accurate for the sites 
current biodiversity value to be viewed as 398.31 Biodiversity Units (BU). 
 
However, the Ecology Team disputes that the Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Appendix 9.8 is 
accurate in describing the likely achievable biodiversity value of the site post development. 
 
Any future habitat management, creation and restoration work occurring in the wider Riverside 
Country Park that forms part of the planning application (in the red line) will need to be factored into 
the biodiversity metric going forward, as it is currently in conflict with the works proposed within the 
Environmental Statement.  As noted earlier, figures 9-10a to 9-10c and the Biodiversity Metric, note 
no changes to the semi improved grassland habitat within the Riverside Country Park, yet the 
Environmental Statement is promoting the area for the purposes of informal recreation, SANGS and 
as an area to create, restore, enhance and manage on site habitats. 
 
Require details of likely changes to the habitat within the wider country park (every habitat within 
the red line) to ensure that: there is; no down trading of the existing semi-improved grassland; and 
the proposed habitat creation works comply within that of the SBAP and the Biodiversity 
Opportunity Map.  The detailed information should also be complete with a more accurate 
biodiversity metric and updated figures 9-10a to 9-10c. 
 
Prior to any planning decision being made further otter and water vole surveys are required, in 
addition to new updated species surveys (breeding birds, bat activity surveys, habitat surveys, bat 
roost surveys and invertebrate surveys). 
 
The information presented regarding measures of avoidance, mitigation and compensation of 
protected/priority species and habitats in the Environmental Statement is vague and does not 
currently provide enough detail to determine that they have been adequately considered and 
protected within the scheme going forward.  It is not therefore currently possible to determine this 
application, due to insufficient information in this regard. 
 
In respect of protected/priority species for the site, the submitted information does not follow best 
practice guidance within the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document, 
Policy NR3 or NPPF. Avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures need to be clearly 
understood before any planning decision is made.  Further details in respect of habitats, protected 
and priority species measures of avoidance, mitigation, and compensation and enhancement 
measures are required, prior to any planning decision being made. 
 
The ecological mitigation strategy should not be conditioned at this stage, due to a lack of 
information. Without this information the LPA will be unable to display they are having due regard 
to biodiversity as required under Section 40 of the NERC Act 2006 and demonstrate that the 
development is unlikely to negatively impact upon protected or priority species or habitats (i.e. 
those defined under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 2016), The Conservation of 
Natural Habitats Regulations (Habitat Regs.) 1994 (as amended 2017), The Protection of Badgers Act 
1992 or listed under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 

Page 36



 

2006). The LPA needs to have a robust understanding of the measures in place for avoidance, 
mitigation and compensation of impact on species. 
 
The ES highlights a number of species where the above measures would apply, these include: otters, 
badgers, sandmartin, kingfisher, barn owl, little ringed plover, hobby, bats, sand martin, lapwing, 
water vole, reptiles etc.  
 
Uncertain whether protected/priority species are likely to be impacted upon directly or indirectly, 
due to the informal recreational proposals for the Riverside Country Park areas.  The Environmental 
Statement contradicts itself in several places in respect of protected species, as it states that areas 
(such as the golf course) will be retained and so therefore protected species will not be affected. 
However, it is proposed that the area contains opportunities for the purposes of informal recreation, 
SANGS and to create, restore, enhance and manage on site habitats. Obviously these measures all 
provide the potential to disturb or harm protected and priority species.  Further detail of the scope 
of works need to be provided in the context of protected/priority species and habitats with 
adherence to the mitigation hierarchy in full detail (24/07/2019). 
 
Prior to providing detailed comments for this application, it is requested that the applicant submits a 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey Map, detailing all habitats currently present on the site.  This would normally 
be presented within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, but appears to be absent.  
 
Welcomes the applicant's commitment to providing updated species surveys (breeding birds, bat 
activity surveys, habitat surveys, bat roost surveys and invertebrate surveys) and their inclusion in an 
addendum prior to any planning decision being made (10/07/2019). 
 
Cannock Chase SAC Group – Agree with the information submitted by the applicant (Shadow HRA, 
Nov 2019) that the development is unlikely to result in significant impacts (alone or in combination) 
on: Pasturefields Saltmarsh Special Area of Conservation (SAC); Cannock Extension Canal SAC; and 
the West Midlands Mosses SAC.  There is sufficient evidence that these 3 designated sites should be 
screened-out at stage 1 of the Habitats Regulation Assessment. 
 
Agrees with the information submitted by the applicant that the development (alone and in 
combination) is likely to result in a significant impact upon Cannock Chase SAC, due to both 
increased visitor pressure and increased level of atmospheric deposition of Nitrogen Oxide (NOx).  
Appropriate Assessment (AA) must be undertaken to consider these two impacts upon the Cannock 
Chase SAC; including the likely scale of the harm; and determine if the mitigation measures 
recommended by the applicant are logical, achievable and proportional to the scale of impact. 
 
It is considered that the information provided within the Shadow HRA (Nov 2019 / updated May 
2020) is sufficient to allow the LPA’s to complete HRA and that the mitigation schemes suggested by 
the applicant to address both of their negative impacts to Cannock Chase SAC are robust and 
proportional to the determined scale of impact.As such, advise that the LPA’s are able undertake 
and complete HRA for Cannock Chase SAC, discharging their statutory responsibility as per 
Regulation 63 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (11/06/2020 & 
02/12/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: No objection subject to securing mitigation. 
 
Agrees with the applicant that only the Cannock Chase SAC is likely to be negatively impacted upon 
by this development.  There is sufficient evidence that all other European sites considered can be 
screened out at stage 1 of HRA at this time. 
 
Cannock Chase SAC will be negatively impacted upon by both increased visitor usage and increased 
NOx deposition. 
 
Increased visitor usage should be mitigated for via appropriate developer contributions to the 
Cannock Chase SAC Partnership Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures (SAMMM). 

Page 37



 

 
Further work still needs to be undertaken and submitted to the Local Planning Authorities, prior to 
undertaking a Habitat Regulations Assessment, to fully demonstrate the likely scale of impact to and 
appropriate mitigation for the Cannock Chase SAC, due to increased NOx deposition. 
 
Investigation into the potential for creation and/or management of buffering habitat for NOx 
deposition adjacent or near to Cannock Chase SAC, should be undertaken and submitted to the 
LPAs, prior to the HRA for this site, as this appears to be the most robust, achievable and pragmatic 
way to mitigate for impact. 
 
The LPA’s are unable to undertake and complete HRA for Cannock Chase SAC at this time (i.e. 
discharge their statutory responsibility as per Regulation 63 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017) due to further information relating to the impact of NOx and the securing 
of proportional mitigation (10/07/2019). 
 
Conservation and Urban Design Manager – LDC – No objection.  The more central location for the 
school is welcomed.  Further details required however of in site accessibility to the school via all 
transportation modes.  This would include a safe walkway from the former railway to the different 
school buildings and, particularly for the primary school, locations for safe parking for parents. 
 
The school site within the resolved to grant application and the formal open space adjacent to it are 
now shown as an area of residential development.  Given that there has been no corresponding loss 
of residential areas within the proposed school site, this will increase the overall area of residential 
development from 45ha to 49ha, as outlined in the covering letter.   
 
The new residential area is shown as having a maximum density of 60dph.  It would be preferable to 
reduce the density across the whole of the site to provide incidental areas of open space, improve 
landscaping, provide larger private gardens, ensure a high quality of public realm and to ensure that 
secure and useable parking provision is provided, so that parked cars do not dominate the 
streetscene.  
 
No further heritage comments to raise over those previously provided (06/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Four additional plans have been submitted. These are intended to 
demonstrate that the high densities proposed on this site can be achieved while still meeting the 
LPA’s standards for parking, amenity space, separation distances etc. 
 
The drawings raise a number of concerns and questions including that there are plots where the 
parking is not adjacent to the property and probably also not visible from it, which gives rise to 
concerns over usability and security.  The over reliance on tandem spaces is a concern, as are the use 
of tandem spaces in front of a garage. Where a property requires 3 spaces, if these consist of a 
garage with a tandem space in front, the likelihood of all three of these spaces being used for 
parking is very slim, which will result in parking on the street.  Some units do not appear to have any 
parking spaces, these are mainly opposite the swale. Parking spaces also look undersized. 
 
Some of the gardens look very small, amenity space for the apartment blocks seems small and there 
are no incidental Public Open Spaces within this parcel that could balance this lack of private 
amenity spaces. 
 
On street bin storage would not be discreet unless there was a bespoke structure in which to store 
the bins. LDC currently provides 3 bins per household.  If bins are to be dragged across parking 
spaces there should be enough space down the side of the parking space to do this, otherwise 
residents will have to move their vehicles. 
 
The artist’s impression gives rise to a number of concerns, in particular, the narrow road along which 
two cars could not pass each other and privacy/overlooking issues arising from the use of first floor 
balconies. The demarcation between public and private spaces is blurred with bollards shown, 

Page 38



 

presumably preventing vehicles driving or parking on their front gardens.  While discouraging vehicle 
use and encouraging pedestrian and cycle use is positive, the multi-use spaces need to be wide 
enough to accommodate all users safely.  
 
On the architectural design sheet there is concern about the size of proposed gardens with what are 
classed as ‘larger private rear gardens’ still not meeting LPA amenity standards.  The use of first floor 
balconies/terraces as amenity space gives rise to overlooking concerns (10/12/2019). 
 
Notes that there are now 6 rather than the original 4 Parameter Plans. The parameter plans are 
intended to form part of the suite of approved plans and future Reserved Matters and discharge of 
condition applications will have to show that they accord with these documents.  Therefore, it is 
important to ensure that these comply with relevant policies. The indicative Masterplan will not 
form part of the approved documents and so will remain indicative. 
 
Earlier comments relating to the Design & Access Statement are not repeated here but remain 
outstanding as an amended D&AS has not been submitted, whilst it is also noted that some previous 
comments have not been addressed in the amended parameter plans. 
 
Access and Movement 
 
Reiterates preference for a third vehicular access point. 
 
Access to the school has been clarified with additional information submitted to demonstrate that 
various routes could be taken and their safety.  Provision has been made for some parking, as while 
walking and cycling are encouraged, it is inevitable that some parents/guardians will drive. 
 
The former railway, which is intended to act as a key pedestrian/cycle route, will not serve as such 
for the full length of the site.  On the masterplan, around a third of this route is shown as a road and 
potentially a bus route, which is not compatible with a safe pedestrian/cycle route.  If, as per the 
SPD, no built form was proposed to the north of the former railway, then this would allow this safe 
pedestrian/cycle route to be extended for the full length of the former railway and so would solve 
the lack of connectivity to the south-eastern corner of the site.  
 
Land use Parameter Plan 
 
The principle of built form in two areas marked on the land use parameter plan, which are 
numbered 5 (adjacent to the Borrow Pit) and 8 (adjacent to the new riverside park) on the 
Illustrative Masterplan, are still of concern.  Both of these areas are shown as being strategic 
landscaping in the SPD.  Therefore it remains the position that built form in this area should be 
resisted. 
 
Building Heights Parameter and Density Parameter Plans 
 
The clarification offered by the parameter plan that in the areas marked as being up-to 5 storey, a 
maximum of 10% will be 5 storey and in the areas marked as being up-to 4 storey, a maximum of 
20% of the buildings will be 4 storey, with the rest being lower, is welcomed. 
 
Notwithstanding the fact that the SPD shows no built form in the area north-east of the former 
railway, there remains concerns that whilst the maximum building height has been reduced to 3 
storey, no clarification has been provided as to the proportion of 3 storey and generally this is still 
considered too high.  If any development were to be permitted in this area, it should show a clear 
reduction in height and density towards the edges of the site and not an increase, as is currently 
shown on this parameter plan. 
 
Notwithstanding the fact that the SPD shows no built form in the area adjacent to the Borrow Pit, in 
terms of the proposed development, there remains concerns that the proposed development in this 
area is shown as having a maximum height of 4 storeys.  Again, if any development were to be 

Page 39



 

permitted in this area, this should be considerably lower in height and density given its sensitive 
location between the Borrow Pit and open countryside.  
 
The proposed heights and densities along the site’s boundary with the open countryside will create a 
strong hard edge. If the proposed development were designed to transition comfortably from a built 
up area to open countryside, it would be expected for the development to be no more than 2 
storeys in height and a much lower density.  Similar schemes have densities of around 20dph at the 
rural edges. 
 
The maximum height at the northern entrance to the site has been reduced to 4 storey (with the 
same caveat of only 20% being 4 storey) and this is welcomed. 
 
There remain concerns regarding the proposed 5 storey development adjacent to the railway sidings 
at the north of the site. An amended cross section B-B on drawing 01585_SK_056 C shows the 
Riverside Promenade providing considerable screening. As there will only be 10% of the 
development at 5 storey, it would be preferable to see the lower heights being used directly 
adjacent to the walkway. 
 
The proposed densities are considerably higher than those previously approved on other allocated 
sites.  This is not to say that these densities cannot be accommodated, but simply that both the 
LPA’s need to be satisfied that this will not be to the detriment of the finished scheme and should 
not compromise the attractiveness of the development and its desirability as a place to live. 
 
Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan 
 
There remain few informal, incidental green open spaces, within the residential parcels.  These 
spaces would improve the quality of the residential areas, in particular, the high density areas and 
those areas, which are further away from the formal play areas. There is a single LEAP within the 
large residential area, adjacent to the Borrow Pit, marked on the Parameter Plan, but there are 4 
potential locations for surface attenuation ponds and basins. While ponds are design to be 
permanently in water, basins are designed to be dry for the majority of the time and so could these 
double up as informal ‘kick-about’ spaces? 
 
In the areas of highest residential density there is a concern that these will be overly dominated by 
hard landscaping, the application needs to show that the green infrastructure will carry on through 
these heavily developed areas. 
 
The SPD includes a key principle of the development of the site, being the creation of useable, well 
connected green infrastructure. The Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan shows many elements of 
the green infrastructure isolated amongst areas of built development.  The masterplan shows the 
primary road as being tree lined, but this is not shown as green infrastructure on this parameter 
plan.  A primary road with green verges and suitable, structural tree planting could contribute 
towards the desire to create a useable and well connected green infrastructure. 
 
All structural planting, such as that along a tree lined primary road, or other planting that is needed 
to achieve the desired quality of development, should be in public spaces that are maintained by the 
Management Company. Additional non-structural planting can be in private gardens and spaces. 
 
Parking - The parking strategy should include provision for the sports pitches, allotments and Borrow 
Pit Lake. Some of these facilities are likely to require some built form, such as storage for the 
allotments or changing facilities for the formal sports pitches, so these should be accommodated. 
  
Rear parking courts, where used, need to be clearly overlooked by neighbouring properties to 
provide natural surveillance and to deter crime.  Ideally the resident should be able to see their 
parked car from their house. 
 

Page 40



 

The SPD states in paragraph 4.33 that the parking should be integrated into the development in 
order to limit the impact on visual amenity. To enhance visual interest and break up the streetscene, 
generous planting will be required where there is surface level parking.  The application needs to 
demonstrate that this can be achieved (20/11/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: The development will cause less than substantial harm to the setting of a 
number of designated heritage assets. The greatest level of harm arising as a consequence of the 
development (albeit still ‘less than substantial’) would be to the Trent & Mersey Canal Conservation 
Area, due to an increase in noise and movement caused by the development. Also being affected, 
although to a lesser degree is the Mavesyn Ridware Conservation Area. The significance of a number 
of listed buildings will also be harmed by the proposed development. 
 
Although there are no identified heritage related public benefits identified as part of the planning 
application, there are some mitigation works and benefits that could be identified, along with 
significant non-designated heritage asset related public benefits. 
 
Further consideration required from the applicant regarding the full impact of the development, as it 
would bring built form much closer to a number of heritage assets, whilst also increasing activity 
around these properties (07/10/2019). 
 
Notes some concerns. Whilst the proposals are in outline, with all matters except access being 
reserved, it is the intention of the applicant for the 4 submitted parameter plans (Land Use, Access 
and Movement, Building Heights and Green Infrastructure) to form part of the suite of approved 
plans, in order to establish, at this stage, the broad principles for the overall development of this 
site. Therefore these plans have been commented upon in detail as well as the indicative 
masterplan. 
 
Access and Movement 
 
Reiterates preference for a third vehicular access point. 
 
Pedestrian and cycle permeability should be improved to prevent an over-reliance on cars.  Quick 
and easy pedestrian and cycle access in and out and within the site should be provided.  At present, 
in addition to the two vehicular access points, there are two pedestrian access point to the north-
west of the site, two to the south of the site and then another two in-between.  This leaves distances 
of between 500 and 700m between pedestrian/cycle accesses which is not ideal.  While it is 
appreciated that the bypass and land ownership issues make the provision of further access points 
problematic, the lack of integration of the site into the wider area, is noticeable.  Links to the shared 
footway along the A51 and the towpath to the Trent and Mersey Canal would be beneficial, as these 
routes provide links to Rugeley Trent Valley Station and Rugeley Town Centre. 
 
The former railway sidings, which is intended to act as a key pedestrian/cycle route, will not serve as 
such for the full length of the site, as shown on the masterplan, as a substantial part of it becomes a 
road and even a bus route.  It is considered that no built form should be sited to the northern side of 
the former railway track, this is supported by the Rugeley Power Station SPD and would solve this 
aspect of lack of connectivity to the south-eastern corner of the site.  
 
The pedestrian and cycle routes through the development need to offer adequate natural 
surveillance for users to feel comfortable and safe using them. This is particularly relevant for the 
former railway line.  
 
The school is located on one side of the community square and does not directly face a highway.  
There are two tertiary roads, which end in what appear to be cul-de-sacs, on either side of the 
school site. While walking/cycling/public transport will be encouraged, it is inevitable that some 
parents will drive, so school drop-off and pick-up traffic should be accommodated, so that any 
potential problems are designed out at this stage.  
 

Page 41



 

The Design & Access Statement shows tertiary streets coming directly off the primary route.  Streets 
should follow the hierarchy, so secondary routes should come off the primary route with tertiary 
streets coming off these.  
 
Land use Parameter Plan 
 
The necessity of the location of the school and the main community hub, in the north of the site, has 
been explained.  This has mainly been informed by implementation considerations rather than urban 
design.  In this instance, provision should be made to facilitate residents who could live over 1.5km 
away from the school/hub, accessing it by public transport, as it is unlikely that residents would walk 
this distance regularly.  A walking bus is an option, but this is unlikely to be used by very young 
children, who would struggle to walk those distances.  A clear cycle route should also be provided 
that would be suitable for children and parents to use as well as other residents.  
 
Housing in two areas marked on the land use parameter plan, which are numbered 5 (adjacent to 
the Borrow Pit) and 8 (adjacent to the new riverside park) on the Illustrative Masterplan are of 
concern.  Area 5 is outside of the area shown for residential development in the design parameter 
plan in the SPD.  The SPD also shows this area as being strategic landscaping.  In the SPD it states 
that lower densities should be located to the southern and eastern edges so that the built edge can 
be assimilated into the countryside. 
 
In terms of area 8, while there may be scope for low level, well landscaped dwellings, such as self-
build or eco homes, the type of development shown, is entirely unsuitable and will create a very 
strong hard edge, where both densities and heights should be reduced to aid the transition from 
built form to open countryside. 
 
Density Parameter Plan and Building Heights Parameter Plan 
 
The areas shown as having the highest density and some of the highest buildings at up to 4 storeys, 
are the areas adjacent to the open countryside and these should have the lowest density and lowest 
heights to aid the transition of built form to open countryside.  The proposed development would 
create a strong ‘wall’ of built form that would prevent views over the open countryside beyond and 
is contrary to good design and the principles laid out in the Rugeley Power Station SPD.  
Furthermore, much of this proposed development is adjacent to the red line, meaning that the land 
adjacent is not within the application site, so there isn’t the option to mitigate with planting. 
 
In Chapter 7 of the Design & Access Statement the highest two density areas are described as having 
2, 2.5 and 3 storey townhouses with apartment block of up to 5 storey. It is unclear how these 
different heights will work alongside each other. 
 
The Design & Access Statement should demonstrate how the higher densities can be achieved, while 
still achieving the Council’s standards for parking, amenity space etc. and incorporating sufficient 
landscaping and high quality public realm to achieve a desirable place to live. 
 
In terms of building heights, the tallest retained building is the 400kv substation, which is 20m high.  
The tallest proposed buildings are 22m high.  While it is appreciated that the much taller structures 
of the chimney and cooling towers are being removed and so the overall maximum height is being 
reduced considerably, the overall quantum of development is being increased, so the use of 
buildings that are taller than the 400kV substation should be located sensitively and used sparsely.  
 
In the last paragraph on page 103 of the Design & Access Statement the proposed density figures 
should be amended to reflect those shown on the parameter plan.  
 
Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan 
 
There remain few informal, incidental green open spaces, within the residential parcels.  These 
spaces would improve the quality of the residential areas, in particular, the high density areas and 

Page 42



 

those areas, which are further away from the formal play areas.  There is a single LEAP within the 
large residential area, adjacent to the Borrow Pit, marked on the Parameter Plan, but there are 4 
potential locations for surface attenuation ponds and basins.  While ponds are design to be 
permanently in water, basins are designed to be dry for the majority of the time and so could these 
double up as informal ‘kick-about’ spaces? 
 
In the areas of highest residential density there is a concern that these will be overly dominated by 
hard landscaping, the application needs to show that the green infrastructure will carry on through 
these heavily developed areas. 
 
The SPD includes a key principle of the development of the site being the creation of useable, well 
connected green infrastructure. The Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan shows many elements of 
the green infrastructure isolated amongst areas of built development.  The masterplan shows the 
primary road as being tree lined, but this is not shown as green infrastructure on this parameter 
plan. A primary road with green verges and suitable, structural tree planting could contribute 
towards the desire to create a useable and well connected green infrastructure. 
 
All structural planting, such as that along a tree lined primary road, or other planting that is needed 
to achieve the desired quality of development should be in public spaces that are maintained by the 
Management Company. Additional non-structural planting can be in private gardens and spaces. 
 
Parking 
 
The parking strategy should include provision for the sports pitches, allotments and Borrow Pit Lake. 
Some of these facilities are likely to require some built form, such as storage for the allotments or 
changing facilities for the formal sports pitches, so these should be accommodated. 
  
Rear parking courts, where used, need to be clearly overlooked by neighbouring properties to 
provide natural surveillance and to deter crime.  Ideally the resident should be able to see their 
parked car from their house. 
 
The SPD states in paragraph 4.33 that the parking should be integrated into the development in 
order to limit the impact on visual amenity. To enhance visual interest and break up the streetscene, 
generous planting will be required, where there is surface level parking.  The application needs to 
demonstrate that this can be achieved. 
 
Character Areas / Place-making 
 
These are welcomed but the size and quantum of development proposed suggests that these 6 
areas should be further broken down.  Details of this can be included within the Design Code that 
will be required by condition on any approval.  Consideration should be given to how these character 
areas will relate to each other and the surrounding areas.  While each should have a unique identity 
the transition from one to another should not be incongruous. 
 
The areas shown on page 90 and page 116 of the D&SA should match up, in particular the size of The 
Promenade varies in these two drawings.  
 
The Yards – Unsure to what extent the 4-5 storey apartment blocks will provide surveillance over the 
promenade walk. 
 
The Railway/The Promenade 
 
This former railway provides a route from one end of the site to the other and is wide enough to 
generously accommodate both pedestrians and cyclists.  Provision should be made for this route to 
be safe for all users to encourage its use and thus assure it becomes an integral part of the site.  As it 
has little natural surveillance, which is what is usually required of such routes through 
developments, alternative means of ensuring the safety of users’ needs consideration.  A link from 

Page 43



 

the Railway to a designated entrance to the school and community hub should be provided 
(05/08/2019). 
 
Reiterates that the provision of a third vehicular access would significantly improve the accessibility, 
sustainability and permeability of the site and its integration into the wider area.  The Rugeley Power 
Station Development Brief SPD is clear that 2 access points are the minimum that are required.  The 
two current accesses are around 2.2km apart, meaning that there will be significant vehicular 
journeys through the site. Even if this connection cannot be provided at present, due to land 
ownership or other issues, this aspect of the development should be future proofed, so as to not 
preclude the possibility of a third vehicular access point at a future date. 
 
At present, in addition to the two vehicular access points, there are two pedestrian access point to 
the north-west of the site, two to the south of the site and then another two in-between. This leaves 
distances of between around 500 and 700m between pedestrian/cycle accesses, which is not ideal. 
Whilst it is appreciated that the bypass and land ownership issues make the provision of further 
access points problematic, the lack of integration of the site into the wider area is noticeable.  
 
The school is not located on one side of the community square and does not directly face a highway. 
There are two tertiary roads ' marked as shared surfaces/private drives on page 133 of the D&AS 
which end in what appear to be cul-de-sacs on either side of the school site. While 
walking/cycling/public transport will be encouraged it is inevitable that some parents will drive, so 
school drop-off and pick-up traffic should be accommodated, to ensure that any potential problems 
are designed out at this stage.  
 
The street hierarchy on page 133 of the Design & Access Statement shows tertiary streets coming 
directly off the primary route.  Streets should follow the hierarchy so secondary routes should come 
off the primary route with tertiary streets coming off these.  
 
Land use Parameter Plan 
 
The necessity of the location of the school and the main community hub, in the north of the site, has 
been explained. These have mainly been informed by implementation considerations rather than 
urban design. In this instance, provision should be made to facilitate residents who could live over 
1.5km away from the school/hub, accessing it by public transport, as it is unlikely that residents 
would walk this distance regularly.  A walking bus is an option but this is unlikely to be used by very 
young children who would struggle to walk those distances. A clear cycle route should also be 
provided that would be suitable for children and parents to use as well as other residents.  
 
Housing in two areas marked on the land use parameter plan, which are numbered 5 (adjacent to 
the Borrow Pit) and 8 (adjacent to the new riverside park) on the Illustrative Masterplan are of 
concern. Area 5 is outside of the area shown for residential development in the design parameter 
plan in the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The SPD also shows this area as being strategic 
landscaping. In terms of area 8, while there may be some scope for low level, well landscaped 
dwellings, such as self-build or eco homes in this area, the type of development shown here is 
entirely unsuitable and will create a very strong hard edge where both densities and heights should 
be reduced here to aid the transition from built form to open countryside. 
 
Density Parameter Plan and Building Heights Parameter Plan 
 
The areas shown as having the highest density and some of the highest buildings at up to 4 storeys, 
are the areas adjacent to the open countryside and these should have the lowest density and lowest 
heights to aid the transition of built form to open countryside. 
 
In Chapter 7 of the Design & Access Statement, the highest two density areas are described as 
having 2, 2.5 and 3 storey townhouses, with apartment blocks of up to 5 storeys.  It is unclear how 
these different heights will work alongside each other. 
 

Page 44



 

The Design & Access Statement should demonstrate how the higher densities can be achieved while 
still achieving the Council's standards for parking, amenity space etc. and incorporating sufficient 
landscaping and high quality public realm to achieve a desirable place to live. 
 
In terms of building heights, the tallest retained building is the 400kv substation which is 20m high. 
The tallest proposed buildings are 22m high. While it is appreciated that the much taller structures 
of the chimney and cooling towers are to be removed and therefore the overall maximum height is 
being reduced, the overall quantum of development is being increased, so the use of buildings that 
are taller than the 400kV substation should be located sensitively and used sparsely.  
 
In the last paragraph on page 103 of the Design & Access Statement, the proposed density figures 
should be amended to reflect those shown on the parameter plan.  
 
Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan 
 
There are few, if any, informal, incidental green open spaces within the residential parcels.  Such 
open space would improve the quality of the residential areas, in particular the high density areas 
and those areas which are further away from the formal play areas. There is a single LEAP within the 
large residential area, adjacent to the Borrow Pit, marked on the Parameter Plan, but there are 4 
potential locations for surface attenuation ponds and basins.  While ponds are designed to be 
permanently in water, basins are designed to be dry for the majority of the time and so could these 
double up as informal 'kick-about' spaces? 
 
Parking 
 
The parking strategy should include provision for parking for the facilities that are to be provided.  
This could include the sports pitches, allotments and Borrow Pit Lake.  Some of these facilities may 
also require some built form, such as storage for the allotments of changing facilities for the formal 
sports pitches, so these should be accommodated.  
 
Rear parking courts, where used, need to be clearly overlooked by neighbouring properties to 
provide natural surveillance and to deter crime.  Ideally the resident should be able to see their 
parked car from their house. 
 
The pedestrian and cycle routes through the development need to be safe with adequate natural 
surveillance for users to feel comfortable and safe using them. 
 
Character Areas / Place-making 
 
These are welcomed but the size and quantum of development proposed suggests that these 6 
areas should be further broken down. Details of this can be included within the Design Code that will 
be required by condition on any approval. Consideration should also be given to how these character 
areas will relate to each other and the surrounding areas.  Whilst each area should have a unique 
identity, the transition from one to another should not be incongruous. 
 
The areas shown on page 90 and page 116 of the Design & Access Statement should match up, in 
particular the size of The Promenade varies in these two drawings.  
 
The Railway/ The Promenade 
 
This former railway provides a unique route from one end of the site to the other and is wide 
enough to generously accommodate both pedestrians and cyclists.  Provision should be made for 
this route to be safe for all users to encourage its use and thus assure it becomes an integral part of 
the site.  As it has little natural surveillance, which is what is usually required of such routes through 
developments, alternative means of ensuring the safety of users' needs consideration.  A link from 
the Railway to a designated entrance to the school and community hub should be provided (04/07/ 
2019). 

Page 45



 

 
Cannock Chase Council – Principal Landscape & Countryside Officer – Notes that the parameter 
plans set out key aspects in respect of the interaction between heights and densities, which gives 
comfort.  However, the submitted plans show a high percentage of green ‘areas’ within the sketches, 
which gives a somewhat false impression of what the actual outcome will be, bearing in mind the 
proposed density of development.  Ensuring that all the required parameters of distance, space 
about dwellings etc. can be met and still retaining sufficient functional and sustainable green areas, 
will be a key issue and one that will only become apparent at the detailed design stage. 
 
As noted previously, one major aspect of the use of large blocks of building, is the impact of wind 
flow though and around such structures.  Without appropriate consideration the use of the spaces 
becomes impractical. 
 
The production of a detailed design manual will be essential to ensure a consistent quality of 
development is achieved throughout.  The production of this should be conditioned. 
 
The Landscape Visual Impact Appraisal confirms that long distance views from publically accessible 
locations will have minimal visual intrusion.  Short distance views are generally screened by existing 
structures/features.  The likely most prominent view would be from the western end of the site and 
existing entrance off Power station Road/A51.  Additional information has indicated that with 
appropriate retention/landscaping development within this area will not have a detrimental effect 
on the surrounding existing streetscene.  
 
The Landscape Character Assessment states that “Adjacent built up areas considerably change the 
character of the landscape…. by visually dominating the landscape feature”, the urban edge and 
modern housing being classed as incongruous features.  Protecting the river floodplain from 
inappropriate urban development and transport links is also noted as well as that “New 
development… should support retention of relatively tranquil character of adjoining rural landscape 
by continued buffering and management of the urban edge by using appropriate species”.  With this 
in mind, the development of housing on and along the eastern end of the railway sidings, would 
have a significant and adverse impact on the adjacent landscape character, especially considering 
the suggested 5 storey developments.  Such development would prevent the implementation of any 
potential buffer/screening compared to the northern part of the site, where buildings are set back 
from the railway.  Even if screening/tree planting was achievable, its long term retention would be 
questionable, given residents expectations/requirements for views over the adjacent landscape. 
 
The key issue in the development of this site is access and linkage.  Vehicular access is proposed via 
two points, but to ensure sustainable transportation, the key will be quick and easy pedestrian/cycle 
access into and out of the site.  This is especially important across the A51, but also via the Pippins 
site.  The application suggests these are potential future links, but their delivery is key to achieving 
the aims of the whole scheme and need to be one of the first aspects built, when tied to the relevant 
phase of development. 
 
Potential internal linkage for pedestrians and cyclists remains good with a strong emphasis on the 
former railway sidings, although there are missing links and room for improvements.  However, this 
suggested route does not link to the eastern end of the site and having a strong clear segregated 
access route that serves the whole site is essential to allow full and easy connectivity and which 
would avoid the use of car dominated streets. 
 
The access and movement plan indicates a linkage to the middle of the Pippins site, which would be 
fully appropriate, however there also needs to be a linkage to the northern end of the Pippins site 
from adjacent the northern side of the ornamental lake.  This would then link with the key open 
space and play area of the Pippins site. 
 
The potential location of certain features needs further thought, in order to function appropriately 
and avoid future issues.  In particular, the location of the MUGA within the narrow open space 
corridor between the school and employment area.  This area also is proposed to contain other 

Page 46



 

play/sports facilities as well as landscaped open space.  The MUGA should be associated with the 
main open space & play facilities indicated to the west of the school.  Putting it and the other 
open/accessible facilities within a narrow corridor, will result in future issues and not just in terms of 
maintenance and management. 
 
In landscape and design terms, the creation of character areas is good, but these need to relate and 
connect well to each other.  Whilst there is a relatively large amount of detail relating to the design 
of key routes and open space areas, there is very little on the detail to the residential areas.  This will 
be essential to ensure that whole scale hard landscape and car dominated areas are not created.  
Hopefully this would be picked up in a detailed design manual (26/11/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: Development of housing on and along the eastern end of the railway sidings 
and northern edge of the borrow pit would have a significant and adverse impact on the adjacent 
landscape character, especially considering the suggested 5 storey developments.  This ‘wall’ of 
development would enclose this area of the site, thus preventing views out over the landscape and 
as such integration between the two.  Such development would also prevent the implementation of 
any potential buffer/screening due to the proposed siting of the building, whilst should planting be 
possible, the long term retention of such would by very questionable given residents expectations / 
requirements for views over the landscape.   
 
In terms of views of the potential development, the nature of the site means that in general most, 
but not all will be screened from publicly accessible points.  Most long distance views will see a 
change from a tall feature in the landscape to a generally low line of structures, often veiled by 
interviewing vegetation either new or existing.  There will however be some distant views from the 
North East of a solid edge created by the 5 storey buildings, along the railway sidings 
and north of the borrow pit. 
 
Notes that there is no reference features within the surrounding built form, other than the existing 
cooling towers and station buildings themselves (which are to be demolished); which is of similar 
height to the proposed 5 storey apartments.  In terms of massing and area covered, the apartments 
will be greater than the strictures to be demolished. 
 
To ensure suitable pedestrian/cycle linkage and make the whole design work/function on a 
sustainable basis, the key will be quick and easy access into and out of the site, especially across the 
A51, but also via the Pippins site.  It is suggested that such links are potential future links, but these 
will be key to achieving the aims of the whole scheme and need to be one of the first 
aspects built. If this is not achieved, then the development will become car reliant and isolated from 
the surrounding community. Internal linkages are considered appropriate, with a strong emphasis on 
the use of the former railway siding, as a segregated access route.  
 
Further detail of the design of the residential areas will be important to ensure that whole scale hard 
landscape and car dominated areas are not created.  In addition, given the density of development, 
consideration, in due course will have to be given to wind flow through and around the built form.  
Provision of green spaces within the developed areas is important, as is the integration of usable 
SUD features within these spaces.  Finally, notes a need for increased allotment provision 
(05/07/2019). 
 
Economic Development – LDC - The proposed redevelopment of the land within the northern part 
of Lichfield District is essential, being located in close proximity to a key settlement, Rugeley, and to 
a major north / south transport route.  
 
The mixed use aspect of the site increases the growth of Rugeley, supported by Strategic Priority 1 of 
the Local Plan Strategy, to contribute towards sustainable communities and develop key 
settlements. By bringing a derelict brownfield employment space back into life, through establishing 
a new neighbourhood centre, inclusive of community use, it enhances the settlement.  
 

Page 47



 

With regard to the transport aspect of the site, a combination of pedestrian and vehicular elements 
have been included within this application, through a mix of walking, cycling and road infrastructure, 
supporting strategic priority 5 of the Local Plan Strategy.  A concern is the primary road link through 
the site, whilst connecting the employment and residential space, pedestrian’s safety when 
vehicular access occurs through the residential setting needs to be considered when identifying 
occupants of the employment site.  A suggestion would be to include separate vehicular access from 
the employment sites to the A51, if the occupants regularly use HGV and heavy loaded vehicles.  
 
The site is within an attractive location for employment use, close to rail and road links through 
Rugeley Trent Valley train station on the West Coast Main Line and the A51. The development 
supports core policy 7 and the Lichfield District Economic Development Strategy’s topic of 
Sustainable Employment Land by providing up to 5 ha of employment space (Use B1, B2, B8).  The 
use has to meet the needs of the local community’s workforce to relieve pressures on the transport 
links accessing and surrounding the sites, supporting the local economy. There is currently a high out 
commuting population, adding pressure onto the road network and not supporting internal growth, 
with the new development delivering 200,000 sq ft of employment floorspace, this shall provide a 
sizeable commercial stock to generate increased wealth in the local economy (01/11/2019 & 
31/07/2019). 
 
Environmental Health Team - LDC – No objection.  However, requests further assessment of noise 
mitigation requirements at detailed design stage, including the potential impacts of the industrial 
use and school upon noise sensitive receptors.  
 
Further assessment of vibration impacts from piling activities should be undertaken once the 
responsible contractor and foundation types have been determined. 
 
Should the requirement to keep windows closed be part of any noise mitigation strategy, an 
overheating risk assessment should be undertaken, and any additional ventilation requirements 
agreed. 
 
As per previous comments, low frequency noise from the existing 400 kV and the 132kV substations 
requires further consideration (06/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Reiterates initial comments.  Requests confirmation of the proposed electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure (27/11/2019). 
 
No objection. However requests further comments from the applicant's noise consultants as to 
whether any consideration has been given to low frequency noise from the existing substation 
infrastructure that will remain on the site. 
 
Recommends conditions requiring the submission and approval, prior to the commencement of 
development of a noise assessment, to include appropriate mitigation measures and a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan.  During the period of construction, it is recommended that no 
works take place outside of: 0730 ' 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 ' 1300 hours on 
Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays (other than emergency works). 
 
With reference to land contamination, liaison with Cannock Chase's Environmental Health 
Department has occurred, to ensure a consistent response.  One of the outcomes has been an 
outline Remediation and Reclamation Strategy (RRS), provided in volume 2 of the report.  Measures 
to mitigate against the impact of land contamination are provided in this document and are 
considered to be acceptable.  These measures need to be supplemented by a CEMP to 
accommodate the construction phase of the development.  
 
The Environment Agency has had a major role in overseeing the surrender of Environmental Permits 
and ensuring that controlled waters are not unduly affected.  Such measures will assist in making the 
site fit for the proposed use (08/07/2019). 
 

Page 48



 

Parks and Leisure Services – LDC – The Council will not be adopting any of the public open space, 
therefore arrangements need to be made to ensure the future maintenance of these areas by a 
suitable management company (14/05/2020, 12/11/2019 & 04/11/2019). 

Housing Manager – LDC – No objection.  Notes the agreement to apply vacant building credit and 
the resulting number of affordable homes across the site as a whole.  A ‘blended’ approach which 
provides 17.6% of the 2,300 homes as affordable housing, equating to 405 affordable units, is 
therefore acceptable. Of these, 223 units will fall within Lichfield district and 182 will be allocated 
within Cannock Chase. 

Have considered the residual issue of the proposed housing mix, which includes 125 one and two 
bedroomed flats to be available as a combination of general needs and restricted to persons over 65 
years of age. To facilitate flexibility the applicant has agreed to determine future elderly provision at 
Reserved Matters stage. Taking this and the blended approach described above into account, the 
proposed mix appears to be acceptable (19/12/2019). 
 
Housing Manager – CCDC – The issue of vacant building credit and the calculation of affordable 
homes will be considered across the site as a whole, achieving a ‘blended’ approach of 17.6%.  Based 
on 2,300 dwellings this equates to 405 affordable dwellings.  This approach is welcomed and 
provides 182 affordable homes within Cannock Chase.  The even spread of affordable homes across 
the whole site will create a vibrant and sustainable community. 
 
A number of flats are proposed including 2 bedroom, which may be for either general needs or over 
65’s, which are required for density/viability reasons.  Given the fact that there will be a blended 
approach across the site and the applicant is prepared to test and define future elderly provision at 
Reserved Matters, the broad mix that is proposed at this stage appears acceptable (17/12/2019). 
 
Health and Wellbeing Development Manager - LDC – Agrees with the comments made by Sport 
England (27/08/2019). 
 
Spatial Policy & Delivery Team - LDC – Requests clarification to ensure that the pavilion within the 
sports fields will offer the range of facilities identified for such a building within the Rugeley Power 
Station SPD, namely to act as a community hub. 
 
The moderate office provision proposed within the Centre B within the site, will not have an impact 
on Lichfield City Centre. Similarly the retail and leisure uses proposed will also not impact upon 
Lichfield or Armitage with Handsacre, subject to the floor areas for such uses being limited, via the 
use of a condition, to that appropriate for a neighbourhood centre. 
 
Raises concern regarding the location and scale of the approximately 1,000sqm healthcare facility. 
To ensure the delivery of this health infrastructure there will be a need to secure commitment from 
the Clinical Commissioning Group. In particular confirmation that the proposed floorspace is 
adequate and that the provision sits within their Strategic Transformation Programme. Without clear 
commitment, there is very real risk that despite the allocation of land, a health facility will not be 
brought forward, leading to pressure to use the floorspace for alternatives uses (27/11/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: Appendix E of the Local Plan Allocations Document states that the site should 
provide neighbourhood facilities, including a community hub, to incorporate a community / sports 
building and small scale convenience retail provision. However, in accordance with Local Plan 
Strategy Policy E, a retail assessment will be required for any proposed retail use, with a floor area 
over 100m2 (25/07/2019). 
 
No objection.  The site is located to the east of Rugeley Town Centre and traverses the boundary 
between Cannock Chase District and Lichfield District Council.  The site is located adjacent to the 
East of Rugeley Strategic Development Area, which is allocated within the Local Plan Allocations 
Document for a minimum of 800 dwellings, as identified on Inset 18 of the Local Plan Policies Maps.  

Page 49



 

Within Lichfield District, the site is situated within the Armitage and Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan 
Area. 
 
Paragraph 177 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply 
where development requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is 
being considered, planned or determined.  In this case, the site falls within a 15km radius of the 
boundary of the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which is identified under the 
Birds & Habitats Directive.  Therefore the guidance of the NPPF is that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development would not apply in this case and thus, it is necessary for the development 
to demonstrate it has satisfied the Habitats and Species Regulations, in that the integrity of the 
Cannock Chase SAC will not be adversely affected, having regard to avoidance or mitigation 
measures.  
 
Local Plan Allocations Document Policy R1: East of Rugeley Housing Land Allocations outlines key 
considerations for the development of the site. Appendix E of the Local Plan Allocations then goes 
on to provide a detailed concept statement for the former Rugeley Power Station, ensuring the 
delivery of a minimum of 800 dwellings, the protection and enhancement of ecological interests, 
including management and future maintenance of landscape and important recreation features, 
providing strong walking and cycling links through the development and ensuring a good degree of 
physical and social integration with the existing settlement.  The application is for up to 2,300 of 
which the planning statement sets out that approximately 1,295 dwellings will be within Lichfield 
District.  Whilst this is an increase in units above the 800, which has been allocated, the allocation is 
a minimum and therefore, there is no objection, to an increase in units. 
 
With regards to affordable housing, Policy H2 of the Local Plan Strategy uses a dynamic model to 
calculate the viable level of affordable housing in the prevailing economic conditions, which 
currently stands at 35% (AMR 2018).  The applicant is proposing 35% affordable housing on site, with 
a tenure split of 65% social rent and 35% intermediate in accordance with Policy H2.  Whilst this 
level of provision and tenure split is supported, the application has outlined that this is subject to 
Vacant Building Credit and viability assessments.  
 
The Local Plan Strategy outlines the need to create a balanced housing market (Policy H1) this 
recognises the need for 2 and 3 bedroom properties within the District. This is supported by the 
evidence in the Southern Staffordshire Housing Needs Study & SHMA Update (2012). Therefore a 
scheme, which includes a range of properties, particularly 2 and 3 bed dwellings, should be sought, 
as the detailed design of the scheme progresses. Whilst it is noted that this is an outline application, 
Table 8.2 in the Local Plan Strategy sets out an indicative housing mix for schemes, which includes 
5% one beds, 42% two beds, 41% three beds and 12% four plus beds. Therefore, a scheme which 
reflects the mix outlined above will be supported.  
 
Core Policy 8: Our Centres sets out that new neighbourhood centres providing local services and 
facilities will be required to meet day to day needs arising from new communities.  The indicative 
masterplan includes 1.2 hectares of mixed ' use development. This includes three mixed use centres 
across the development site (Use Classes A1-5, C1-3, D1-D2). The information submitted, sets out 
that two centres could provide healthcare facilities, small convenience / retail uses and community 
facilities and the third centre could provide more leisure focused facilities.  
 
Policy HSC1: Open Space Standards sets out the open space provision required for all developments. 
It states design of new green and open spaces will take account of current guidance, minimising 
opportunities from crime and antisocial behaviour and maximising accessibility for all sections of the 
community. The indicative masterplan indicates significant areas of accessible open space including 
a riverside park, amenity greenspace, children's equipped play, formal public open space, informal 
public open space, open space and green corridors, meadow areas and the retention of the existing 
allotments.  The masterplan and support documentation sets out that green corridors will link the 
central spaces to the wider green network and beyond the site boundary, which is supported.  
 

Page 50



 

Policy HSC2 states that loss or displacement of playing fields and sports facilities will be resisted, 
where there is identified existing and future needs.  Loss will only be acceptable where it can be 
clearly demonstrated that alternative compensatory facilities are of at least an equal or higher 
standard and are provided, in accordance with national governing body technical guidance and Sport 
England design guidance notes.  The proposals provide replacement facilities for the sports and 
recreational facilities, previously located on site, with the exception of golf provision. Notes that the 
Sports Development Officer and Sport England will comment in relation to this aspect of the scheme.  
 
The opportunity for public art within the scheme as part of a condition or S106 is welcomed.  
 
Further, development of this site would also need to comply with other general policies on 
sustainable communities, infrastructure, sustainable transport, healthy and safe communities, 
natural resources and the built and historic environment.  
 
In addition, development would need to have regard to the Rugeley Power Station Supplementary 
Planning Document which was adopted in February 2019. The SPD provides guidance on key 
development principles, including connectivity, heritage and conservation, access and movement, 
open space and green infrastructure, ecology and biodiversity, air quality and noise. The SPD 
includes Figure 4.4, which sets out design parameters. The high level plan seeks to focus residential 
development within Lichfield District, and seeks to retain the Borrow Pit and allotments. These 
aspects are welcomed on the illustrative masterplan submitted as part of the application pack. 
 
The Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan was made in October 2018 and therefore forms 
part of the Development Plan for the District.  Of relevance to this allocation is Policy AH2: 
Conserving and Enhancing the Local Natural Environment, which states that development proposals 
should seek to protect areas for their local natural environmental resource value, including the Trent 
and Mersey Canal and the Borrow Pit, including allotments and Environment Centre.  The proposed 
application seeks to retain the Borrow Pit and allotments, which is welcomed, however the planning 
statement states that the Environment Centre will be removed, once the demolition works are 
complete.  Whilst this aspect of the proposals are contrary to the neighbourhood plan policy, this is 
for the Case Officer to consider, on balance, as part of the wider redevelopment scheme. 
 
Policy AH4: Protected Open Spaces, which lists open spaces that will be protected, includes the 
Borrow Pit and a parcel of land adjacent the borrow pit, as indicated on Map 8b.  Policy AH5: Better 
Design requires new residential development to be of good quality design and where appropriate 
development should take account of the character of the historic village centre, their proximity and 
accessibility to the Trent and Mersey Canal Conservation Area and their location in relation to open 
spaces and plan and recreational facilities.  
 
Notes that the application falls within two CIL charging zones in Lichfield.  The Borrow Pit area falls 
within the strategic development areas, which is currently set at £14 per square metre for market 
houses and the remaining site falls within the lower charging zone, which is set at £25 per square 
metre for market houses. The CIL Charging Schedule notes that there is a £0 charge per square 
metre for apartments. The CIL charge for neighbourhood convenience retail is currently set £20 per 
square metre (10/07/2019). 
 
Waste Management – LDC – Provides detail of the requirements for the storage and disposal of 
residential and commercial waste. Notes that there are a number of private drives within the 
development and unless indemnity is given the Council will not take vehicles onto unadopted roads 
(27/11/2019 & 28/10/2019 & 13/06/2019). 
 
Tree Officer - LDC – No objection.  The submissions to date are encouraging with, for example, the 
illustrative landscape masterplan setting out the discrete landscape features of the scheme.  Such 
features, when linked by other structural landscaping, such as roadside tree planting, should enable 
the site to function as a whole, rather than a pepper-pot of individual features.  As previously stated, 
it is key that all such structural landscaping is within public open space/green infrastructure areas 
and not within residential gardens.  

Page 51



 

Supports the Conservation and Design officer’s comments, which highlight the opportunity 
presented by using the approved school site to 'open the grain' of the development by allowing less 
dense housebuilding, more opportunity for open spaces, better private garden space etc. 
(17/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: The Landscape Character Assessment for the area states that “adjacent built 
up areas considerably change the character of the landscape…. by visually dominating the landscape 
feature”, the urban edge and modern housing being classed as incongruous features.  Protecting the 
river floodplain from inappropriate urban development and transport links is noted as well as that 
“New development… should support retention of relatively tranquil character of adjoining rural 
landscape by continued buffering and management of the urban edge by using appropriate species”.  
 
Therefore, the development of housing on and along the eastern end of the railway sidings, would 
have a significant and adverse impact on the adjacent landscape character, especially considering 
the suggested 5 storey development.  Such development would prevent the implementation of any 
potential buffer/screening compared to the northern part of the site where buildings are set back 
from the railway.  Even if screening/tree planting was achievable, its long-term retention would be 
questionable, given residents expectations/requirements for views over the adjacent landscape.  
 
Any landscaping measure on site, which proves abortive will likely result in the net production of 
carbon, rather than net reduction from ongoing capture (this in addition to the dis-benefits outlined 
by CCDC).  This makes it imperative that all landscaping is properly considered.  Refers back to the 
Trees, Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning Document in terms of the 
requirement to design out conflict between built form and landscaping. 
 
As noted previously, one major aspect of the use of large blocks of buildings, even of varying heights, 
where the key functionability/use of the area resolves around the ground level squares, is the 
impact of wind flow though and around such structures.  Without appropriate consideration, the use 
of the spaces becomes impractical, which then has a negative impact on not just those areas, but 
adjacent ones, creating hostile environments, for the establishment and sustainable growth of trees.  
 
The indicative cross sections, parameter plans and masterplans include some indication of the 
quantum of green space, tree planting and other landscaping measures throughout the 
development matrix. Whilst offering some reassurance, in order for the scheme to have well 
integrated, functional and sustainable green spaces and landscaping, substantial work remains to be 
done at detailed design stage. This may impact on the actual layout of parts of the scheme, as 
highlighted in previous comments. 
 
The principle of built form in the area adjacent to the Borrow Pit and the new riverside park, as 
shown on the Illustrative Masterplan, are of concern, as both areas are shown as containing strategic 
landscaping in the Rugeley Power Station SPD.  Therefore it remains the position that built form in 
this area should be resisted, due to the previously highlighted issue of screening and other tree 
planting being affected/removed, due to proximity, shading, aspirations to views etc. brought about 
by the introduction of dwellings. In addition, the introduction of development adjacent to the 
Borrow Pit, would prevent the re-planting of woodland removed under the auspices of dealing with 
a contamination issue. 
 
There are still few, if any, informal, incidental green open spaces within the residential parcels.  Such 
would improve the quality of the residential areas, in particular the high density areas and those 
areas, which are further away from the formal play areas. There is a single Local Equipped Area of 
Play (LEAP) within the large residential area, adjacent to the Borrow Pit, marked on the Parameter 
Plan, but there are 4 potential locations for surface attenuation ponds and basins.  While ponds are 
designed to be permanently in water, basins are designed to be dry for the majority of the time and 
so could these double up as informal kick-about spaces? 
 

Page 52



 

In the areas of highest residential density, there is a concern that these will be overly dominated by 
hard landscaping. To address this, the applicant needs to show that the green infrastructure will 
carry on through these heavily developed areas. 
 
The SPD includes a key principle of the development of the site being the creation of useable, well 
connected green infrastructure.  The Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan shows many elements of 
the green infrastructure isolated amongst areas of built development.  The masterplan shows the 
primary road as being tree lined, but this is not shown as green infrastructure on this parameter 
plan.  A primary road with green verges and suitable, structural tree planting could contribute 
towards the desire to create a useable and well connected green infrastructure. 
 
All structural planting, such as that along a tree lined primary road, or other planting that is needed 
to achieve the desired quality of development, should be in public spaces that are maintained by the 
Management Company. Additional non-structural planting can be in private gardens and spaces. 
 
To the north of the site between the existing coal stockyard and the railway, concern is raised 
regarding a 6m high bank topped with a stand of Pines.  It is not clear what the effect of the current 
proposal will be on the bank/trees although it appears at least some of it is proposed to be removed. 
Re-assurance of the retention of these features would be gratefully received (29/11/2019). 
 
No objection in principle to the re-development of the site. 
 
Existing trees within the site have been considered by a full tree survey and Arboriculture Impact 
Assessment.  These documents set out the likely impacts to existing trees in terms of demolition, the 
construction of the secondary access, permitted development and development phases.  The 
impacts on existing trees have been properly assessed and quantified.  It is expected that once 
detailed landscaping designs are drawn up that the losses incurred to the existing tree stock will be 
remediated and that there will be a net gain in tree cover. Further, it is expected that the planting 
will achieve 20% tree canopy cover by mid-century as detailed within the Trees, Landscaping and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document. In working up designs for reserved matter 
submission, the guidance provided within the SPD should be taken into account.  

 
In terms of proposed new tree planting: there is substantial planting indicated on the illustrative 
layout. Whilst some of the planting will be relatively straightforward to accomplish (within the 
bounds of the former golf course for instance) the majority of the site is ex-industrial and poses 
significant challenges to tree planting and long term survival. Contamination, compaction, 
waterlogging, drought, altered hydrology due to underground structures, PH issues, low fertility and 
lack of soil flora and fauna are all issues regularly encountered on similar sites. These matters, along 
with the usual challenges of incorporating successful tree planting with a development matrix, 
require a more than usually thorough assessment of constraints, prior to considering how the 
desired level of planting will be achieved.  It is expected that all relevant issues and challenges to the 
longevity of tree planting and wider green infrastructure will have been considered and suitable 
remediation plans put in place, prior to submission of reserved matters.  

 
The green infrastructure parameter plan identifies very few incidental/small open spaces within 
residential areas. These when furnished with suitable tree planting could make a substantial 
contribution to place-making within the residential areas. 

 
The site will also face challenges, due to climate change and emerging pest and disease issues, in 
terms of its green infrastructure provision.  It is expected that as far as possible, any further detail 
presented will have considered the challenges and ensure that the proposed scheme will be 
resilient to such issues.  One issue has already emerged with the tree planting on the bund adjacent 
to the A51.  This is dominated by Pines and a significant number are now in decline or dead.  This 
may be undesirable in terms of opening up previously screened views into the site and should be 
taken into account during further design work.  Similarly the bund adjacent to the A51 North to the 
railway bridge is proposed to be removed. The effects of this removal and the difficulty of 
establishing new landscaping on this challenging site need to be considered. 

Page 53



 

 
The site already has substantial water bodies within it.  However it will be necessary to integrate 
Sustainable Urban Drainage features into the scheme and the rest of the green infrastructure.  Trees 
can be successfully integrated within SUD systems, thus providing dual benefits and making 
effective use of space within the development.  

 
Integration of tree planting within incidental open space/GI/play areas within all residential sections 
will help to avoid the dominance of hard surfaces and car focused environments.  

 
Tree planting within hard surfacing requires more detailed design than equivalent planting within 
soft landscaped areas.  However, where hard surfacing is unavoidable, the inclusion of tree planting 
will assist in making the difference between a stark unwelcoming environment and one which is 
pleasant to be in and travel through.  This is particularly important where large areas of parking are 
proposed i.e. rear parking courts. 

 
The railway sidings running S/E-N/W should form a natural limit/edge to the development. There 
would be both direct and indirect effects on trees/landscaping of developing in this location.  
Beyond the tracks should remain undeveloped and from part of the public open space/GI/buffer.  
The hard edge created by dwellings here and at the N/E end of the Borrow Pit Lake would be 
characterised within the Trent Valley Washlands Regional Character Assessment as 'Incongruous 
landscape features: urban edge, busy main roads, sand and gravel extraction''.  Development of any 
kind is likely to be contentious from an arboricultural perspective, as experience shows that where 
dwellings are created in similar locations, incoming residents have an expectation of views that may 
not be met in the short term or may be compromised in the medium to long term by maturing 
landscape/GI.  Successful design should seek to design out conflicts.  The proposed apartment site 
to the N/E of the Borrow Pit Lake was previously woodland and was removed in order to facilitate 
the removal of previously unknown contamination.  This site should not be considered as 
developable area, rather should be returned to its previous use as woodland, once the 
contamination has been removed.  This is supported by the Rugeley Power Station SPD, which 
identifies this area as strategic landscaping. 

 
There is potential for substantial conflict between street trees, roadways, services and footpaths, 
due to the current stance taken by the Highways Authority.  Detailed guidance on what the 
Highways Authority would accept in term of proximities is desperately needed in order to determine 
appropriate layouts.  Retrofitting their requirements has caused substantial issues and loss of trees 
in other developments.  

 
Waiting for service layouts in order to determine landscaping areas is fraught with issues. 
Landscaped areas need to be defined at the outset and from then on remain sacrosanct.  No services 
within those areas (includes individual tree pits). 
 
All structural landscaping/tree planting to be within POS/GI. It is not acceptable to have structural 
landscaping within privately owned gardens. Incidental trees and planting are acceptable in gardens 
(23/07/2019). 
 
Staffordshire Historic Environment Officer (Archaeology) – The provision of the additional 
viewpoint from Castle Ring (Scheduled Monument) contained within the Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment is welcomed and the assessment concluding that the change in setting will not 
affect the significance of the monument is supported (05/06/2020 & 20/11/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: No objection in principle, although notes that archaeological mitigation is likely 
to be recommended as a condition of any future reserved matters permission.  In addition, 
recommends that further work be undertaken, to minimise the impact of the proposal, on Castle 
Ring (08/07/2019). 
 
Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) – Notes that the amended submission seeks 
flexibility for either a 2FE primary school on the site in an amended location and a financial 

Page 54



 

contribution towards the provision of secondary school places or the provision of an ATS on an 
amended school site within the development.  Either of these options would mitigate the impact of 
the development on education provision.    
 
Supportive of an ATS providing 2FE of nursery provision, 2FE of primary school provision, 5FE of 
secondary school provision and 200 post 16 places.  Note that this option is dependent on a 
successful outcome of the Wave 14 Application made to the Department for Education by the John 
Taylor Multi-Academy Trust. 
 
Discussions continue to secure obligations through a S106 Agreement for the noted education 
mitigation options (03/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Notes that there is no uplift in housing numbers and therefore refers to 
previous response. However advises that the latest cost for the Authority to deliver a 2FE primary 
school has risen to £7,902,200 (07/11/2019). 
 
The site falls within the catchments of Chancel Primary School, Hob Hill CE / Methodist (VC) Primary 
School, Redbrook Hayes Community Primary School, The Croft Primary School and The Hart School. 
 
It is likely that 2,300 dwellings would require 104 early year places, 483 primary school places, 345 
secondary places and 69 post-16 places. These are based on a pupil product ratio (PPR) of 0.03 
pupils per dwelling, per school year group, using 1.5 year groups for early years, 7 year groups for 
primary, 5 for secondary and 1 for post-16 places. 
 
There are projected to be an insufficient number of school places in the local area to accommodate 
the children generated by this development at both primary and secondary phases of education.  
This development needs to provide sufficient land and to fully fund the costs of delivering a new 2FE 
primary school (420 places + nursery places). A contribution of £7,062,040 (plus a suitable site of 2ha 
to deliver a 2FE primary school) is therefore required. A further 2FE of secondary and Post-16 is also 
required, which has a current estimated cost of £8,000,000 (18/07/2019). 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highways) – No objection.  Notes the primary difference between this 
submission and the resolved to grant scheme is the relocation of the education site to the centre of 
the scheme and the potential for the creation of an All Through School.  Advises that there are clear 
benefits arising from this amendment, as the school will be equidistance to the residential 
areas and offer the same opportunities to all future residents on this site for access on 
foot or cycling if the spine road is constructed appropriately. 
 

Conditions are requested requiring the submission and approval,  prior to the submission of any 
reserved matters application, of a detailed phasing program of delivery and implementation for all 
off-site highway improvements, a public transport strategy for between the site, town centre and 
local services and, notwithstanding the submitted details, a detailed Masterplan.  Prior to the 
commencement of development, details shall be approved of a Construction Environment 
Management Plan, a distributor road between the A51 and the A513 and a Pedestrian and Cyclist 
Connectivity Scheme.  Any reserved matters application is to include details of a bus layover facility 
at the community square, to include electric charging facility, shelter, flag, timetable case and Real 
Time Passenger information display and bus stopping facilities, with shelter, flag, timetable case and 
bus markings, along both sides of the distributor road, near to the school site.  In addition, improved 
pedestrian facilities including guard railing is also required adjacent to the school.  Before the 
construction of any buildings, within any phase of development, details of secure cycle facilities are 
to be agreed.  Prior to the first occupation or use of any building, the driveway, parking, servicing 
and circulation areas to serve such, shall be provided in a bound material and sustainably drained.  
No occupation of any of the dwellings within phase 2a, 2b or 2c, as shown on the illustrative phasing 
plan, shall occur until the roundabout access off the A513 has been completed. 
 
The S106 agreement is to secure a public transport service contribution of £3,345,068 for bus 
services and a Travel Plan Framework Monitoring Sum of £50,000 (08/07/2020). 

Page 55



 

 
Previous Comments: No objection.  Notes the submission of further information specific to the 
movement strategy and masterplan, upon which concerns are raised, due to inadequacies in the 
width of the spine road and design of the community square. However, notes that these details are 
solely indicative and can therefore be addressed at a later date.  Reiterates the need for the 
conditions as detailed within the response dated 4th October 2019. 
 
The S106 agreement is to secure a public transport service contribution of £3,345,068 for bus 
services and a Travel Plan Framework Monitoring Sum of £50,000 (13/11/2019). 
 
No objections, subject to conditions requiring the submission and approval,  prior to the submission 
of any reserved matters application, of a detailed phasing program of delivery and implementation 
for all off-site highway improvements, a public transport strategy for between the site, town centre 
and local services and, notwithstanding the submitted details, a detailed Masterplan.  Prior to the 
commencement of development, details shall be approved of a Construction Environment 
Management Plan, a distributor road between the A51 and the A513 and a Pedestrian and Cyclist 
Connectivity Scheme.  Any reserved matters application is to include details of a bus terminus at the 
community square, to include electric charging facility, shelter, flag, timetable case and Real Time 
Passenger information display and bus stopping facilities, along both sides of the distributor road, 
which is to include a shelter, flag, timetable case and bus markings.  Before the construction of any 
buildings, within any phase of development, details of secure cycle facilities are to be agreed.  Prior 
to the first occupation or use of any building, the driveway, parking, servicing and circulation areas 
to serve such, shall be provided in a bound material and sustainably drained.  No occupation of any 
of the dwellings within phase 2a, 2b or 2c, as shown on the illustrative phasing plan, shall occur until 
the roundabout access off the A513 has been completed. 
 
The S106 agreement is to secure a public transport service contribution of £3,145,500 for bus 
services and a Travel Plan Framework Monitoring Sum of £50,000.   
 
Two notes to applicant identified advising the applicant of the need to secure a Highways Works 
Agreement and Section 7 approval for the proposed highway works (04/10/2019). 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Flood Risk Officer) – No objection, subject to a condition requiring 
that prior to the commencement of development, a surface water drainage scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority (27/05/2020, 19/11/2019 & 
25/07/2019). 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer – No objection.  Provides advice to Design our Crime and advise 
that particular attention must be paid to ensuring that Pedestrian/Cycle Links and Public Open Space 
are be designed as features of the site and are well overlooked.  Those plots with side and rear 
boundaries to footpaths and open land must be secure (03/06/2020, 19/11/2019 & 02/07/2019). 
 
Cannock Chase AONB Unit – No objection (03/06/2020, 07/11/2019 & 03/07/2019). 
 
British Pipeline Agency – No BPA Pipeline apparatus in the area (02/06/2020 & 19/06/2019). 
 
Canal & River Trust – No comment specific to the amendments being proposed, however, reiterate 
concerns regarding the towpath at this location not being in a condition that could support the 
additional footfall, arising as a consequence of the proposed development.   
 
The canal corridor and towpath will provide a sustainable traffic free route and amenity for future 
residents, and can therefore expect increased usage.  In light of the support afforded by the Local 
Plan policies and the approach to developer contributions guidance contained within the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL), consider that a contribution (or works in 
kind) would be reasonable and necessary.  The works required would consist of upgrading the 
condition of the towpath and canal public realm in the vicinity of the development and the Trust 
would like to discuss an appropriate package of improvements. 

Page 56



 

 
The Trust currently have a programme of towpath improvement works planned from Rugeley south, 
along the Trent & Mersey Canal, from Leathermill Lane bridge (by Tescos) for about 2km.  However, 
to meet the demands and expectations of a development of this size, will need to extend this 
further, to include the ‘missing link’ between bridge 62a and bridge 62, which is 
estimated from a site visit with the Trust, Staffordshire County Council and their contractor, Amey, 
to cost approximately £50,000. 
 
The draft S106 Heads of Terms, includes a paragraph in relation to the canal 
towpath, which states that ‘site pedestrian and cycle infrastructure improvement works including 
footpath widening and towpath improvements (as agreed with Canal and River Trust)’.  These 
improvement works are provisionally detailed within the revised Transport Assessment (March 
2020), which states at paragraph 2.2: “Agreement of payment of s106 monies to SCC, on behalf of 
the Canal and River Trust for improvements to the canal towpath in Rugeley (extents shown on 
drawing J32-3955-PS-104 Rev D)”. 
 
However, the IWA (Inland Waterways Association) has some concerns about the 
towpath treatment under Bridge 62 (A513), specifically the width of the proposed towpath surfacing 
and the canalside railing.  Also, consider that the proposed cycle chicanes might not be the best 
solution to manage cyclists and pedestrians at the tight bend in the towpath.  Therefore, request a 
clause within the S106 that relates to the towpath works, requiring that details of these works be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority (in liaison with the Trust), prior to works being undertaken 
(10/06/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: Supportive of the proposed amendments.  However, note that the proposed 
towpath works, which would be a natural continuation of the improvement works currently being 
undertaken by SCC Highways, do not connect up, with an unimproved area of approximately 230 
metres.  Request the scheme be extended to include this area and the need for the delivery of the 
works be detailed within the draft S106 Heads of Terms (21/11/2019). 
 
The proposed Heads of Terms currently fail to include provision for completion of the off-site 
towpath enhancement works identified as part of the application.  Advise that they are happy for 
the County Council to undertake these works, thereby negating the need for the Trust to be a 
signatory of the S106 (07/11/2019). 
 
The towpath in the area adjacent to the application site is not in a condition that can support the 
additional footfall arising as a consequence of the development.  Recommend that the applicant 
therefore provide a s106 contribution, to upgrade the condition of the towpath and canal public 
realm, in the vicinity of the development. 
 
Notes that the applicant is proposing to formalise a pedestrian access point to the towpath to the 
southern edge of the site.  Any new access or works to the Trust’s land will require an agreement 
with the Estates Team.  The applicant is also suggested to contact the Trust’s Sales Team, in order to 
consider the canal as a water source for heat pumps proposed to be used within the development 
and also for use for surface water drainage (18/07/2019). 
 
Inland Waterways Association – Raise concerns regarding the proposed towpath improvements, as 
although the widening and surfacing is welcomed, the 2.5m width seems excessive, judging from the 
similar work recently completed north from the Rugeley Bypass Bridge 62A to the railway bridge 
65A.  Therefore, suggest that for current and future use, a 2m width would be more than adequate, 
and have less visual impact on the traditional appearance of the Trent & Mersey Canal Conservation 
Area.  Also support inclusion of towpath resurfacing between bridges 62 and 62A, as requested by 
Canal & River Trust (CRT), which would otherwise leave a gap in the planned works between this site 
and the centre of Rugeley. 
  
The principle concern however is with the proposed “guard rail/fence” under Armitage Road Bridge 
62.  The bridge is shown as a “pinch point of 2m” with a “proposed chicane cycle calming feature to 

Page 57



 

reduce speeds and potential conflict under the narrow bridge” on the approach to the bridge on each 
side. 
  
IWA Policy on Towpaths is that fencing between waterways and towpaths is not normally acceptable 
for boater safety, heritage and aesthetic reasons.  There are some exceptions where there is a 
significant risk to towpath users, such as in some historic tunnels, but bridges provide the easiest 
opportunity for crew to embark and disembark safely, and railings should not normally be placed 
between the canal and towing path under bridges. 
  
In this case there are no heritage concerns as the bridge is a modern concrete bridge.  It has a flat 
deck with a wider usable towpath than under the majority of historic arched canal bridges, and the 
path under the bridge is already 2m wide and concrete surfaced, so we dispute that this bridge is a 
significant pinch point.  The only possible safety concern is the tight bend in the canal on the south 
side of the bridge which limits towpath users’ visibility.  
  
But the tight bend also limits boaters’ visibility of any oncoming boats and makes steering through 
the bridge a bit of a challenge for longer boats, so minor scrapes and collisions with the towpath 
edge under the bridge are not unusual.  Given that the bows of boats are generally raked forward; 
the hull of a boat can therefore slightly overhang the edge of the towpath.  This means that any 
railing or fence that was installed would need to be set back from the towpath edge by say 20cm to 
avoid being hit and damaged by boats and in turn potentially damaging the boat.  This would of 
course reduce the towpath width and create a pinch point where none currently exists. 
  
Therefore, suggest that any informed risk assessment of this location would conclude that in seeking 
to reduce an already minimal risk to towpath users, a rail or fence under the bridge, depending on 
its position, would either make the usable towpath surface narrower and therefore increase the 
possibility of conflict, or it would create a significant risk to the safety of boats and their crews.  Any 
form or fence would also limit the ability of boat crew to get onto and off boats where they would 
normally expect to, at the bridge, and make any attempt to do so particularly hazardous. 
 
Cyclists in particular need to be aware of restricted visibility under most canal bridges and slow 
down accordingly, and appropriate signage should be sufficient warning here.  This is preferable to 
the proposed chicane structures which, from experience elsewhere, are usually intrusive in 
appearance, obstruct other users such as wheelchairs and pushchairs, and are often subject to abuse 
and vandalism that render them inoperative. 
 
From correspondence with CRT, we understand they have proposed that instead of relying on the 
submitted drawing, a new package of towpath works should be funded through S106 agreement.  In 
this way the works can be designed by CRT’s in-house experts to be more appropriate than those 
currently proposed in the application plans (07/07/2020). 
 
Environment Agency - No objection, subject to conditions requiring the submission and approval, 
prior to the commencement of development of a contaminated land report and a Verification 
Report to demonstrate completion of the remediation works required by the contaminated land 
report.  Further conditions relating to the need to ensure no infiltration of surface water drainage, 
the restriction of the use of piling in foundation creation and the development to be carried out in 
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment, also requested.  Finally, conditions relating 
Biodiversity and the need to submit a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan and a Water 
Framework Directive Enhancement Opportunities Plan are also required (02/06/2020, 13/11/2019 & 
04/07/2019). 
 
Historic England – No comment (19/05/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: No objection.  Notes the provision of an additional view point from Castle Ring 
provided within the amended LVIA, along with clarification regarding the parameter plan and 
building heights (12/11/2019). 
 

Page 58



 

Previous Comments: No objection.  Notes that the setting of the Castle Ring Scheduled Monument 
includes key views looking north across the surrounding landscape, which includes the existing 
cooling towers and built form within the application site. The removal of the Power Station 
structures will enhance the setting of the Monument, although the replacement development will 
nullify this somewhat, given the likely wider spread of development across the site.  It is difficult to 
calculate such harm currently due to a limited assessment. In determining the application the 
Council must be satisfied that the visual impact of the development accords with Paragraph 189 of 
the NPPF (19/08/2019). 
 
No objection. The removal of the existing power station would have a beneficial impact upon the 
setting of multiple designated heritage assets.  Would recommend however that a more detailed 
assessment of Castle Ring Scheduled Monument is undertaken as part of any subsequent reserved 
matters application (24/06/2019). 
 
Natural England – No objection.   Concurs with the Competent Authorities Appropriate Assessment 
on recreation impact upon the Cannock Chase SAC and advises of the need to secure a financial 
contribution to the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures by appropriate means. 
 
Concurs with the Competent Authorities Appropriate Assessment on NOx impact upon the Cannock 
Chase SAC and advises of the need to secure suitable avoidance measures through the use of 
conditions and mitigation measures, through the delivery of 186 Biodiversity Units of buffering 
habitat, within an appropriate schedule of the s106 agreement (03/07/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: No objection, subject to appropriate mitigation being secured.  The necessary 
measures are, payment of a Strategic Access Management & Monitoring sum for each dwelling, an 
air quality mitigation scheme, which must be agreed and finalised within the Appropriate 
Assessment and the protected species mitigation measures, identified within the Environmental 
Statement (04/06/2020). 
 
No objection.   Concurs with the Competent Authorities Appropriate Assessment on recreation 
impact upon the Cannock Chase SAC and advises of the need to secure a financial contribution to the 
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures by appropriate means. 
 
Concurs with the Competent Authorities Appropriate Assessment on NOx impact upon the Cannock 
Chase SAC and advises of the need to secure suitable avoidance measures through the use of 
conditions and mitigation measures, through the delivery of 191 Biodiversity Units of buffering 
habitat, within an appropriate schedule of the s106 agreement (17/12/2019). 
 
Notes receipt of the Shadow HRA document, which is yet to be assessed, due to time constraints.  
Await receipt of the Competent Authorities Appropriate Assessment (22/11/2019). 
 
No objection, subject to appropriate mitigation being secured.  The necessary measures are, 
payment of a Strategic Access Management & Monitoring sum for each dwelling, an air quality 
mitigation scheme, which must be agreed and finalised within the Appropriate Assessment and the 
protected species mitigation measures, identified within the Environmental Statement 
(05/07/2019). 
 
Sport England – No objection.  Consider that the proposal broadly meets Exception Policy E4, subject 
to an appropriately worded S106 agreement and suitable conditions.  

The s106 agreement will need to secure the following: 

- Provision of two additional changing rooms and officials changing room (in accordance with 
Sport England’s Clubhouse Design Guidance Notes 2016 update and the provisions being 
above and beyond the BB103 school requirements) at the ATS site; 

- A Community Use Agreement (CUA) for the sports facilities (Artificial Grass Pitches, grass 
pitches, sports hall, changing accommodation and car park); and 

Page 59



 

- An off-site contribution of £120,000 towards replacement cricket provision at the Rugeley 
CC site.  The funds should be available to the club to draw down prior to the loss of playing 
field land to enable the delivery of the replacement pitch. 

The required conditions seek to secure appropriate quality community and school playing field / 
pitch construction.  In addition, require that prior to the commencement of development, details of 
the artificial grass hockey and football pitches and multi-use game areas be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authorities. 

Finally, notes to applicant are proposed, advising of the need, when laying the community playing 
fields, hockey, football and multi-use game areas to comply with the relevant industry Technical 
Guidance (07/07/2020).  

Previous Comments: Object.  The application does not to accord with any of the exceptions to Sport 
England’s Playing Fields Policy or with Paragraph 97 of the NPPF Sport England’s policy is to oppose 
the granting of planning permission for any development which would lead to the loss of, or 
prejudice the use of, all/part of a playing field, unless one or more of the five exceptions stated in its 
policy apply. 

Sport England Policy Exceptions 

E1  A robust and up to date assessment has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of Sport England, 
that there is an excess of playing field provision in the catchment, which will remain the case 
should the development be permitted, and the site has no special significance to the interests 
of sport.  

E2 The proposed development is for ancillary facilities supporting the principal use of the site as 

a playing field, and does not affect the quantity or quality of playing pitches or otherwise 

adversely affect their use. 

E3 The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming part of a playing pitch and 

does not:  

▪ reduce the size of any playing pitch; 

▪ result in the inability to use any playing pitch (including the maintenance of adequate safety 

margins and run-off areas); 

▪ reduce the sporting capacity of the playing field to accommodate playing pitches or the 

capability to rotate or reposition playing pitches to maintain their quality;  

▪ result in the loss of other sporting provision or ancillary facilities on the site; or 

▪ prejudice the use of any remaining areas of playing field on the site. 

E4 The area of playing field to be lost as a result of the proposed development will be replaced, 

prior to the commencement of development, by a new area of playing field: 

▪ of equivalent or better quality, and 

▪ of equivalent or greater quantity, and 

▪ in a suitable location, and 

▪ subject to equivalent or better accessibility and management arrangements. 

E5 The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of 

which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the 

detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field. 

The proposal entails an amendment to the resolved to grant scheme (RtGS) for the mixed use 
redevelopment of Rugeley Power Station, in order to allow for the potential inclusion of an All 
Through School (ATS) in the proposed development.  The proposed ATS will be located on around 
7.85 hectares of land within the centre of the site, principally replacing the area of formal open 
space within the RtGS.  As part of the proposal the primary school and MUGA within the RtGS will be 
replaced with residential use and the provisions being relocated within the ATS grounds. In relation 
to the impact on the existing Rugeley Sports and Social Club site, the provision will be replaced by 
residential use and informal open space. 

Page 60



 

The ATS is proposed to become the education and sports hub at the centre of the site with shared 
access of following indicative facilities: 1no artificial grass pitch for football; 1no artificial grass pitch 
for hockey over-marked with tennis, netball and basketball; 1no. full size adult grass football pitch; 
1no U15/16 grass football pitch (capable of being reconfigured for alternative pitch sizes); a cricket 
pitch for curricular use; a 3 court sports hall with configuration for basketball, badminton, indoor 
cricket nets including changing rooms; and 3no hard court games area suitable for tennis and other 
sports.  Should the primary school be developed, three mini pitches and two hard court games areas 
are proposed, though there will be no community use of these facilities. A separate smaller scale 
formal sports area (Willows Walk) will complement the ATS provision, incorporating the relocated 
bowls green and further tennis courts, as stated within the Landscape Design Statement.  A 
replacement senior adult cricket pitch (existing site contained a 9 wicket pitch) and its ancillary 
provision is not proposed as part of this proposal, unlike the RtGS. 

Whilst the Rugeley Power Station Sports and Social Club site falls within Lichfield District Council’s 
boundary the sporting facilities primarily serviced the demands of Cannock Chase District Council 
residents. Therefore, Cannock Chase District Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 2019 considered 
the site as part of its assessment of current and future demand for pitches for the authority. 

Cannock’s PPS highlighted the following; a deficit of youth 11v11, youth 9v9 and adult football 
pitches; deficit in cricket provision; bowling green demand met; demand for hockey AGPS met in 
neighbouring authorities in South Staffordshire and Lichfield; tennis provision met; and a shortfall of 
a full size floodlit 3G pitch identified, with this need to be met at Rugeley Leisure Centre.  In relation 
to the Rugeley Power Station Sports and Social Club site, the following recommendations were 
made; the grass football pitch at the site to be re-provided as part of any site development, 
supported by appropriate facilities to address current and future shortfalls in provision; offsite 
contribution should be sought for tennis, to improve the quality of courts within the area; 
investment to improve the quality of existing bowling greens; and for cricket, the retention of the 
site unless the second pitch at Rugeley CC is established, resulting in no requirement for new cricket 
provision in the District.   

Since the PPS was adopted there have been a number of developments such as the following: 

- Planning permission granted for enlargement of Rugeley Leisure Centre existing 3G pitch. 
The project is understood to be progressing thus there is no strategic demand for additional 
3G pitch provision within the locality;  

- Chase Park has closed down resulting in the respective hockey and cricket teams having to 
find alternative venues.  

- Significantly for cricket, this has resulted in Cannock CC moving from a two pitch site to 
Cannock and Rugeley Colliery Cricket Club, which is a single pitch site in need of investment. 
C&R Hawks CC, the former occupants of the Colliery Cricket Club site have moved all of its 
play to Hawkins Sports and Social Club (South Staffordshire).  The site was previously their 
secondary venue (due to no peak time capacity at their previous home venue) and the club 
did not consider that their needs were being displaced out of the District.  

As a result of the above changes the scenario of moving the shortfall in cricket provision outside of 
the peak period to a Sunday is no longer feasible with their only being 7 MES available.  

Given the above, the proposal has been assessed against Sport England Policy Exception E4, as the 
playing field land is not deemed surplus to requirement (Exception Policy E1) as there is a shortfall in 
cricket and football provision.  There is also the need to invest in tennis and potentially bowls 
provision. 

The key change between the RtGS and this proposal is the lack of a community cricket pitch and 
ancillary provision. Given the ATS site constraints, Sport England have entered into dialogue with the 
applicant regarding the potential for an off-site contribution to ensure that the cricket shortfall 
identified within the PPS is met through the delivery of Second Square at Rugeley CC.   

Page 61



 

With regard to the replacement ancillary provision at the site it is unclear, given the nature of the 
planning application, as to the number of changing rooms (inclusive of officials change) proposed to 
serve both the indoor and outdoor sports provision.  Therefore unable to ascertain if additional 
changing room provision suitable for community use will be provided to replace the existing 
provision, which would also support the sporting demands generated from the residents of the 
proposed development, or whether the provision will simply meet the DFE requirements.  Similarly, 
the existing site benefitted from a social club, which would have been utilised by the users and 
spectators of the sports facilities, which will not be replicated.  It is also unclear what ancillary 
facilities will be provided for the users of the bowling green, given that its location is not closely 
related to the ATS.  

Given the above it is viewed that the proposals fails to meet Sport England Exception Policy E4, as 
the proposed replacement playing field does offer the same capability, functionality and flexibility as 
the existing area of playing field to accommodate playing pitches, matches, training  sessions and 
other sporting activities.  The proposals would result in the existing cricket pitch not being retained 
at the site which it not deemed to be surplus to requirement.  Further to this, it is unclear if the 
ancillary provision at the existing site will be replicated at the site as a minimum to support the 
shared use of the sports facilities (12/06/2020). 

No objection, subject to conditions and an appropriately worded S106 agreement securing the 
replacement playing field and ancillary provision alongside management arrangements for the site. 
 
Notes that the submitted draft heads of terms highlight that a S106 agreement will be utilised to 
secure the on-site provision of Community Sports Pitches (indicatively including football, all weather 
pitches, cricket pitch, tennis and bowls), changing facilities and Multi Use Game Area).  
 
Have held discussions with the applicant regarding the content of the draft S106 agreement and 
consider that the agreement should include the following: 
 

 an appropriate timeframe for the delivery of the sports and ancillary provision;  

 the quantum of playing field provision at the Rugeley Social site and the minimum 
area/court provision (at least two tennis courts) for the MUGA and all weather pitch; 

 the minimum size of the 4 team change pavilion /clubhouse facility (inclusive of female, 
male and disabled conveniences/ officials rooms/ bar/club area/kitchen/storage area n.b. 
list not exhaustive) designed in accordance with Sport England’s clubhouse design guidance 
note (or any successor documents) or the relevant pavilions/clubhouse guidance from the 
national governing bodies whom will be the primary user of the site (i.e. ECB or Football 
Association/Football Foundation guidance); 

 a timeframe for the submission of the sport provision layout plan for example “No 
occupation of the [ ]th Dwelling prior to such a time that the layout of the playing pitches, 
pavilion/clubhouse changing facility, floodlit bowling green, storage area for bowls, MUGA, 
3G pitch and car parking spaces to serve the sport site has been submitted and approved by 
the local planning authority (following consultation with Sport England)”; 

 the playing pitches should be constructed in accordance with Sport England’s Natural Turf 
for Sport guidance; and 

 Ensure that a schedule of playing field maintenance including a programme of 
implementation, informed by specialist turf consultant and having regard to Sport England’s 
technical design guidance note titled ‘Natural Turf for Sport (2011) and relevant National 
Governing Bodies performance quality standards, is submitted and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Following commencement of use of the development the approved 
schedule should be complied with in full. 

 
The proposed quantum of playing field provision will exceed the current amount of playing field at 
the site.  However, to ensure that the same sports are capable of being played to at least the 
equivalent standard and quality, the following condition is considered necessary: 
 

Page 62



 

Details of floodlighting on the proposed bowling green, a ball strike assessment for the cricket pitch 
and details of the Community Sports Pitches (as defined in the Section 106 Agreement). 
 
It is also recommended that a condition relating to school playing field construction be used to 
ensure that it is fit for purpose (29/11/2019 & 13/11/2019). 
 
Whilst it is noted that the Masterplan is purely indicative, the location of the sports fields is to be set 
by the parameters plan.  Thus, the location of the cricket pitch is to be defined by this permission.  
To ensure that that location is acceptable, without the need to erect large and potentially unsightly 
netting mitigation a ball strike assessment is required (31/07/2019). 
 
Holding Objection. Notes that the site previously contained the Rugeley Power Station Sports and 
Social Club, vacated in 2017. This site comprises a golf course, bowling green, tennis courts, cricket 
and football pitches.  Whilst the proposal; indicates the provision of sporting facilities, further 
information is required regarding the location and nature of the proposed and existing sports 
facilities, clarity regarding the suitability of the siting and design of the proposed pitches (including 
need for any floodlighting), a supporting statement and details of replacement social and changing 
facilities.  Finally, the cricket pitch as shown on the submitted plan, would be located within close 
proximity to the primary road route corridor, which is therefore potentially at risk of ball strike.  A 
ball strike risk assessment is therefore requested (14/07/2019). 
 
Western Power Distribution – No objection. Note that above ground infrastructure operated and 
maintained by Western Power, within this site, includes a 132 kv substation and 3 132 kv overhead 
cables and associated pylons.  Support the principles of placing non-residential uses adjacent to the 
substations and ensuring that operational access to the substations is maintained through all stages 
of development.  Note that the layout of the sports pitches, in the vicinity of the overhead lines, will 
require careful consideration, to ensure safe usage and compliance with the requirements of the 
HSE Guidance Note GS6. 
 
The submitted Masterplan indicates development in areas above underground cabling.  This conflicts 
with the stated aim of the illustrative Masterplan to utilise corridors of existing underground 
constraints for the location of roads, parking surfaces and hardstanding. Whilst noting that the 
Masterplan is illustrative, the Parameters Plan has been submitted for approval by the Local 
Planning Authorities.  Therefore, recommend that this plan be updated to clarify that development 
should not be located on land immediately above or within 3 metres of any underground cabling.  In 
relation to allotments, whilst such could be safely located underneath overhead lines, they should 
not be positioned above underground cables.  Consideration should also be had when producing the 
Landscape Masterplan for the development, to the need for trees to be off-set from the 
underground cables. 
 
Consideration on-going of the development’s potential impact upon easements and wayleaves 
across the site and further comments will provided if needed (12/07/2019). 
 
Highways England - No objection (25/06/2019). 
 
HS2 Safeguarding Consultation – No objection.  Grid power supply was included within the High 
Speed Rail (West Midlands - Crewe) Supplementary Environmental Statement and Additional 
Provision Environmental Statement Volume 2: Community Area report CA1: Fradley to Colton.  
However, since that report, the House of Commons Select Committee on High Speed Rail (West 
Midlands - Crewe) Bill Promoter's response to the Select Committee's Third Special Report of Session 
(2017 – 2019), determined that a new preferred site at Parkgate, would be a more suitable location 
for the grid power supply and the requirement at Rugeley Power Station would no longer be 
required (02/06/2020 & 29/10/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: No objection.  The Additional Provisions Guidance provides HS2 Ltd with 
sufficient confidence to confirm, that whilst the development will affect land currently within the 
limits of the safeguarding directions for Phase 2a of the railway, the Bill’s continued progress 

Page 63



 

through Parliament, will confirm that the land is no longer required for the purposes of constructing 
or operating the railway (08/08/2019). 
 
Central Networks – Notes that there may be WPD assets in the vicinity of the development and 
therefore suggests that the developer contacts WPD prior to commencing works.  Advises that any 
dwellings should be located a minimum of 5 metres from the boundary of a substation (24/10/2019 
& 13/06/2019). 
 
Network Rail – Notes that developer funding via S106 agreement or CIL for enhancements to 
Rugeley Town or Rugeley Trent Valley Railway Station should be included within the proposal.   
 
Recommends that the applicant engage with Network Rail Asset Protection and submit a Risk 
Assessment and Method Statement for any works proposed to be undertaken within 10 metres of 
Network Rail land.  The applicant is also to provide secure boundary treatments to the railway to 
prevent trespass.  Further details and conditions requested regarding the need to ensure no physical 
encroachment, the use of vibro-compaction machinery, demolition method statement, surface 
water drainage, provision of a minimum 3m separation distance between buildings and the rail line, 
the need for suitable noise mitigation the use of appropriate tree species within any landscaping 
scheme and the need for the applicant to submit a Basic Asset Protection Agreement prior to 
commencing works within the site (24/10/2019 & 13/06/2019). 
 
Severn Trent Water – No objection, subject to a condition requiring that prior to the 
commencement of development, drainage plans for the disposal of foul and surface water flows 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority (25/06/2019). 
 
Previous Comments: Foul drainage modelling of the existing sewerage network is ongoing to 
ascertain the extent (if any) of any infrastructure improvements required as a consequence of this 
development,  If results prove that infrastructure improvements are required then a Grampian 
condition may be required to secure the delivery of such (19/07/2019). 
 
The Coal Authority – No comment.  The application site does not fall within the defined 
Development High Risk Area (24/10/2019 & 19/06/2019). 
 
Cadent Gas Limited – Due to the location of electricity apparatus within the application site request 
that a decision not be taken on the application until it has been assessed by the Land and 
Development Asset Team (24/10/2019 & 25/06/2019). 

National Grid – No objection.  Note that National Grid lease the land upon which the Rugeley 132kV 
Substation (RUGE1) and 400kv substation are located under a 999-year lease in order to contribute 
to the operation and maintenance of its electricity transmission obligations.  
National Grid’s ongoing asset review process has identified that the 132kv substation building has 
defects and is reaching the end of its operational asset life.  As a result, and in order to meet its 
statutory obligations, National Grid will be required to replace the substation in the short to medium 
term. To do this National Grid will be required to build an offline substation on other land.  This is 
because a replacement substation cannot be built on the current area and both the 132kV 
substation and the 400kV substation (RUGE4), that is also located on the application site, must be 
active in order to transfer over the live circuits.  Once the new 132kv substation is built National Grid 
will have no future requirement for the current 132kv building or the land upon which it is located.  
As such, National Grid will remove/demolish all assets and buildings on that land.  As the land in 
question falls within the red line boundary of the planning application site, National Grid wish to 
ensure that there will not be any planning conditions attached to the planning permission, when 
issued, that could unduly affect this land and National Grid’s ability to undertake its statutory duty to 
operate and maintain a safe and efficient transmission network, specifically including any demolition 
works which may be required in due course (23/06/2020). 

Previous Comments: No objection. Provides guidance on working within close proximity of overhead 
power lines (29/11/2019). 

Page 64



 

Holding objection. National Grid’s Engineer is still assessing the potential risk factors associated with 
this development (27/11/2019). 

No objection.  Advise that they own and are responsible for the maintenance and operation of 
infrastructure within the site, which includes 3 substations, underground cables, electricity pylons 
and overhead lines.  Any development should take into account this infrastructure along with 
associated access rights, easements, wayleaves and other rights required in relation to their 
maintenance and operation.  

Notes the applicant’s intention to place non-residential uses adjacent to retained substations and 
ensuring that access to the substations is retained throughout development.  The alterations 
required to infrastructure to accommodate development within the site means that National Grid 
may require additional land immediately to the east of the substation, in order to accommodate the 
re-sited RUGE1 132KV Substation.  The Masterplan should be updated to recognise this requirement 
and flexibility to deliver such secured by way of a condition. 

The internal road network, including footpath, where oversail is likely, will need to be designed to 
accommodate the turning radii and weight of vehicles required to deliver equipment, such as 
transformers to the RUG4 and the BRER3 substations.  The current Masterplan design is deficient in 
this regard, albeit that there appears sufficient space available to accommodate such.  A condition to 
secure an appropriate design for these routes is required. 

Note that the Overhead Lines (OHLs) between Tower VY001 and RUGE4 are not shown on the 
Masterplan, which should therefore be updated to reflect such.  Any reserved matters application 
will need to have due regard to swing and sag analysis, should any landscaping be proposed in the 
vicinity of the OHLs.    

Recommend a condition to ensure that the internal road networks be designed to have due regard 
and be constructed over the location of cables, Super Grid Lines and fibre optic cables, which run 
through the site.  Such is a requirement of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
Supplementary Planning Document (16/08/2019 & 12/07/2019). 
 
Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service – No objection.  Provides advice regarding vehicular access 
requirements, automatic water suppression systems and domestic sprinklers (19/05/2020 & 
13/11/2019). 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Planning) - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
The extraction of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) from the lagoons and the reprofiling of the adjacent 
bunds to create a stable platform for the surrender of the Environmental Permit, can be carried out 
under Permitted Development Rights, given that the site is classed as Operational Land, in use by a 
Statutory Undertaker.  These rights would no longer exist if the site is not operational and the 
planning permission for the redevelopment of the site is implemented.  Hence planning permission 
for works to PFA would be required at that point from the County Council.  
 
As part of the development description Section of the ES (Volume 1), information has been included 
concerning ‘waste’; during the construction phase and the operational phase.  This section confirms 
that an Outline Waste Management Strategy (Appendix 3.5) has been  produced and “the quantum 
and composition of waste generated through the demolition of  these buildings would be established 
as part of the design of the detailed demolition programme in the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) for the relevant construction phase” (paragraph 3.3.60 of the ES (Volume 
1).  It is estimated that the Proposed Development could potentially generate:   

 Up to 48,507 tonnes of waste during construction (not including waste material  associated 
with cut/fill) which would equate to approximately 2,425 tonnes of waste each year from 
the Proposed Development (Paragraph 3.3.61 of the ES Volume 1);  

Page 65



 

 Approximately 2,185 tonnes of household waste per annum (approximately 42  tonnes per 
week) should all the residential units be constructed and occupied  (Paragraph 3.3.66 of the 
ES Volume 1); and 

 Approximately 8,571 tonnes of waste per annum (based on a conservative estimate of 3 
tonnes of waste per annum per employee) from the non-residential elements of the 
Proposed Development.   
 

Request a condition to secure the measures described in the Outline Waste Management Strategy 
and to require a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for each phase of 
the development, including the operations to extract and dispose of PFA, unless these operations 
are carried out in compliance with an Environmental Permit, regulated by the Environment Agency. 
 
Records show that there is one permitted waste management facility within the site and one in the 
vicinity of the site, off the Rugeley Eastern Bypass.  
 

 Planning permission for a road construction waste materials recycling facility within the site 
was granted in May 2006 (ref. CH.06/03/736 W). This facility is no longer  operational; and  

 Planning permission for the storage and crushing of construction waste was granted in 
November 2015 (ref. CH.13/10/725 W) [to the north-west].  
 

The submitted Illustrative Masterplan and the Land Use Parameter Plan, include an area of open 
space adjacent to the land, where the storage and crushing of construction waste is permitted.  The 
nearest residential properties, are approximately 120 metres to the south of this waste management 
facility.  Offer no objection to this relationship, but recommend that the Council’s should be 
satisfied, having obtained confirmation from their Environmental Health Officer and the 
Environment Agency that there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on people or the 
environment and that the proposed development would not constrain the continued operation of 
the neighbouring waste management facility.   
 
A Mineral Resource Assessment confirms that most of the sand and gravel was disturbed during the 
construction of the power station, which involved constructing large scale underground 
infrastructure.  The backfill used to raise excavation levels back to original levels was a mixture of 
sand and gravel, Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) and construction waste materials.  Therefore, the made 
ground is of no commercial value and backfill is several metres thick across most of the site.  
  
The MRA concludes that it would not be practicable or commercially viable to extract sand and 
gravel underlying this made ground and the underground infrastructure is still in situ.  Having regard 
to relevant policies, guidance and material considerations, it is reasonable to accept the findings in 
the MRA that it would not be practicable or commercially viable to extract sand and gravel.  The 
Mineral Planning Authority therefore has no objection concerning mineral safeguarding (03/06/2020 
& 09/08/2019).   
 
Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Groups – No objection, subject to s106 contribution.  Given 
that approximately 1,264 dwellings are proposed within Lichfield, with an average household size 
within Cannock Chase District of 2.33, the likely impact of the development on primary care health 
services within Rugeley is an additional 2,945 patients.  Therefore, requests a contribution of 
£501,029, which would be earmarked to deliver an extension to the existing Brereton Surgery 
(03/07/2020). 
 
Previous Comments: No comments specific to the proposed amendments.  However, since the 
previous submission was considered, have been discussing with practices within the local area to 
ascertain the most appropriate strategy to respond to the future demand from this development.  
The surgery currently identified for extension is the Brereton Surgery in Rugeley, “how much” will be 
defined by Health Building Note 11-01: Facilities for primary and community care services and we 
have sought pre-application advice from Cannock Chase planning department, which has been 
positive. 

Page 66

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/dON6CWQkLI5rnLh6-dnz?domain=assets.publishing.service.gov.uk


 

As a precise proposal can therefore now be defined, request a S106 contribution towards the 
delivery of this extension (22/06/2020). 
 
No comment on revised scheme. Will address s106 requirements in due course (01/06/2020). 
 
The site falls fully or part within three GP Practice catchment boundaries.  The Primary Care Team at 
the Clinical Commissioning Group recognise there will be impact to primary care from new housing 
developments.  This can be considered at both GP Practice level and also from a Primary Care 
Network perspective.  At Practice level a number of practices are working from buildings that have 
no capacity to extend, while others have this potential.  The Primary Care Team will work closely 
with practices and the PCNs throughout proposed development to understand the impact and then 
take any necessary steps required.  The CCG and the Council will then work together throughout the 
process so that we are confident that the proposed development will have a full health service 
coverage. 
  
The CCG have submitted a 106 funding form to the Council and Developer, which would pay a 
contribution of £735,974.40 to health to support with the increase of residents.  This will need to be 
approved by the Planning Committee and the figure might change (04/12/2019).  
 
Notes that the development proposes 1,036 new dwellings within Rugeley, generating a proposed 
population of 2,486 people, with consequently, a likely patient demand for consulting rooms of 
65.39 hours per week and for Treatment Rooms of 17.4 hours per week.  The GPs most likely to be 
affected by the proposed development are Brereton Surgery, Horse Fair Practice Group, Sandy Lane 
and the Aelfgar Surgery.  Rather than seek to offer a surgery within the application site, there is a 
preference to extend the existing surgery’s to accommodate the uplift in patients.  The financial 
contribution requested to undertake such is £735,974.40 (22/11/2019).  
 
Objection unless additional capacity provided In relation to the impact on primary care.  The patient 
per GP figures provided by the applicant are not considered to be accurate.  Will request information 
from the practices to try and support the possible developer contributions case and will ensure we 
include the number of rooms currently available at each site (30/07/2019). 
 
South Staffs Water – Advise the applicant to contact their Development Services Team for pre-
development advice (15/06/2020).  
 
Campaign to Protect Rural England - Support the application.  Urge the developer to ensure that the 
development uses a high standard of design throughout.  Examples of good design include 
attempting to create a community with a distinctive character, good walking and cycling 
infrastructure, ensuring that roads are not too narrow, and well-designed play areas and public open 
spaces.  
 
The design statement makes frequent mention of “opportunities” to retain, protect and enhance 
green infrastructure, such as clusters of trees and woodlands. It is important that the developer acts 
on these opportunities and acts on the advice given in Lichfield District Council’s Biodiversity and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document.  The developer should aim to enhance, restore or 
add to biodiversity, and ensure that new biodiversity benefits are fully integrated through the 
development scheme; every effort must be made to ensure that the predicted biodiversity net gain 
of 27.91% across the site is achieved.  
 
Welcome the commitment set out in the design statement to enhance existing green infrastructure 
(GI) assets including trees and woodlands and onsite water bodies, while respecting the nearby 
Cannock Chase AONB, to create and enhance wildlife corridors and movement routes to habitats in 
the surrounding area, and to include pollinator-rich planting in the solar meadows.  All locations that 
have been identified as areas for nesting birds and potential bat corridors should be accommodated 
within the development.  
 

Page 67



 

Welcome the overall aspiration to create a low-carbon neighbourhood with solar grids, and hope 
that the developer will take the opportunity to construct the houses to the highest possible 
standards of energy efficiency.  The development, if well-designed and highly energy-efficient, could 
serve as a model of excellence for future developments. 
 
The inclusion of community gardens, allotments, parkland and open space, and play areas is 
welcomed; hope that the provision of open space will exceed the minimum area specified by 
Lichfield District Council and Cannock Chase District Council.  The commitment to active travel must 
be reflected by ensuring that the Rail Way sustainable walking/cycling route is fully and cohesively 
linked to the outside area. 
 
Lastly, hope that a substantial percentage of the new dwellings will be affordable or for social rent 
(09/06/2020). 
 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust - No Comments Received. 
 
Cannock Chase District Council - No Comments Received. 
 
West Midlands Ambulance Service - No Comments Received. 
 
LDC Estates Manager - No Comments Received. 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
Two letters of representation were received in respect of the resolved to approve application. The 
comments / concerns raised are summarised as follows:  
 

 More housing would not be beneficial for the area due to a lack of doctor’s surgeries. 

 There’s already the Ashtree Estate offering new housing within the area.  

 Traffic flows through Armitage with Handsacre, at peak times are currently very high. The 
traffic volumes generated by this development will cause further impact on these local 
traffic flows. 

 
Three letters of representation have been received regarding the revised submission, one from a 
local resident, one from Power for All; a local campaign group and another from a neighbouring 
landowner, Persimmon Homes.  Their comments / concerns, are summarised in turn, as follows: 
 

 Concerned regarding additional congestion being created within the area.  Consideration 
should be given to widening the A51 into a dual carriageway to address this issue. 

 Rather than build a new school, could the school adjacent Rugeley Leisure Centre not be 
reopened? 
 

 Support the provision of an all through school within the site that will provide education for 
not only the dwellings on site but also for the local area.  Such will be an asset to the town 
and provide the much needed option of choice for residents.  

 The revised scheme notes that the school will also have a variety of community sport 
facilities, which will replace some of the lost facilities from the closure of the power station 
and would address the need locally for these facilities. 

 The plans show no staff or student car parking at the school.  Most staff do not live within 
reasonable commuting distance to walk or cycle to their school and if no parking is provided, 
they will park on street, impacting upon the primary access road through this development. 

 The visual impact of 5 storey buildings is an area of concern.  The submission refers to local 
conservation areas and the AONB but omits the fact that a large area of 5 storey properties 
(in excess of 17 m in height) will not only create an eyesore, but will also detract from the 
local architecture of the area.  There is no need for development of this scale other than to 

Page 68



 

maximise the dwelling numbers within the site and thus income from purchase and tax of 
these properties.  

 The provision of only two vehicular access points joined by a single spine road is of concern.  
In other local developments, such as Hawksyard, there has been an adverse impact arising 
from a limitation of access for residents and emergency vehicles, through the site. 

 Sufficient off street car parking will be required for dwellings facing onto the spine road, to 
ensure no on street parking within this area, which would impact upon permeability. 

 With a sports facility and all through school located at the heart of the site, having easy 
emergency access will be paramount to the safety of the community.  

 The plan notes many green areas and equipped play areas totalling 1.29 hectares.  Who will 
be responsible for the upkeep of these areas and also the ongoing costs?  These facilities are 
welcomed but only if they have the infrastructure behind them to enable their longevity.  In 
the past Rugeley has developed/gained resources, however the care of them for the future 
has not been planned. 

 The possible loss of the kidney pools and also the reduction of habitat is of concern with 
biodiversity reduction by nearly ¼.  Where will that biodiversity be replicated locally?  One of 
the positives of the current site is the variety of habitats it offers and it is important that that 
species are not lost. 

 The amended submission notes that there will be opportunities for high quality 
employment.  At no point in the plans has this been expanded on as to what and how these 
jobs / careers will be created within the site and it is a concern to local residents as to what 
will happen to this area of site unless the specifics are considered and ‘created’. 

 Rugeley is an area that in recent years has seen a drop-in employment opportunities and 
limited skills and training possibilities.  The closure of the power station and the imminent 
relocation of JCB to name but two, results in a need for local investment.  With 2,300 
dwellings proposed for the site, jobs will be at a premium or it will simply just become 
another commuter estate, which isn’t what Rugeley needs.  

 With so many residents and students within close proximity to the 132KV and 400KV sub-
stations, there is concern that the ‘hum’ emitted from the units may affect people mentally 
and physically.  

 Whilst pleased with the potential inclusion of the all through school within the s106 
agreement, request in addition that the following also be funded: 

 A Renaissance Manager to promote the scheme and area.  This is supported by other 
projects across the UK where the council and developer have supported and aided the 
creation and longevity of the role, including the more recent creation of the McArthur 
Glen site in Cannock itself.  With this already having successful outcomes in other 
locations, Rugeley and the surrounding area should have the same opportunity open to 
it.  With this is mind, it is proposed that £150,000 be allocated to the post for a period of 
5 years to cover salary administration and marketing.  This post will enable social 
infrastructure to be joined up, preventing the new site from being a satellite estate and 
ensure that the prosperity of the area has a chance to grow in a joined-up fashion.  With 
the recent impact of Covid-19 upon the UK this is even more important now, we need to 
create a distinct sense of place and provide a further selling point to the local area for 
possible future residents (creating the vision/image). 

 Bus and sustainable transport infrastructure have been reduced and are not connective, 
which is having a socio-economic impact on the town and the surrounding area.  There is 
need for investment in the bus station as more of a hub location, enabling this area to 
again link more with surrounding places, along with the reintroduction of a Sunday 
service. 

 The integration of the Power Station development with existing pathways and cycle 
networks, should be a priority, offering ease of access to the Chase and also to 
Hednesford and Cannock, without the need for a car. 

 

 The pedestrian links from the application site into the neighbouring East of Rugeley SDA are 
now referred to as ‘potential’ rather than ‘proposed’, as was the case with the resolved to 
grant scheme. 

Page 69



 

 The potential loss of these linkage points means the development conflicts with the 
requirements of the Local Plan Allocations Document, which seeks “strong walking and 
cycling links through the development and between new and existing residential 
developments”.  In addition, the development fails to meet the Local Plan objectives of 
providing walking, cycling and vehicular links, given the term potential.  Persimmon are 
willing to enter into dialogue with the applicant in order to deliver these links. 

 
OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
The developer has submitted the following documents in support of the original submission: 
 
Affordable Housing Statement 
CIL Schedule 
Commercial Report 
Design and Access Statement 
Environmental Statement, Figures and Appendices including: 

 Socio-Economic 

 Air Quality 

 Built Heritage 

 Ecology 

 Water Environment 

 Noise and Vibration 

 Ground Conditions 

 Landscape and Visual 

 Transport and Access 

 Assessment, Mitigation and Implementation 

 Non-Technical Summary 
Framework Travel Plan 
Landscape Design Statement 
Mineral Resource Assessment 
Planning Obligations – Draft Heads of Terms 
Planning Statement 
Remediation and Reclamation Strategy 
Shadow Habitats Regulation Assessment 
Statement of Community Involvement 
Sustainable Access Strategy 
Transport Assessment 
 
Addendum Submissions included: 
 
Affordable Housing Proposal 

 Draft Heads of Terms 
Cricket Pitch Ball Strike Zone 
Employment Land Technical Note 
Environmental Statement (Addendum) 

 Main Statement 

 LVIA 

 Ecology 

 Invertebrate Surveys. 

 Early season botantical survey. 

 Bat roost and activity surveys. 

 Breeding bird surveys. 

 Breeding wader mitigation strategy (CONFIDENTIAL). 

 Outline ecological mitigation strategy. 

 Air Quality 

 Non-Technical Summary 

Page 70



 

 Rail Passenger Forecasts and Mitigation Requirements  

 Sustainable Transport Measures and Technical Note 
Heights and Densities Supplementary Note 
Retail and Office Technical Note 
Safe Routes to School Study 
School Drop off and Pick up Strategy 
Supplementary Information Report 
Western Gateway Study 
 
Additional Information 
 
High Density Housing Analysis  
Retail and Office Technical Note 
Draft Heads of Terms 
 
In support of the amended submission the following documents have been updated: 
 
Design and Access Statement  
Landscape Design Statement  
Framework Travel Plan  
Environmental Statement (ES)  
Volume 1a ES Main Statement 
Volume 1b ES Main Statement Figures 
Volume 2 Technical Appendices 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary  
Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Planning Obligations Draft Heads of Terms  
 
The following document is new for this specific revised submission: 
 
Transport Assessment Addendum  
 

 
OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site, known as the former Rugeley B Power Station, extends to 139 hectares (ha) of 
which, 55ha is located within the boundaries of Cannock Chase District Council and 84ha within 
Lichfield District Council.  The site is located within two Parishes, Brereton and Ravenhill in the west 
and Armitage with Handsacre in the east. The parishes of Colton, Mavesyn Ridware and Rugeley 
border the site. 
 
The site is located approximately 1km to the east of Rugeley Town Centre and approximately 1.6km 
west from the centre of Armitage with Handsacre. The site is bound by the River Trent to the north, 
beyond which lie agricultural fields, the A513 to the south, along with both the Hawksyard housing 
estate and various large scale, predominantly storage and distribution buildings, within the Towers 
Business Park and the A51 to the south west.  
 
The site was until 2016 used as a coal fired power station, producing electricity for transmission to 
the National Grid.  Much of the physical infrastructure associated with this former use of the site 
remains; which is largely located, within the north western portion of the site; including 4 cooling 
towers, a chimney stack, plant buildings, electricity substations and interconnecting access tracks.  To 
the centre of the site two electricity substations remain. The 400kv National Grid substation 
comprises an open air grid of frames, up to 20m in height and transformers, enclosed by a wire 
fence.  The 132kv Western Power Distribution substation is located adjacent.   
 

Page 71



 

To the centre of the site, there is a concentration of green open space, associated with facilities 
previously provided by the Sports and Social Club, which includes, the clubhouse, a model railway, 
football pitch, cricket pitch, bowling green, 2 tennis courts and part of the former 18 hole golf 
course, which extends northwards to form the boundary of the site.   
 
To the south east of the site there are a series of ash lagoons and the Borrow Pit Lake, which is 
surrounded by mature trees and shrubs, along with a number of allotments.  A freight railway line, 
previously used to transport coal into the site, intersects the site from south east to northwest. The 
West Coast Main Line runs to the north of the site. 
 
Throughout the site there a large number of predominantly self-seeded trees, forming linear belts, 
sited generally around engineered embankments, which were formed as part of the former Power 
Station activities.  Further structured tree and landscape planting is provided within and to the edge 
of the former Sports and Social Club and associated golf course area. An Area Tree Preservation 
Order covers trees predominantly located on the site of the former ‘A Station’, now developed 
through the Hawksyard housing estate. However, the boundary of the TPO extends into the site 
along the shared southern site boundary, adjacent to the A513. 
 
Part of the site (land around the 400kv substation and existing vehicular access off the A51) is 
included within the limits of the High Speed Rail (West Midlands to Crewe) Bill 2017 (the HS2 Phase 
2a Bill) and therefore, is land subject to powers of compulsory acquisition for the purposes of 
providing a power connection from the substation to the rail line. The site therefore falls within the 
HS2 Phase 2a safeguarding Area, pursuant to the High Speed Two Phase 2a West Midlands to Crewe 
Safeguarding Directions, September 2017.  HS2 now have an alternative preferred location for a 
power connection and deposited Additional Provision 2 before Parliament in February 2019, which 
seeks to remove the site from the Bill.  However, until Royal Assent is granted for Phase 2a in its 
amended form, the site remains subject to the Safeguarding Directions.  
 
The Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Cannock Chase Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and Stafford Brook Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lie approximately 8km 
to the west of the Site.  Slightly further afield is the Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC and SSSI, located 
approximately 8km to the north west and the West Midlands Mosses SAC and SSSI located 
approximately 10km to the north. Other SSSI’s in proximity to the Site include Blithfield Reservoir, 
located 4.5km north, which is nationally important for Goosander Mergus Merganser, and 
Gentleshaw Common, located 4.9km south, which is of interest due to the lowland heathland 
vegetation across this area, and the biodiversity niches it supports. 
 
There are no built heritage assets within the application site, but there are several scattered across 
the surrounding rural landscape, to the east of the site, including the Trent and Mersey Canal 
Conservation Area, the Grade II Listed viaduct over the this canal, the Grade II* Listed Church of St 
John and the Grade II Listed Spode House and Hawksyard Priory.  
 
Background 
 
Demolition of much of the site’s infrastructure (excluding the substations) is currently being 
undertaken, following the grant of planning permission for such (Cannock Chase application 
reference CH/18/268 and Lichfield Council application reference 18/01098/FULM). Demolition works 
commenced in September 2018 and are expected to be completed by 2021. As part of the 
decommissioning process and closure of the power station use, the applicant is in the process of 
surrendering Environmental Permits, gained from the Environment Agency, relating to consented 
activities on the site, e.g. combustion permit, management of pulverised fuel ash permit. 
 
An Issues Paper was discussed by members of the Planning Committee at the meeting on the 1st July 
2019, wherein the following Issues were raised: 
 

Page 72



 

Education/Welfare provision – will welfare facilities be retained/provided for those using the 
lake/former Borrow Pit?  If facilities are lost would like assurance that they will be provided 
elsewhere.  
 
Highways – access and egress points throughout the site need to be fully considered.  The 
neighbouring Hawksyard Estate, experiences access and egress issues, due to there being only one 
access/egress provided, whilst the second point of access is currently only unofficially used by 
residents.  
 
Affordable Housing – would like clarification on the housing mix, provision and numbers to be 
attributed to Lichfield District verses Cannock District.  Whose housing numbers would this housing 
development count against? 
 
Vehicular Access from Armitage Road – need to consider quantum of housing that would be served 
by this one access – clarification on the appropriateness of this sought, including the impact that it 
would have on refuse collections. 
 
Flood Risk & Drainage – need to ensure that the drainage of land is addressed fully, given the 
dwellings within the Hawksyard Estate experience standing water within their gardens. 
 
Cycles & Pedestrian connectivity – important to ensure good pedestrian and cycle connectivity, 
including good links to facilities, including cafés and small retail unit in order to reduce motor vehicle 
use.  
 
HS2 needs to be fully reviewed as part of the background to this application, including the use of 
part of the land as a compound. 
 
Parking provision – need to ensure adequate provision within the development and learn from 
mistakes elsewhere in district. Also need road design to include sufficient room for two cars to pass 
on all roads. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy - sport and recreation facilities an important issue and as many 
facilities as possible should be provided close to the new housing. 
 
Solar panels in middle of site – questioned whether it will be an energy neutral development. 
 
Primary School provision – in addition to the on-site primary school, secondary school provision also 
needs to be considered, as the Friary School is already full. 
 
Sport and Recreation – noted that the existing miniature railway within site to be lost – asked if it 
can be retained and reconfigured/for a community benefit – as of national interest. 
 
Contamination Land – questioned how this is to be dealt with.  
 
Demolition/site clearance and remediation – noted it’s a massive civil project – question how much 
can be done without disruption?  What materials can be used/retained on-site?  What protection 
will be given to public when demolition takes place?  As much of the existing material should remain 
on-site as is possible. 
 
Proximity of the Trent Valley Railway Station – should seek to incorporate railway links into 
this development wherever possible – connectivity with pedestrians, cycle access etc. 
 
It should be noted that since the Issues Paper was discussed, an EIA Addendum document has been 
submitted with the application. The Addendum revised the description and composition of the 
development as follows: 
 

Page 73



 

 Use Class C2 Residential Institutions is included within the residential development 
areas. 

 Use Class B1 Business is to comprise offices, research and development and/or light 
industrial uses. 

 Use Class B8 Storage and Distribution is removed. 
 
The additional information submitted as part of the Addendum submission comprised: 

 Ecological surveys carried out during the spring and summer 2019 survey season relating to: 
Invertebrates, Botanical, Bats and Breeding Birds to inform the assessment of Ecological 
effects; 

 Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) diffusion tube monitoring undertaken by CCDC on behalf of the 
Applicant to inform the assessment of Air Quality Effects; 

 Additional wireline visualisations to inform the assessment of Landscape and Visual effects; 

 An additional viewpoint photograph of the Site from the Castle Ring Scheduled Ancient 
Monument (SAM) to inform the assessment of Heritage effects; 

 The proposed sustainable transport mitigation proposals on Colton Road, Power Station 
Road and Armitage Road have been subject to minor amendments; 

 Further evidence regarding rail passenger forecasts and potential sustainable travel 
mitigation options; and 

 Updated parameter and application plans reflecting changes made to the design of the 
Proposed Development. 

 
The planning application for this site (ref. 19/00753/OUTMEI) was originally validated on the 24th 
May 2019. The application was described as ‘Outline planning application for the creation of 
development platform and the demolition of existing office building and environmental centre, site 
clearance, remediation and mixed-use development comprising: Up to 2,300 new dwellings and 
residential units (Use Classes C3 and C2); up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, 
C1, C2, C3, D1 and D2); up to 5 Ha of employment (Use Classes B1a, b, c and B2); 1no. 2 Form Entry 
Primary School (Use Class D1); Formal and Informal Publicly Accessible Open Space; Key 
Infrastructure including new adoptable roads within the site and the provision of a new primary 
access junction on to the A513; ground mounted solar panels and 2 No. existing electricity 
substations (132 kV and 400 kV) retained (All matters reserved except access)’.   
 
At the planning committee meetings in January 2020 LDC and CCDC both resolved to grant outline 
planning permission for the redevelopment of the site, subject to planning conditions and 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement and Unilateral Undertaking.  Discussions have been ongoing 
since, although the legal agreements are yet to be completed and so the application remains 
pending, albeit that such has been resolved to grant permission. 
 
Proposals 

 
This amended application now seeks outline consent for the creation of a development platform and 
the demolition of existing office building, environmental centre and security gatehouse, site 
clearance, remediation and phased mixed-use development comprising up to 2,300 new dwellings 
and residential units (Use Classes C3 and C2); up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, 
A5, C1, C2, C3, D1 and D2); up to 5 Ha of employment (Use Classes B1a, b, c and B2); a school (all 
through school or 1 no. 2 form primary school (Use Class D1)); Formal and Informal Publicly 
Accessible Open Space; Key Infrastructure including new adoptable roads within the site and the 
provision of a new primary access junction on to the A513; ground and roof mounted solar panels 
and 2 No. existing electricity substations (132 kV and 400 kV) retained.   
 
The application is submitted in outline, with all matters except access reserved for future 
consideration.  A high level indicative masterplan, showing potential locations for the proposed 
development areas, accompanies the application. Matters relating to appearance, the precise layout 
of the site, landscaping and the precise scale/height of the buildings are reserved for subsequent 
approval and as such, do not fall for full determination at this time.  However, the applicant has 

Page 74



 

provided 5 parameter plans, for which they are seeking approval, as part of this application.  The 
parameters plan demonstrate the locations within the site of the proposed land uses, residential 
density, maximum building heights, points of access and green infrastructure.     
 
There is no change to the resolved to grant scheme in terms of the Applicant, the Site Boundary, the 
number of dwellings and residential care units (which remain at up to 2,300), the level of 
employment land (up to 5 hectares), community and retail floorspace (with the exception of 
education provision), and the primary vehicular accesses. 
 
The primary differences between the resolved to grant application and that now for consideration, 
are as follows: 
 

 Relocation of the school site from within the local centre in Cannock Chase District to the 
north west of the site, to the centre of the site.  The school would now sit wholly within 
Lichfield District. 

 The education requirements for the development will be met either by an on-site 2 Form of 
Entry (FE) Primary School and off-site secondary school contribution; as was included within 
the resolved to grant scheme; or via an All Through School (ATS).  This follows a ‘Wave 14 
free school’ application to the Department of Education (DoE), made by the John Taylor 
Multi-Academy Trust, to create an ATS, from nursery to Post-16.  Whilst best efforts are 
being made to secure the ATS within the site, a decision from DoE is yet to be made and 
therefore, flexibility for both options is being sought through this application. 

 The ATS, which would be up to 3 storey’s in height, would comprise a 52-place nursery, a 2 
Form of Entry Primary School, a 5 Form of Entry Secondary School and Post-16 provision for 
up to 200 students, together with ancillary facilities including sports pitches/courts.  The 
school is proposed on around 7.85 hectares of land, to the southeast of a proposed Solar 
Meadow and the, to be retained 400 kV sub-station.  The ATS would principally replace, 
from the resolved to grant scheme, an area of formal open space, including sports pitches 
and part of the solar meadow, including utilising space created through an engineered 
solution, by removing the existing kidney ponds.   

 The reduction in solar panels as a consequence of the reduced Solar Meadow footprint, is 
proposed to be reintroduced into the scheme via the installation of roof mounted solar 
panels on the ATS or Primary School buildings, subject to future Reserved Matters 
Applications.     

 Further amendments required to accommodate the ATS include, moving the 
footpath/cycleway adjacent to the Solar Meadow slightly eastwards, and a minor 
reconfiguration of the employment area, so part thereof relocates to the southwest of the 
400 kV sub-station. 

 In the event that the ATS does not come forward and school provision reverts to a 2 Form of 
Entry Primary School, this would remain located in the same parcel to the centre of the site, 
on approximately 2.5 hectares, with the balance comprising formal open space. 

 The area, within the north western part of the site, where the 2 FE Primary School and 
neighbouring MUGA is located within the resolved to grant scheme, is proposed to be 
replaced with residential development.  A maximum density of 60 dwellings per hectare and 
a maximum height of 5 storeys is proposed in this area.  As a consequence of this 
amendment, the overall area to be developed for residential purposes (Class Use C2 or C3) 
within the site, will rise from approximately 45 to 49 hectares  

 The demolition of the security gatehouse, located to the north western edge of the site. 
 
It should be noted that as this is a cross-boundary planning application, this planning committee will 
consider the acceptability of the elements of the proposal, which fall within Lichfield District, whilst 
Cannock Chase District Council’s planning committee, will (scheduled for consideration at their 
meeting on the 22nd July 2020), consider the acceptability of the scheme within their administrative 
boundary.  Thus, whilst it is appropriate and necessary for members to consider the scheme as a 
whole, it should be noted that any subsequent permission and the conditions related thereto, will 

Page 75



 

solely relate to the parcels of development that are within Lichfield District, unless otherwise 
specified. 
 
Demolition Works 
 
Beyond the demolition works consented under the permissions granted by Lichfield and Cannock 
Chase District Council’s in 2018, it is also proposed to demolish, as part of this proposal, the current 
Engie offices, the security gatehouse and the Environmental Education Centre, the latter of which is 
located to the eastern end of the site. 
 
Formation of Development Platform 
 
The existing Environmental Permit, which has been granted by the Environment Agency for this site, 
permits the extraction and management of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA), followed by the creation of an 
engineered platform, as part of the closure of the lagoons in the east of the Site.  On completion of 
PFA extraction, the lagoon clay liner and aggregate bunds will be removed or levelled, before 
commencing water monitoring to satisfy the surrender terms of the Permit.  The level platform is 
anticipated to be at a level of circa 66m AoD1. 
 
Access and Road Network 
 
The two vehicular access points (to be fully considered as part of this application), which are 
proposed to serve the site, are located to the site’s southern and north eastern edges.  The location 
of the southern access point, off Armitage Road (A513), has previously been agreed under the 
provisions of planning application 17/00453/FULM, which includes the installation of a roundabout.  
The northern access point will be via the existing vehicular access off the A51.  A main spine road 
running east to west will connect the two access points. The route of this spine road is dictated by 
the presence of underground constraints and the retained infrastructure within the site, such as the 
electrical substations.  Two further pedestrian access points are identified on the illustrative 
masterplan, one to the north of the site over the A51 and another to the western boundary onto the 
A513.  
 
The main internal spine road is shown indicatively to have a width of 20m.  This takes account of a 
carriageway width of 7.3m, two 3m wide footpath cycleways and two 3m wide verges to allow for 
tree planting, along the main boulevard.  This road will form the principal access through the site for 
all traffic including an extended bus route.  Access to other development parcels within the site will 
be formed by lower order roads, broadly in accordance with the Access and Movement Parameters 
Plan.  In terms of wider pedestrian movement, within the site itself, the scheme seeks to make use 
of the old rail freight embankment, as a means of providing a walking and cycling route, separate 
from vehicular traffic through the site.  This route will ultimately emerge close to Love Lane, to the 
west of the site.  Four additional north south pedestrian and cycle routes are also proposed and 
intend to link the residential areas within the site to the riverside park, proposed on the site of the 
former Golf Course, to the north of the rail embankment.   
 
As part of mitigating the impact of the development, off-site highway improvements are proposed 
to several junctions and areas, including the; A51 / site access (including pedestrian enhancements 
to the adjacent roundabout); A51 / Wheelhouse Road roundabout; A51 / A513 Armitage Road 
Roundabout; Western Springs Road / Elmore Lane / Horsefair / Sandy Road Roundabout, Rugeley 
Trent Valley Approach and Canal Towpath and Brereton Hill Roundabout pedestrian and cycle 
enhancements. 
 
Residential Development 
 
The residential component of the proposals includes up to 2,300 dwellings (Use Class C3), within 
which there shall be an element of residential institution (Use Class C2).  Of this total number, it is 
proposed that approximately 1,264 dwellings be erected within Lichfield District and the remaining 
1,036 within Cannock Chase District.  The residential parcels within the development as a whole, are 

Page 76



 

proposed broadly at the eastern and western ends of the site, to be separated by areas of green 
infrastructure, the school site and employment.  The development of the residential properties is 
expected to commence in 2021 and will partially overlap with the ongoing consented demolition 
works and PFA Extraction.  The residential proposals will be phased over a number of years up to 
2041, with an anticipated delivery timescale of approximately 20 years, for the entirety of the 
development.   
 
The housing areas would be constructed to an approximate density of between 35 dwellings per 
hectare (dph) at the eastern end of the site, up to 60dph at the western end of the site, closer to 
Rugeley Town Centre.  Also shown on the ‘Illustrative Density Plan’ is a single area, to the north of 
Borrow Pit Lake, with a density of up to 75dph.  These densities equate to 2 or 3 storeys for the 
lower density aspect and 4 to 5 storey development for the higher densities.  Within the higher 
density areas, it is proposed that built form elements will occupy, in total footprint, no more than 
30% of the overall land use.  The development will offer a mix of properties suitable for first time 
buyers and larger families and it is proposed to include 17.6% of the total site C3 dwelling units as 
‘Affordable Dwellings’ within the NPPF definition.   
 
Additional Development   
 
A new employment area of 5ha comprising of B1 offices and light industry and B2 general industry, is 
proposed slightly west of the centre of the site.   The southern portion of this area, equating to 
approximately 1.78ha falls within Lichfield District.  Details of the quantum of floor space are yet to 
be provided and rather, the exact amounts and mix of uses are to be determined at reserved 
matters stage.  
 
To the north and south of this area is a combined 1.2ha mixed use development zone, comprising 
two local neighbourhood centres, which are both currently proposed to include A1-A5 retail uses, C1 
(Hotels), C2 (Residential Institutions), C3 (dwellings), D1 uses such as nursery or public hall space and 
D2 uses, such as a gym or other recreational space.  The northern centre, known as the ‘Community 
Square’ is located within Cannock Chase and is to contain the proposed community building. The 
applicant advises that the southern centre, which is located within Lichfield District, sited adjacent to 
the Borrow Pit Lake and forming something of a gateway to the site, is to be designed to have a 
leisure/food and beverage focus. 
 
Within an area of approximately 2ha, located to the south eastern edge of the site, around the, to be 
retained existing 400kv substation, located within Lichfield District, ground and roof mounted solar 
panels are proposed. A further 1.2ha area located to the northern eastern edge of the same 
substation, is proposed within Cannock Chase District. 
 
Retained Uses  
 
The existing 400kv and 132kv substations will be retained as part of the redevelopment.  In addition 
to these, National Grid, Western Power Distribution and Network Rail will still require 24 hour access 
through the site, throughout the construction period and once the development is complete, to their 
respective facilities.  This has been factored into the phasing of the site.   
 
Green Infrastructure   
 
The proposed green infrastructure, which totals 67.62 hectares, for the ATS option, or 68.69 
hectares for the Primary School option, will comprise:  

•  A riverside park (approximately 25ha) to the north of the site, between the proposed built 
development and the River Trent.  This will provide accessible open space and enable 
connections to the River Trent and wider rural area.  The park is identified to be delivered in 
phase 0 on the indicative phasing plan ensuring it is provided at the start of the 
development;  

•  The utilisation of the former railway sidings as a green pedestrian / cycle route connecting 
the northern and southern ends of the site (‘The Rail Way’);  

Page 77



 

 6.34 hectares of outdoor sports pitches and courts.  Largely provided as part of shared   
facilities, if the ATS is developed or separately if the Primary School route is utilised.  ATS 
sports provision will include all weather facilities including a MUGA, and will offer, amongst 
other sports, opportunities for football, tennis, cricket, hockey and indoor sports provision.  
A separate bowls green is proposed nearby to the school; 

 In addition to this formal sports provision, an additional 1.29 hectares of equipped play will 
be provided throughout the site, which will includes hard surfacing for sports and a skate 
park south of the ATS. 

• Smaller areas of informal public open space on the built development periphery, designed to 
incorporate ecological enhancement and mitigation in proximity to existing features, such as 
the Borrow Pit Lake; 

 Central green open space corridors, often combined with sustainable drainage features, 
which  enhance the built character, provide wildlife movement corridors and link the existing 
and  proposed hydrological features within the site;   

• Formal public open space within the built development to provide landscape/green focal 
areas and leisure destinations;  

• Green corridors linking these central spaces to the wider green network beyond the 
application site boundary;   

• Two meadow areas under the proposed solar panels to the centre of the site; and 
• Other formal and informal green spaces such as play facilities, new allotments and the 

retention of the existing allotments in the south east section of the site.   
 
Illustrative Phasing  
 
It is anticipated that the construction of the proposed development will commence in 2021 and 
continue to 2041.  It is expected that development may be undertaken on a rolling programme of 
site preparation and construction, allowing earlier phases to be completed and occupied, whilst 
subsequent phases are constructed. 
  
An illustrative Phasing Plan has been submitted with the application, which demonstrates that the 
residential parcels in the northern and southern most parts of the site are expected to be delivered 
first.  The proposed riverside park (Phase 0) and all through or primary school (Phase 1D) are also 
proposed to be delivered at the earliest opportunity and the latter, subject to the requirements of 
the County Council, to ensure that the social, green and recreational infrastructure is in place to 
serve the new residents, as early as practically possible.   
 
The proposed employment and residential parcels in the centre of the site (Phases 3A – 3C) are 
expected to be the last parcels delivered, due to the significant constraints in this area of the site 
(retained substations and ground conditions).  Given the illustrative nature of the phasing plan, a 
condition to secure a final version of this document is recommended, although it is envisioned that 
few amendments to the submitted document, are likely.    
 
Determining Issues  
 

1. Policy and Principle of Development  
2. Housing Mix, Affordable Housing and Vacant Building Credit 
3. Design and Impact on the Setting of Surrounding Heritage Assets 
4. Landscape and Visual Impact 
5. Highway Impact, Sustainable Transport and Parking 
6. Water Environment, Flood Risk and Drainage 
7. Public Open Space, Sports Facilities, On-Site Green Infrastructure and Arboriculture 

Impact 
8. Sustainable Built Form 
9. Residential Amenity – Future and Existing Residents 
10. Ecology including Biodiversity 
11. Impact upon Special Areas of Conservation 
12. Waste Management 

Page 78



 

13. Archaeology 
14. Planning Obligations including Education Provision 
15. Other Issues 
16. Financial Considerations (including Community Infrastructure Levy) 
17. Human Rights 

 
1. Policy and Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield 
District comprises the Local Plan Strategy and the Local Plan Allocations Document (2008-
2029). In this location, the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan was also made in 
2018 and as such, also carries full material weight. 

 
1.2 The Local Plan Review: Preferred Options (2018-2040) was recently subject to its first public 

consultation exercise and therefore is yet to be adopted.  Given this document and the 
policies therein are within the early stage of the adoption process, they carry minimal 
material planning weight and therefore, whilst listed above, are not specifically referenced 
elsewhere. 

 
 Residential 
 
1.3 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF advises that housing applications should be considered in the 

context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development and that housing policies 
within the Local Plan should only be considered up to date if the Local Planning Authority is 
able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing.  

 
1.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF provides a definition of sustainable development, identifying that 

there are three separate dimensions to development, namely its economic, social and 
environmental roles.  These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to 
perform a number of roles: 

 

 An economic role – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right place and at the 
right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and coordinating 
development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; 

 

 A social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 
creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and 

 

 An environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
This report will consider how the proposed development fares in terms of these three 
strands of sustainable development. 

 
1.5 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF requires that Councils identify and update annually a supply of 

specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years delivery of housing provision.  In 
addition, a buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) should also be 
supplied, to ensure choice and competition in the market for land, or 10% where the LPA 
wishes to demonstrate a 5 year supply of sites, through an annual position statement, to 
account for fluctuations in the market during the year.  Where there has been a record of 

Page 79



 

persistent under delivery of housing, local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 
20% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of 
achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 

 
1.6 The latest five year housing land supply position for Lichfield District is contained within the 

Five Year Housing Land Supply Paper, dated June 2019, which states that a supply of 7.2 
years can be demonstrated within the District. 

 
1.7 Given that the Council can demonstrate a 5 year housing supply, it falls for this scheme to be 

considered, in accordance with paragraphs 12 and 47 of the NPPF, against the Policies 
contained within the Council’s Development Plan, which for this area, comprises the Local 
Plan Strategy, Local Plan Allocations Document and the Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
 Local Plan Policies – Housing 
 
1.8 The Local Plan Strategy sets a strategic requirement to deliver a minimum of 10,030 

dwellings during the plan period.  Core Policy 1 of the Local Plan Strategy establishes the 
Council’s Spatial Strategy, which seeks to direct growth to the identified sustainable 
settlements.  Within this framework Armitage with Handsacre is identified as a Key Rural 
Settlement, whilst an area identified within Core Policy 6 stipulates that East of Rugeley will 
deliver 1,125 dwellings, which is to include 500 dwellings to meet needs arising within 
Rugeley.  Further details of this allocation are identified within Policy: East of Rugeley and 
Appendix 16, which identifies the land immediately to the south of the application site, 
including the now largely complete Hawksyard estate.  This allocation included the 
undeveloped Borrow Pit and surrounding area, within which it was considered that 
approximately 450 dwellings could be delivered.  

 
1.9 Whilst the application site, other than the Borrow Pit, is not therefore allocated within the 

Local Plan Strategy, the Local Plan Allocations Document, which was adopted in 2019, 
following the closure of the Power Station, contains Policy R1: East of Rugeley Housing Land 
Allocations, which identifies that the application site, is to deliver a minimum of 800 
dwellings within the plan period, which represents a cautious approach, in terms of the 
assumed number of homes the site may deliver.   

 
1.10 Paragraph 12.3, which offers explanations for Policy R1, advises that the “Strategic 

Development Allocation includes an area known as the Borrow Pit, which was previously 
anticipated to deliver approximately 450 dwellings within the plan period.  As is set out 
within the Rugeley Power Station Concept Statement (Appendix E), the Borrow Pit is to be 
retained as landscape/water feature within the wider allocated housing site.  This means 
that site R1 leads to a net increase of 350 dwellings to the East of Rugeley”. 

 
1.11 The above noted paragraph therefore seeks to remove the Borrow Pit area from the Local 

Plan SDA allocation.  However, Policy R1 itself; the wording of which carries greater weight 
than the explanatory text; advises that development within the site should be carried out in 
accordance with the Local Plan policies map, wherein the Borrow Pit remains identified as 
forming part of the East of Rugeley SDA Allocation. Whilst it is clear from the explanatory 
paragraph, that it was the intention of Policy R1 to remove the Borrow Pit from the SDA 
Allocation, all of the plans accompanying the Allocations Document (Appendix E and Inset 
Plan 18), fail to do this. On balance therefore, it is considered, due to the identified 
confusion in the Allocations Document, that the Borrow Pit remains part of the Local Plan 
Strategy SDA. 

 
1.12 Policy R1 continues to outline key considerations for the development of the site, advising 

that the Masterplan to be approved to deliver the scheme, should identify a range of land 
uses, open spaces and transport routes and their relationship both to each other and to the 

Page 80



 

existing development in the vicinity of the site.  Proposals should accord with the approved 
Masterplan, including the key development considerations, which are listed as follows: 

 
 •    Development proposals should have consideration to the Rugeley Power Station Concept 
Statement (Appendix E) and be guided by the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
Supplementary Planning Document; 
 •  Potential ecological impacts should be considered including potential for priority 
protected species / habitats; and 
 •   Rugeley benefits from its location on both the West Coast Main Line and Chase Line.  
Steps should be taken to encourage journeys to be made by rail, for example providing bus 
links, and walking and cycling routes. 

 
1.13 Appendix E Concept Statement of the Allocations Document sets out the objectives for the 

site, which includes the development of a minimum of 800 dwellings, ensuring the 
protection and enhancement of ecological interests, including management and future 
maintenance of landscape and important recreation features, providing strong walking and 
cycling links through the development and ensuring a good degree of physical and social 
integration with the existing settlement.   

 
1.14 The Concept Statement continues to set out 16 points, which the design strategy should 

include and then goes on to summarise key aspects to be delivered within the scheme: 
 

 A range of housing in accordance with Development Management Policies H1 and H2 and 
having regard to needs arising with Rugeley; 

 Neighbourhood facilities including a community hub to incorporate a community/sports 
building and small scale convenience retail provision; 

 Provision of a new primary school to be accommodated within the scheme at an 
accessible location; 

 Provision for open space, sport and recreation facilities in line with Development 
Management Policies HSC1 and HSC2 and incorporating playing pitches, amenity green 
space, equipped play, allotments, and the retention/protection of any existing sports and 
recreation facilities that are not justified to be surplus to requirements; 

 Landscaping and Green Infrastructure provision to include the creation of areas of 
appropriate and sustainable habitats sufficient to achieve a measurable net-gain to 
biodiversity in line with the requirements of Policy NR3 and the Biodiversity and 
Development SPD.  This must include the retention of quality hedgerows and significant 
trees, and their incorporation into the landscape, and the allowance for significant tree 
canopy cover in line with Development Management Policies NR4 and NR6 and the Trees, 
Landscaping and Development SPD 2016; 

 A clear strategy for delivering links to Rugeley Town Centre, and Armitage with 
Handsacre, showing how these will be incorporated into an integrated open space and green 
infrastructure network, including links to the canal and existing green spaces; 

 Protection of local areas and habitats of biological interest; 

 The provision of public transport to serve the site: all development should be within 
350m of a bus stop and should promote of smarter travel choices; 

 The provision of pedestrian and cycling routes throughout the site, linking to the green 
infrastructure network and existing settlements, services and facilities beyond the site 
boundaries including safe crossing points; 

 Provision of a minimum of two main points of vehicular access should ideally be sought; 
The provision and maintenance of sustainable drainage systems and flood mitigation 
measures, integrating the retention of existing water courses where possible and having 
regard to the existing Flood Zone to the north of the railway line; 

 Measures to address water supply and waste water treatment, relocation and provision 
of utilities infrastructure; 

 Mitigate impact upon protected and priority species; and 

 The incorporation of public art. 

Page 81



 

 
1.15 The Rugeley Power Station Development Brief Supplementary Planning Document (adopted 

2018) provides guidance on layout, form and quality of development on the site.  The SPD is 
a material consideration in determining this application. 

 
1.16 Paragraph 1.5 states “the overall aim for the site is to create a well-designed mixed use 

development, which incorporates market housing, affordable housing, self build housing, 
employment provision, education provision and open space and recreational facilities”. 

 
1.17 The SPD provides a site analysis; policy context; and development principles.  The site 

analysis provides a range of useful information on the key site features to take into 
consideration including natural and historic environment features.  Figure 4.4 Design 
Parameters provides an indicative land use plan as well as access points.  It is noted that the 
proposed scheme aligns with a number of these parameters, including the main residential 
area within Lichfield District; provision of a park to the north of the site; and overall 
provision of mixed uses and community facilities.  However, the community facilities are 
more focused towards the western part of the site, rather than centrally.   

 
1.18 The Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan was made on the 9th October 2018.  The 

document includes Policy AH2 – Conserving and Enhancing the Local Natural Environment, 
which advises that natural environmental assets, including the Borrow Pit, allotments, 
Environment Centre and River Trent and its flood plain “will be protected for their local 
natural environmental resource value”. 

 
1.19 The Policy continues to advise that “development proposals that would otherwise affect the 

neighbourhood area’s natural environmental assets will only be supported where they would:   

 Protect, enhance, restore and implement appropriate conservation management of the 
biodiversity or geodiversity value of the land of buildings concerned, or those listed in the 
first part of this policy in particular; and/or 

 Minimise fragmentation and maximise opportunities for restoration, enhancements and 
connection of natural habitats; and/or  

 Incorporate beneficial biodiversity and geological conservation features; and/or 

 Deliver a net gain for biodiversity and/or geodiversity in the neighbourhood area”. 
 
1.20 The proposed development will retain the allotments and proposes no development within 

the flood plain, but does seek the demolition of the Environmental Education Centre.  Thus, 
in order to be considered acceptable, in principle, the scheme will need to comply with 
second part of the above noted policy, through delivering either biodiversity uplift, 
enhancements to the natural environment and / or enhancements to geodiversity.  This 
matter is discussed in greater detail within the biodiversity section of this report.  

 
1.21 Policy AH4 advises that open space, as detailed within the list accompanying the Policy and 

as shown on plans 8a and 8b, are protected. The Borrowpit and surrounding area are 
identified on plan 8b.  The accompanying text for this Policy (Paragraph 6.15) states that “the 
neighbourhood area has a number of important open spaces.  These have been identified on 
the Policies Map (Map 6) and will be protected”. Map 6 relates to Policy AH1 and the 
Conserving and Enhancing of Non-Designated Heritage Assets. As such there is some 
confusion between the Policy itself and supporting text.  The Policy is however quite clear 
and the Borrow Pit element of the site, as shown on Map 8b, therefore comprises Protected 
Open Space.  

 
1.22 The illustrative plans show a parcel of residential development, up to 4 storeys in height, to 

be erected immediately to the north of the Borrow Pit itself, within the identified Protected 
Open Space, which also therefore sits outside of the land identified for development within 
the Rugeley Power Station SPD and within the area excluded from development within 
explanatory paragraph 12.3 (Policy R1).  

 

Page 82



 

1.23 Policy AH2, as discussed above, includes a number of caveats, where development within 
protected areas will be permitted.  Development within the area surrounding the Borrow Pit, 
to be considered acceptable against the requirements of this policy, will therefore have to 
demonstrate suitable management for the remainder of the site, maximise opportunities for 
wider environmental enhancement and improve the site’s biodiversity value.  These matters 
are discussed in greater detail within the Biodiversity Section of this officer’s report, but it 
should be noted that the scheme will deliver a waterside park, in addition to a 20% uplift in 
on-site biodiversity value.  The area will be managed going forward by a maintenance 
management company, to ensure its on-going conservation, whilst the recreational use of 
the Borrow Pit itself will be maintained and expanded through the development and also 
become more widely usable to all of the community. Thus, the natural environment will not 
be adversely affected by the scheme and compliance with the above noted Policy can be 
secured via the use of conditions and the s106 agreement. 

 
1.24 Paragraph 6.15, which informs Policy AH4, states that the identified Open Spaces “serve a 

number of different functions for the local community providing spaces to play, relax, walk 
dogs and carry out more formal recreation activity”. The Policy was therefore created in 
order to ensure that recreation could be undertaken within the site.  Whilst the parcel of 
development within the confines of the Borrow Pit designation is therefore contrary to 
Policy AH4, the scheme would offer some positives to this Policy, through formalising 
community use of the space and enhancing its recreational activities.  Notwithstanding this 
point, the harm derived from the development being contrary to this Policy, will have to be 
weighed and given appropriate material weight within the planning balance.  Further to this 
point however, it should be noted that the Council’s Spatial Policy and Delivery Team have 
offered no objections to the development, and that these arguments were considered and 
weighed by members as part of the resolved to grant submission and determined to be 
acceptable. 

 
1.25 Overall, it is considered that the development complies in principle with the requirements of 

the Local Plan Strategy and the Local Plan Allocations Document but conflicts, in part, with 
the restrictions placed on the Borrow Pit area by Policy AH4 of the Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan, whilst compliance with Policy AH2 will need to be fully evidenced.  In 
addition, it is noted that the proposal does not wholly accord the Rugeley Power Station 
SPD, albeit that such carries lesser weight, given that this document was adopted by the 
Council, prior to the adoption of the Allocations Document and is a development brief rather 
than specific policy. 
 
Conformity with Cannock Chase District Council’s Development Plan  

 
1.26 The most recent Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (2019) identifies 

that there is sufficient supply to meet current Local Plan (Part 1) requirements and that the 
Council is able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply (6.6 years as at March 2019).  
Thus, as detailed above, it follows that in the first instance regard is to be had to Local Plan 
policies. 

 
1.27 Within the Local Plan policies map, prepared as part of the Cannock Chase Local Plan (2014), 

the main previously developed area of the site is not subject to any particular designation.  
The area to the north of the site, which formed part of the original golf course is designated 
as part of the Greenspace/Open Space network.  No development is proposed within this 
green space area aside from some degree of groundwork along the periphery associated 
with the formation of the linking access pathway, providing a pedestrian link into Rugeley 
town.  Hence the majority of the housing and employment development proposed is within 
an area not identified for that, or indeed any purpose within the current Local Plan. 

 
1.28 Policy CP6 Housing Land addresses the housing development needs of the District.  It 

outlines that the proportion of development across the District’s urban areas is expected to 
be broadly in line with their existing size, with the addition of urban extensions to each 

Page 83



 

settlement.  This proposal would result in the urban area of Rugeley/Brereton taking a 
greater proportion of housing development than envisaged in the Local Plan (Part 1), but 
this is not necessarily in conflict with the wider strategy.   The policy also outlines a positive 
approach to the consideration of windfall sites, stating that the release of land for housing 
will be managed to achieve the re-use of previously developed land within the built up areas 
of towns and will be informed by monitoring, via the annual Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and Authority Monitoring Report (AMR). This site is partially 
previously developed land and would in part be consistent with the emphasis on reusing 
such land.  

 
1.29 As the Local Plan (Part 1) was adopted more than five years ago, it is now the subject of a 

review.  The updated plan is still in the early stages of production and therefore limited 
weight can be attributed to it at this stage.  However, the Issues and Options document 
highlights a number of strategic issues that will need to be considered via the Local Plan 
Review, which are of particular relevance to this application.  The determination of this 
proposal will clearly have a substantial bearing on the Local Plan strategy overall, given its 
scale.  It is important to recognise that given the District context, where 60% of the area is 
designated Green Belt (representing all the land outside the existing urban areas) and 40% is 
designated AONB, the District must identify and maximise the supply from as many 
brownfield and under-utilised sites in urban areas, in the first instance, in order to meet its 
development needs.  As such the site should seek to maximize the most efficient use of the 
land for a range of housing and employment needs.  

 
1.30 The site (part within Cannock Chase District) lies within the designated Brereton and 

Ravenhill Neighbourhood Area.  The Parish Council have undertaken evidence base work and 
local consultations to inform their emerging neighbourhood plan, however no detailed plan 
has been produced for full public consultation to date.  The Neighbourhood Plan is therefore 
still in its early stages and there is no publicly available draft plan to reference in relation to 
this planning application.   

 
1.31 Thus, whilst the overall suitability of the scheme within Cannock Chase for the residential 

elements of the development will be assessed by Cannock Chase District Council, in broad 
brush terms, the redevelopment of the site, including the overprovision of dwellings, when 
compared against the minimum numbers identified within the Development Plan is, in 
principle, acceptable.  

 
 Residential Institutions (Class Use C2) 
 
1.32 Of the 12 core planning principles articulated within the NPPF, the following is of relevance 

“Promote mixed use developments, and encourage multiple benefits from the use of land” 
and further, planning should “Take account of and support local strategies to improve 
health, social and cultural wellbeing”.  

 
1.33 Section 8 of the NPPF focuses on promoting healthy communities, paragraph 91 states that 

planning decisions can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating 
healthy, inclusive communities.  Paragraph 92 places a responsibility on the planning 
authority to ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic 
uses and community facilities and services. Local Authorities through plan making are 
expected to “enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address 
identified local health and well-being needs”. 

 
1.34 The Local Plan Strategy is clear in its role to help people to lead healthier lifestyles in many 

different ways.  Policy H1: A Balanced Housing Market  advises that “The District Council will 
also promote the delivery of supported housing and care homes to reflect the needs of the 
changing demographic profile of the District’s population to 2029”.  Core Policy 10: Healthy 
& Safe Lifestyles states “Where appropriate the District Council will support the development 

Page 84



 

of new or improved facilities and initiatives which contribute to improved and accessible local 
health care, the physical and mental wellbeing and safety of the community”. 

 
1.35 Local and National guidance is clear therefore in its support of the provision and appropriate 

integration of residential care facilities within the wider development.  It should be noted 
that both Local Planning Authorities have sought and gained agreement from the applicant 
to limit the number of C2 units within the site, to ensure an appropriate mix of 
development.  It is therefore recommended that a condition be included to ensure that no 
more than a total of 150 Use Class C2 bed-spaces are provided across two campuses on the 
site. 

 
Local Centre Uses 

 
1.36 The application proposes two local centres within the scheme, the larger of which is 

proposed towards the western edge of the site, within Cannock Chase District.  The second 
smaller centre is proposed adjacent to the Borrow Pit, to the southern eastern edge of the 
site. The scale and quantum of employment and local centre floorspace will be the subject of 
a more detailed market assessment at the reserved matters stage and currently no definitive 
floor areas for each use are offered.  Rather, as identified within the description of 
development, the scheme proposes a wide range of uses (Class Uses A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, 
C2, C3, D1 and D2) with solely an upper limit of development offered.   

 
1.37 The applicant has however offered a purely indicative break down of likely uses within the 

local centres: 
 
 •     A maximum of 500sq m gross retail including a convenience store. 

•     A D1 Use Class GP including surgery or similar of up to 1,000sq m. 
•     Flexible ‘community floorspace’ of up to 1,672sq m. 
•     An A3/A4 family pub/restaurant of up to 557sq m. 
•     A D2 Use class leisure facility. 

 
1.38 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF focuses on building a strong and competitive economy stating that 

the Government is committed to securing sustainable economic growth in order to create 
jobs and prosperity.  The economic role is expanded upon through Paragraph 80 of the 
NPPF, which advises that “significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth and productivity, taking onto account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development”. 

 
1.39 Paragraph 85 provides advice specific to the vitality and viability of town centres and advises 

Local Planning Authorities to promote competitive town centres that provide a diverse retail 
offer. It is advised that each authority should allocate suitable sites of a scale and type 
suitable for town centre uses such as retail, leisure and residential development. 

 
1.40 Paragraph 86 states that main town centre uses must be both outside of an existing centre 

and not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan to trigger the requirement for a 
sequential test.  Paragraph 88 advises that a sequential approach should not be applied for 
small scale rural development, although no definition of small scale development is 
provided. 

 
1.41 Main Town Centre Uses according to the Appendix within the NPPF are “Retail 

development… leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses 
(including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, 
casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls); offices; and arts, 
culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, 
hotels and conference facilities)”.  As such, in terms of the neighbourhood centre proposed 
within this development, the retail units, offices, restaurants / cafes, public house, and 
certain uses falling within Class Use D1 or D2, are all considered to be town centre uses. 

Page 85



 

 
1.42 This site lies outside of both the nearest town centre boundary (located in Rugeley) and the 

village settlement boundary of Armitage with Handsacre, as identified within the up-to-date 
Development Plans.  The scale of the centres proposed within the site, are such that they go 
beyond what could reasonably be considered as small scale rural development, for which 
exemption from submitting a sequential test is afforded by the NPPF.  However, it should be 
noted that the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD notes that “the site is 
considered suitable to accommodate significant new economic development” and continues 
to advise that “the scale and quantum of employment floorspace will need to be the subject 
of a more detailed market assessment”. The document also states that neighbourhood 
facilities will also be encouraged, which should be located “towards the centre of the 
development to ensure it is accessible to residents” and should include “small scale 
convenience retail provision” but not larger scale retail provision, as such would undermine 
the vitality and viability of Rugeley Town Centre.  Thus, although not specifically allocated for 
such within adopted Local Plan Policies, the SPD, details that the site will contain both 
employment and retail uses.  Nonetheless a Sequential Assessment has been requested and 
submitted with this application, to help define the appropriate scale and impact upon local 
centres, arising from the proposed development.    

 
1.43 The Sequential Assessment (contained within the Retail and Class B1(a) office and planning 

Technical Note) was submitted with the EIA Addendum (and expanded upon within the 
latterly received Retail and Office Technical Note), identifies that the local centre within 
Lichfield District, will, as identified above, have a leisure and food drink focus, likely to 
accommodate a family restaurant / pub, which could have a typical floor area of between 
278sq m and 557sq m. It is also identified that there is the potential for a boathouse or 
similar kiosk, associated with the potential leisure use of the lake, which may contain a small 
area of D2 Floorspace and ancillary retail or café facility.  The suitability of the land uses 
proposed within the local centre within Cannock Chase District, have been and will continue 
to be considered by the appropriate determining authority.  

 
1.44 The Sequential Assessment concludes that none of the sites identified within the Rugeley 

Town Centre Area Action Plan are suitable for the development proposed within this site, 
being of the wrong size and / or having considerable barriers to redevelopment, whilst 
Armitage with Handsacre would not be the appropriate location for such uses.  The 
acceptability of the Sequential Assessment has been considered by the Council’s Spatial 
Policy and Delivery Team, who advise that the document is suitable and the scheme will not 
have an adverse impact upon the vitality or viability of the District’s commercial Centres. 

 
1.45 The retail unit proposed within the southern centre, is stated, within the abovementioned 

document, to have a maximum floor area of 99 square metres.  The floorspace is therefore 
below the locally set threshold, defined by Policy E1 of the Local Plan Strategy for other 
centres (100 square metres) in order to require, in accordance with the requirements of 
Paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the submission of a Retail Impact 
Assessment (RIA).  Thus, a RIA is not required for this application, as submitted.  A condition 
is therefore recommended to ensure that the maximum gross retail floorspace of 99sq m be 
delivered within Lichfield District.   

 
1.46 Given the likely scale of other town centre uses being proposed within what will be a 

neighbourhood centre, such is considered to be of a scale and siting so as to purely provide 
for neighbourhood convenience and therefore, once more, will not impact upon the vitality 
or viability of the District’s Centres.  A condition to ensure that this be the case is 
recommended, limiting floor space to a maximum of 1,000sq m in the southern centre and 
for site as a whole, to a maximum of 2,499 sq m.    

 
1.47  In terms of the wider potential community use of the lake and provision of a kiosk to 

facilitate such use, Policy AH7 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan seeks 
“support proposals for new community facilities when they do not have a significant adverse 

Page 86



 

impact on the natural or built environment, residential amenity, road safety and traffic 
congestion”.  These specific matters will be considered in detail below, but in general terms, 
it is evident that local support exists for the provision of community facilities. 

 
 Health Care  
 
1.48 As noted above, the larger of the two local centres includes provision for GP surgery of 

approximately 1,000 sqm.  This accords with the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
SPD, which advises that the development “accommodate a local centre to include a 
community/ sports building, potentially health services (depending on capacity elsewhere) 
and convenience store”.  

 
1.49 Lichfield District Council’s requirements for health provision, are detailed within the CIL 123 

list, which identifies that “CIL funds may be used where evidence is provided that there is no 
local capacity and expansion of services is required to support growth across the district”.  
The entry continues to highlight that s106 contributions for health are only required for the 
Strategic Development Allocations identified within the Local Plan Strategy.  This site does 
not, in the main, form part of the SDA Allocation and therefore, the provision of healthcare 
either on or off site, within Lichfield District, is in principle, to be addressed via CIL. 

 
1.50 It is noted that the Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have commented upon 

this application, specific to the impact of the development within both Districts.  The CCG 
advise that they would not wish to promote a new surgery within this site.  Rather, it is 
advised that given the application site falls fully or partly, within three GP Practice 
catchment boundaries (Brereton Surgery, Horse Fair Practice Group, Sandy Lane and the 
Aelfgar Surgery) that one of these surgeries be extended to meet future demand.   

 
1.51 The CCG have, for this revised submission, requested a s106 contribution of £501,529, for 

Lichfield District, in order to mitigate for the proposed 2,945 person population uplift.  For 
Cannock Chase District Council a further contribution of £501,529 is requested, to address 
the health needs of the estimated population uplift, within that District, of 2,414 people.  

 
1.52 As noted above, health care is included within the Lichfield District Council’s CIL 123 list.  It is 

noted that prior to September 2019, Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 imposed ‘double-dipping’ restrictions, advising that if infrastructure was to 
be delivered via CIL, then it could not also be secured via S106 agreement or condition.  
Therefore, it would not have been possible to seek s106 funding for health care, up to that 
point.  Regulation 123 restriction has now however now been removed, thereby allowing 
greater flexibility for seeking to fund infrastructure projects.  

 
1.53 Notwithstanding the above, Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations (2010) remains and continues to be the main test for whether s106 obligations 
are appropriate and this should be the determinative factor in this matter.  Regulation 122 
states; 

 
  “(2) A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for 

the development if the obligation is—  
 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development”. 

 
1.54 This regulation therefore requires the decision maker to have regard to what is genuinely, 

‘necessary’ to make a scheme acceptable.  Thus, in this case, it can reasonably be argued 
that health facilities are necessary, in order to make the scheme acceptable.  Indeed, the 
applicant has identified and acknowledged this need, through offering on-site provision. 

 

Page 87



 

1.55  The second point to consider is whether the off-site contribution being sought is directly 
related to the development.  As evidenced above and within the consultation responses 
from the CCG, the residential units proposed within this site, will, once occupied, directly 
generate a population uplift, which cannot be accommodated within existing surgery 
facilities.  Thus, a direct consequence of the development is noted. 

 
1.56 The concern with the current CCG request arises through consideration of this final matter.  

Since the original submission was considered by Planning Committee in January 2020, the 
CCG have focussed on one site, to deliver the potential extension to address the population 
uplift of this scheme, namely Brereton surgery.  In addition, the scale of the extension has 
been broadly identified to be 112.20 sqm (a further 112.20 sqm requirement is also 
identified for Cannock Chase, giving a total extension need of 224.40 sqm).  In addition, it is 
noted that initial discussions with Cannock Chase District Council regarding the suitability of 
such an extension have occurred. There remains however, no formal agreement with the 
surgery to deliver this extension, formal permission for the granting of such, nor an accurate 
timeline for its delivery. Following discussions about this matter with the Council’s Spatial 
Policy and Delivery officer colleagues, it has been concluded that given the lack of definitive 
mitigation package and the CIL fall back available to Lichfield District Council, the suitable 
route to seek to fund any future health provision is CIL. Note CCDC have not adopted CIL for 
health care and as such are pursuing a s106 contribution for health care. 

 
1.57 The level of CIL applicable to this development is £25 per sqm. CIL funding will be allocated 

to strategic infrastructure requirements, in line with the adopted Administration and 
Governance arrangements (adopted by Full Council in July 2016).  Not all of the 
infrastructure requirements identified within the Regulation 123 List or the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan will however be able to benefit from CIL, due to the identified funding gap.  
This position is not unique to health provision and exists for all of the requirements 
identified on the Regulation 123 list.  This view should however also be balanced against the 
IDP, as stated above, which acknowledges that not all funding for projects will be available 
from developer contributions, with paragraphs 3.10 and 3.12 advising that not all 
infrastructure will be able to be funded via CIL or S106. 

1.58 It is fully appreciated that in making this planning balance and concluding that it is not 
reasonable to request the developer to pay by way of S106 for the health care provision, 
having regard to all material planning considerations, this will likely have implications for the 
delivery of the size of extension deemed necessary to address the impact of this scheme, in 
terms of timescales and cost. Furthermore, it is also recognised that CIL receipts across the 
district will not generate enough to pay for all of the identified infrastructure, as set out in 
the CIL Regulation 123 list. Accordingly, the cost of the delivery of the health care centre, in 
the vicinity of the site, wherever this may occur, may not be achieved, solely through CIL 
receipts, particularly as other infrastructure demands will/do also bid for part of such 
receipts. However, it should also be noted counter to these points that this project will have 
a lengthy build time, allowing for the CCG to establish definitive health care need and 
mitigation for the area, where the work to establish such, will be funded by the s106 
requirements gathered by Cannock Chase District Council.  The potential impact upon health 
care provision is fully acknowledged.  This does not however make the development 
proposal either unlawful or unacceptable in planning terms, as it is considered that all 
relevant material considerations, have been duly taken into account in this report in 
assessing the planning balance.     

 
 Community Hall 
 
1.59 The larger local centre is proposed to contain a community building, which will provide a 

flexible building for community based activities.  As noted above, the Rugeley Power Station 
Development Brief SPD, seeks the provision of such a building within the site.  The building 
will be located within Cannock Chase District, but will evidently serve the needs of wider 
community.  The provision and management thereafter of the building will be secured via 

Page 88



 

the use of the s106 agreement, whilst the design of the building will be subject to a 
subsequent reserved matters application, consistent with the to be agreed Design Code. 

 
Employment 

 
1.60 In terms of the proposed employment site (B1 and B2 Class Uses), the abovementioned 

Note, advocates that given the application site has its own Development Brief, which advises 
that the scheme will deliver employment generating uses that it has already been assessed 
to be suitable for office use and the sequential test is passed.  However, in addition, it is 
noted that neither Cannock Chase’s or Lichfield’s Development Plan identify office-led sites 
of 5ha and therefore sequentially, the site is acceptable anyway, notwithstanding this point. 

 
1.61 The first point has been considered above. With reference to the second point, Core Policy 

8: Our Centres states that “development proposals for retail, leisure, office and cultural 
facilities will be focused within the commercial centres of Burntwood and Lichfield City in line 
with the Hierarchy of Centre”. The policies explanatory text states that in terms of office 
floorspace, 30,000m2 is a gross target advocated to be delivered by 2029 in Lichfield.  
Generally, the level of net floorspace proposed within the development is equivalent to 85% 
of this gross figure. On this basis, the gross figure of 30,000m2 would generate around 
25,500m2 of new net floorspace. The level of moderate office provision being proposed 
would not have an impact on the Lichfield City Centre and therefore, has been considered to 
be acceptable by the Council’s Spatial Policy and Delivery Team. 

 
1.62 In terms of the Power for All request to define the type of employment provision secured 

within the site, to ensure it is of high value, such is not reasonable, given the outline nature 
of this application and the need for the applicant to take the scheme to the market in due 
course to understand from where commercial interest will arise.  Finally, whilst the 
acceptability of both the commercial land uses and scale of the employment elements of the 
development have been considered above, there remains the need to consider the 
suitability of the locations for such, identified within the site.   

 
1.63 The Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD advises of the employment uses that 

such “should be provided in those parts of the site with the greatest potential for accessibility 
by public transport. It is considered that employment provision is most appropriate towards 
the west of the site.  Employment uses may be able to utilise the existing rail freight facilities 
within the site and proximity to surrounding business and industrial parks”. 

 
1.64 The SPD continues to advise that the commercial elements of the scheme be located within 

a community hub, situated “towards the centre of the development to ensure it is accessible 
to residents, as well as maximise opportunities to connect the hub with open space, sport 
and recreational facilities”. 

 
1.65 Thus, the scheme is not wholly in accordance with this document, in terms of the siting of 

the neighbourhood centres. From a commercial viewpoint, the proposal of two smaller 
centres will serve the development suitably, offering local facilities in closer proximity to the 
future dwellings.  The sole issue previously noted regarding the location of the school within 
the western centre, which was somewhat remote from dwellings located to the eastern part 
of the scheme, has now been addressed through the relocation of this structure to the 
centre of the site. Further consideration of this matter is provided below, within the highway 
impact, sustainable transport and parking section of this report. The employment areas are 
considered to be located in a suitable location forming a buffer to the, to be retained 
substations. 

 
Conformity with Cannock Chase District Council’s Development Plan  

 
1.66 Policy CP8 Employment Land of the Cannock Chase Local Plan (2014) addresses the 

employment development needs of the District.  It outlines that the proportion of 

Page 89



 

development across the District’s urban areas is expected to be broadly in line with their 
existing size.  This proposal would result in the urban area of Rugeley/Brereton taking a 
slightly greater proportion of employment development than envisaged in the Local Plan 
(Part 1), although not to the same degree as the housing development.  However, there has 
been a current shortfall identified in needs as set out in the most recent Employment Land 
Availability Assessment (2018) of around 2ha in employment land.  Monitoring also 
identifies that there are very limited opportunities for new employment land within the 
Rugeley/Brereton area, given the near completion of the Towers Business Park, with almost 
10 years of the current local plan period remaining.  Opportunities are therefore likely to be 
limited to ‘windfall’ redevelopment sites, which cannot be readily identified at present. 

 
1.67 Policy CP8 provides a criterion based approach to considering the loss of employment land 

to other uses. Whilst the site did provide some employment opportunities, given it’s very 
specific function, it is not considered to be an employment site in the context of Policy CP8 
i.e. it was not able to offer accommodation for a range of businesses or those that could be 
re-used by alternative occupants upon it being vacated by the power station operation.  
Nevertheless, it is noted that the proposal is providing employment uses, in combination 
with non-employment uses.  The site also lies in close proximity to the ‘strategic high quality 
employment site’ of Towers Business Park.  The potential for developments to relate to and 
enhance the high quality employment opportunities within the area should therefore be 
considered. 

 
1.68 Policy CP9 promotes a ‘balanced economy’ within the District via a range of means, including 

supporting high quality job opportunities and measures to support upskilling of the local 
workforce. The proposals would align well with this aspect of the policy. 

 
 Policy Conclusion 
 
1.69 The application proposes a significant level of housing development and moderate amount 

of economic and commercial development, in a spatially accessible location that is capable 
of being well connected to the main nearby centres.  The development makes use of 
predominantly previously developed land to significantly boost the local housing supply in 
the area in a manner consistent with the desire in the NPPF.  The residential element of the 
scheme, it should be noted however, is not wholly in accordance with the requirements of 
the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, albeit that such has previously been 
determined to be acceptable as part of the original submission, by members of the planning 
committee.  The development will include local shopping, education and community 
facilities of a neighbourhood scale, where no alternative spatially preferable sites are known 
to exist for such uses.  Overall, the development is considered to accord with the main 
spatial policies within the Development Plan and the NPPF, albeit that further regard will 
need to be had with the conflict arising with the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
2. Housing Mix, Affordable Housing and Vacant Building Credit 
 
2.1 Policy H1 of the Local Plan Strategy seeks the delivery of a balanced housing market, through 

an integrated mix of dwelling types, sizes and tenures based on the latest assessment of 
local housing need.  This reflects the approach in the NPPF, which sets out that local 
planning authorities should deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, with a mix of 
housing based on current and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of 
different groups in the community.  Evidence in the Southern Staffordshire Housing Needs 
Study and Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Update (2012) identified an 
imbalance of housing types across the District with high concentrations of larger detached 
homes.  Consequently, it has identified the need for smaller affordable homes, particularly 
those of an appropriate type and size for first-time buyers or renters. 

 

Page 90



 

2.2 The dwelling mix identified under the requirements of Local Plan Strategy Policy H1, as 
necessary to address the imbalance in the District’s housing stock is 5% one bedroom, 42% 
two bedroom, 41% three bedroom and 12% four bedroom and above.   

 
2.3 Paragraph 4.6 of the Rugeley Power Station SPD advises that “the site is suitable for a range 

of house typologies and it is anticipated that LDC and CCDC will seek to achieve a balanced 
mix of housing and apartment typologies.  The housing mix is flexible and will be agreed at 
the time of submission, informed by consideration of local policies, housing market dynamics 
and the needs arising within Rugeley”. 

 
2.4 No details of housing mix have been provided within this application, however the outline 

stage is the appropriate time to define a suitable mix.  To address this point therefore, it is 
recommended that a condition relating to the need to agree a suitable mix, as part of the 
site’s wider Design Code, be attached to any approval.  Subject to the details submitted to 
discharge this condition being in broad accordance with the requirements of the 
abovementioned policy, the scheme will comply with the requirements of the Development 
Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
2.5 The site is over the threshold for the provision of affordable housing as required by Local 

Plan Strategy Policy H2.  The on-site affordable housing provision required by Policy H2, 
following the issuing of the latest Annual Monitoring Report issued in 2019 is for 37% of the 
units proposed (although at the time of the application being submitted, the 2019 AMR had 
not been published and as such, the required level of provision defined within the 2018 AMR 
was 35%).  Policy CP7 of Cannock Chase’s Local Plan Part 1 seeks on site provision of a 
minimum of 20% affordable housing units for schemes of 15 or more units. Further 
discussion regarding housing mix, including affordable housing tenures are detailed within 
that Council’s Developer Contributions and Housing Choices Supplementary Planning 
Document (2015). 

 
2.6 Policy H2 also recommends that of the affordable housing provided within a site, 65% should 

be social rented and managed by a registered provider, with the remaining 35% 
intermediate, although it is acknowledged that the precise proportions will be agreed with 
the District Council, having regard to housing needs within the locality. Cannock Chase 
District Council require under their policies that 80% of affordable units be social rented and 
20% intermediate. 

 
2.7 The level of affordable housing provided across the site is therefore subject to negotiation, 

taking into account the differing levels of provision required by the individual Local Planning 
Authorities. 

 
2.8 Notwithstanding the above, paragraph 63 of the NPPF states that “To support the re-use of 

brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable 
housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount”.  This matter is 
expanded upon within paragraph 026 of the Planning Obligations National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG), which states “where a vacant building is… demolished to be replaced by a 
new building, the developer should be offered a financial credit equivalent to the existing 
gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings when the local planning authority calculates 
any affordable housing contribution which will be sought.  Affordable housing contributions 
may be required for any increase in floorspace”. 

 
2.9 Paragraph 027 of the NPPG continues to advise that “where there is an overall increase in 

floorspace in the proposed development, the local planning authority should calculate the 
amount of affordable housing contributions required from the development as set out in 
their Local Plan.  A ‘credit’ should then be applied which is the equivalent of the gross 
floorspace of any relevant vacant buildings being brought back into use or demolished as 
part of the scheme and deducted from the overall affordable housing contribution 
calculation.  This will apply in calculating either the number of affordable housing units to be 

Page 91



 

provided within the development or where an equivalent financial contribution is being 
provided. 

 
The existing floorspace of a vacant building should be credited against the floorspace of the 
new development.  For example, where a building with a gross floorspace of 8,000 square 
metre building is demolished as part of a proposed development with a gross floorspace of 
10,000 square metres, any affordable housing contribution should be a fifth of what would 
normally be sought”. 

 
2.10 Finally, paragraph 028 states “The vacant building credit applies where the building has not 

been abandoned. 
 

The courts have held that, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should be 
taken of all relevant circumstances, such as: 
 The condition of the property; 
 The period of non-use; 
 Whether there is an intervening use; and 
 Any evidence regarding the owner’s intention. 
Each case is a matter for the collecting authority to judge. 
 
The policy is intended to incentivise brownfield development, including the reuse or 
redevelopment of empty and redundant buildings. In considering how the vacant building 
credit should apply to a particular development, local planning authorities should have 
regard to the intention of national policy. 

 
In doing so, it may be appropriate for authorities to consider: 
 Whether the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes of re-development; 

and 
 Whether the building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning permission for 

the same or substantially the same development”. 
 
2.11 In this case, there are a number of factors to consider, prior to calculating the net increase in 

floorspace, across the site.  Firstly, compliance with paragraph 028.  This is a brownfield site, 
where it has been determined that in the context of the explanatory paragraph detailed 
above, the buildings therein, are not abandoned.  In addition, the buildings have not been 
made vacant to facilitate the site’s redevelopment, rather, such has arisen due to national 
targets to reduce carbon emissions, resulting in the closure of coal fired power stations 
nationwide.  There are no extant or recent planning permissions for similar development 
within this site. 

 
2.12 Demolition within the site has commenced and continues (as granted under a separate 

consent).  Thus, consideration has to be given to at what point the calculation of existing 
floorspace should be calculated.  Following consideration of equivalent schemes elsewhere 
within the country and discussions between relevant parties, it has been determined that 
the suitable date from which to calculate existing floor space within the site, is the date of 
validation of the planning application, namely the 7th June 2019.  Evidently, this has been 
agreed previously by members, via the resolved to grant scheme. 

 
2.13 In terms of proposed floor area within the site, given this is an outline application, where 

such is yet to be formalised, it has been determined that the suitable process to determine 
such is to use the national average for a dwellings floor space and multiply this by the 
maximum number of dwellings proposed to be erected within each District (1,264 in LDC 
and 1,036 in CCDC based on up to 2,300 dwellings).  

 
2.14 An Affordable Housing Proposal document has been submitted with this application, which 

details the applicant’s offer to the Council’s.  Applying the floorspace at the time of 
submission, the following calculations are undertaken: 

Page 92



 

 

 Lichfield District Council Cannock Chase District Council 

Area of Vacant buildings 16,326 sq m 78,686 sq m 

Proposed new development 
floor space 

110,074 sq m 90,827 sq m 

Net increase in Floor space 93,748 sq m 12,141 sq m 

 
2.15 Proportionally, applying the VBC against the maximum total number of affordable dwellings, 

results in a reduction in the maximum number of affordable units, from the policy compliant 
level (35%) of 442, down to 377 units, an overall reduction of 65 dwellings, bringing the total 
provision within Lichfield District to 29.7%. Applying the tenure mix required by policy H2, 
this results in a social rent provision of 245 dwellings and 132 dwellings for other tenures.  

 
2.16 The above table evidences that the VBC applicable within Cannock Chase District is far 

greater than within Lichfield District.  In fact, as a consequence of the application of VBC, the 
policy compliant provision falls from a maximum of 207 dwellings (20%) to 28 dwellings 
(2.7%), an overall reduction of 179 affordable dwellings. Applying CCDC’s required tenure 
mix, this results in 22 social rented dwellings and 6 dwellings for intermediate tenures. 

 
2.17 In order for the application to be policy compliant, following the application VBC therefore, 

the above noted levels of affordable housing are applicable.  However, the low level of 
provision within CCDC runs contrary to wider aims of good urban design within both the 
NPPF and Development Plan, which seek to create inclusive communities, where affordable 
dwellings are pepper potted throughout a development.  To address this point, the 
applicant, at the behest of the Local Planning Authorities, following agreement for such from 
the respective housing managers, produced a blended figure, where the affordable housing 
levels are spread proportionally across the site.  This results in an overall site wide provision, 
based on the delivery of up to 2,300 dwellings of 17.6% or a maximum 405 dwellings.  After 
applying a proportional principle of housing development within the scheme (Lichfield 
District will have 55% of the dwellings, Cannock Chase District 45%), the respective 
authorities will receive a maximum total of 223 and 182 affordable dwellings (if 2,300 are 
delivered), with the tenures being policy compliant for each authority.  

 
2.18 Whilst initial discussions regarding the mix of affordable dwellings have been undertaken, 

such can be secured formally, via the requirements of a s106 agreement, in order to allow 
for such to be agreed in a phased manner, as the development progresses, thereby ensuring 
that such is responsive to the changing needs of the communities.  For Member’s 
information, the following mix is currently being proposed based, albeit that such will be 
subject to amendments between the Council’s and landowner to meet demand, based on 
the maximum delivery of 2,300 C3 dwellings:   

 

Bedrooms 
Social 
Rent/Affordable 
Rent 

Shared 
Ownership/Other 
Tenures 

Total Percentage 

1 bed flat  70 0 70 17.3% 

1 or 2 bed flat  30 25 55 13.6% 

2 bed house 95 45 140 34.6% 

3 bed house 62 58 120 29.6% 

4 bed house 10 10 20 4.9% 

Total 267 138 405 100% 

 
2.19 In terms of the location within the scheme of the affordable dwellings, such will be 

determined as part of future reserved matters applications.  However, to ensure a suitable 
spread of affordable units throughout the phases of the scheme, a condition is 
recommended to ensure that each phase, which contains an element of residential 

Page 93



 

development (Class Use C3), will have a minimum affordable housing level of 15%, whilst the 
scheme as a whole secures 17.6% across the site for C3 units. 

 
2.20 Finally, it is noted that the description of development identifies that some of the 2,300 

residential units proposed within the site are likely to include an element of Class Use C2 
provision, which relates to residential accommodation with care provision.  Subsequent to 
the resolved to grant submission, the applicant now proposes, as is policy compliant, that 
should such be erected within the site, it will affect the overall number of affordable 
dwellings to be erected (C2 uses are not subject to affordable housing requirements), which 
will drop below 405, assuming the full 2,300 units are erected.  To address concerns that the 
number of residential institution units erected within the site could erode the number of 
affordable units delivered, the abovementioned condition limiting the number of Class C2 
units across the site to 150 across two campuses is recommended.   

 
2.21 It should be noted that Vacant Building Credit (VBC) is a vehicle supplied by the Government 

in order to encourage development on Brownfield Sites, where usually mitigation costs are 
high.  As such, the applicant is not in any way seeking to reduce inappropriately, the level of 
affordable housing within the scheme, rather utilising appropriate allowances within 
national planning policy.  Thus, the above noted figures, although lower than the affordable 
housing levels identified within the respective authorities affordable housing policies, 
remain policy compliant in the wider sense.  The sole consideration for members relevant to 
this matter; which has previously been determined to be acceptable within the resolved to 
grant scheme, is whether the blended approach to affordable housing provision proposed 
across the site is appropriate.  Such is deemed necessary in order to ensure inclusive and 
well balanced communities.  Thus, the development subject to the recommended conditions 
and s106 Schedule, is considered to comply with the requirements of the Development Plan 
and NPPF in this regard. 

 
3. Design and Impact on the Setting of Surrounding Heritage Assets 
 
3.1 The site has a mixed brownfield and greenfield character, given the nature of its former use.  

The area surrounding the site contains a variety of character types, with to the north and 
east open countryside being evidenced, along with the River Trent and its associated flood 
plain.  To the west, lie large scale predominantly storage and distribution buildings, along 
with office buildings.  

 
3.2 Local Plan Strategy Core Policy 14 states that “the District Council will seek to maintain local 

distinctiveness through the built environment in terms of buildings… and enhance the 
relationships and linkages between the built and natural environment”.   

 
3.3 Local Plan Strategy Policy BE1 advises that “new development… should carefully respect the 

character of the surrounding area and development in terms of layout, size, scale, 
architectural design and public views”.  The Policy continues to expand on this point advising 
that good design should be informed by “appreciation of context, as well as plan, scale, 
proportion and detail”. 

 
3.4 The NPPF (Section 12) advises that “good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 

creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities”.  The document continues to state that “permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions”. 

 
3.5 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF also attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment, which should contribute positively to making places better for people.  As well 
as understanding and evaluating an area’s defining characteristics, it states that 
developments should: 
 

Page 94



 

      Function well and add to the overall quality of the area; 

      Establish a strong sense of place; 

      Respond to local character and history, and reflect local surroundings and materials; 

      Create safe and accessible environments; and 

      Be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 
 
3.6 Policy AH5 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan states that “New residential 

development should be of a good quality design.  Where appropriate development proposals 
should take account of the character of… their proximity and accessibility to the Trent and 
Mersey Canal Conservation Area and their location in relation to open spaces and play and 
recreational facilities. Development proposals will be supported where these characteristics 
are respected and where their design responds positively” to considerations of setting, public 
realm, accessibility, site characteristics, frontages, innovation and responding to local 
context, roofscape and chimneys, elevations and parking standards. 

 
3.7 Policy AH6 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan advises that development 

proposals will be supported where they maintain Armitage with Handsacre as a separate 
free-standing community, within a rural setting and which respect their landscape setting, 
do not cause coalescence, respect the historic environment and retain sports and recreation 
facilities. 

 
3.8 The Planning Statement summarises the applicant’s main ambitions for the development of 

the site to be as follows:  
 

 Establishing pedestrian, cycle, and vehicular links, including public transport to ensure a 
well- connected and permeable new neighbourhood.  Providing the community of 
Rugeley with an accessible Riverside Park that forms part of the town’s amenity as well 
as public formal sports area positioned centrally in the location of the former Rugeley 
Social;  

 Defining appropriate uses for various parts of the site in response to the retained 
infrastructure and natural elements on site;  

 With two neighbourhood focal areas, establishing a new living and working community 
as a place that has a purpose and identity as well as one that complements the existing  
infrastructure of the town; and  

 Defining this new place as a collection of differentiated neighbourhoods that 
are interconnected through a network of green spaces and routes; that integrate with 
the existing neighbourhoods; and that provide attractive environments where people 
will want to live, work, socialise and relax. 

 
3.9 As described in the ‘Proposal’ section of this report, the application is made in outline, with a 

high level illustrative master plan showing how the resultant site could appear.  Matters 
relating to appearance, the precise layout of the site, landscaping and the scale and height 
of any buildings are reserved for subsequent approval and as such, are not for full 
determination and have been updated to reflect the introduction of the relocated Primary 
school or ATS provision at this time.  However, the applicant continues to seek formal 
approval of the submitted Parameter Plans, which illustrate the approach to the 
development of the site. Members should be clear that such plans seek approval of more 
detail than may otherwise be the case on an outline application where matters of Scale and 
Layout are reserved for future consideration.  The Parameters Plans relate to Access and 
Movement, Land Use, Building Heights, Residential Density and Green Infrastructure.  

 
3.10 Broadly, the Access and Movement Plan shows a key ‘Rail Way’ route along a portion of the 

former rail connection into the site.  This is proposed to span the length of the site and link 
in to Power Station Road, providing pedestrian access to Love Lane and the wider centre.  
This plan also shows a main spine road running the length of the site and utilising the 
existing power station access roundabout arm at the northern end of the site and the 

Page 95



 

already permitted new access onto the A513 Rugeley Road (ref. 17/00453/FULM) to the 
south. 

 
3.11 The Land Use Parameter Plan shows the predominant use of the site will be housing, with 

employment uses near to the centre of the site, creating a stand-off around the retained 
switching stations.  Also now shown, central to the site is the education area, to contain the 
primary school or ATS, whilst there are also two respective mixed use areas, the larger being 
the Neighbourhood Square to the west and a smaller leisure focussed centre in close 
proximity to the Borrow Pit Lake.  

 
3.12 The Building Heights and Density plan continues to show a transition from up to 5 storeys 

and up to 60 dwellings per hectare (dph) to the west of the site, down to 2/2.5 storeys and 
35 dwellings per hectare in the eastern portion.  The principal alteration from the resolved 
to grant scheme, beyond the aforementioned school re-siting, is the replacement of the 
former school site area with residential development shown to be developed at 60 dph.  A 
general reduction in scale remains however from west to east, with the exception of a 4 
storey building of up to 75 dwellings per hectare at the eastern end of the site that is closely 
associated with the Borrow Pit Lake.   

 
3.13 Finally, the Green Infrastructure Plan indicates a large Riverside Park and formal open space, 

including sports playing pitches, the latter of which remains central to the site, albeit that 
much is now within the playing fields associated with the ATS option.  Further open space is 
proposed to the centre of the site, outside of the grounds of either of the school options, 
which is to include allotments, community gardens, play areas and various linking greenways 
that could include cycleways, footpaths and similar.  

 
3.14 There are a number of constraints associated with the site, including its previous use and 

retained power related infrastructure, natural constraints, such as alluvium clay or nearby 
flood zones and others that are man-made, such as the adjacent main road or the large 
block of development occupied by the Amazon warehouse.  The submitted development 
follows extensive community consultation and configuration in the context of these 
constraints, whilst the Design and Access Statement and Landscape Design Statement both 
seek to make the most of the connectivity opportunities and the natural/semi-natural assets 
within the site.  

 
3.15 As part of the consideration of both the resolved to grant and amended application, 

consultation with the Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer and Cannock Chase 
Council’s Environmental Services Department, has been undertaken.  These consultees 
highlight the positive engagement and creative processes that have fed into the proposals.  
However, whilst acknowledging these positives, a number of concerns were originally 
identified, which are detailed within the consultee response section of the report.  In 
summary, the issues previously raised, but subsequently accepted by members to be 
acceptable, relate to the design and layout of the former railway, the siting and scale of built 
form within areas 5 and 8, as shown on the illustrative masterplan, the visual impact of the 
scale of development to the site’s north eastern edge and A51 access point and finally green 
infrastructure matters.  The comments raised specific to the amended submission relate to 
the need to demonstrate suitable in-site access to the school site and the uplift in building 
area for residential development from 45ha to 49ha and whether a reduction in housing 
density, as a consequence of such, is possible. 

 
3.16 The former railway is proposed to act as a key pedestrian/cycle route, but as shown on the 

illustrative masterplan, around a third of this route will also be required to offer vehicular 
access into adjacent built form parcels.  Concern was raised by aforementioned consultees 
that this relationship would not be compatible with the safe pedestrian/cycle use of the 
route and rather, it was recommended that no built form be erected to the north of the 
former railway, thereby improving connectivity, for these modes, to the south-eastern 
corner of the site.  Whilst acknowledging this concern, it does not immediately follow that 

Page 96



 

pedestrian / cycle and vehicular transport should not share routing through the site and 
rather, it will be necessary at the point of agreeing the site’s detailed design, to ensure that 
these transportation modes can operate together in a safe manner.    

 
3.17 The siting of residential units within the two areas numbered 5 (adjacent to the Borrow Pit) 

and 8 (adjacent to the new riverside park) on the illustrative masterplan, was noted to be of 
concern, due to potential future pressure from occupants to require the felling of nearby 
trees and because both of these areas are shown as being strategic landscaping in the 
Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD.  In terms of the former, the design of these 
areas are yet to be formalised and future consideration can be made to limit this concern 
(for instance off-setting built form from the tree line), whilst it is also noted that the trees in 
question will be located to the north east of these dwellings, ensuring any loss of light will be 
limited solely to the morning, weakening the argument for felling.  With regard to the latter 
point, as noted above, the Development Brief, whilst a material consideration, should not be 
assumed to be the blueprint for the development to follow.  Rather the merits of including 
built form within these areas should be balanced against any harm arising.  In terms of the 
development adjacent to the Borrrow Pit, it will not result in any form of coalescence with 
Armitage with Handsacre (such would in conflict with Neighbourhood Plan Policy AH6) or 
restrict the continued recreational use of the lake itself.   

 
3.18 In order to attempt to address concerns regarding the scale of development within the 

Borrow Pit area, the applicant proposes a form of maximum cap, so that no more than 20% 
of the Gross External Area of the buildings around the Borrow Pit Lake would be 4 storeys. 
I.e. mainly 3 storeys.  In addition, wireline imagery, included within the new ES 
documentation, showing effectively a worst case analysis of the buildings (as if all structures 
within this area were constructed at 4 storeys in one block) have also been provided from 
the main public vantage points around the site.  In vantage points from footpaths to the 
north of the site (Mavesyn Ridware Footpaths No. 13 and 0.423), the existing topography 
results in the scale of the development not being prominent or breaching the skyline in 
those views.  In addition, existing man-made development, such as the rail embankment, 
overhead lines and pylons, convey a degree of influence upon the area that erodes its 
countryside character.  Therefore, provided care is taken in the final design of the 
development, in landscape terms, it is considered that the effects will be comparatively 
minor and impacts confined to a limited number of vantage points.  

 
3.19 However, in views from within the site, particularly such as those towards the blocks across 

the lake, it could be argued that development in an otherwise undeveloped vista, adversely 
impacts the lake’s character.  Indeed, noting the protection afforded to the lake within the 
Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, partly on the basis of its character and 
leisure contribution, members have previously and will need to continue to consider this 
effect, in amongst the wider benefits associated with the development.  

 
3.20 The Building Height and Density Parameter Plans highlight that in the areas marked as being 

up-to 5 storey in height, which now includes the former school site from the resolved to 
grant scheme, a maximum of 10% will be 5 storey and in the areas marked as being up-to 4 
storey, a maximum of 20% of the buildings will be 4 storey, with the rest being lower.  In the 
area north of the railway line and adjacent to the riverside park, 3 storey buildings are 
proposed at a density of up to 60 dwellings per hectare.  Lastly, the ATS is also proposed to 
be up to 3 storeys in height, with the primary school up to 2 storeys, albeit either building 
will be set back from the Riverside Park.  The noted concern is that the proposed heights and 
densities along the site’s north eastern boundary, will create a strong hard edge to the 
surrounding countryside and rather, to transition comfortably from a built up area, to open 
countryside, it would be expected that built form be no more than 2 storeys in height, with a 
density of around 20 dph at the rural edge. 

 
3.21 Appendix E Concept Statement of the Local Plan Allocations Document, which expands upon 

Policy R1 advises that, “Variation of densities across the site should occur with lower 

Page 97



 

densities towards the southern and eastern edges in order that that the built edge can be 
assimilated into the countryside and associated views there to/from”. 

 
3.22 Whilst, as evidenced by the above paragraph, it is standard practice to employ a looser 

pattern of development to a rural edge, there is, in this case, justification for an alternative 
approach. Firstly, the adjacent riverside park area is located within the flood zone and 
therefore could not be built upon a future date, thereby ensuring no further development 
will occur in this area.  Secondly, in wider landscape terms, given the backdrop of the 
development against Rugeley town and the retained on-site infrastructure, the density and 
scale of development is not considered to be unacceptable. 

 
3.23 The wireline, sectional and western gateway study imagery submitted with the application 

predominantly show that the scale of the buildings within the site, will not be particularly 
prominent from Power Station Road and beyond, taking account of existing screening, even 
at 5 storeys.  This remains the case even following the relocation of the primary school or 
introduction of the ATS.  Moreover, the scale of the proposals will not be significantly 
overbearing or prominent to the wider views from Rugeley, and in the context of this 
particular application, replaces a large industrial scale power generation development, 
observed in the context of the neighbouring Amazon warehouse building.  As such, it is 
considered that the proposals, at this outline stage and in the context of the Parameters 
Plans provided, would integrate successfully with the wider town, whilst further opportunity 
for review and consideration of the precise design, will be available at reserved matters 
stage. Evidently, Cannock Chase District Council will consider this specific impact further. 

 
3.24  The development of the site in the manner proposed is not considered to have significant 

wider landscape impacts.  Noting the scale of the development proposed in the submitted 
Parameters Plans, the effects and integration of the scale of development with Armitage 
with Handsacre and Rugeley town is judged to be acceptable, in this particular context. 
There are some concerns about the integration between the multi-storey development on 
the edge of the site and the rural land beyond.  Of most concern is the effect of the 
development on the character of Borrow Pit Lake.  In isolation from the wider development, 
such effects could constitute a reason for refusal, however in the context of the wider 
leisure offer, which supports the use of the lake as a resource and the benefits highlighted 
elsewhere in this report, an on balance determination must be made. 

 
3.25 It is noted that the proposed densities are considerably higher than those approved on other 

allocated sites.  Although, this is a sustainably sited brownfield site where housing densities 
should be maximised (without detracting from design quality).  It is felt however that subject 
to an appropriate Design Brief being agreed, which should also include details of pocket 
parks to help break up the building masses within the built form areas, the proposed density 
of development can be supported within this site.  Finally, it should also be noted that the 
increase of 4 hectares for residential development, offered by this scheme (compared to the 
resolved to grant submission), ensures that overall densities can be relaxed slightly site-
wide.  To this end, the request from the Council’s Urban Design & Conservation Manager, on 
the back of this amendment, to formally reduce densities across the site is noted, but is not 
deemed necessary, since design matters can be resolved at reserved matters stage.  
Evidently, the housing densities as remain proposed, were endorsed by members when the 
resolution to grant application was previously considered. 

 
3.26 The points raised regarding the primary road being tree lined, is recommended to be 

addressed within the landscape management plan.  Parking provision for both of the school 
options, sports pitches, allotments, riverside park and Borrow Pit lake, along with the design 
of any rear parking courts, will be addressed within the relevant subsequent reserved 
matters application. 

 
3.27 Overall, it is considered that the design and layout of the proposed scheme, continues to 

identify appropriate usage of density, building heights and green infrastructure, in order to 

Page 98



 

produce a high quality development, which will integrate successfully into the surrounding 
environment.  There is a noted concern regarding the scale of the built form adjacent to the 
Borrow Pit, although such is unchanged from the resolved to grant scheme, but such will 
continue to have to be weighed in the balance of the wider positive impacts of the 
development.  Subject to this point, it is apparent that the application complies with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF, in this regard.  

 
 Historic Environment 
 
3.28 There are no designated heritage assets within the application site area, although further 

discussion on this matter is provided below.  The Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
SPD highlights however, that there are various historic assets in the vicinity of the site that 
may be affected by the development.  These include:  

 

 The Trent and Mersey Canal Conservation Area  

 Viaduct over Trent and Mersey Canal (Grade II) 

 Manor House (Scheduled Monument) 

 Moated Site of Handsacre Hall (Scheduled Monument)  

 Castle Ring (Scheduled Monument)  

 Circular Earthwork (Scheduled Monument)  

 Bridge Number 64 off Armitage Road (Grade II) 

 Spode House and attached Coach House, Hawksyard Priory (Grade II)  

 St Thomas Church (Grade II)  

 Former Summerhouse west of Spode House (Grade II)  

 The Old Farmhouse Restaurant (Grade II)  
 
3.29 In total, there are five scheduled monuments within 5km of the site, 43 listed buildings 

within a 1km, 7 locally listed buildings within 500m of the site and, there are 22 non 
designated heritage assets.  A total of 7 Conservation Areas that fall wholly or partly within 
the site study area are also apparent.  Additionally, there are two Historic Environment 
Character Zones (HECZ) within Cannock Chase Council’s Area that fall within 500m of the 
application site.  These comprise the Trent Valley HECZ and the North of Brereton HECZ.  In 
the Lichfield Area, the southern end of the site is located within Lichfield HECZ 11 – Land 
around Armitage with Handsacre. 

 
3.30 The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 and the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 are the principal statutory provisions governing 
these assets.  In particular S66 of the above 1990 Act places a duty on Local Planning 
Authorities to have regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of archaeological importance.  S72 of the 1990 Act states that with respect to 
building or land within a Conservation Area, special attention should be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.  

 
3.31 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that in determining planning applications that may affect 

the historic environment, local planning authorities should take account of: 

 The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

 The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 

 The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 

 
3.32 Paragraph 132 of the NPPF then goes on to say that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation.  The more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be.  Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of 

Page 99



 

the heritage asset or development within its setting.  As heritage assets are irreplaceable, 
any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification.  Substantial harm to or 
loss of a grade II listed building, park or garden should be exceptional.  Substantial harm to 
or loss of designated heritage assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled 
monuments, protected wreck sites, battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and 
II* registered. 

 
3.33 Both respective Council’s have adopted policies governing developments affecting heritage 

assets and the NPPF provides an overarching approach to decision taking and heritage 
assets, which includes balancing public benefits against harm to significance, where 
appropriate.  

 
3.34 Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations Document advises that “development proposals 

which conserve and enhance our historic environment will be supported where the 
development will not result in harm to the significance of the heritage asset or its setting”. 

 
3.35 Policy CP15 of the Cannock Chase Local Plan promotes the protection, conservation and 

enhancement of the District’s historic environment assets.  It sets out that the local decision 
making process will be based upon an assessment of significance of any heritage assets 
including information from the Historic Environment Record.  Sites of archaeological interest 
or with potential interest should undertake an appropriate level of assessment to inform 
decision making.   
 

3.36 Policy CP15 states that the heritage contribution of the District’s canal network will be 
strengthened and promoted and that support will be given to schemes that help to promote 
wider understanding and enjoyment of the historic environment.  The Rugeley Town Centre 
Area Action Plan also identifies the potential role of the canal in helping to promote 
enhanced pedestrian and cycle linkages to the town centre from the surrounding environs 
(see Policy RTC1 and RTC10).  A Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan are 
available for the Trent and Mersey Canal (both 2019).   

  
 Consented Site Clearance and Demolition 
 
3.37 As part of the demolition consent, granted under application reference 18/01098/FULM, the 

power station was considered for listing by Historic England.  A Certificate of Immunity from 
Listing was issued by Historic England in 2017.  The main reasons stated within the Historic 
England determination were: 

 

 ‘Lack of architectural interest: the power station is architecturally indistinguished and 
based on standard designs, whilst the planning of the site is not particularly notable for the 
period.’  

 Lack of technological interest: the power station is one of a generation of similar sites 
and is not considered to carry major technological innovations. 

 Rarity: the buildings, including the cooling towers, are of relatively common types, which 
survive at many power stations of this generation across the country.’  

 
3.38 In recognition of the contribution the power station made to England’s energy needs and in 

order to document the building, a Level II Historic Building Recording was carried out in 
2018, prior to any demolition.  The report includes photographic records, written and 
graphic records and documentary research, in order to provide a record of the building and 
its context in the landscape.  

 
3.39 Therefore, in the context of the discussions about the historic importance of the power 

station, Members should be aware that the clearance of the vast proportion of the site is 
already permitted and well underway.  Reasonable steps to document the building and its 
relevant history have already been undertaken and therefore, discussion about the 
demolition of the site should not form a major component of the assessment of the current 

Page 100



 

application.  The three buildings to be demolished under this application, namely the social 
club, security gatehouse and environment centre are not of any architectural merit and 
therefore, their demolition is not of any visual or historical concern.  

 
 Assessment 
 
3.40 The effects of the development on the above identified heritage assets are assessed in the 

updated Environment Statement, in terms of construction impacts (whilst the physical works 
are enacted) and occupation impacts (once the development is in use).  In all cases, the 
submitted Environmental Statement highlights negligible or neutral impacts upon the above 
mentioned designated heritage assets.  This includes impact upon the Trent and Mersey 
Canal Conservation Area (and the listed buildings and structures associated with the canal), 
the Mavesyn Ridware Conservation Area and Castle Ring Scheduled Ancient Monument, 
where the impacts are all considered to be ‘negligible’, or in the case of the construction 
impacts upon the Castle Ring, neutral. 

 
3.41 The ES goes on to assess the cumulative effects of the permitted demolitions on the site, 

alongside the resulting impacts from the development, highlighting that the approved 
demolition work, will result in the removal of a number of highly visible and intrusive 
modern structures, such as the cooling towers and chimney stack.  Views towards the site 
from Mavesyn Ridware Conservation Area, Rugeley Town Centre and the Trent and Mersey 
Canal Conservation Area will be restored to what could be considered a more historic norm, 
which in turn will provide a minor beneficial effect on the historic environment, in 
Environmental Impact terms.   

 
3.42 The Council’s Conservation & Urban Design Manager advises that the impact of the 

development upon the above identified designated and non-designated heritage assets will 
be to the lower end of ‘less than substantial harm’.  The harm that does arise will be as a 
consequence of an increased coverage of built form across the site and additional noise and 
movements. 

 
3.43 There is the scope for mitigation of some of the harm identified above.  In terms of the 

canal; improvements to the canal infrastructure, such as repair to listed structures, 
improvements to the tow path, greater interpretation, and improvement of access could all 
be beneficial.  Strengthening of the tree belt between the road and the canal at the south of 
the site would reduce the impact of the additional noise and movement.  This would also 
reduce any potential impact on Spode House and the former summerhouse at Spode House.  

 
3.44 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that “where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable 
use”. 

 
3.45 In terms of paragraph 134, the NPPG advises that public benefits can be “anything that 

delivers economic, social or environmental progress as described in the NPPF (Paragraph 7)… 
benefits do not always have to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be genuine 
public benefits”.  Evidently, this development will secure a large number of dwellings on an 
allocated. predominantly brownfield site and as such, offers significant wider economic and 
social benefits, which includes amongst other matters, the opening up of public open space 
and sports facilities to the wider community, which when weighed against the identified low 
level of conservation harm, leads to the conclusion that the proposal is acceptable and 
compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
4. Landscape and Visual Impact 
 
4.1 The updated ES and ES Addendum consider the wider landscape impact of the development, 

in the context of National Landscape Character Areas and more localised townscape vantage 

Page 101



 

points.  The quality and interest associated with the landscape, the visibility of the site by 
particular receptors and visibility of the site from key assets are also considered, in the 
context of the wider landscape, such as the Cannock Chase AONB, the Trent and Mersey 
Conservation Area and the Castle Ring Scheduled Ancient Monument, which occupies the 
highest vantage point within the AONB.  Use of ‘worst case’ wireline diagrams are included, 
from a number of public vantage points, as are 3D visual montages, showing an individual’s 
perspective as if the development had taken place.  

 
4.2 With regard to the quality of the landscape, the site is not subject to any national or regional 

landscape designations.  The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) states that:  
  
 “The Site has undergone a substantial change since the 1950’s. The development of Rugeley 

Power Stations A and B during the 1960’s resulted in the loss of the majority of landscape 
features.  However, as part of the power station development, a number of landscape 
features have been created within the main Site, as part of the leisure facilities.  An 18 hole 
golf course was created within the Site, starting within the centre, to the immediate north of 
the ornamental lake.  From here the first 5 holes are located to the south of the internal 
railway line, the remaining 13 holes lie within the flood plain.  Since the Site has ceased 
operations, the maintenance of this facility has lapsed, with the area of the course lying 
within the flood plain becoming subject to a degree of natural regeneration.  However, the 
raised tees and lines of vegetation that defined each fairway and their greens are still visible. 

 
The area around the serpentine waterbody, which also includes remnants of a miniature 
railway, contains a mature woodland block that serves as a localised landscape feature. This 
area will be retained as part of the development proposals.  There is a substantial area of 
woodland planting to the southern site boundary around Borrow Pit Lake and tree belts 
adjacent to the northern edge of the internal railway line, these provide a mature vegetated 
edge to the former power station site, therefore, overall the landscape quality of the Site is of 
Low value”. 

 
4.3 The aforementioned documents continue to advise that the site does not contain any 

particular characteristics or features considered to be rare or distinctive.  As a large 
brownfield site, the conservation value attributable is low and as there is currently no public 
access to the site, its recreational value is low.  Overall, the submissions continue to make 
the case that the demolition and remediation of the site itself have resulted in a landscape 
that does not reflect the wider surroundings, such as the rural openness to the north or the 
townscape to the south and west.  

 
4.4 It is acknowledged that since the construction of both ‘A’ and ‘B’ power stations, the cooling 

towers have become a landmark feature in views from the surrounding landscape, 
overlooking the settlements of Rugeley, Brereton and Ravenhill, Armitage and Handsacre, as 
well as in glimpsed views and vistas from the Cannock Chase AONB.  However it is to be 
appreciated that the demolition of the cooling towers is already permitted.   

  
4.5 The site is located on a low lying landform, adjacent to the River Trent.  Vantage point exist 

with views over the site to the northeast, but in the majority, views over the site are possible 
from Brereton and Ravenhill to the west.  The site is bounded by mature vegetation to the 
southern and eastern boundaries, which provide screening from between the site and 
Armitage with Handsacre to the east, whilst the main features of interest within the site, 
such as the golf course and woodland belts around the Borrow Pit Lake, will be retained as 
part of the development.  

 
4.6 There are close, medium and long range views possible towards and over the site from 

Castle Ring and wider vantage point to the north and south/southwest of the site.  In the 
majority, the visible development is in wider landscape terms, observed in close association 
with established development of Rugeley.  Within the site and immediate landscape there 
are several existing visual detractors, such as the retained 400Kv and 132KV switching 

Page 102



 

stations, associated high voltage overhead power lines and pylons and the adjacent 
commercial development, including the large Amazon warehouse.  As a consequence of this 
setting, the overall sensitivity of the landscape to change is considered to be low.  This 
conclusion is supported by evidence contained within Staffordshire County Council’s 
Planning for Landscape Change Supplementary Planning Guidance, which identifies the site 
as being within an ‘Area of Built Character’, and as such there is no requirement detailed for 
landscape regeneration or retention. 

 
4.7 In the views that are apparent, it is inevitable that there will be some minor adverse impacts, 

as the development process progresses across the site. However, once the proposed 
landscape mitigation has established (for example in 10 -15 years), the effects are likely to 
be much reduced and represent a negligible effect.  Nevertheless, there are no objections 
from the AONB consultee and no significant concerns about wider landscape visibility from 
the Council’s consultees.  It is therefore considered that in the context of this site, there is 
no significant impact from the development proposed in wider landscape terms and the 
development will therefore remain acceptable, in this regard.  

 
4.8 As part of the initial review of these proposals, additional detail was requested, regarding 

main local vantage points from both the eastern (town side) and western (north of Borrow 
Pit Lake) sides of the development.  Concerns, as detailed above, were originally raised by 
consultees regarding the scale of development.  In response and within the updated ES 
documentation, the applicant has provided visual montage imagery and wire line diagrams 
to convey the scale of the resulting built form.  In wider landscape harm terms, the impact of 
this scale of development, which now includes either the centrally located primary school or 
ATRS, is considered to be acceptable, given such, when seen against the backdrop of existing 
built form, is considered to be acceptable.  Evidently, further consideration of this point has 
also been given within the design section of the report, as detailed above.    

 
4.9 It is considered, based upon the information contained within the LVIA that the 

development will have an acceptable scale of effect upon the landscape and as such, will 
comply with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard.  

 
5. Highway Impact, Sustainable Transport and Parking 
 
5.1 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF requires that consideration should be given to the opportunities 

for sustainable transport modes, that safe and suitable access to a development site can be 
achieved for all people, and that improvements can be undertaken within the transport 
network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the development.  It goes on to 
state that development should only be refused on transport grounds where there would be 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe. 

 
5.2 Paragraph 103 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments which would generate 

significant movement are located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of 
sustainable transport modes can be maximised. 

 
5.3 Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan Strategy advises that the Council will seek to reduce the 

overall need to travel, whilst optimising choice of sustainable modes of travel, particularly 
walking, cycling and public transport.  Core Policy 6 advises that residential development will 
be expected to contribute towards the achievement of sustainable communities    

 
5.4 The applicant has carried out an in depth analysis of traffic data, collected during 2018, in a 

manner agreed with the Staffordshire County Council Highways Authority (SCC Highways).  
In addition, a Transport Assessment Addendum document produced in May 2020, 
accompanied this revised submission.  This data has been modelled and increased to a 2023 
forecast year for the purposes of construction traffic assessment and 2029 for the purposes 

Page 103



 

of occupation traffic assessment, which now includes the potential for the ATS and also has 
regard to committed developments in the vicinity of the site.  

 
5.5 Following the completion of this modelling work, in general, the construction phase impacts 

associated with the development are deemed to be negligible and can be addressed with 
relatively minor mitigation measures, to be implemented through the Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan, which is recommended to be secured via the use of a 
condition. In addition, a cumulative assessment of the proposed construction activity 
running concurrently with the removal of Pulverised Fuel Ash has also been carried out.  This 
concludes no further mitigation above that already identified is required. 

 
5.6 The Transport Assessment Addendum advises the following in terms of net traffic 

comparison between the consented 2FE Primary School and the potential ATS: 
 

 
 
 
5.7 During the occupation and use of the development, the changes in traffic flows for all links 

within the study area have been assessed, with regard had to the above identified uplift.  In 
particular Wolsley Road, Sandy Lane and Station Road were the main links that triggered a 
requirement for detailed assessment of specific traffic related environmental impacts.  
However, it is concluded that the magnitude of change in terms of traffic flow is typically 
likely to continue to result in only negligible impacts.  The exception to this is the effect of 
severance and pedestrian delay on Station Road, where moderate adverse impacts are 
forecast, if no improvements are made. 

 
5.8 An assessment of junction capacities to establish the potential for driver delay has been 

carried out within the submissions and uses peak hour (worst case) traffic flows at junctions. 
A total of four junctions are forecast to require mitigation, following the introduction of 
occupation levels of traffic and mitigation schemes are proposed, in the following locations: 

 Horse Fair/A460 Sandy Lane/A460 Western Springs Road/B5013 Elmore Lane 
roundabout; 

 A51 Rugeley Eastern By-Pass/A51/Wheelhouse Road roundabout; 

 A51/A513 Rugeley Road/A513 Armitage Road roundabout; and 

 A51 Rugeley Eastern By-Pass/RWE Access roundabout. 
 

5.9 The suitability of the mitigation measures identified within the application have been 
considered by the Highways Authority, who consider such to be reasonable and necessary, in 
order to ensure that the development, does not have an adverse impact upon the existing 
highway infrastructure.  Therefore, it is recommended that these off-site highway 
improvements and the delivery timetable, which are currently estimated (subject to formal 
agreement) to cost, in the region of £8 million, be secured, via the use of a condition and the 
s106 agreement.  

 
5.10 In addition to junction capacity improvements, the proposed mitigation package, includes as 

a range of sustainable transport infrastructure and travel planning initiatives.  A summary of 
the sustainable transport mitigation pack package is as follows: 

 Pedestrian and cycle permeability with improved, defined routes between the Site, 
Rugeley Town Centre, Rugeley Town Railway Station, Rugeley Trent Valley Railway 
Station and surrounding residential areas to include formal crossing points on key desire 
lines; 

 Cycle parking to be provided in line with locally adopted standards; 

Page 104



 

 Network of pedestrian and cycle routes throughout the Site; 

 The layout allows for bus penetration to enable easy access to public transport services. 
It is envisaged that this will be delivered by either diversion of existing bus routes or 
provision of new bus route to better link the Site with key destinations such as Rugeley 
Town Centre, Rugeley Town Railway Station and Rugeley Trent Valley Railway Station; 

 Provision of electric vehicle charging points; and 

 Framework Travel Plan to promote and stimulate modal shift – i.e. a wider change in 
behaviour to promote more sustainable travel choices from users of the development.  

 
5.11 The updated ES states that following the delivery of the proposed mitigation package, 

development impacts across the majority of the study area, are forecasted to continue to be 
negligible. 

 
5.12 Working through the identified sustainable transports measures in turn, it is apparent that 

with reference to pedestrian and cycle connectivity Pedestrian and Cycle Links, the Rugeley 
Power Station Development Brief SPD seeks, “to integrate with the access points provided as 
part of the recent residential development to the south of the site and also provide 
designated safe crossing points to ensure safety and encourage usage of pedestrian and 
cycle links”. 

 
5.13 The applicant proposes to achieve this requirement through links to be provided across the 

existing bridge located to the western end of the site, potentially into The Pippins and from 
off the A513, near opposite to the entrance onto the Trent and Mersey Canal towpath.  
Exact details of latter point of entrance is recommended to be secured via a condition 
(included within the design code).  The delivery of the pedestrian and cycle access route over 
the bridge will however, in order to formally secure the sustainable integration of the 
development, into the wider Rugeley community, be secured via a standalone condition. 

 
5.14 Concerns have been expressed by the neighbouring land owner and Brereton & Ravehill 

Parish Council that the amended submission now refers to “potential", rather than the 
previously “proposed", pedestrian and cycle access points from the site into neighbouring 
property, along its western edge. The concerns expressed highlight that “potential" does not 
provide certainty that the links can be delivered.  It was however always understood that 
potential connections to neighbouring land, not within the applicant’s ownership, would be 
desirable, rather than a formality. The Access Parameter Plan reflects the ambition to 
provide such links. However, as is reflected in the Highway Authorities most recent 
consultation response, such connections (i.e. those north south) are not essential to the 
sustainable operation of the future development. Whilst there is a desire in general good 
urban design practice and even within the Council’s policies, to provide for ‘strong walking 
and cycling links’ between new and existing developments, in wider spatial planning terms, 
connectivity of the proposals with key areas, such as the town centre and main transport 
nodes is of paramount importance.  It has been demonstrated within the revised application 
that the land providing the key pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre, nearby rail and 
bus stations, is all either within the applicant’s or the County Council’s ownership and as 
such, is not dependent upon third party agreement. In this case, the key route via the 
proposed ‘Railway’ pedestrian and cycle route is demonstrably within the applicant’s control 
and there is an appetite from the County Council to facilitate the route over the bridge, 
which is technically in separate ownership (with an easement which is proposed to be 
amended). Consequently, it is considered that the key connection to the site is deliverable 
and this would help in delivering the sustainability credentials of the site and promoting 
walkable communities. 

 

5.15 Beyond this key link, connectivity of neighbouring residential estates to assets within the 
site, such as the future school or Riverside Park, is considered desirable in urban design 
terms, but not essential in terms of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD or the 
relevant wording of the Development Plan.  Whilst the applicant has taken steps to facilitate 
such connectivity to neighbouring land, through showing opportunities for such links in the 

Page 105



 

Access Parameters Plan, connections of this type cannot be ‘required’ as part of this 
application, as they are reliant on land outside of the applicant’s control.  It is also worth 
noting that the Highway Authority do not consider the potential connections to be necessary 
to make the development acceptable in transport terms, when the development is 
considered as a whole alongside wider proposed transport enhancements (e.g. bus services, 
connectivity within the site, the railway link etc.).  

 

5.16 The view is taken that provision would be made within this development (i.e. via the broad 
routes shown in the access parameter plan) for reasonable connectivity to neighbouring 
developments.  As subsequent Reserved Matters progress and further specific layout detail 
is provided for, if future opportunities emerge to better connect with neighbouring land 
and/or if planning applications comes forward for development of parcels outside of this 
application, alignment of opportunities for improved connectivity, in the interests of good 
urban design and walkable communities, will be assured.  Therefore in short, this proposal 
lays the foundations for promoting well connected communities, in line with that envisioned 
in the Rugeley Power Station SPD, the Development Plan and the ideals underpinning urban 
design referenced in the NPPF.  

 
5.17 Further wider sustainable transport improvements arising from the development are 

proposed through enhancements to the nearby Trent & Mersey Canal towpath.  These 
improvements relate to the provision of an enhanced access ramp onto the towpath, from 
adjacent to bridge 62 and improvements to towpath for an area of approximately 230 
metres, which runs between bridge 62a and bridge 62, located to the southwest of the 
application site. 

 
5.18 The Canal & River Trust have identified these improvements as being appropriately secured 

through this development, due to a likely future uplift in users, whereby future residents 
(especially those in occupation at the southern end of the site), may seek to utilise this route 
to gain access into Rugeley.   

 

5.19 It is noted that the Council’s CIL 123 List identifies that “CIL funds may be spent on improving 
the public realm, landscape and habitats; and improving access to green space, to include… 
improvements to the canal network to improve Green Infrastructure Links”.  Thus, there is a 
potential argument that the delivery of the towpath improvements are matters to be 
addressed via CIL funding.  However, there are two alternative arguments.  Firstly, as 
discussed above, within the Healthcare section of this report, the CIL 123 list is no longer 
relevant in itself and the primary test is whether the scheme complies with Regulation 122.  
Secondly, it could be argued that occupants of the application site, located within Cannock 
Chase District (who have not adopted CIL on this matter), could equally utilise the towpath 
as a pedestrian route and therefore, their impact would not be mitigated.  In terms of the 
former, the scheme would be directly related to this proposal, whilst the County Council 
(through AMEY) are on-site currently delivering the enhancements and therefore, there is 
surety regarding what is to be delivered. 

Page 106



 

 
5.20 Notwithstanding the above however, the towpath enhancement works were to be secured 

and paid for by unrelated development(s) and Section 106 Agreement(s) from nearby 
developments within Cannock Chase District.  The Highway Authority and Canal and River 
Trust have identified a potential shortfall in funding of £50,000.  Thus, it could equally be 
argued that seeking to gain funds from the applicant, for works that have already been 
drawn from other developers, with the cost of such either being under appreciated or the 
subject of increased costs, is unreasonable.  The applicant has however agreed to provide an 
additional £15,000 to assist with the early delivery of these committed works, albeit that 
£35,000 appears to remain outstanding.  It remains an available potential option for the 
Canal & River Trust to seek to bid for and utilise CIL to top up any outstanding amount.  Both 
Local Planning Authorities are satisfied the proposal makes a fair 
and reasonable contribution to the delivery of works, whilst this sum was previously agreed 
for the resolved to grant scheme. 

 
5.21 Additional observations around minor changes to the proposed off site canal improvement 

works, to improve their effectiveness have been provided by the Inland Waterways 
Association and the Canal and River Trust.  The applicant is agreeable in principle to 
resolving the pinch point issue highlighted and is happy to amend the width of the towpath 
from 2.5m to 2m.  The applicant does not support the condition proposed by the Canal and 
River Trust however, which goes beyond the scope of improvements originally sought, by 
suggesting the inclusion of details relating to mooring facilities, seating and sanitary station 
facilities for boaters.  It is considered that this aspect of the request goes above and beyond 
what is considered to be fairly and reasonably related to the development in question.  
Accordingly, the version of the condition recommended above within this report, differs 
from that requested by the Canal and River Trust.  Subject to the abovementioned s106 
contribution and appropriately worded condition, it is considered that the application 
complies with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
5.22  As advised by paragraph 4.32 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD “Safe and 

secure cycle parking / storage should be provided on site where appropriate”.  Given the 
outline nature of this application details of cycle parking are yet to be defined.  However, 
conditions are recommended to secure further details of such, within subsequent reserved 
matters applications, which shall also include, for the employment uses, the provision of 
suitable shower and locker facilities.  The level of provision to be supplied within Lichfield 
District, will need to accord with the requirements of the Council’s Sustainable Design SPD. 

 
5.23 Broad details of pedestrian and cycle linkages through the site are identified on the Access 

and Movement Parameter Plan.  This plan shows the provision of an extensive formal 
movement framework throughout the site, which will provide permeability of movement for 
future residents. The movement framework identified on the access parameter plan is 
considered to be broadly acceptable, given such offers appropriate levels of connectivity 
through and into and out of the application site. 

 
5.24 The Staffordshire County Council Walking Route Assessment Criteria (2014) suggests that a 

walking distance of up to 2 miles is appropriate for access to school provision.  However, this 
document was produced in the County Council’s capacity as Local Education Authority and 
differs from the preferred distance of 600m, outlined in the Staffordshire Residential Design 
Guide (2000). The relocated siting of the Primary School or ATS ensures that whilst the latter 
identified target will not be met, this is more due to the scale of the site, rather than 
unsuitable siting. Indeed, the location now proposed, central to the site is the most 
sustainable possible within the scheme, in order to be accessible for all future residents.  To 
re-inforce sustainable transportation usage however, it will be necessary to ensure that 
access to the school, via alternative sustainable transport modes, such as bike (discussed 
above) or bus travel is secured. 

 

Page 107



 

5.25 Bus penetration through the site, along the Primary Road Corridor, is proposed to be 
secured via a Schedule within the s106 agreement.  On-site provision of bus infrastructure, 
such as bus layover facilities at the community square, to include a passive electric charging 
point, shelter, flag, timetable case and Real Time Passenger Information and stopping 
facilities along the access route, to both sides of the road, including shelter, suitable road 
markings, measures to restrict vehicular speed and pedestrian guardrails are recommended 
to be secured via condition.  The Highway Authority advises that the contribution required to 
deliver a service is £3,345,068, although the exact figure is yet to be agreed with the 
applicant.  The service will primarily provide a link between the application site, Rugeley 
Town Centre and either Rugeley Town or Rugeley Trent Valley Train Station. Additional 
destinations may also arise, following the completion of consultations through the Travel 
Plan. 

 
5.26 Local Plan Strategy Policies ST1 and ST2 state that the Council, when considering the 

appropriate level of off street car parking to serve a development, will have regard to the 
“provision for alternative fuels including electric charging points”.  The Transport Assessment 
submitted with this application proposes the provision, prior to the first occupation of any 
dwellings and apartments, of active Electric Vehicle Charging Points to serve 5% of the 
publicly available visitor parking spaces, along with appropriate passive infrastructure to 
serve up to a further 15% of the publicly available visitor parking spaces.  Details of passive 
Electric Vehicle Charging infrastructure to serve each individual dwelling is also to be 
provided to enable each future property, should residents require such, the ability to install 
charging points. 

 
5.27 With reference to the commercial and employment uses within the site, it is proposed that 

active Electric Vehicle Charging Points to serve 5% of the parking spaces, along with 
appropriate passive infrastructure to serve up to a further 15% of these spaces be provided.  
Conditions are recommended in order to secure the implementation of these requirements. 

 
5.28 The Travel Plan has been considered by the Highway Authority. They advise that the 

document is acceptable and therefore, a contribution of £50,000 towards the monitoring 
and promotion costs of this document is required and to be secured under the s106 
agreement.     

 
5.29 The Highway Authority have considered if the methodology utilised in assessing the impacts 

of the revised development are robust and also determined whether the results and 
mitigation proposed within the updated documents are sufficient to address the envisaged 
impacts.  In their formal response to the Council, it is stated that there is no objection to the 
principle of the development, subject to conditions.  In particular they comment that, “The 
TA has analysed the impact from any future vehicles generated by new uses on the site, this 
has been carried out using industry standard techniques and provides a very robust scenario 
with no allowance made for any reductions gained through enhancements of the sustainable 
transport facilities.  

 
The TA has also looked at the proximity to Rugeley and other local facilities and has 
highlighted deficiencies that could prevent any future occupants being able to make their 
journeys on foot or bicycle.  To this end there are various improvements recommended to the 
network such as controlled crossings and widening of footways which is to be welcomed. The 
site also benefits from a former railway bridge into the site which spans the A51, which has 
the potential to create a car free access without a need to cross the A51.  It is important that 
any reserved matters or masterplan takes full advantage of this facility as it has real 
potential to reduce vehicular trips and integrate the site into Rugeley.  

 
The other important element in sustainable travel is the provision passenger transport, which 
is currently poor for site.  There are real opportunities here for future journeys to be made via 
buses, whether this is just one stage of a journey to the train stations and bus station, which 

Page 108



 

in turn provide access to the wider areas such as Stafford, Lichfield and Birmingham or just 
travelling to the town centre.  
 
This element of the transport improvements to be funded by the developer will need to be 
well planned to ensure the site has the right facilities delivered at the right time to ensure 
value for money and a realistic travel choice. This will need to be secured in the section 106 
with amounts and timing of such payments to be agreed”.  

  
5.30 Specific to this revised submission, further comments have been made relating to data 

contained within the Transport Assessment Addendum.  In particular it is advised that, “This 
proposal will enhance the sustainability of the original proposal allowing the residents easy 
access to education facilities from nursery provision through to sixth form without having to 
leave the site. 

 
 There is additional capacity in the high school to cater for the demand from growth in the 

population in the surrounding areas.  Whilst this is modelled as an increase in traffic to this 
site, the reality is that this traffic would be present on the highway network around the site 
anyway.  This site will offer a shorter journey to many of these and the measures to improve 
pedestrian and cycling facilities could also be utilised to access the site via sustainable modes 
of travel from the surrounding areas.  It is even more imperative that the design of the spine 
road is carefully considered as to what its primary function will be as it passes through the 
whole site.  Around the ATS site, the spine road needs facilities to allow pedestrians / cyclists 
easy access to the school, bus facilities; both for public and the school use, space to 
accommodate pick up / drop off by cars and measures to control speeds.  Notwithstanding 
the submitted information (masterplans etc.) the details of the spine road will need to be 
agreed as part of the reserved matters proposals, once the pedestrian and vehicle access 
locations are known.  The site also benefits from a former railway bridge into the site, which 
spans the A51, which has the potential to create a car free access, without a need to cross 
the A51.  It is important that any reserved matters or masterplan takes full advantage of this 
facility as it has real potential to reduce vehicular trips and integrate the site into Rugeley 
and where possible surrounding sites”. 

 
5.31 Also consulted in relation to technical matters were Highways England and Network Rail. 

Highways England have offered no comment on this revised submission, but did offer no 
objection to the resolved to grant scheme, on the basis of the submitted information.  
Network Rail have also not responded to this amended submission, but their original 
comments on the resolved to grant application, predominantly related to matters of rail 
infrastructure protection, given the close proximity of part of the site to the functional rail 
network and noise.  Such matters can be dealt with by suitably worded conditions, as 
recommended, and in the case of noise, are addressed in the noise section of this report.  In 
relation to wider transport considerations, Network Rail suggest the effects of increased 
footfall at Rugeley Town and Trent Valley Stations should be considered.  In this regard the 
applicant’s propose transport mitigation improvements at Colton Road, Power Station Road 
and Armitage Road.  In light of these proposals Network Rail offered no further comments or 
objections.  

 
5.32 In terms of the specific access points into the site, which are to be considered as part of this 

application, two are proposed, as identified above.  The matter of vehicular access is 
considered within Paragraph 4.25 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD, 
which states that, “Given the size of the development, a minimum of two vehicular access 
points are considered necessary”.  Paragraphs 4.26 and 4.27 continue to advise that “The 
primary access to the site should be achieved via the existing roundabout on the A51 at the 
north western corner of the site” and that “Planning permission was granted in September 
2017 for the creation of a second access into the power station site from A513 including an 
new roundabout junction (Application Reference: 17/00453/FUL). Further dialogue will be 
required with Staffordshire County Council to establish whether additional access points will 
be required to serve the future redevelopment of the site”. 

Page 109



 

 
5.33 It is considered therefore that whilst a third vehicular access would be beneficial to enhance 

the permeability of the scheme and such, could also, for instance, be created in order to 
offer improved access to the employment and education sections of the site, it is 
acknowledged that the site’s constraint’s, specific to land ownership issues along the A51, 
prevent the creation of a third access point, at this time.  However, it is beholdent upon the 
applicant to ensure that if at a later date, the possibility of creating a third access point 
arises, such is brought forward.  However, the acceptability of using two access points to 
serve the entirety of the development, has been considered to be acceptable by the 
Highway Authority, as has the design of these junctions.  The new roundabout junction off 
the A513, is recommended to be completed, prior to the commencement of development 
within the adjacent residential phases of development, whilst further details of the 
interconnecting primary distributor road, including its delivery, prior to the occupation of the 
301st dwelling or the opening of the ATS, to ensure the timely delivery of necessary 
connectivity, is also recommended to be secured via a condition, although in general terms 
the route identified is considered to be acceptable. 

 
5.34 Paragraph 4.33 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD advises that, “The 

development proposals should provide appropriate car parking facilities onsite in accordance 
with local standards.  The parking should be integrated into the development in order to limit 
the impact on visual amenity and residential privacy.  To enhance visual interest and break 
up the street scene, generous planting will be required in areas where there is surface level 
parking, this will also help to ameliorate the effects of climate change.  See also specific 
parking requirements in relation to employment uses”.  Lichfield District Council’s car parking 
requirements are identified within Policy ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, which provides 
further clarification through guidelines detailing maximum off street car parking levels, set 
out in the Council’s Sustainable Design SPD.  Cannock Chase District Council’s parking 
standards are provided within the Parking Standards, Travel Plans & Developer Contributions 
for Sustainable Transport SPD.  The standards outlined within the Cannock Chase document 
seek higher levels of off street car parking than the Lichfield equivalent.  Through discussions 
between the Councils, the Highways Authority and the applicant, it has been determined 
that the Cannock Chase standards should be sought site wide, when such is delivered 
through subsequent reserved matters applications.  To address this matter, broad details of 
site wide car parking, including appropriate provision for the ATS or Primary School are 
proposed to be secured within the recommended Design Code condition.    

 
5.35 It is considered that the submitted highway modelling and analysis reflect good practice in 

terms of the approach to estimating the uplift in resultant traffic and required mitigation.  
Thus, subject to the abovementioned s106 requirements and conditions specific to off-site 
junction improvements, public transport contributions, junction improvements, the delivery 
of on and off site pedestrian and cycle networks, the development as proposed, will, in 
terms of highway safety and wider highway impact, be compliant with the requirements of 
both Council’s Development Plan and the NPPF.  

 
6. Water Environment, Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
6.1 The site is located in a sensitive location in relation to ‘Controlled Waters’.  Environment 

Agency Maps and previous site investigations have shown that the underlying geology 
consists of up to 15m thick Alluvium Clay and River Terrace Deposits over Triasic Sherwood 
Sandstone.  The site has a shallow water table (in general 1.5m to 2m below ground level) 
and is located adjacent to the River Trent.  There are various surface water ponds, drains and 
channels running straight into the Trent.  The majority of the development area is underlain 
by old Pulverised Fuel Ash deposits and/or/on top of historically landfilled areas.  

 
6.2 Chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement sets out precautions and mitigation measures 

that are to be put in place during the course of the development.  Chapter 10 assesses 
potential impacts from construction and operational phases on surface water quality and 

Page 110



 

waste resources (particularly the River Trent).  This includes urban diffuse pollutants, WFD 
assessments, future surface water drainage, including SUDS and water quality monitoring.  

 
6.3 The Environment Agency confirm past investigations indicate groundwater is known to be 

already impacted locally (e.g. elevated concentrations of cadmium, copper, manganese and 
nickel have been recorded near the PFA lagoons).  This may increase during construction, 
due to the potential for ground disturbance, dewatering and contaminant mobilisation. 
Therefore, additional ground investigation must be undertaken, prior to development 
commencing, to enable more encompassing and detailed consideration of risks from 
potentially contaminated sources.  Where risks are deemed significant, detailed remediation 
strategies and long term monitoring will have to be developed accordingly.  A condition is 
therefore recommended accordingly to address this matter. 

 
 Flood Risk 
 
6.4 The site is located predominantly within Flood Zone 1. Flood Zone 1 is defined by the 

Environment Agency as land that has a low probability of flooding (<0.1% Annual Exceedance 
Probability [AEP]).  Land to the north and north east of the site between the River Trent and 
the railway is located in Flood Zone 2 (medium probability of flooding 1% - 0.1% AEP) and 
Flood Zone 3 (high probability of flooding > 1% AEP).  

 
6.5 As part of the process of formal Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), the applicant has provided 

information which considers the potential sources of flooding at the site and utilises 
modelling data to predict anticipated flood levels +20% climate change.  In addition, for 
robustness, the FRA also calculates a +50% climate change scenario.  The report confirms 
that the River Trent in the area to the north and east of the railway embankment represents 
the most significant source of flooding.  

 
6.6 The report assesses ground levels within the existing site to be currently higher than the 

modelled flood water levels for all modelled return period flood events, and that these will 
be raised further as part of the formation of the proposed development platform in some 
areas.  Therefore, the risk of flooding from the River Trent, will remain low.  Indeed, based 
on the modelled +50% climate change water levels, the applicant’s additional modelling has 
shown that the railway embankment is not integral to the safe development of the site, as 
the ground levels of the railway embankment are between 0.7m and 1.9m above the 1 in 
100 year plus 50% climate change flood level and the ground levels within the site are above 
all modelled flood water levels.  

 
 Surface Water Drainage 
 
6.7 Paragraph 165 of the NPPF requires that major development incorporate sustainable 

drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that such would be inappropriate.  The 
updated FRA submitted with the application identifies that there are several key surface 
water features on site that will be retained as part of the proposed drainage strategy for the 
site.  These include:   

 Brereton and Ravenhill Parish Council Drains (2 x 48” dia. pipes) the ‘Town Drain’– 
located towards the north of the Site.  This drainage run is going to be retained during 
the redevelopment to ensure the correct operation of the existing drainage system and 
the upstream flood risk is not increased; 

 Brereton Brook – retained because its primary function is to convey flows from the 
wider catchment and the Hawksyard Estate to the River Trent; 

 North Drain – currently provides a drainage system for surface water run-off and allows 
discharge in to the River Trent.  The North Drain forms part of the proposed surface 
water drainage strategy;  

 The Borrow Pit and Ornamental Lakes - will be retained but at this outline stage are 
excluded from the proposed drainage strategy in terms of providing additional 
attenuation; and 

Page 111



 

 Existing culverts under the railway embankment associated with existing surface water 
discharge from the site.   

 
6.8 The primary difference, with regard to surface water attenuation, between the revised 

submission and the resolved to grant scheme, is the infilling of the kidney ponds.  This area is 
proposed to be infilled in order to form part of the playing fields for the ATS option, or open 
space within the Primary School option.  Whilst the loss of this feature will not impact upon 
the effectiveness of the overall surface water strategy, it is recommended that a condition 
be included to require the submission of details of replacement fluvial flood storage, which 
shall include hydraulic modelling of the compensatory storage and details of its design and 
location.  Such compensatory measures will ensure no loss in storage volume within the site 
as a consequence of these works.  

 
6.9 The proposed development will utilise an independent surface water network to drain the 

site.  Storm water will be captured via roof gutters and downpipes, gullies and linear drains 
where required.  Permeable paving and swales will be incorporated upstream of the main 
attenuation, which will assist in improving the water quality and reduce the runoff to the 
downstream attenuation.  

 
6.10 A below ground pipe network will convey storm water to a proposed pond or where space is 

limited underground  Geocellular / modular storage will be utilised to mitigate any additional 
storage requirement.  An approximate attenuation storage volume of 23,442 m3 is 
envisaged within the Flood Risk Assessment.  The attenuation will be located at appropriate 
locations throughout the proposed development and will discharge at a controlled rate.  The 
final attenuation feature, which will discharge to the existing waterbodies or watercourses, 
which currently discharge in to the River Trent.  The existing outfalls have been utilised 
eliminating the need to create new outfalls to the River Trent.  

 
6.11 The acceptability of the drainage proposals have been considered by the Lead Local Flood 

Authority, who advise that they are suitable for the development and recommend that they 
be secured by condition.  Subject to such a condition the scheme is considered to comply 
with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
 Foul Drainage 
 
6.12 The existing site and the surrounding drainage network is currently drained via rising mains 

and therefore it will be necessary to pump foul water from the site.  The development of the 
site will be split into catchments, generally following the illustrative phasing plan, with each 
catchment drained to the lowest point and then pumped and discharged in to the Severn 
Trent Water network.   

 
6.13 Severn Trent Water is the main asset operator for both surface and foul water drainage in 

the vicinity of the Site.   In terms of the local treatment facility, Severn Trent Water have 
stated that there is sufficient capacity available for the proposed development.  A meeting 
was held between the applicant and Severn Trent, to discuss innovations that could assist in 
the reduction of sewage to the treatment facility.  Severn Trent Water have not required the 
implementation of such within their consultation response, rather simply requested further 
drainage details as and when available, which is recommended to be secured via the use of a 
condition. 

 
Foul Drainage and Water Quality  

 
6.14 Section 10.2.45 of the ES suggests spare capacity exists within the Rugeley Waste Water 

Treatment Plant for approximately 48,984 dwellings.  Thus, as detailed above, capacity exists 
to accommodate the dwellings proposed within this site.  However, hydraulic assessment 
and information on the impact of the proposals on the wider network is to be provided to 
ensure that there is sufficient capacity within the current network to convey flow.  This is 

Page 112



 

important because the hydraulic assessment determines how often combined sewer 
overflows overflow and at what volume compared with current spill frequencies, which 
could cause deterioration of existing waterbodies.  These details are recommended to be 
secured via condition. 

  
Water Resources 

 
6.15 Dust suppression and habitat creation are proposed.  Depending on the scale of water 

required for these purposes, they may require abstraction licences, from the Environment 
Agency.  It can take up to 4 months for a licence to be issued, a point that will raised with the 
applicant via the use of an informative, although this is a matter controlled by other non-
planning legislation. 

 
6.16 Given the above assessment, subject to the application of conditions, as recommended, the 

development is considered to comply with the requirements of the Development Plan and 
NPPF, in this regard. 

 
7. Public Open Space, Sports Facilities, On-Site Green Infrastructure and Arboriculture Impact 
 
7.1 The submitted Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan shows the main area of green 

infrastructure within the development itself to be the riverside park; along with vertical 
green strips running through the development, forming buffers to the development parcels 
and perimeter planting, which includes elements of both formal and informal public open 
space. There are a total of 6 Local Equipped Areas of Play (LEAP) and 2 Neighbourhood 
Equipped Areas of Play (NEAPs) proposed across the site, with details of the equipment to be 
installed within the parks presently unknown. Details of facilities within the Open Space, 
such as benches or bins, have yet been provided and will be secured under the provisions of 
the S106 agreement.  The riverside park extends to 16.55ha, with exact details of such to be 
agreed via condition.  There are 3 waterbodies located on-site, which are to be retained, 
which include inlets and outlets from the River Trent (located within the Riverside Park), the 
Ornamental Lake and the Borrow Pit. In addition, the Brereton Brook runs through the site.  
Lastly, the remaining open space area to be considered is the sports facility, which is shown 
to the centre of the site.  

 
7.2  The open space areas proposed within the application site, have, following the introduction 

of the ATS or Primary School, in the centre of the site, resulted in changes from the resolved 
to grant POS provision.  The requirements for open space are set out in Policy HSC1 of the 
Local Plan Strategy, further details of which are provided within the below tables.  For 
information, it should be noted that given the proposal is for 2,300 dwellings, an estimated 
population utilising data of average household estimates, which is 2.24 people per property 
(as detailed within the Developer Contributions and Housing Choices SPD (2015)), results in 
5,152 residents.   

 
 All Through School Option 
 

Open space, sport and 
recreation provision 

Ha/per 1,000 
Residents 

Ha/per 5,152 
Population (Policy 
HSC1 compliant) 

Proposed 
Development 
Provision (approx. ha) 

Informal Open Space, 
incorporating: 

21.63 111.44 60 

Natural and Semi-
Natural Green Space 

20.00 103.04 40.99 

Amenity Green Space 
incorporating Parks 
and Gardens 

1.43 7.37 15.13 

Allotments 0.20 1.03 1.03 

Formal Open Space, 1.48 7.62 7.62 

Page 113



 

incorporating: 

Equipped Play 0.25 1.29 1.29 

Outdoor Sports 
Pitches and Courts 

1.23 6.34 6.34 

Total (ha) 23.11 119.06 67.62 

 
 Primary School Option 
 

Open space, sport and 
recreation provision 

Ha/per 1,000 
Residents 

Ha/per 5,152 
Population (Policy 
HSC1 compliant) 

Proposed 
Development 
Provision (approx. ha) 

Informal Open Space, 
incorporating: 

21.63 111.44 60 

Natural and Semi-
Natural Green Space 

20.00 103.04 40.99 

Amenity Green Space 
incorporating Parks 
and Gardens 

1.43 7.37 15.13 

Allotments 0.20 1.03 1.03 

Formal Open Space, 
incorporating: 

1.48 7.62 8.69 

Equipped Play 0.25 1.29 1.29 

Outdoor Sports 
Pitches and Courts 

1.23 6.34 7.00 

Total (ha) 23.11 119.06 68.69 

 
7.3 It is evident from the above tables that either proposed development route will be policy 

compliant in all matters, with the requirements of Lichfield’s Development Plan, except in 
regard to the delivery of natural and semi-natural green space; where there is a large under 
provision, whilst there would be an over-provision of amenity green space. 

 
7.4 The above matter is however addressed, through the application of Cannock Chase District 

Council’s Open Space Policy, which seeks a requirement for natural and semi-natural green 
space of 6.20 ha per 1,000 population, resulting in a requirement for this site of 31.94ha.  
Evidently therefore, against the requirements of Cannock Chase District Council’s Policy, an 
overprovision exists. Indeed, the overall POS requirement should the site as a whole have 
fallen within Cannock Chase District, would be for 42.63ha.  Thus, given the above, the 
proportion and types of POS shown on the illustrative Green Infrastructure Plan are 
considered to be acceptable and compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan 
and NPPF in this regard.  

 
7.5 Paragraph 4.35 of the Rugeley Power Station SPD advises that, “A key principle of the 

development proposals should be to create useable, well connected green infrastructure 
network, comprising of open spaces, sport facilities, landscape features, recreation facilities, 
equipped play and allotments. It is envisaged that a Management Company will be 
responsible for the management and maintenance of open spaces in perpetuity”.  The 
location and indicative layout of these areas are therefore considered below: 

 
Play Facilities 

 
7.6 Paragraph 4.37 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD states that, “Children’s 

play space for a range of ages should be provided in the development.  In accordance with 
local policy requirements, it is likely that several areas for play space will be required on the 
site”.  

 

Page 114



 

7.7 As noted above, the composition of the play facilities will be approved at a later stage.  
However, the number, location and nature of the facilities, are for consideration.  The Fields 
In Trust document, ‘Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Plan: Beyond the Six Acre Standard’ 
(England) advises that the walking distance for residents to equipped or designated play 
areas, should be no greater than 100m to Local Areas of Play, 400m to LEAPs and 1,000m to 
NEAPs. This guidance also advises of the need to ensure the appropriate provision of 
ancillary facilities and equipment, suitable footpath access, designed to be free from harm or 
crime and containing equipment of a requisite standard. 

 
7.8 The location and number of proposed play areas  throughout the site are in broad 

accordance with the above identified guidelines, which evidences an appropriate level and 
siting of priovision within the site.  In addition, these areas will be maintained going forward 
by a Manitenace Management Company, to be secured via the s106 agreemnt, who will 
manage and maintain all none school public open space.  

 
 Public Art 
 
7.9 Core Policy 12 of the Local Plan Strategy advises that “new strategic housing… development 

will incorporate public art”.  Paragraph 3.38 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief 
SPD states that “The proposals should seek to incorporate public art, having regard to the 
historic use of the site as a power station”. 

  
7.10 The provision of public art within the site is proposed to be secured through the s106 

agreement, although exact details of such, will not be provided until the appropriate phase 
of development, through a subsequent reserved matters application.  However, this 
proposed route will ensure compliance with the requirements of the Development Plan in 
this regard. 

 
Allotments 
 

7.11 Paragraph 4.38 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD states that, “It is 
envisaged that the existing allotment provision located to the south west of the site will be 
retained and opportunities to accommodate further provision to meet local need where 
identified would be welcomed in areas where there is evidence of low levels of contaminants.  
Sourcing for soil for allotments should also be free of contaminants”. 
 

7.12 With reference to the existing allotments, they are currently under lease from the allotment 
society and continue to be occupied.  A new lease, based on what is currently in place, has 
been drafted by the applicant’s solicitors and is currently under review.  The applicant has 
advised that they have recently renewed the lease with the society until 2022.   
 

7.13 In terms of the planning application itself, the retention of the existing allotments is 
proposed to be secured by means of the s106 agreement.  The agreement will, in terms of 
the future management of the site, seek to allow for the existing society to continue with 
such and take on management of the new site.  Should the Society not wish to continue with 
this role (currently they have advised that they do), then Armitage with Handsacre Parish 
Council will be offered the opportunity to manage the site.  Should the Parish Council not 
wish to undertake this responsibility, then it will be assumed by the Maintenance 
Management Company. In addition to the retention of the existing allotments, a further 
allotment area is proposed to the centre of the site, further details of the design of such, will 
be provided in the appropriate reserved matters application.  Finally, the quality of the soil 
within the allotment site, is recommended to be addressed by means of a condition.  The 
creation of this area however and management thereafter, is also proposed to be secured by 
means of the s106 agreement. 

 
 Society of Model Engineers (RPSME) 
 

Page 115



 

7.14 The applicant has agreed lease terms for temporary use of the site with the society. We are 
advised that they are now back on site and have an agreement to be there until 2022. With 
an option to renew, subject to notice. 

 
7.15 Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that the demolition consent previously 

granted for the site, under application reference 18/01098/FULM, permitted the removal of 
the miniature train structures and as such, this facility can be removed from the site at any 
point.  The applicant, as described above, is willing however, in the short term, to allow for 
the Society to continue to use the site.  Thus, whilst the long term retention of this facility 
does not form part of the proposals, which is somewhat regrettable, albeit understandable 
from a future security perspective, this does not make the application unacceptable in 
planning terms. 

 
Sports Facilities 
 

7.16 Core Policy 11 of the Local Plan Strategy seeks to encourage, protect and enhance existing 
sports facilities and advises that the loss of existing facilities and assets, will be resisted 
where it can be shown that there is an existing and future need, unless it can clearly be 
demonstrated that alternative facilities of an equivalent or better standard, in terms of 
quality and quantity are being provided in a suitable location.   
 

7.17 Paragraph 4.36 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD advises that, “the site 
currently benefits from onsite sports and recreation facilities which are centrally located.  As 
part of the development proposals, the Council will encourage the retention and protection of 
any existing sports and recreation facilities that are not justified to be surplus to 
requirements.  This will need to be delivered in line with National and Local policy 
requirements”. 

 
7.18 Policy AH6 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan states that, “Proposals will 

be supported which…safeguard existing outdoor sport and recreational facilities and, where 
appropriate, create new opportunities for such facilities”.  

 
7.19 Facilities for sport and recreation will be focussed around the centrally located public open 

space referred to as ‘Rugeley Social’. Within the ATS option, sports provision will meet the 
non-statutory area guidelines for mainstream schools, delivering 6.34 hectares of sports 
pitches and courts (including MUGA), a 3G sports pitch, two senior football pitches, a cricket 
oval (for curricular use), three mini football pitches and six hard-courts that could 
accommodate tennis, netball and basketball amongst others.  The MUGA and 3G sports 
pitches will be floodlit and will offer better year round use than was previously the case, 
prior to the closure of the power station.  The Borrow Pit lake will become a focal point for 
recreational water sports, encouraging activities such as swimming, fishing and kayaking.  
Additionally, there will be a series of on-site recreational trails for walking, cycling and 
running, achieved through the country park trail, the lakeside trail and the site wide internal 
trail, with an opportunity to tap into the wider public rights of way.  An additional 1.29 
hectares of equipped play will be provided throughout the site, which will also include hard 
surfacing for sports and a skate park south of the ATS. 

 
7.20 The primary school option would result in the formation of three mini pitches and two hard 

court games areas, although there would be no community use of these facilities.  Elsewhere 
within the Rugeley Social area, formal sports pitches for football, rugby, cricket, running 
track and bowls, as well as a sports pavilion to replace those lost as part of the development 
would be offered.  A proposed Multi Use Games Area (MUGA), located east of the proposed 
primary school, would offer additional opportunity for football, tennis and hockey. 

 
7.21 Paragraph 97 of the NPPF seeks to protect existing sports facilities and in cases where 

playing fields are lost as part of a development notes that Sport England are a Statutory 
Consultee.  To ensure accordance with Paragraph 97 and other relevant policies from Sport 

Page 116



 

England (e.g. Policy Exception E4 – equivalent or better replacement provision), it is 
proposed to replace all of the existing sports provision (apart from the golf course), in a 
broadly similar location to the previous facilities, with the exception of cricket, which has 
now been removed from both potential scheme option.  Sport England confirm the proposal 
has the potential to broadly meet Sport England exception Policy E4, subject to conditions 
and an appropriately worded S106 agreement, securing the replacement of suitable quality 
playing fields and ancillary provision (such as floodlighting), alongside management 
arrangements for the site, and no objection is raised.   

 
7.22 Although a cricket oval is proposed in the context of the ATS, this will be for curricular use by 

the school only and would not be of sufficient scale to serve the respective local clubs for 
match purposes.  Extensive discussions between the applicant, the Local Planning Authorities 
and Sport England have been undertaken.  Sport England along with Rugeley Cricket Club 
favour providing an approach where additional funds are secured, via the s106 agreement, 
to allow the cricket club to progress delivery of a second cricket square at their site at 
Chesley Road, Etchinghill, for which planning permission has already been secured.   

 
7.23 Relevant conditions are, given the above assessment, recommended and subject to 

conformity with such, along with the introduction of an appropriate schedule within the 106 
agreement, it is advised that the development will comply with the requirements of the 
Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
 Angling Club 
 
7.24 The applicant advises that the lease for use of the Borrow Pit has now been agreed in 

principle and is currently in the process of signing (in transit between signatories).  The 
license will continue until 2022 with options to renew, subject to notice.  

 
7.25 The applicant is proposing to retain the Borrow Pit and other blue infrastructure within the 

site and utilise such for water sports, waterside interactions and landscape play.  Further 
details of the exact make up of these uses will be determined within subsequent reserved 
matter applications. 

 
7.26 Given the above assessment, the recreational and public open space provision proposed 

within the development, as submitted, is considered to be compliant with the requirements 
of the Development Plan and NPPF. 

 
 Arboricultural Impact 
 
7.27 Paragraph 118 of the NPPF advises that permission should be refused for development 

resulting in the loss of aged or veteran trees, unless the benefits of the development 
outweigh the harm.  Core Policy 13 of the Local Plan Strategy also seeks to protect veteran 
trees, whilst Core Policy 14 seeks to ensure that there is no net loss to trees in conservation 
areas.  Policy NR4 and the Trees, Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning 
Document seek to ensure that trees are retained, unless their removal is necessary and 
appropriate mitigation is proposed.  The SPD also seeks to ensure that a minimum 20% 
canopy cover is achieved on development sites. 

 
7.28 Paragraph 4.40 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD advises that, 

“Discussions with Arboricultural Officers will be required to agree the strategy for the 
retention and selective removal/replacement of trees within the site, however it is envisaged 
that the mature tree belt which helps to create a strong site boundary adjacent to the 
Rugeley Bypass will be retained in any design. There is a local aspiration for tree planting to 
include an element of fruit trees throughout the site to create an Urban Orchard a key 
landscape / water feature of the existing site is the Borrow Pit area.  The Council will be 
supportive of proposals which seek to retain the Borrow Pit area as part of any 
redevelopment proposals”. 

Page 117



 

 
7.29 Policy AH2 of the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan states that, “development 

proposals should seek to conserve and enhance the area’s natural environment assets, 
including… broadleaf native woodland” 
 

7.30 The Arboricultural Impact Assessment (April 2020), submitted as an Appendix to the updated 
ES, identifies that there are 28 individual trees and 38 groups of trees, to be felled as a direct 
consequence of this development.  A further 11 tree groups are to be partially removed.  Of 
these individual and groups of trees, 52 are category b, 22 category c and 3 are category U.  
In addition, it is noted that there are 6 veteran trees identified within the application site, all 
of which are located in the riverside park and are to be retained as part of the site’s future 
landscaping scheme.   
 

7.31 The Council’s Trees, Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning Document 
advises that, “the Council expects that all trees that are protected by a tree preservation 
order or classified as retention category A or B in a BS 5837: 2012 survey will be retained on 
the site”.  The document continues to state that, “it should not be assumed that C category 
trees that constrain development may be removed”. 
 

7.32 The Council’s Arboriculture Team advise that the impacts on existing trees of the 
development have been properly assessed and quantified.  It is expected that once detailed 
landscaping designs are drawn up that the losses incurred to the existing tree stock will be 
remediated and that there will be a net gain in tree canopy cover.  Such expectations, along 
with details for measures to protect retained trees during the course of development, will be 
confirmed within the Landscape Management Plan, which is recommended to be secured via 
condition.  On this basis, no objections are raised to the above identified tree works.   
 

7.33 Paragraph 4.42 of the Rugeley Power Station Development Brief SPD advises that, “as part of 
any development proposals a landscaping strategy will need to be prepared that 
demonstrates how the surrounding countryside can be drawn into development through the 
integration of multi-functional green space. This landscaping combined with street trees 
courtyard and garden planting should provide a verdant extension and create a green 
infrastructure network across the site”. 

 
7.34 Exact details of landscaping is evidently a reserved matter. However, the applicant has 

provided a Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan, which identifies suitable landscaping areas, 
capable to drawing the surrounding countryside into the application site.  Further details of 
the overall landscaping strategy for the site, to be contained within a Landscape 
Management Plan, is recommended to be secured, via condition. The Management Plan 
should identify how the development will achieve a 20% tree canopy cover by mid-century, 
as such is a requirement of the Council’s Trees, Landscaping and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document.  

 
7.35 Given the above considerations, with reference to green infrastructure and arboriculture 

considerations, this development is considered to comply with the requirements of the 
Development Plan and NPPF, in this regard. 

 
8. Sustainable Built Form 
 
8.1 Paragraph 150 of the NPPF requires that new development should comply with local energy 

targets. The NPPG advises that planning can help to increase the resilience to climate change 
through the location, mix and design of development.  Local Plan Strategy Policy SC1 sets out 
the Council’s requirements in respect of carbon reduction targets and requires that 
residential development should be built to code for sustainable homes level 6.  Subsequent 
to the adoption of the Local Plan Strategy however, the Government has advised that Code 
for Sustainable Home targets are no longer to be utilised within the planning process and 
rather Building Regulation requirements will ensure the development of sustainable built 

Page 118



 

form.  Therefore no conditions are required under the requirements of this policy, to secure 
sustainable built technologies within the residential phases of this development. 

 
8.2 Local Plan Strategy Policy SC1 continues to set out requirements that major non-residential 

development, with a floor area in excess of 1,000 square metres, should achieve the 
BREEAM excellent standard from 2016.  It should be noted that Cannock Chase District 
Council do not have an equivalent policy and therefore, the requirement will only be 
applicable for non-residential buildings, with a floor area in excess of 1,000sq m, to be built 
within Lichfield District.  As noted above, the scale of the commercial units to be built within 
Lichfield District will fall below this level of floor space, but the employment buildings and 
both school options are likely to be above this threshold. 

 
8.3 It is considered reasonable to require that any building achieve BREEAM very good rather 

than excellent, given that the evidence base for the abovementioned Policy (Camco 
Staffordshire County-wide Renewable/Low Carbon Energy Study 2010) is based on 2006 
Building Regulations and BREEAM 2008 specifications and therefore does not take into 
account the latest changes to national policy and Building Regulations. 

 
8.4 There have been two further iterations of BREEAM since the evidence base was collated and 

as a general rule a 2014 BREEAM Excellent requirement is equivalent to a 2018 BREEAM very 
good requirement. In this context, it is argued that Policy SC1 does not reflect up to date 
guidance, whilst the achievement of BREEAM very good would effectively deliver the level of 
sustainable built form that the policy seeks to capture. 

 
8.5 The above argument has been discussed with the Council’s Spatial Policy and Delivery Team, 

who advise that this should be a matter of planning judgement.  Given that this is the case, it 
is felt that the abovementioned arguments are persuasive and successfully evidence that a 
change in guidance has occurred, since the evidence base for the policy was gathered.  In 
addition, the wider sustainable development package offered by the application, will provide 
benefits beyond those simply captured by BREEAM and therefore, subject to a condition to 
secure the provision of these matters, the development is considered to be compliant with 
national policy in terms of sustainable building techniques. 

 
8.6 It is noted that the applicant has identified two areas of ground mounted solar panels 

adjacent to the, to be retained substation, along with roof mounted panels proposed on the 
roof of either of the new school options.  In addition, it is noted that some of the indicative 
plans show a floating solar array within the Borrow Pit.  However, such is not indicated on 
the parameter plans, which are those requested to be approved.  Exact details of the panels, 
in terms of their siting, scale and form within the identified land use area, is yet to be 
provided and neither is the electrical output and therefore, these details will be provided 
within a subsequent reserved matters application/s.       

 
8.7 In terms of the broad acceptability of the proposed solar panel land use, Core Policy 3 of the 

Local Plan Strategy supports development, which utilises renewable energy resources, whilst 
Policy SC2: Renewable Energy further expands on this. The policy positively encourages 
renewable energy generation, including solar, stating that the District should strive to meet 
a minimum of 10% of its energy demand though renewable energy sources by 2020. The 
policy includes the following criteria for the assessment of such developments: 

 

 The degree to which the scale and nature of the proposal reflects the capacity and 
sensitivity of the landscape or townscape to accommodate the development; 

 The impact on local amenity, including residential amenity; 

 The impact of the proposal on sites of biodiversity value, ancient woodland and veteran 
trees; 

 The impact on the historic environment, including the effect on the significance of 
heritage assets and their setting and important views associated with valued landscapes 
and townscapes; and  

Page 119



 

 The proximity to, and impact on, transport infrastructure and the local highway network.  
 
8.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out an approach that is proactive 

towards renewable energy developments.  Paragraph 11 states that at the heart of the NPPF 
is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 148 indicates that 
planning plays a key role in helping to secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions 
and providing resilience to the impacts of climate change. The paragraph continues to state 
that the planning system should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure. Paragraph 154 advises that when determining planning applications local 
planning authorities should not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for 
renewable energy production and recognise that even small scaler projects provide a 
valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gases and therefore approve applications, if 
their impact is or can be made to be acceptable.  

 
8.9 In addition to the NPPF, national guidance on renewable energy includes the Planning 

Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy.  The Climate Change Act, 2008 
sets national targets of at least an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 
(compared against the 1990 baseline), which subsequently has been updated by a 
Government pledge to the carbon neutral by this date and at least 34% by 2020, compared 
to 1990 levels.  The existing UK target for the generation of electricity from renewable 
sources is 15% by 2020, i.e. more than a three-fold increase on the current capacity.  The 
NPPG states that increasing the amount of energy from renewable and low carbon 
technologies will help to make sure the UK has a secure energy supply, reduce greenhouse 
emissions to slow down climate change and stimulate investment in new jobs and 
businesses.   It should be noted that the NPPG includes specific guidance in relation to large 
scale ground-mounted solar photovoltaic farms; with large scale being defined as 5MW or 
more; and therefore given the scale of the solar park proposed within this scheme, this 
specific guidance is not relevant to this application.  

 
8.10 In addition to specific planning guidance, the Government has also issued the ‘UK Solar PV 

Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future’ in October 2013 and the ‘UK Solar PV 
Strategy Part 2’ in April 2014. These documents set out the four guiding principles, which 
form the basis of Government’s strategy for solar PV.  These principles are: 

 

 Support for solar PV should allow cost-effective projects to proceed and to make a cost-
effective contribution to UK carbon emission objectives in the context of overall energy 
goals – ensuring that solar PV has a role alongside other energy generation technologies 
in delivering carbon reductions, energy security and affordability for consumers; 

 Support for solar PV should deliver genuine carbon reductions that help meet the UK’s 
target of 15 per cent renewable energy from final consumption by 2020 and in 
supporting the decarbonisation of our economy in the longer term – ensuring that all the 
carbon impacts of solar PV deployment are fully understood; 

 Support for solar PV should ensure proposals are appropriately sited, give proper weight 
to environmental considerations such as landscape and visual impact, heritage and local 
amenity, and provide opportunities for local communities to influence decisions that 
affect them; and 

 Support for solar PV should assess and respond to the impacts of deployment on: grid 
systems balancing; grid connectivity; and financial incentives – ensuring that we address 
the challenges of deploying high volumes of solar PV. 

 
8.11 It is clear from the above that both national and local plan policies broadly support 

renewable energy generation, including solar farm developments, and therefore, subject to 
general development control criteria, including the impact on the character of the area, 
biodiversity, amenity and heritage assets that the principle of including solar power 
generation within this scheme, is supported. 

 

Page 120



 

8.12 In view of the above, the scheme is considered capable of delivering built form equipped 
with suitable sustainable technologies and therefore, will comply the Development Plan and 
National Planning Policy Framework, in this regard. 

 
9. Residential Amenity – Future and Existing Residents 
 
9.1 The NPPF core planning principles include the requirement that planning should seek a good 

standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. The Council’s 
Sustainable Design SPD contains guidance detailing appropriate space around dwelling 
standards.  These standards establish a minimum distance of 21 metres to separate principle 
habitable windows and that there should be at least 6 metres between a principal window 
and private neighbouring residential amenity space.   

 
9.2 The SPD also requires that in order to prevent any overbearing impact upon residents, that 

there should be a minimum of 13 metres between the rear elevation and the blank wall of 
any proposed dwelling.   

 
9.3 Finally, the SPD identifies that for 1 or 2 bedroom dwellings, a minimum garden size of 45m2 

should be provided, for 3 or 4 bed 65m2 and for 5 bedroom dwellings 100m2.  All gardens 
should have a minimum length of 10m. 

 
9.4 Evidently, this application is made in outline with matters of layout reserved for future 

consideration. However, it is noted that the applicant has submitted four additional 
indicative plans, intended to demonstrate that the high densities proposed on this site can 
be achieved, while still meeting the LPA’s standards for separation distances.  The submitted 
plans failed to achieve the abovementioned guidelines and it will be beholden upon the 
applicant, within any subsequent reserved matters applications, to design high density areas 
that comply with these space around dwelling standards, in order to ensure that such 
complies with the requirements of the Development Plan in this regard.  To ensure that this 
is achieved, it is recommended that the need to agree space around dwelling standards, be 
included within the Design Code condition.  It should be noted that this revised submission, 
given the larger area to be allocated for residential development, allows for greater scope to 
achieve these requirements.   

 
9.5 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that, “the planning system should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability”. 

 
 Contaminated Land 
 
9.6 Paragraph 178 of the NPPF advises that “Planning decisions should ensure that; a site is 

suitable for its proposed use taking land instability and contamination into account; after 
remediation the land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land; and, 
adequate site investigation information is available to inform these assessments”. 

 
9.7 A ground condition assessment accompanies the application, the study area for which 

comprises the site and an additional zone of 250m from the site boundary.  As part of the 
assessment, historical ground investigation information has been utilised, which includes a 
Phase I Environmental Assessment and subsequent Phase II Environmental Ground 
Investigations report.   

 
9.8 A review of desk study information indicates that there is generally a moderate/high 

potential for ground contamination to exist at the site, given its former uses.  However, 
testing of soil taken during the historical ground investigation works has not recorded 
significant contamination.  In addition there are potentially contaminated sites located in the 

Page 121



 

study area that could interact with the site including landfills, historical coal mining, and 
industrial sites. 

 
9.9 In order to secure a site suitable for residential led redevelopment, as detailed above by 

paragraph 178 of the NPPF, a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) is recommended to be secured by condition.  The CEMP will be prepared together 
with stakeholders to ensure compliance with legislative and industry best practice in relation 
to construction phase mitigation methods and environmental requirements. 
In addition an outline Remediation and Reclamation Strategy (RRS) has been submitted 
which outlines the inherent design mitigation associated with the ground conditions topic 
and in turn represent the key mitigation measures proposed which includes for example, 
minimising built development over alluvium deposits, which are known to contain 
compressible deposits such as Peat, thus avoiding the need for prior removal and 
stabilisation of this area of the Site, the application of construction techniques, which 
minimise the need for dewatering as far as reasonably practical, whilst, all materials (for 
example Topsoil) proposed for re-use will be required to meet risk-based acceptability 
criteria. 

 
9.10 The suitability of the above identified approach and recommended conditions has been 

considered by the Council’s Environmental Health Team, who offer no objections to the 
development and therefore, subject to the above identified conditions, the proposal is 
considered to comply with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this 
regard. 

 
 Lighting 
 
9.11 A Lighting Assessment document has been submitted with this application in order to 

quantify baseline lighting within the vicinity of the proposed development and identify 
existing sensitive receptors and allow constraints of any proposals to be assessed at an early 
stage. 

 
9.12 The Assessment and Environmental Health Team both conclude that the lighting within the 

development has the potential to cause loss of amenity to future residents, due to lighting 
within the scheme, particularly around the sporting facilities.  To address this matter, a 
condition requiring the submission and approval by the Local Planning Authority of a lighting 
scheme, for each phase of development, is recommended. 

 
9.13 Thus, subject to compliance with the abovementioned condition, the development will 

accord with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 
 

Noise and Vibration 
 
9.14 Paragraph 4.56 of the Rugeley Power Station Supplementary Planning Document states, 

“Depending on the end layout and employment use types, part of the residential elements of 
the scheme may be in a noise environment; in these instances, an Acoustic Design Statement 
will be required as set out in the new ProPG document which is available online.  The 
Council’s Environmental Protection services will need to approve Annual Status Reports 
(ASRs) prior to development to ensure that residents and occupiers of employment units do 
not suffer intolerable noise levels.” 

 
9.15 In response to the above, the applicant has scoped in Noise and Vibration, as a component 

of the ES.  The ES identifies that the proposed development has the potential to produce 
noise and vibration impacts from several different sources.  Broadly speaking, these 
comprise:  

 Noise and vibration that may occur during construction;  

 Operational noise including vehicles associated with the site impacting on existing and 
prospective users of the site; 

Page 122



 

 Commercial and industrial noise and noise from existing substations; and   

 Vibration and noise impacts from the nearby rail line.  
 
9.16 Construction work has the potential to increase the ambient noise levels, however, with the 

implementation of the site specific CEMP, recommended to be secured via condition, any 
adverse impacts will be minimised to ensure that the overall effects of the demolition and 
construction activity are negligible and not significant.   

 
9.17 A noise survey has been submitted with the application, which identifies that local ambient 

noise levels are principally influenced by the local highway network, high-speed trains 
travelling on the West Coast Main Line, and the local Rugeley Trent Valley to Lea Hall line.  
Odd bangs and other noises associated with the on-going demolition works were also noted 
but these did not stand out as dominant noises.  The background noise also included natural 
sources such as wildlife and wind noise.  

 
9.18 From the baseline monitoring data, except for a few individual periods, the existing baseline 

noise levels are under the BS: 8233 criteria for suitable external amenity noise level of 55dB.  
The period where the average noise level exceeds the 55dB level was monitored at the 
South Eastern corner of the site, where the average levels were noted with a maximum of 
68.96dB.  The night time average levels were monitored at 67.8dB.  The noise levels at 
sensitive receptors further into the site will be lower, as the receptors will be protected by 
the development itself.  Therefore, no mitigation measures are anticipated to be required 
for these properties.  For those dwellings within the area of noise exceedance, the housing 
layout has not been determined and therefore, specific mitigation cannot currently be 
determined and rather a condition to require the submission of such at a later date is 
recommended. 

 
9.19 Noise from the existing 400 kV and the 132kV substations has been monitored, which shows 

that the ambient noise level around the substation was generally low.  
 
9.20 Any increases in road traffic noise associated with the proposed development are 

considered to have a neutral effect, in accordance with the significance criteria.  Therefore, 
noise mitigation measures related to road traffic noise are not considered to be required.  
However, dependent upon the nature of future occupants of the employment uses, 
proposed within the development, suitable on site mitigation may be required in order to 
protect the amenity of future residents.  A condition is therefore recommended to address 
this potential issue.   

 
Rail Vibration  
 

9.21 On site monitoring shows that the site is subject to minimal vibration, with general levels 
between 0.04mm/s to 0.9mm/s, with a few individual exceedances of this, which have been 
attributed to onsite activity.  No further consideration of vibration impacts has been 
undertaken, as the potential effects, as a result of vibration, are considered negligible and 
not significant.  

 
Construction Vibration 
   

 9.22 The nearest sensitive properties to the proposed construction work, will vary, depending on 
the phase of the proposed development.  There is potential for future dwellings, which 
become occupied before the completion of the construction phase, to be located within a 
distance less than 10 metres of building operations. At this distance, it is possible that 
vibration, due to the operation of various construction plant and in particular, a vibratory 
roller, may be above the threshold of complaint.  However, these instances will be transient 
and for limited periods of a day and therefore not considered to be significant. 

   

Page 123



 

 9.23 In addition to the earthworks and construction works described, it is possible that piling will 
be required.  At this time, the type(s) of piling which would be used at various locations 
across the site is not known and it is likely that the contractor responsible for undertaking 
the works would decide the method of piling.  As noted above, should there be a need to 
undertake any vibro-impact works or piling on site, a risk assessment and method statement 
will be required. 

 
 Air Quality 
 
9.24 The ES assesses the potential impacts associated with air quality, during both site clearance 

and construction activities, whilst having regard to committed developments nearby, 
including HS2, in tandem with the construction and occupation phases of the development 
and considers vehicular traffic and emissions from stationary plant associated with the 
proposed development.  The assessment focuses on air pollutants that are likely to arise 
from the construction and occupation of the development, such as nitrogen oxide (NOx), 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2), particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and dust for human receptors 
and Nitrogen Deposition (N) for ecological receptors.  

 
9.25 The ES utilises existing baseline data in the form of desktop information collection and on 

site diffusion tube monitoring.  In the case of the desktop study, data from Lichfield and 
Cannock Chase District Council’s Air Quality Review and Assessment Reports is utilised, 
alongside DEFRA background mapping data for the above oxide and particulate matter 
concentrations.  In terms of specific site assessment, a review of past monitoring by the 
Councils’ respective Environmental Health Teams was undertaken, as well as further short 
term diffusion tube monitoring along the A51.  Diffusion tubes were also positioned at 
Cannock Chase SAC, Pasturefields Salt March SAC and West Midland Mosses SAC.  For 
reference, the specific conclusions regarding ecological considerations, are considered in the 
Special Areas of Conservation section of this report.  

 
Construction Phase Impacts 
 

9.26 Air quality effects resulting from construction dust are known to be a main source of 
potential release of Particulate Matter (PM10, PM2.5).  Sources include:  

 Generation of airborne dusts from exposure and movement of soils and construction 
materials;  

 Generation of fumes on-site by plant and tools during construction;  

 Increase in vehicle emissions potentially as a result of slow moving vehicles should local 
congestion ensue; and 

 Re-suspension of dust through vehicle tyres moving over dusty surfaces. 
 
9.27 To assess these matters, in line with the Institute of Air Quality Management Guidance 

(2014), as there are a large number of human receptors within 350m of the site boundary, a 
construction dust assessment has been undertaken.  It is also noted that the SAC’s within 
8km of the site are in excess of 500m from the site, such that they will not be affected by 
construction phase impacts and can be scoped out of further assessment.  

 
9.28 To minimise the risks from the above processes, mitigation steps are proposed within the ES, 

which include:  
 

 Communication - Develop and implement a stakeholder communications plan that 
includes community engagement before work commences on site; display the name and 
contact details of person(s) accountable for air quality and dust issues on the site 
boundary.  This may be the environment manager/engineer or the  site manager; 

 Site Management – effectively record any complaints, make complaints available to local 
authority, record exceptional incidents and the action taken in a logbook, hold regular 
liaison meetings with other high risk sites in the vicinity and coordinate/understand their 

Page 124



 

interactions of off-site transport and deliveries that may use the same road network. 
Avoid bonfires and waste burning;  

 Monitoring – undertake daily onsite and offsite inspections, including dust soiling checks 
of surfaces such as street furniture and cars within 100m of site boundary, with cleaning 
provided if necessary;  

 Preparing and maintaining the site – plan layout to locate dust causing activities away 
from receptors, erect solid screens around dusty activities, avoid site water or mud run 
off, remove materials with high dust potential or cover to prevent wind whipping; and 

 Operation of vehicle/machinery – ensure no idle vehicles, use mains electricity as far as 
possible to minimise diesel generators, impose speed limits to reduce dust throw,  
cutting, grinding and sawing equipment to have suitable dust suppression, ensure 
adequate water supply, use enclosed chutes, conveyors and covered skips. 

 
9.29 The ES suggests that subject to the implementation of the above mitigation, air quality 

impacts through construction dust will not be significant.  Therefore, it is concluded that 
emissions from the construction phase have a greater potential for impact, although such 
impacts are readily addressed through management measures.  A CEMP will need to be 
secured via condition, in order to control the impact of emissions during the construction 
phase.  This is likely to incorporate the measures identified above.  The CEMP should be 
agreed with Environmental Health Team, thereby ensuring compliance with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

  
Operational Phase Impacts 

 
9.30 To assess the potential impacts associated with nitrogen dioxide (NO2), PM10 and PM2.5 

upon existing and future receptors, an assessment has been undertaken at receptor 
locations surrounding the site.  The model takes account of the proposed uplift in air quality 
impact resulting from the development, in tandem with similar additional impacts resulting 
from committed developments in the vicinity in the years 2023 and 2029 respectively.  In 
particular these committed developments include:  

 

 The permitted demolition of the power station;  

 Tuppenhurst Lane; 

 Pear Tree; 

 Rugeley Quarry;  

 Construction traffic associated with HS2; and 

 Traffic movements associated PFA removal within the site. 
 
9.31 The results suggest that for both the combined committed development scenarios in 2023 

relating to peak construction and 2029, following full completion that predicted impacts will 
be moderate to negligible, and that these impacts will not be significant in EIA terms.  

 
9.32 It is noted that Staffordshire Authorities, including Lichfield are currently working on an Air 

Quality Guide for Developers.  Whilst this document has yet to be introduced, in the interim, 
it is recommended that applicants consider the future use of electric vehicles, by residents 
on the development and install appropriate infrastructure, which supports this in dwellings, 
especially in view of the fact that many will not use their garage to charge an electric vehicle.  
For instance, consideration can be given to external driveway charging points.  This matter is 
fully addressed within the highway and Special Area of Conservation sections of this report.   

 
Retained Power Infrastructure & Electromagnetic Radiation 

 
9.33 National Grid currently operate, and will continue to operate a 400kv switching facility 

within the centre of the application site.  There are no known future plans for closure or 
relocation of this facility.  The facility comprises an open air grid of frames (up to 20m in 
height) and transformers enclosed by a wire fence.  Existing wayleaves and utilities 

Page 125



 

surrounding the substation provide an informal stand-off/ buffer to the substation. 
However, a physical and visual buffer will assist in improving the visual amenity of the 
structure and minimising impact from noise upon future residents of the site.  Access to the 
substation needs to be provided at all stages of construction and in the final redevelopment 
of the site and detailed discussions and layout considerations have been undertaken with 
National Grid in this regard.   

 
9.34 A second 132kv switching station also exists within the centre of site. This is operated by 

Western Power Distribution (WPD) on a sub-lease from National Grid.  The operational 
substation equipment is housed within a large footprint red brick building. It is 
approximately 16m in height with a flat roof and high level windows.  An associated external 
‘open-air’ substation is situated adjacent, enclosed by a steel security palisade fence.  As 
above, access to the 132kV substation needs to be provided at all times and discussions have 
been undertaken with Western Power to assure both sides of their respective expectations 
and requirements.  

 
9.35 The recent comments from National Grid regarding their ongoing asset review process, 

which identifies that the 132kv substation building has defects and is reaching the end of its 
operational asset life, are noted.  As is their want to replace the substation in the short to 
medium term..  To this end National Grid request that no planning conditions, unduly affect 
this land and their ability to undertake their statutory duty to operate and maintain a safe 
and efficient transmission network, specifically including any demolition works which may be 
required in due course.  It is confirmed that none of the conditions as proposed would 
impact upon National Grid’s statutory duty.  It is noted however, that the removal of this 
building will be of architectural betterment for the scheme and also offer improved views 
towards the future school site. 

  
9.36 The intended immediate retention of the Switching Stations is acknowledged in Section 

4.4.24 of the EIA Screening submissions in relation to Electromagnetic Radiation.  These 
submissions confirm that, “the highest likely EMF levels were below UK/European 
recommended health and safety limits for the general public and would allow the reliable 
operation of standard communication equipment within any homes that may be built at the 
residential development”.  Accordingly, ‘Scoping Out’ Electromagnetic Radiation as a detailed 
matter for consideration within the current application, was previously agreed on the above 
basis.  

 
9.37 It is noted that National Grid have requested a number of conditions to secure their routes 

through the site and ensure that the internal road networks be designed so as to have due 
regard to the location of cables, super grid lines and fibre optic cables, which run through 
the site.  A condition to secure an appropriate design to have regard to these matters is 
therefore recommended. 

 
9.38 Finally, it is noted that within the local centres an element of public house, café/restaurant 

and hot food takeaway provision is identified.  Such uses will inevitably be required to install 
odour extraction measures (likely to be flues).  To ensure that such equipment is appropriate 
for their purpose, as well as visually acceptable, in terms of their siting and scale, a condition 
is recommended.    

 
9.39 Given the above assessment, it is considered that subject to the recommended conditions, 

the amenity of existing and future residents will be adequately protected and therefore, the 
proposal will be compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this 
regard. 

 
10. Ecology including Biodiversity 
 

Protected Species 
 

Page 126



 

10.1 The Wildlife and Countryside Act (as amended) 1981 covers the protection of a wide range of 
protected species and habitats and provides the legislative framework for the designation of 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs).  The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 
Regulations 1994 implement two pieces of European law and provide for the designation 
and protection of ‘Special Protection Areas’ (SPAs) and ‘Special Areas of Conservation’ 
(SACs), together with the designation of ‘European Protected Species’, which include bats 
and great crested newts.  The Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 compels all 
government departments to have regard for biodiversity when carrying out their functions. 
Finally, The Protection of Badgers Act 1992 consolidated existing legislation on the 
protection of badgers.  This legislation is intended to prevent the persecution of badgers. 
The act protects both individual badgers and their setts. 

 
10.2 As part of the Environmental Impact Assessment process, a detailed desk study of known 

ecological records within the site has been undertaken, as well as numerous field surveys 
covering an array of species.  Historically, the site owners have undertaken ecological 
surveys as far back as 2010, in order to ensure a continued understanding of ecology within 
the site.  In 2015-2019 surveys sought to establish the presence of protected species, 
particular habitats and establish habitat suitability.  Specific habitat assessments relating to 
breeding and wintering birds, bats, dormice, otter, water vole, badger, reptiles, 
invertebrates, botanicals, bat roost and activity, breeding birds and breeding waders and are 
reported in the appendices of the updated ES.  

 
10.3 The results of these surveys have informed the baseline starting position regarding protected 

species and habitats within the site.  The Council’s Ecology Manager has considered these 
reports and concluded that the impact of the development upon protected species and their 
habitats will be acceptable, subject to the use of conditions to secure adherence to all 
recommendations and methods of working detailed within Section 9.7 Additional Mitigation, 
Compensation and Enhancement Measures of the Environmental Statement, Chapter 9 
Ecology (May 2020), which detail the need to submit a Habitat Management Plan (HMP), 
Ecological Mitigation Strategy (EMS) and Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP).  These documents will need to be submitted on a phased basis with any reserved 
matters application and should also include the adoption of Reasonable Avoidance Measures 
(RAMS), including further surveys, as required, throughout the phasing of the development.  
In addition, any development works undertaken during bird nesting season will need to be 
suitably supervised.  The LPA is therefore in a position to demonstrate compliance with 
regulation 9(3) of the Habitat Regs. 1994 (as amended 2017), which places a duty on the 
planning authority when considering an application for planning permission, to have regard 
to its effects on European protected species. 

 
 Biodiversity 
 
10.4 To comply with the guidance contained within Paragraphs 9, 108 and 118 of the NPPF and 

the Council’s biodiversity duty as defined under section 40 of the NERC Act 2006, new 
development must demonstrate that it will not result in the loss of any biodiversity value of 
the site. 

 
10.5 Due to the Local Planning Authorities obligation to, “reflect and where appropriate promote 

relevant EU obligations and statutory requirements” (Paragraph 2 of NPPF) and the 
requirement, under paragraph 170 of the NPPF, for planning decisions to minimise impacts 
on and provide net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures (along with emerging 
advice within the Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill 2018); the applicant 
must display a net gain to biodiversity value, within  developments, as per the requirements 
of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020.  Furthermore, producing a measurable 20% net-gain to 
biodiversity value, is also made a requirement of all developments within Lichfield District 
under Policy NR3 of the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy, which feeds into the Council’s 
Biodiversity and Development SPD.  Such accords with the requirements of Paragraph 175 

Page 127



 

of the NPPF which states, “opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and 
around developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable 
net gains for biodiversity”. 

 
10.6 Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan Policy AH2 (detailed within the Planning 

Policy Section of this report), seeks to conserve and enhance the area’s natural 
environmental assets, including its habitats and requires that where harm arises, it must be 
off-set through the delivery of a net gain in biodiversity.  

 
10.7 Policy CP12 of the Cannock Chase Local Plan promotes the protection, conservation and 

enhancement of the District’s biodiversity and geodiversity assets.   
 
10.8 The ‘Technical Appendix 9.8, Biodiversity Net Gain’ document has assessed the site’s 

biodiversity value.  The Ecology Manager considers that the quantitative data within this 
document is an accurate depiction of value/s of the habitat currently on the site (as regards 
total area, type, distinctiveness and condition) and agrees it is  accurate for the sites’ current 
biodiversity value to be viewed as 403.77 Biodiversity Units (BU).  In addition, it is 
considered that the applicant’s Biodiversity Impact Calculator is accurate, in describing the 
likely achievable biodiversity value of the site post development, as 431.68 BU. 

 
10.9 The applicant’s intention is therefore to deliver net gains of 27.91 BU as part of the 

proposed development scheme.  The Ecology Manager approves of the new habitats 
proposed for creation, in order to deliver these net gains, as part of the development 
scheme and considers them in adherence with the Lichfield District Biodiversity Opportunity 
Map (see Appendix E map 4 of the Biodiversity and Development SPD) and the adopted 
Nature Recovery Network Mapping.  As such, the development scheme is viewed as likely to 
be able to achieve a 20% net-gain to Biodiversity Value and therefore complies with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF in this regard. 

 
10.10 The applicant will need to submit to the LPA a Construction Environment Management Plan 

(CEMP) and a Habitat Management Plan (HMP) detailing, in full, the future habitat creation 
works (and sustained good management thereof), demonstrating a net gain to a value of not 
less than 27.91 BU.  This should be supported by an updated biodiversity metric for the site.  
It is recommended that these requirements be secured via conditions. 
 

11. Impact on Special Areas of Conservation 
 
11.1 Paragraph 177 of the NPPF advises that, “The presumption in favour of sustainable 

development does not apply where the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on 
a habitats site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an 
appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the habitats site”. 

 
 Recreation 
  
11.2  Under the provisions of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the 

Local Planning Authority as the competent authority, must have further consideration, of the 
impact of the development on nearby Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  Therefore, in 
accordance with Regulation 63 of the aforementioned Regulations, the Local Planning 
Authority has, following the submission of a Shadow Habitat Regulation Assessment from 
the applicant, undertaken a HRA Screening Assessment for the West Midlands Mosses SAC, 
Cannock Extension Canal SAC, Pasturefields SAC and the Cannock Chase SAC, to determine 
whether an Appropriate Assessment (AA) for recreational impact, to gauge negative impacts 
to the reason for designation of the SACs, is required.   

 
11.3 The impact upon West Midlands Mosses, Cannock Extension Canal and Pasturefields SACs, 

as a consequence of recreation were screened out, following consultation with the Cannock 

Page 128



 

Chase SAC Partnership and Natural England, as part of the ES process and therefore, no 
further consideration of impact upon these habitats, is required.  The AA for recreational 
impact upon the Cannock Chase SAC identifies that the application will have a significant 
affect, in the absence of avoidance and mitigation measures, on this habitat.  The authority 
has concluded that the adverse effects arising from the proposal, are wholly consistent with 
the effects detailed in the Cannock Chase SAC – Planning Evidence Base Review (2017).  The 
most up-to-date evidence therefore suggests that these effects can be satisfactorily 
mitigated, by the measures set out in the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
Measures (SAMMMs), previously agreed with Natural England.  

 
11.4 The agreed strategy for mitigating harm arising from recreational impacts from occupants of 

new residential development on the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is set 
out in Policy NR7 of the Council’s Local Plan Strategy (Policy CP13 within the Cannock Chase 
Local Plan).  The Policy requires that before development is permitted, it must be 
demonstrated that in itself or in combination with other development, it will not have an 
adverse effect whether direct or indirect upon the integrity of the Cannock Chase SAC, 
having regard to avoidance or mitigation measures.  In particular, dwellings within a 15km 
radius of any boundary of Cannock Chase SAC will be deemed to have an adverse impact on 
the SAC unless or until satisfactory avoidance and/or mitigation measures have been 
secured. 

 
11.5 Subsequent to the adoption of the Local Plan Strategy, the Council adopted further guidance 

on 10 March 2015, acknowledging a 15km Zone of Influence and seeking financial 
contributions for the required mitigation from development within the 0-8km zone.  This site 
lies within the 0 - 8 km zone and as such is directly liable to financial mitigation.  Such 
mitigation will help to provide for the package of works detailed within the SAMMMs.  The 
Cannock Chase SAC partnership advise that there remains capacity within SAMMMs to 
mitigate for the harm arising from the development and therefore, bespoke mitigation is not 
required.  Prior to issuing any positive decision for this site, the applicant must therefore 
agree to a Unilateral Undertaking for a sum of £178.60 per CIL exempt dwelling, within 
Lichfield District, which rises to £221 within Cannock Chase District. 

 
11.6 Natural England are a statutory consultee on the AA stage of the Habitats Regulations 

process and have therefore been duly consulted on this matter.  Natural England have 
concurred with both Lichfield and Cannock Chase’s AA on recreation impact and therefore 
offer no objections to the proposal.  On this basis, it is concluded that the LPA have met its 
requirements as the competent authority, as required by the abovementioned Regulations. 

 
 Nitrogen Oxide Deposition 
 
11.7 The effects arising from nitrate deposition through road traffic emissions are considered in 

detail within the updated Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA).  This document 
identifies that during and post construction roads that pass through or near to the Cannock 
Chase SAC will experience an uplift in traffic as a direct consequence of this development, 
given that a total of 414.37ha of the SAC is within 200m of a road (33.4% of the entire SAC 
area). 

  
11.8 In terms of the impact of the proposal upon the West Midlands Mosses, Cannock Extension 

Canal and Pasturefields SACs, the HRA Assessments; completed by the competent authority 
following regard being had to the sensitivity of the site, determined that the impact of the 
development would not exceed the thresholds set out in the document titled, ‘Natural 
England’s approach to advising competent authorities on the assessment of road traffic 
emission under the Habitats Regulations (2018)’, given that the Transport Assessment and 
Air Quality Assessment both demonstrate that nitrogen oxide emissions, resulting from 
increased vehicular movements, do not exceed critical loads by more than 1%.  As a 
consequence, the need to progress to AA for these SACs, was determined to be unnecessary.  

 

Page 129



 

11.9 Cannock Chase SAC is recognised for its ‘North Atlantic Wet Heaths with Erica tetralix’ and 
for ‘European Dry Heaths’.  The applicant’s study suggests that Cannock Chase SAC may be 
subject to an increase of more than 1% of its critical load (2.59% in total) of kgN/ha/yr.  This 
uplift is therefore above an assumed ‘Environmental Benchmark’, where effects below 1% 
are considered to have an imperceptible effect on the habitat and effects above are to be 
considered more fully.  

 
11.10 In this case, the issue highlighted within the Shadow HRA submission, is that nitrate 

deposition from road traffic emissions deposited on the site could result in amongst other 
impacts:  

 

 Modification of the chemical status of the soils/substrate; 

 Accelerating or damaging plant growth (e.g. promoting bramble and grass growth); 

 Decline in recognised species and lichens, mosses and other species richness; and 

 The increased coverage of certain grass and sedge species, which exhibit a positive 
relationship with nitrogen deposition.  Such growth would be at the expense of the 
protected wet and dry heath species.  

 
11.11 As a consequence of the above, the proposed development would result in a predicted loss 

of species richness of between -0.56 (sum of lowest range), 0.83 (median) and 1.11 (sum of 
highest range).  The impact of the development and harm arising, based on a worse case 
approach, is thereafter calculated to be 235 BU.  

 
11.12 The shadow HRA therefore models and seeks to quantify the effects, in detail, of the likely 

uplift in nitrate deposition, within the protected SAC area and in the first instance offer 
avoidance measures, not initially incorporated into the baseline figures, to combat this 
uplift.  The avoidance measures detailed within the Shadow HRA, in brief, are; increased use 
in electric vehicles, which is to be secured via the installation of infrastructure to allow for 
each property to install EV charging points and, for residential visitor spaces and publically 
accessible parking such as the local centre and employment uses, 5% provision for active 
infrastructure and 15% passive; the increased use of buses, to be secured via a financial 
contribution to bus service provision; the application of a Framework Travel Plan and the 
provision of high speed internet connections for all residential units, in order to facilitate 
future residents, to be able to effectively work from home.     

 
11.13 Following application of the avoidance measures, which have been considered appropriate 

by the Council’s Ecology Manager, the Cannock Chase SAC Partnership and Natural England, 
the harm arising to the Cannock Chase SAC has been quantified to be 186 BU (a reduction in 
impact of 21%).  Evidently, the avoidance measures will have to be secured via condition and 
in the case of bus provision, via the s106 agreement.  In order for the development to 
mitigate for the remaining BU uplift, suitable measures are required.   

 
11.14 The Shadow HRA details the mitigation options considered for this development and 

continues to justify why certain options were not pursued.  The document details that the 
mitigation measure pursued relates to the creation of a buffering habitat area for the SAC, 
which would, through enlarging the heathland area, make the habitat more robust to the 
impact of NOx deposition. The new heathland is proposed to be created within the 
Heathland Opportunity Area, which for Lichfield District Council, is detailed within the 
Lichfield District Nature Recovery Network (2019) document (note the adjoining Council’s of 
Cannock Chase District, South Staffordshire, Stafford and Birmingham City all have draft 
versions of this document, which will complete the aforementioned Network link). The 
Heathland Opportunity Area seeks to provide a heathland link between the Cannock Chase 
SAC and the Sutton Park Site of Special Scientific Interest, which, in addition to buffering the 
Cannock Chase SAC, will also increase habitat connectivity (which accords with the measures 
outlined in the Natural England’s, Cannock Chase SAC Supplementary Nature Conservation 
Objectives for connecting the heathland network).  To mitigate for 186 BU it is necessary to 
secure either:  

Page 130



 

 

 The conversion of low value arable land to high value heathland in good condition: 
approximately 31 ha of land; or 

 The restoration of high value habitat in poor condition to good condition: 
approximately 40 ha of land. 

 
11.15 The timescale for the habitat to be created/restored and thereafter managed and 

maintained is for a period of 25 years, which based on NOx deposition trends and the 
increased adoption of greener technologies, accords with the time where the NOx levels are 
anticipated to be reducing and therefore will no longer require mitigation.   

 
11.16 To deliver a financial provision to deliver the required level of mitigation the applicant 

proposes to follow the Defra net gain tariff, as set out in their December 2018 consultation 
document.  This proposes an upper limit of £15,000 per unit for a maximum of a 30 year 
period, which equates to £500 per unit, per year. For a 25 year period therefore, on the 
basis of the above calculations, the financial contribution is: (£500 x 186 BU) x 25 years = 
£2,325,000.00.  In order to deliver the mitigation measures, the above noted sum will be 
secured via the s106 agreement and subsequently delivered by Lichfield District Council, as 
agreed by the Council’s Ecology Manager. 

 
11.17 As stated above, Natural England are a statutory consultee on the Appropriate Assessment 

(AA) stage of the Habitats Regulations process and therefore have been duly consulted.  
Natural England have endorsed this mitigation strategy and raise no objections to the 
proposal, subject to the avoidance measures and mitigation works and the costs associated 
with such, being secured via conditions and s106 agreement.  On this basis, it is concluded 
that the LPA have met its requirements as the ‘competent authority’, as required by the 
above noted Regulations and therefore, the proposal will comply with the requirements of 
the Development Plan and the NPPF in this regard. 

 
12. Waste Management 
 
12.1  Policy 1.2 of the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Joint Waste Local Plan, as supported by 

paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste requires the better use of waste 
associated with non-waste related development, where all ‘major development’ proposals 
should: 
 
i)     Use / Address waste as a resource; 
ii)    Minimise waste as far as possible; 
iii)  Demonstrate the use of sustainable design and construction techniques, i.e. resource 

efficiency in terms of sourcing of materials, construction methods, and demolition; 
iv)   Enable the building to be easily decommissioned or reused for a new purpose; and 

enable the future recycling of the building fabric to be used for its constituent material; 
v)    Maximise on-site management of construction, demolition and excavation waste arising 
during construction; 
vi)   Make provision for waste collection to facilitate, where practicable, separated waste 

collection systems; and 
vii)   Be supported by a site waste management / waste audit if the development is likely to 

generate significant volumes of waste. 
 
12.2 The application is accompanied by a Waste Audit and Waste Management Strategy (‘the 

Strategy’).  In respect of ground modelling and earthworks/excavation calculations, it is 
stated that a net fill of approximately 33,000m3 (approximately 45,000 tonnes) will be 
required to level the site.  Approximately 8,000m3 (approximately 12,000 tonnes) of 
construction waste is also estimated from the development.  The Strategy sets out that 
waste minimisation would be part of the overall sustainable design of the project and up to 
80% of construction waste could be designed out.  Also, a construction material recycling 

Page 131



 

facility could be developed at the start of the project and used as a hub for storing used 
construction material and a centre for recycling for further use on the project. 

 
12.3 The Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Joint Waste Local Plan contains the relevant waste 

planning policy considerations for the infill process identified for this development.  Policy 
1.4 (Use of Waste for landscaping, screening, engineering purposes or for the improvement 
of agricultural or forestry land) emphasises the importance of ensuring that the amount of 
material is reasonable and necessary and that the proposals are comprehensive, detailed, 
practicable and achievable within the proposed timescales. Policy 4.2 (Protection of 
environmental quality) identifies the matters that may be relevant to protect environmental 
quality, including the effects on people, local communities, and the highway network.  
Paragraph 6.4 provides a list of the type of matters that may be controlled by condition, 
which include a condition to define the duration of the development.  Assuming an average 
HGV payload of 20-tonnes the fill required equates to a total of approximately 2,250 HGV 
loads or 4,500 two-way HGV movements.  It is also important to limit the duration of 
temporary operations, in order to minimise the effects on local amenity, the environment 
and the highway network.   

 
12.4 Finally, given the proposed Waste Management Strategy to design out up to 80% of 

construction waste, it would be appropriate to monitor progress of the fill operations, in 
addition to ongoing monitoring of waste materials generated and processed on site. 

 
12.5 Having regard to the policies, guidance and observations referred to above, the application 

will be policy compliant, subject to the inclusion of a condition to define the duration of the 
infill operations and ongoing monitoring of waste materials generated and reused on site. 

 
13. Archaeology 
 
13.1  Paragraph 128 of the NPPF places a duty on Local Planning Authorities to, “require an 

applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any 
contribution made by their setting.   The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ 
importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal 
on their significance”. 

 
13.2 The ES includes an Archaeology Technical Note outlining the rationale as to why Archaeology 

was scoped out of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) process, including details of 
consultation with the County Council’s Archaeologist.  This was felt appropriate given the 
amount of made ground present at the site, the previous land use, predicted levels of the 
proposed development site, and the minimal amount of development proposed for the less 
developed areas of the site such as the green areas along the river bank.  

 
13.3 However, the Staffordshire Historic Environment Record (HER) and associated datasets, such 

as the Rugeley Historic Environment Character Assessment (RHECA 9 and 10) suggests 
potential for groundworks to impact upon below ground prehistoric to early medieval 
archaeological deposits under the alluvium.  This is in addition to above and below ground 
features associated with post medieval water meadows in the area proposed for the public 
riverside park on the Illustrative Master Plan. 

   
13.4 Following consideration of the ‘Outline Remediation and Reclamation Strategy’, submitted 

with the application, it is noted that the creation of the development platform will 
necessitate the removal of alluvial deposits across the site, down to the natural superficial 
deposits, in this case river terrace deposits.  As such, there is some potential for previously 
unknown prehistoric to early medieval archaeological sites (perhaps including waterlogged 
deposits containing palaeo-environmental remains) to be encountered as part of the 
reclamation works. Thus, an appropriate archaeological mitigation strategy is therefore 
recommended to be conditioned, to ensure the scheme complies, in this regard, with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and the NPPF. 

Page 132



 

 
14. Planning Obligations Including Education Provision 
 
14.1  Under the provisions of Policy IP1 of the Local Plan Strategy major new developments are 

required to make provisions for social/community facilities as the need for which arises from 
the development and that are commensurate to the scale and nature of the proposals.  Such 
provision can be by way of direct on-site provision and/or by a contribution made for the 
provision of facilities elsewhere.   

 
 Education Provision 
 
14.2 Based on the location of the proposed development, the County Council’s School 

Organisation Team advise that the development will impact on school places in Rugeley and 
surrounding areas and more specifically at the following schools: 
 

 Chancel Primary School 

 Hob Hill CE/Methodist (VC) Primary School 

 Redbrook Hayes Community Primary School 

 The Croft Primary School 

 The Hart School 
 
14.3 The Council is advised that the erection of 2,300 dwellings would create a requirement for 

104 early years places, 483 primary school places, 345 secondary places and 69 post-16 
places.  

 
14.4 There are projected to be an insufficient number of school places in the local area to 

accommodate the children generated by this development at both primary and secondary 
phases of education.  This development therefore needs to provide sufficient land and to 
fully fund the costs of delivering a new 2FE primary school (420 places + nursery places).  
The contribution requested to address this requirement is £7,902,200 (plus a suitable site of 
2ha to deliver a 2FE primary school). 

 
14.5 In terms of secondary education, the level of contribution has been calculated, based on the 

cost of providing 2FE of secondary and post-16 places.  The education contribution will be 
used to provide additional secondary school places by either; 
 

 Expanding existing secondary provision at The Hart School (should the Primary 
School only option be implemented); or 

 Providing new secondary provision onsite (should the ATS be implemented) 
 
14.6 The current estimated cost of providing 2 forms of entry of high school places is £8,000,000. 

The applicant is to agree to provide the necessary sums and land through the s106 
agreement.  It should be noted that whilst not strictly necessary in order to mitigate for the 
impact of this development, given expansion of the Hart Secondary School is feasible, the 
siting of an ATS within this site will offer both choice for residents, as well as meet future 
capacity requirements for the area.  It is for these reasons that there is support offered to 
this proposal from the Education Authority.  Thus, given these considerations, the 
development (whichever option of school provision is brought forward) will comply with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF, in this regard. 

 
15. Other Issues 
 
15.1 As noted above, part of the site and the grid power supply were included within the High 

Speed Rail (West Midlands - Crewe) Supplementary Environmental Statement and 
Additional Provision Environmental Statement Volume 2: Community Area report CA1: 
Fradley to Colton. However, since the release of the report, the House of Commons Select 
Committee on High Speed Rail (West Midlands - Crewe) Bill Promoter's response to the 

Page 133



 

Select Committee's Third Special Report of Session (2017 – 2019), determined that a new 
preferred site at Parkgate, would be a more suitable location for the grid power supply and 
the requirement at Rugeley Power Station would no longer be required. 

 
15.2 The above report considers the majority of the matters raised by neighbours to the site.  The 

issues that remain relate to the fact that new housing already exists within the area to meet 
demand and, the request from Power for All, for a Renaissance Manager to be funded by 
this development, in order to promote the scheme and wider area.  This former is not a 
material planning consideration, whilst the latter would not pass Reg. 122 requirements, 
given such is not necessary, in order to deliver the development. 

 
15.3 The Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018 requires 

Local Planning Authorities to agree the text of any pre-commencement conditions prior to 
the determination of any application. To that end, the conditions recommended within this 
report have been agreed with both the applicant and officers at Cannock Chase District 
Council.   

 
16.  Financial Considerations (including Community Infrastructure Levy) 
 
16.1 This development is a CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) liable scheme set within the 

lower charging zone, where the applicable rate is £25 per square metre. This will be payable 
in accordance with the Council’s adopted CIL Instalments Policy, unless otherwise agreed. 

 
16.2 The development would give rise to a number of economic benefits. For example, the 

development would lead to the creation of new direct and indirect jobs, through supply 
chain benefits and new expenditure introduced to the local economy. Table 6.18 within the 
updated ES states that an anticipated 89-97 direct construction jobs per annum would be 
created during the development process, and in total 129 jobs per annum (over 
approximately 20 years = 2580 jobs) including supply chain related benefits and relevant 
deductions. 

 
16.3 In terms of direct employment it is anticipated that 2,857-2,938 FTE jobs would be created 

by the development, once it is fully constructed and operational. With adjustments and off 
site jobs this rises to 2,931 FTE jobs once the development is fully operational.   

 
16.4 It should also be noted that the development will generate New Homes Bonus, Council Tax 

and Business Rates. 
 
17. Human Rights 
 
17.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights 

Act 1998. The proposals may interfere with an individual’s rights under Article 8 of Schedule 
1 to the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their 
private and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be 
justified if it is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The 
potential interference here has been fully considered within the report in having regard to 
the representations received and, on balance, is justified and proportionate in relation to the 
provisions of the policies of the development plan and national planning policy. 

 
Conclusion 
 
The NPPF states that there are three dimensions to sustainable development, namely economic, 
social and environmental and that these should be considered collectively and weighed in the 
balance when assessing the suitability of development proposals.  With reference to this scheme, 
economically the proposal will provide direct and indirect employment opportunities, through 
creating a development opportunity, which includes employment generating uses and whose future 
residents would support existing and proposed facilities within the area.  Socially, the proposal 

Page 134



 

would have little impact upon existing residents, whilst suitable conditions can secure the amenity of 
future residents within the site. In addition, the scale of development is compliant with the 
requirements of the Council’s Development Plan and will offer benefits to the wider community 
through the provision of the large areas of POS and potentially an All Through School. 
 
Environmentally, the site occupies a location where any landscape harm will be localised. It is 
considered that adequate, high quality public open space will be provided on site, to meet the needs 
of future and existing residents, whilst replacement and enhanced sports provision, will be provided 
on site or be mitigated through an appropriate off-site contribution, to ensure the health and well-
being of existing and future residents.  The number of dwellings and mix proposed, will provide a 
suitable density of development to integrate into the character of the area, whilst also helping to 
meet the housing needs of the District.  The development will cause less than substantial harm to 
the setting of nearby listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets, with the degree of harm 
likely to be further lessened through the application of an appropriate landscaping scheme.   
 
With regard to transport and highway matters, adequate information and detail has been included 
within the supporting information to demonstrate that sustainable travel choices can be integrated 
within the development. Acceptable details have been provided with regard to the two vehicular 
access points to ensure that the development can be safely and appropriately accessed, without 
undue harm to either the character or appearance of the area, existing or future residents or 
highway and pedestrian safety.  Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the development will 
have an acceptable impact upon the Strategic Highway Network and will not impact upon the 
delivery of HS2 or existing electrical operations that will continue within the site, post development. 
 
Subject to suitable conditions, there will be no adverse impact on protected or priority species, 
whilst a positive biodiversity impact will be created within the site.  The applicant has also been able 
to demonstrate suitable on-site avoidance measures along with off-site mitigation measures to 
address Nitrogen Oxide deposition impact upon the Cannock Chase SAC, whilst suitable mitigation 
will also be secured for recreation impact to the same SAC.  With regard to drainage, residential 
amenity and the development’s impact on the surrounding landscape, it is considered that adequate 
mitigation would be provided and that, subject to appropriate conditions, no material harm will be 
caused.  
 
The primary area of conflict with the Development Plan arises through the siting of built form to the 
north of the Borrow Pit.  Built form in this location runs contrary to Policy AH4 of the Armitage with 
Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan and also, will create something of a visual anomaly, when viewed 
from within the site.  However, it is considered that when balanced against the above stated positive 
impacts of the development, an appropriate recommendation has been arrived at.  In addition 
Members will be aware that this matter was considered, weighed and determined to be acceptable 
within the resolved to grant permission.  
 
Given the above assessment and the weight attributable to the delivery of residential development 
on brownfield sites, through the NPPF, it is recommended that this application is in conformity with 
the Development Plan as a whole and no other material considerations are sufficient to outweigh 
the acceptability of this development, so as to warrant the refusal of the application.  
 
Therefore, the recommendation, subject to the signing of a S106 agreement and Unilateral 
Undertaking, is one of approval.  
 
 

Page 135



7

74.1m El Sub Sta

8

1

67

2

1

DAF FO DIL DR IVE

ESS

2

SU NFLOW
ER  STREET

83

27

El Sub Sta

Un
d

Streethay

FF

Stre et h ay  L o d ge

Depot

Depot

Depot

25

BURT ON  R OA D

8

1

29

PO PL AR RO AD

2

1

19

9

31

41
1

OAK  W AY

17

2

1

5

KIN GF ISHER DRIVE

1

10

TE
AL  R

OA D

SK
YLA

RK

6

2

30

15

1

18

5

11

20

4

4

2

7

ST AT ION  APPR OA CH

BURT ON  R OA D

Warehouse

FF

CR

FF

Def

How ar th Ho us e

TREN T VA LL EY R OA D

76.6m

Issues

79.7m

Warehouse

ESS

L Twr

ED Bdy

Gantry

21

15

810

2

Ward Bdy

11

HIL LMAN D
RIV

E

SL

15

11

14

BERW ICK  AVENU E

PER RY AVENUE

57

551

7

BUTTER FLY LA NE

29

Play Area

RO
MAN ROAD

Ryk
nild

 S tree
t

Garage

Tre nt

Co tt ag e
Va ll ey

70

60

71

18

41

19

15

1

(co
urs

e o
f)

61

16

11

75.9m

26

SB

6

BAILYE C LO SE

5

25

12

74.4m

79

61

31

45

1

7

9

76.0m

Chimney

10

BEXM OR E DR IVE
8

14

18

Tren t Va lley  Co ttag es

El Sub Sta

11 63

9

20

35

Railway
Crossing

Ppg Sta

2

BURTON  O
LD R

O AD

Tren t Park

Me ws
Tren t Park

DA
RN

FO
RD

 VI
EW

12

1 to 33

39

Sta
Sub
El

19

17

Whitting ton
Ho use

WB

Factory

2

Depot

27

CATER HAM  CRESCEN T

Footbridge

Dep ot

VAL L EY L ANE

EA STER N AVENU E

Works

Sign al  Gantry

Hou se
Friar y

1 to 33 Ridw are

1

11

15

1

3
1

Ho use

7

HOB 'S  RO AD

PEN NYS CRO FT

Tren t Va le  Ho u se

5 t
o 1

5

Ho use

31

Ppg Sta

1 to 33

El Sub Sta

Shenstone

19

9

Pond

Pond

Chi ldrens Nursery

SLs

Pavilion

26
28

Def

ED  &  W ard  Bd y

4

VU LC AN RO AD

2

Lichfield Retail
Park

38

22

TREN T VA LL EY R OA D

CR

143a 78.6m
143

161

Posts

VALLEY2

Posts

TCBED Bdy

LANE

MP

18

9
11

85
87

7977
81

2

3

HEDG EROW RO AD

SB

76.0m

Tren t Va lley
Sta tio n

Lich fie ld

Und

Def

Def

FF

78.4m

SL

SP

SP

SP

ST AT ION  APPR OA CH

CROSSFIELD  R OA D

ST AT ION  APPR OA CH

El
Sub Sta

Mast

Works

LB

16

D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20201:5,000LOCATION PLAN
19/01015/OUTM

Land At Streethay
Burton Road Streethay

Page 136



 

19/01015/OUTM 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF UP TO 200 RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS FOR PHASE 2 OF 
THE STREETHAY STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT ALLOCATION (SITE REFERENCE LC1) INCLUDING 
COMPREHENSIVE GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE, FOOTPATHS, OPEN SPACE, CHILDREN'S PLAY AREA, 
SURFACE AND FOUL WATER DRAINAGE INCLUDING ATTENUATION POND, AND OTHER ANCILLARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND WORKS. ALL MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT FOR POINTS OF ACCESS, WHICH 
INCLUDES TWO POINTS OF ACCESS CONNECTING INTO THE WESTERN EDGE OF THE PHASE 1 
STREETHAY DEVELOPMENT. AFFECTS FOOTPATH 'FRADLEY AND STREETHAY 1'. 
LAND AT STREETHAY, BURTON ROAD, STREETHAY, LICHFIELD 
FOR MILLER HOMES  
 
Registered: 19/07/2019 
 
Parish: Fradley And Streethay 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee due to more than two obligations 
being sought within a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: (1) Subject to the owners/applicants first entering into a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement under the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) to secure 
contributions/planning obligations towards: 
 

1. 35% Affordable Housing; 
2. Education Contribution for Primary School Places;  
3. Offsite highways improvements scheme 
4. Travel Plan Contribution; and,  
5. The formation of a maintenance management company to maintain the Open Space 

 
(2) If the S106 legal agreement is not signed/completed by the 31 March 2021 or the expiration of 
any further agreed extension of time, then powers be delegated to officers to refuse planning 
permission based on the unacceptability of the development without the required contributions 
and undertakings as outlined in the report. 
 
Then Approve, subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
Application(s) for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission 

 
2. The development authorised by this permission shall be carried out in complete accordance 

with the approved plans and specification, as listed on this decision notice, except insofar as 
may be otherwise required by other conditions to which this permission is subject. 

 
3. This is an outline planning permission and no phase of development shall be commenced until 

details of the layout of the site including the disposition of roads and buildings; existing and 
proposed ground levels and finished floor levels; the design of all buildings and structures 
including pumping station; housing mix and tenure; the external appearance of all buildings 
and structures including materials to be used on all external surfaces; the means of pedestrian 
and vehicular access and parking layout; and the landscape and planting of the site shall be 

Page 137



 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority by way of reserved matters 
application(s). 

 
4. This permission shall relate to the erection of no more than 200 dwellings. 
 

CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to submission of Reserved Matters details: 
 
5. Before the submission of any Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 3, a detailed 

Masterplan, to incorporate a design code for the entire site, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Masterplan shall be broadly in 
accordance with the Indicative Masterplan and Design and Access Statement submitted with 
the application and shall include the following: 

 
Built form 

(i) Character areas; 
(ii) Building forms, heights and housing mix; 
(iii) Corner treatment; 
(iv) Elevational composition; 
(v) Placement of entrances; 
(vi) Building materials palette. 
 

Public realm 
(i) Street types and Road Hierarchy including measures to restrain the speeds 

of vehicles to 20mph; 
(ii) Landscape design principles; 
(iii) Boundary treatments; 
(iv) Surface materials palette; 
(v) Planting palette; 
(vi) Integration of car parking and cycle parking;  
(vii) Connections to the surrounding area for all transport modes inc 
pedestrian; and  
(ix) Details of green infrastructure elements including childrens play area 
(location, size, function and character); 
 

Proposals contained within applications for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to 
Condition 3 shall conform to the approved Masterplan, unless otherwise first agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.  

 
6. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a detailed surface water drainage 

scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details before the development is completed. The scheme to be submitted shall demonstrate: 

 
1. The results of percolation assessments carried out in accordance with BRE digest 365 to 

determine infiltration potential. 
2. Surface water drainage system(s) designed in accordance with the Non-statutory 

technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (DEFRA, March 2015). 
3. Limiting the discharge rate generated by all rainfall events up to the 100 year plus 30% 

(for climate change) critical rain storm to 6.6l/s. 
4. Provision of surface water run-off attenuation storage in accordance with the 

requirements specified in ‘Science Report SC030219 Rainfall Runoff Management for 
Developments’. 

5. The incorporation of adequate SuDS treatment trains to help improve water quality in 
accordance with CIRIA C753 Simple index Approach. 

6. Detailed design (plans, network details and calculations) in support of any surface water 
drainage scheme, including details on any attenuation system, and the outfall 

Page 138



 

arrangements. Calculations should demonstrate the performance of the designed 
system for a range of return periods and storm durations inclusive of the 1 in 1 year, 1 
in 2 year, 1 in 30 year, 1 in 100 year and 1 in 100 year plus climate change return periods. 

7. Plans illustrating flooded areas and flow paths in the event of exceedance of the 
drainage system. 

8. Provision of an acceptable management and maintenance plan for surface water 
drainage to ensure that surface water drainage systems shall be maintained and 
managed for the lifetime of the development. 

 
7. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a scheme for protecting the 

dwellings from noise from the surrounding commercial noise sources shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme should be implemented 
before the development is first occupied and shall be the subject of a validation report, which 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
development being first occupied. The approved measures shall thereafter be maintained for 
the life of the development. 

 
8. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a scheme for the investigation and 

recording of any contamination of the site and a report shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall identify any contamination on the 
site, the subsequent remediation works considered necessary to render the contamination 
harmless and the methodology used. The approved remediation scheme shall thereafter be 
completed and a validation report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority within 1 calendar month of the approved remediation being completed. 

 
9. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a Construction Environment 

Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

The CEMP shall include details relating to construction access, hours of construction, routing 
of HGV’s, delivery times and the location of the contractors compounds, cabins, material 
storage areas and contractors parking and a scheme for the management and suppression of 
dust and mud from construction activities including the provision of a vehicle wheel wash and 
details including of how noise and vibration associated with the construction phases are to be 
controlled and minimised. It shall also include a method of any demolition and restoration of 
the site. All site operations shall then be undertaken strictly in accordance with the approved 
CEMP for the duration of the construction programme 

 
Information submitted within the CEMP should also expand upon the information provided 
within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Impact Assessment for Net Gain 
dated May 2020 and must detail: 
 
1. Current soil conditions of any areas designated for habitat creation and detailing of what 

conditioning must occur to the soil prior to the commencement of habitat creation works 
(for example, lowering of soil pH via application of elemental sulfur)  

2. Descriptions and mapping of all exclusion zones (both vehicular and for storage of 
materials) to be enforced during construction to avoid any unnecessary soil compaction 
on area to be utilized for habitat creation. 

3. Details of both species composition and abundance (% within seed mix etc.…) where 
planting is to occur. 

4. Proposed management prescriptions for all habitats for a period of no less than 25 years. 
5. Assurances of achievability.  
6. Timetable of delivery for all habitats. 
7. A timetable of future ecological monitoring for which reports should be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority every 5 years, to ensure that all habitats achieve their proposed 
management condition as well as description of a feed-back mechanism by which the 
management prescriptions can be amended should the monitoring deem it necessary.  

Page 139



 

 
All site operations shall then be undertaken strictly in accordance with the approved CEMP 
for the duration of the construction programme. 
 

10. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a Habitat Management Plan (HMP) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The HMP shall detail, in 
full, the future habitat creation works (and sustained good management thereof) 
demonstrating a net gain to a value of no less than 9.24 Biological Units. This should be 
supported by an updated biodiversity metric for the site. 

 
Information submitted within the HMP should expand upon the information provided within 
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Impact Assessment for Net Gain dated 
May 2020 and must detail: 

 
1. Current soil conditions of any areas designated for habitat creation and detailing of what 

conditioning must occur to the soil prior to the commencement of habitat creation works 
(for example, lowering of soil pH via application of elemental sulphur)  

2. Descriptions and mapping of all exclusion zones (both vehicular and for storage of 
materials) to be enforced during construction to avoid any unnecessary soil compaction 
on area to be utilized for habitat creation. 

3. Details of both species composition and abundance (% within seed mix etc.…) where 
planting is to occur. 

4. Proposed management prescriptions for all habitats for a period of no less than 25 years. 
5. Assurances of achievability.  
6. Timetable of delivery for all habitats. 
7. A timetable of future ecological monitoring for which reports should be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority every 5 years, to ensure that all habitats achieve their proposed 
management condition as well as description of a feed-back mechanism by which the 
management prescriptions can be amended 

 
11. Before the first occupation of any dwelling the associated driveway shall be surfaced in a 

bound material, and sustainably drained, in accordance with details to be first agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
12. Before the first occupation of any dwelling the access road onto the existing spine road as 

shown on drawing WIE SA 03 001 A01 shall be fully constructed and open for use. 
 
All other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 
13. During the period of construction of any phase of the development, no works including 

deliveries shall take place outside the following times: 0730 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 
0800 1300 hours on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays (other 
than emergency works). 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 
1 In order to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended. 
 
2 For the avoidance of doubt in that the application has been made for outline permission only; 

to ensure a satisfactory form of development; safeguard the character of the area and 
safeguard the amenity of future residents in accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 
3 and Policies BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and Government Guidance contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 140



 

3. For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the applicant’s stated intentions, in order 
to meet the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance. 

 
4. For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the applicant’s stated intentions, in order 

to meet the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance. 

 
5. For the avoidance of doubt in that the application has been made for outline permission only; 

to ensure a satisfactory form of development; safeguard the character of the area and 
safeguard the amenity of future residents in accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 
3 and Policies BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and Government Guidance contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. This is to ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of foul and 

surface water drainage as well as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and 
to minimise the risk of pollution in accordance with provisions of Core Policy 3, and Policy BE1 
of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. To safeguard the amenity of future residents in accordance with the requirements of Core 

Policy 3 and Policies BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and Government Guidance contained in 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8.  To safeguard the amenity of future residents in accordance with the requirements of Core 

Policy 3 and Policies BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and Government Guidance contained in 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. In order To safeguard the amenity of existing adjacent future residents of the site, In the 

interests of highway safety, that the LPA can assess the likelihood of any proposed habitat to 
deliver biological enhancements as part of the development, that the creation works being 
successful in achieving both desired habitat type and condition in accordance with the 
requirements of Core Policies 3 and 13 and Policies NR3 and NR6 of the Local Plan Strategy, 
the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
10. In order that the LPA can assess the likelihood of any proposed habitat to deliver biological 

enhancements as part of the development, and that the creation works being successful in 
achieving both desired habitat type and condition in accordance with the requirements of 
Core Policies 3 and 13 and Policies BE1, ST2, NR3 and NR6 of the Local Plan Strategy, the 
Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
11. In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and 

ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
12.  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and 

ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13. To safeguard the amenity of existing adjacent future residents of the site in accordance with 

the requirements of Core Policy 3 and Policies BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and Government 
Guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
NOTES TO APPLICANT: 
 
1. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015), and the 

Lichfield District Local Plan Allocations (2019). 

Page 141



 

 
2. The applicant’s attention is drawn to The Town and Country Planning (Fees for 

Applications,  Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2017, 
which requires that any written request for compliance of a planning condition(s) shall be 
accompanied by a fee of £34 for a householder application or £116 for any other application 
including reserved matters. Although the Council will endeavour to deal with such applications 
in a timely manner, it should be noted that legislation allows a period of up to 8 weeks for the 
Local Planning Authority to discharge conditions and therefore this timescale should be borne 
in mind when programming development. 

 
3. The development is considered to be a sustainable form of development which complies with 

the provisions of paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 

4. Please be advised that Lichfield District Council adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Charging Schedule on the 19th April 2016 and commenced charging from the 13th June 
2016.  A CIL charge applies to all relevant applications. This will involve a monetary sum 
payable prior to commencement of development.  In order to clarify the position of your 
proposal, please complete the Planning Application Additional Information Requirement 
Form, which is available for download from the Planning Portal or from the Council's website 
at www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/cilprocess.  

 
5. There may be Western Power assets in the vicinity of the development works. The developer 

is advised to contact Western Power prior to any of works commencing. This is in order to 
avoid any inadvertent contact with any live apparatus including underground cable and 
overhead lines during any stage before or after development. Also, to prevent incursion into 
areas where Western Power have cable/access rights and property ownership – particularly 
with regard to substations and their access, the landowner/developer must contact Western 
Power prior to works commencing. Any works in the vicinity of electricity conductors (cables 
or overhead lines) should be undertaken in accordance with HSE documents GS6 and HS(G)47 
- all excavation works shall be undertaken by hand around electricity apparatus and any 
striking of cables or overhead lines should be reported to Western Power on 105 immediately 
or as soon as it is safe to do so. With regard to consideration for properties being constructed 
in the vicinity of Western Power substations – it is strongly advised that any property 
(particularly dwellings) are planned to be sited no less than five metres from the boundary of 
a substation. For safety, the applicant must consult with Western Power regarding the siting 
of any new buildings close to substations. In order that connections can be made in a timely 
manner – any new or augmented connections for any proposed scheme must be applied for 
by the customer in order ascertain the scope and associated costs of works. 

 
6. The County Council has not received any application under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 to add or modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way, which 
affects the land in question. It should be noted, however, that this does not preclude the 
possibility of the existence of a right of way at common law, or by virtue of a presumed 
dedication under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. It may, therefore, be necessary to make 
further local enquiries and seek legal advice in respect of any physically evident route affecting 
the land, or the apparent exercise of a right of way by members of the public. Any changes to 
existing rights of way are subject to separate process under Section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
7. The applicant is advised to follow continued progress of the HS2 scheme as it moves towards 

the main works construction phase. 
  
8. Any reserved matters will require approval under Section 7 of the Staffordshire Act 1983 and 

will require a Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Please contact Staffordshire County Council 
to ensure that approvals and agreements are secured before commencement of works 

 

Page 142



 

9. The applicant is advised that this permission does not absolve them from their responsibilities 
in relation to protected species.  If evidence of bats is found during demolition, all work should 
cease and the services of a licensed ecologist procured to ensure an offence is not committed. 

 
10.  The access and off-site highway works will require a Major Works Agreement with 

Staffordshire County Council and the applicants are therefore requested to contact 
Staffordshire County Council in respect of securing the Agreement. The link below provides a 
further link to a Major Works Information Pack and an application form for the Major Works 
Agreement. Please complete and send to the address indicated on the application form which 
is Staffordshire County Council at Network Management Unit, Staffordshire Place 1, 
Wedgwood Building, Tipping Street, Stafford, Staffordshire ST16 2DH (or email to 
nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk) 
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/10 

 
11. The applicant is advised that the minimum internal dimension of any garages should be 6.0m 

x 3.0m to ensure sufficient space to enable the secure storage of both vehicles and bicycles. 
 
12. The applicant is advised that all site clearance works should be completed outside of the bird 

nesting season (March to September), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Local Plan Strategy  
Core Policy 1 – The Spatial Strategy 
Core Policy 2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 3 – Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 5 – Sustainable Transport 
Core Policy 6 – Housing Delivery 
Core Policy 10 – Healthy & Safe Lifestyles 
Core Policy 11 – Participation in Sport and Physical Activity 
Core Policy 13 – Our Natural Resources 
Policy ST1 – Sustainable Travel 
Policy ST2 – Parking Provision 
Policy H1 – A Balanced Housing Market 
Policy H2 – Provision of Affordable Homes 
Policy HSC1 – Open Space Standards 
Policy HSC2 – Playing Pitch & Sport Facility Standards 
Policy NR3 – Biodiversity, Protected Species & their Habitats 
Policy NR4 – Trees, Woodland & Hedgerows 
Policy NR7 – Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation 
Policy BE1 - High Quality Development 
 
Local Plan Allocations 
Policy LC1 - Lichfield City Housing Land Allocations 
 
Supplementary Planning Document  
Biodiversity and Development SPD 
Sustainable Design SPD 
Trees Landscaping and Development SPD 
 

Page 143

mailto:nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/10


 

Other  
No Adopted Neighbourhood Plan 
Emerging Local Plan Review 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

19/01001/REM Erection of 5no dwellings (to replace 3no dwellings) in 
pursuance of condition 1 of Outline Planning Permission 
12/00746/OUTMEI 
 

Approve 20/09/2019 

18/00957/REMM Submission of strategic landscaping proposals for Phase 2 in 
pursuance of Condition 1 of outline planning permission 
12/00746/OUTMEI 
 

Approve 05/02/2019 

12/00746/OUTMEI Demolition of 1 curtilage Listed building associated with 
Streethay House Farm and construction of a sustainable 
mixed use urban extension, comprising of up to 750 
dwellings; a primary school; mixed use community hub/local 
centre to include retail development (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, 
A4 and A5) and community buildings (D1 Use Class) care 
home (C2 Use Class); comprehensive green infrastructure, 
including footpaths, cycle ways, open space, children's play 
areas, and sustainable urban drainage systems, foul and 
surface water drainage infrastructure including attenuation 
ponds, car parking up to a maximum 75 parking spaces; and 
other ancillary infrastructure and ground remodelling.  All 
matters reserved except for points of access, which includes 
two points of access from Burton Road 
 

Approve 03/12/2014 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Conservation & Urban Design Team (LDC): As per previous comments (05/02/2020) 
 
Previous comments: No objection subject to conditions to secure any appropriate phasing and design 
through a Design Code (10/10/2019) 
 
No objection subject to conditions to secure any appropriate phasing and design through a Design 
Code and concludes the development would not result in additional harm to heritage assets 
(08/08/2019) 
 
Spatial Policy and Delivery (LDC): No objection (26/07/2019) 
 
Joint Waste Officer (LDC): Provides detailed comments in respect of bin storage and refuse collection 
(28/01/2020 & 01/08/2019 & 08/10/2019) 
 
Arboriculture Team LDC: Improved landscaping and tree protection measures required (21/10/2019 
& 21/02/2020) 
 
Parks and Leisure Services  (LDC): The Council would not be adopting the public open space, therefore, 
arrangements need to be made to ensure future maintenance of any POS areas. (27/09/2019 & 
22/07/2019) 
 
Housing Strategy Manager (LDC): 35% Affordable Housing to be secured to include social rent and 
intermediate housing (09/03/2020) 
 

Page 144



 

Environmental Health (LDC): No objection subject to conditions to secure a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan, noise mitigation scheme, restricted hours of construction and 
contaminated land assessment and remediation (13/01/2020) 
 
Previous comments: Queries regarding noise relating to the adjacent care home and nearby HS2 
(21/12/2019) 
 
Ecology Team (LDC): No objections subject to conditions requiring CEMP and HMP. Satisfied with 
methodologies and information provided. (18/06/2020) 
 
Previous comments: Object on grounds that ecological surveys are out-of-date. (16/03/2020) 
 
Insufficient information submitted (25/07/2019) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Archaeology): No objections and no further archaeological work 
required for the site following submission of WSI (26/05/2020) 
 
Previous comments: No objections subject to condition to secure a written scheme of archaeological 
investigation (04/10/2019 & 07/08/2019) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation): No objection subject to financial £899,999.73 
education contribution towards primary school education (30/07/2019) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Flood Team): No objection subject to condition to secure a surface 
water drainage scheme (08/08/2019) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highway Authority): No objections subject to conditions requiring 
CEMP, driveways prior to occupation and spine road installation. Contributions via S106 and vary 
12/00746/OUTMEI to deal with offsite highway works as a contribution rather than undertaking the 
works (06/05/2020) 
 
Staffordshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer: Provides security recommendations (11/02/2020 & 
08/08/2019) 
 
Severn Trent Water: No objection subject to standard drainage condition (30/07/2019) 
 
Highways England: No objection (09/10/2019 & 02/08/2019) 
 
HS2: No objection and advises applicant follows progress of HS2 works (30/07/2019) 
 
Natural England: No objection and concur with the conclusion of the Council’s Appropriate 
Assessment (14/08/2019) 
 
Ramblers Association: No objection subject to appropriate integration of footpaths with any future 
landscaping scheme (10/10/2019) 
 
Initial - Request copies of site location plans are provided with future consultations. Advise any 
changes to right of way to be dealt with through separate process (06/08/2019) 
 
Western Power Distribution: As per previous comments (27/09/2019) 
 
Previous comments: There may be WPD assets in the vicinity of the development works. WPD would 
suggest that the developer contacts WPD prior to any of their works commencing. (19/07/2019) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Public Rights of Way): No objection and advises of relevant separate 
processes for any changes to rights of way (07/10/2019) 

Page 145



 

 
Previous comments: No objection and advises of potential existence of a right of way under common 
law (30/07/2019) 
 
Environment Agency: No comments to make (26/09/2019 & 23/07/2019) 
 
Fradley and Streethay Parish Council: No comments (09/10/2019) 
 
Network Rail: No comments received  
 
Open Space Society: No comments received 
 
Cadent Gas: No comments received 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
Two letters of representation have been received in respect of this application. The comments made 
are summarised as follows:  
 

 Increased traffic on busy access road (Oak Way) 

 Concerns of pedestrian safety and limited footpath on one side (Oak Way) 

 Incorrect reference to Sunday bus service which does not operate and advises of the need to 
comply with the terms of conditions / Section 106 attached to the Phase 1 Streethay 
development. 

 
OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Design and Access Statement 
Biodiversity Impact Assessment 
Noise Assessment 
Statement of Community Involvement 
Magnetometer Survey Report 
Air Quality Impact Assessment 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Ecological Impact Assessment 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
Planning Statement 
Transport Assessment 
 
PLANS CONSIDERED AS PART OF THIS RECOMMENDATION 
BIR 5273_04A - Location Plan,  
BIR.5273_12C - Illustrative Masterplan,  
WIE12822-SA-03-001-A01 - Site Access   
 

 
OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site is a 9.22 hectare parcel of green field land which lies directly adjacent to the north-
west boundary of the Streethay Strategic Development Allocation site, currently under construction, 
and under the same ownership of the applicant, Miller Homes. The remaining surrounding area is 
currently open countryside, with the railway line to the west (which falls within the HS2 safeguarding 
zone) and employment uses further beyond. 
  

Page 146



 

The application site is allocated for housing development under Policy LC1 of the Local Plan Allocations 
document under site reference ‘L2’ for around 200 dwellings.  
 
The application site is relatively level with a slight undulation. The site is bounded by hedges on all 
sides, and Mare Brook and the existing strategic Streethay development on its south east side. The 
existing Streethay development consists of 750 dwellings with a 0.67ha area of retail, community uses, 
care facilities, primary school and public open space.  
 
Proposals 
 
This outline application seeks permission for vehicle access only, and all other matters reserved, for 
up to 200 residential dwellings. The proposed vehicle access would be comprised of two points of 
access connecting into the western edge of Phase 1 of the Streethay development. Pedestrian access 
could also be gained to the site from two additional points. The indicative layout it suggests three 
character areas; village, green edge and core; with a gross development area of 4.9ha at a density of 
41 dwellings per hectare with the remaining land comprising attenuation ponds, play areas, public 
open space and ecological buffer zones.   
 
Determining Issues  
 

1. Policy and Principle of Development  
2. Design and Impact upon the Character and Appearance of the Surrounding Area 
3. Housing Mix 
4. Open Spaces 
5. Amenity 
6. Access and Highways 
7. Flood Risk and Drainage 
8. Sustainability 
9. Ecology and Biodiversity 
10. Education 
11. CIL / Planning Obligations 
12. Other Matters 
13. Human Rights 

 
1. Policy and Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield District 
comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan (1998) (saved policies) and the Local Plan Strategy 
2008-2019.   

 
1.2  The application site is located adjacent to the Streethay Strategic Development Allocation site 

and creates an additional phase as indicated in the Local Plan Strategy Policies Map Streethay 
Inset 25, and is allocated for the development of around 200 dwellings (Policy LC1) within the 
Local Plan Allocations document which was adopted on 16th July 2019. The principle of 
development for up to 200 dwellings is therefore acceptable and accords with the Council’s 
adopted Development Plan. 

 
1.3 Paragraph 11 the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development and this is echoed in Core Policy 2 of the Local Plan Strategy. 
Paragraph 177 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
apply where development requiring appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats 
Directives is being considered, planned or determined. In this case, the site falls within a 15km 
radius of the boundary of the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which is 
identified under the Birds & Habitats Directive. Therefore, the guidance of the NPPF is that 

Page 147



 

the presumption in favour of sustainable development would not apply in this case and thus 
it is necessary for the development to demonstrate it has satisfied the Habitats and Species 
Regulations in that the integrity of the Cannock Chase SAC will not be adversely affected, 
having regard to avoidance or mitigation measures. This is considered fully in Ecology Section 
below. 

 
2. Design and Impact upon the Character and Appearance of the Surrounding Area 
 
2.1 Layout and appearance are reserved matters thus fall outside of the scope of this current 

outline application which is for main vehicle access points only. Being an outline application, 
detailed design is not being considered at this stage. Nevertheless, it is important to ensure 
that the detailed proposals that come forward at the reserved matters stage are of the highest 
design quality, appropriate to the site’s context.     

 
2.2 An illustrative layout plan has been submitted which shows 200 houses arranged around the 

site with a large area of public open space, play and attenuation pond to the north. The houses 
are laid out with two main roads running north to south connected in two parts and these will 
have spurs off. Private drives are also shown. This gives the site decent perimeter blocks and 
three main character areas; Village, Green Edge and residential core. These different character 
areas allow a lower density towards the periphery of the site and into the countryside helping 
to limit any visual impacts; larger gaps between houses, more landscaping, planting and 
sensitive house design will result in a suitable edge to the scheme.  The site is to be connected 
organically to the existing Phase1 of Streethay and this minimises crossings over Mare Brook. 
At a density of 40dph the site will be congruent with the adjacent development and achieve 
best use of the land.  

 
2.3 The site will be surrounded by existing and bolstered by trees and hedges helping to soften 

the periphery into the adjoining countryside and create a buffer to ecological areas along 
Mare Brook. Whilst technically being a bolt-on development to the main Streethay 
development and have a similar general appearance it will sit independently within its own 
enclosed are as necessitated by its context: the brook and countryside edge; this however 
does not mean it won’t integrate well to the existing development as its links and general still 
result in cohesion throughout the entire Streethay development.  

 
2.4 The erosion of the area’s rural character is inevitable although the main views affected will be 

mainly local and but in wider views from the railway, farm tracks, industrial/commercial areas 
off Eastern Avenue, and an adjacent public right of way, the proposal would be seen against 
the backdrop of the larger Streethay Phase 1 development whilst being softened by dense and 
mature trees and hedges ensuring it would not appear overly disconnected or incongruous. 
Furthermore it is not expected that ridge heights will be excessive based on the type of 
accommodation proposed; houses rather than flats or similar. 

 
2.5 The site is also connected well with two main vehicular access to the site as discussed above 

but also has too pedestrian/cycle routes through the site; one to the existing Streethay Phase1 
development towards to the south of the site; and another access to the public right of way 
towards the north of the site off the public amenity/ attenuation area.  

 
2.6 Whilst the proposed site layout is only indicative, it does demonstrate that the number of 

dwellings, open space, ecological buffers and attenuation areas proposed can be 
accommodated within the site as required by Local Plan Strategy Policy HSC1 without having 
a significant detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area.   

 
 
3 Housing Mix, including Affordable Housing 
 

Page 148



 

3.1 Policy H1 of the Local Plan Strategy requires the delivery of a balanced housing market through 
an integrated mix of dwelling types, sizes and tenures based on the latest assessment of local 
housing need. This reflects the approach in the NPPF which sets out that Local Planning 
Authorities should deliver a wide choice of high quality homes with a mix of housing based on 
current and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of different groups in 
the community.  Evidence in the Southern Staffordshire Housing Needs Study and Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Update (2012) identified an imbalance of housing types 
across the District with high concentrations of larger detached homes, particularly in the rural 
areas.  Consequently, it has identified the need for smaller more affordable homes. 

 
3.2  The submitted indicative layout sets out that it is proposed to provide a range of different 

housing across the site, in terms of size and mix although these are not specified at this point; 
the Design and Access Statement (as amended) states at 5.8 that “The density will also allow 
for a range of dwellings across the site with varying sizes and tenures in order to accommodate 
a variety of household types. This will provide a hierarchy of dwellings from large detached 
properties with larger plots through to smaller terraced forms allowing for a variety in the 
proposed streetscape. 

 
3.3 Table 8.2 of the Local Plan Strategy provides an indicative housing mix which includes 5% one 

bed, 42% two bed, 41% three bed and 12% four bed plus. Therefore a scheme which includes 
a range of properties, particularly 2 and 3 bed dwellings and aligned to the indicative housing 
mix would be sought and supported by the Local Plan. This is a matter to be dealt with at the 
Reserved Matters stage but based on the indicative layout and intention within the supporting 
documents it is clear that a suitable housing mix can be accommodated and provided within 
the site.  

 
3.4 Policy H2 of the Local Plan Strategy uses a dynamic model to calculate the viable level of 

affordable housing with a target of up to 40%.  The on-site affordable housing provision should 
be in line with the dynamic model of viability which is currently a delivery of 35% affordable 
housing based on the most recent Annual Monitoring Report.  Therefore, the most up to date 
affordable housing target would be to achieve a total of 35% affordable housing within the 
site equating to 70 units. 

 
3.5 As discussed above with the application in Outline only the full details of affordable units need 

not be defined here but is it reasonable to conclude that sufficient affordable housing of the 
appropriate mix can be accommodated on the site in a suitable manner in accordance with 
the latest guidance and needs. This is discussed at point 5.9 of the D&AS. The siting of the 
affordable units within the site to ensure suitable integration throughout the scheme can be 
addressed within the layout assessment of any reserved matters application. 

 
3.6 Overall, in terms of housing mix, the authority is satisfied that a development which balances 

the strategic need, with the need to secure an appropriate design can be achieved and that 
the level of affordable housing proposed is policy compliant and therefore the development 
would help to achieve a social aspect of sustainable development through the delivery of 
affordable housing.  Accordingly, it is considered that the relevant national and local housing 
policy requirements are satisfied and therefore the development will accord with the NPPF 
and Local Plan Strategy in this regard. 

 
4 Open space provision 
 
4.1  It is noted that based on the current indicative layout, open space provision within the site 

would accord with policy HSC1 providing approximately 3.1 hectares of green space including 
an area of equipped play. There will also be some semi-natural ecological buffer areas to the 
periphery of the site and along Mare Brook which are likely to have some less formal access. 
However, final details of open space provision will form part of a future reserved matters 
application at which point a full assessment will occur. Notwithstanding this the site forms 

Page 149



 

part of the larger Streethay SDA, which will deliver larger areas of amenity green space for use 
by the new communities in the locality. It is noted that the open space as part of this Phase 
will not be adopted by the District Council. 

 
4.2 Financial contributions and a requirement to provide the stated areas of public open space 

are to be secured via the S106, as discussed below.  
 
5 Amenity 
 
 Amenity Impact 
 
5.1 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF advises that “Planning policies and decisions should also ensure 

that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects 
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that 
could arise from the development”. 

 
5.2 Local Plan Strategy BE1 states that new development should avoid causing disturbance 

through unreasonable traffic generation, noise, light, dust, fumes or other disturbance. These 
points are discussed further in the sections below. 

 
 Noise 
 
5.3 The application site will, in due course, have existing residential properties near to its south 

eastern boundary although there will be a significant green buffer between the application 
site dwellings and the existing dwellings due to Mare Brook.  To preserve the amenity of these 
residents, during the construction phase of development and moving forward around the local 
centre, the applicant’s noise assessment recommends that a scheme of noise mitigation be 
secured by condition.  It is advised that this condition is reasonable and necessary and as such 
would be recommended for any approval decision. 

 
5.4 There is concern from the Environmental Team that the development may be impacted by the 

proposed HS2 line and as such they have requested a Noise Mitigation Scheme to be 
submitted via condition in order to fully assess and alleviate any harm that may be a result of 
the increased rail activity in the vicinity. 

 
 Artificial Lighting 
 
5.5 The applicant is yet to provide details of external lighting.  Given the surrounding 

characteristics of the area, namely that the site sits surrounded by a rural environment, which 
includes hedgerows utilised as commuting routes for bats and the brook, a condition to ensure 
the submission and approval of an appropriate scheme of lighting can be included although 
this is considered more of a reserved matters issue and should be considered at that stage. It 
is reasonable to presume that the development can comply with the requirements of the 
Development Plan and NPPF in this regard.  

 
Construction 

 
5.6 In order to identify dust mitigation measures for during the construction phase of this 

development and how issues such as noise, vibration, working hours and deliveries will be 
mitigated for during the construction process, a Construction Vehicle Management Plan is 
recommended to be secured via condition.  In addition, it is recommended that the applicant 
be advised by means of a note on the decision notice that no clearance of vegetation or 
disposal of other material via burning will be considered acceptable within this site, whilst a 
condition is proposed to limit the hours when deliveries and construction occur.   

 

Page 150



 

Contaminated Land 
 
5.7 Paragraph 179 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that “where a site is affected 

by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests 
with the developer and/or land owner”.  Paragraph 170 advises that planning decision should 
prevent “new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution 
or land instability” 

 
5.8 The Environmental Protection Team has advised for the need of a contaminated land 

assessment and remediation scheme to be submitted to ensure there will be no harm to the 
sensitive end user of the site. Whilst farm land there is a potential risk of contaminate from 
unknown and nearby sources and a development of this size requires full investigation. 

  
 Residential Amenity 
 
5.9 The NPPF core planning principles include the requirement that planning should seek a good 

standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  The Council’s 
Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) contains guidance detailing 
appropriate space around dwelling standards.  These standards establish a minimum distance 
of 21 metres to separate principle habitable windows and that there should be at least 6 
metres between a principle window and private neighbouring residential amenity space. The 
SPD also requires that in order to prevent any overbearing impact upon residents, that there 
should be a minimum of 13 metres between the rear elevation and the blank wall of any 
proposed dwelling.  Finally, the SPD identifies that for 1 or 2 bed dwellings, a minimum garden 
size of 45m2 should be provided, for 3 or 4 bed 65m2 and for 5 bed dwellings 100m2.  All 
gardens should have a minimum length of 10m. 

 
5.10 The indicative layout demonstrates that the maximum number of dwellings could be erected 

within the site and it is likely that they can be erected in compliance with the above stated 
standards. Compliance with these measurements will be secured as part of any relevant 
reserved matters application. 

 
6 Access and Highway Safety 
 

Access 
 
6.1 This application is in outline, with all matters reserved with the exception of access. It is 

therefore necessary to consider whether the proposed means of access is acceptable.  
 
6.2 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF requires that consideration should be given to the opportunities 

for sustainable transport modes, that safe and suitable access to a development site can be 
achieved for all people, and that improvements can be undertaken within the transport 
network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the development.  It goes on to 
state that development should only be refused on transport grounds where there would be 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe. 

 
6.3 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF advises “to promote sustainable development in rural areas, 

housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities”.  
Paragraph 103 of the Framework seeks to ensure that developments which would generate 
significant movement are located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of 
sustainable transport modes can be maximised. 

 
6.4 Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan Strategy advises that the Council will seek to reduce the overall 

need to travel, whilst optimising choice of sustainable modes of travel, particularly walking, 

Page 151



 

cycling and public transport.  Core Policy 6 advises that residential development will be 
expected to contribute towards the achievement of sustainable communities    

 
6.5 This site forms a northern extension to phase 1 of Streethay SDA, Strategic Urban Extension  

Identified within the Local Plan Strategy and located adjacent to Lichfield City.  Phase 1 was 
granted consent under ref; 12/00746, subject to conditions, some of which relate to the 
highway. Phase 1 has been subject to several reserve matters applications with housing 
construction now well under way.  The original site has been designed and developed with a 
‘loop road’ system between the two junctions which provide access onto the existing highway, 
Burton Road (A5127).  Such a layout allows for public transport to enter the site and offer 
residents easier access to these services. 
 

6.6 This new proposed phase is an extension to the Streethay SDA and the principle of the 
development in highways terms is accepted. This addition of 200 houses is proposing two main 
access points onto the consented internal loop road system and so provides a connection to 
the existing adopted highway.  The detailed Transport Assessment submitted with this 
application follows the principles and methodology agreed on the original report for the larger 
earlier phase of the SDA (phase 1). 

 
6.7 The detailed Transport Assessment submitted with this application follows the principles and 

methodology agreed on the original report for the larger site.  Where the analysis differs for 
this proposal is the roundabout junction of Eastern Avenue, Cappers Lane and the A5127.  In 
the original proposal (Phase 1) for the SDA, the TA identified amelioration measures to this 
roundabout, with the provision of signalisation. 

 
6.8 However, whilst assessing the proposed mitigation works it began to emerge that a larger 

scheme would be required to accommodate the next phase of local plan house building. 
Following on from this, the principle was agreed between the applicant and County Highways 
that the applicant would provide a financial contribution equivalent of their identified scheme 
towards a larger mitigation scheme, which is to be constructed once other identified 
contributions have been collected. 

 
6.9 With the principle and amount now agreed for a contribution towards the larger roundabout 

scheme, the same shall be applied to this proposal.  The financial contribution is calculated on 
a pro-rata basis for the number of units sought, it shall be collected via a section 106 prior to 
occupation of the 76th unit. 

 
610 The submitted TA has also assessed the impact from this development on other parts of the 

network.  
 
6.11 As expected, this proposal would generate additional traffic movements on the highway but 

the work demonstrates that these trips can be accommodated within the highway without 
causing a severe impact. 

 
6.12 The site will also have access to other modes of transport to offer future occupants. The 

original proposal also included improvements to bus services which will be accessible to this 
site.  Any additional housing will also provide a better opportunity for bus services to become 
commercially viable and carry on once the financial contribution has been spent. 

 
6.13 There are no objections on from County Highway subject to conditions being included on any 

approval. 
 
6.14 Based on the above and the submitted information and the above information it is considered 

that the access is acceptable in accordance with the Development Plan and the NPPF subject 
to financial contributions (discussed below) and conditions.  

 

Page 152



 

6.15 The proposed conditions include the submission of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) prior to commencement, driveways to be surfaced prior to 
occupation and that the spine road through the main site has been fully constructed and open 
for use prior to occupation of any of the units. The Construction and Environmental 
Management will ensure adherence with suitable mitigation measures specific to hours of 
working and dust mitigation, limiting the impact upon the surrounding highway network 
during construction works. In addition, the document will secure a suitable routing framework 
for construction vehicles thereby removing the potential for conflict. 

 
6.16 Details related to the internal roads will be covered under the reserved matters applications 

but these will be subject to further consultations with County Highways. Based on the 
indicative layout and submitted documentation there are no concerns about the provision of 
suitably designed roads and drives.  

 
  Off Street Car Parking 
 
6.17 Local Plan Strategy Policy ST2 provides clarification through guidelines detailing maximum off 

street car parking levels, as set out in the Council’s Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning 
Document.   

 
6.18 The applicant will need to demonstrate compliance with the above noted Development Plan 

documents as part of any relevant subsequent reserved matters application although it is 
reasonable to presume that suitable parking can be provided considering the plot sizes, 
anticipated tenures/housing mix and the establishing of Streethay Phase 1 which has a similar 
character.  

 
  Cycle Parking Provision 
 
6.19 The Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document provides guidelines for securing 

weatherproof cycle storage facilities.  The document requires for dwellings that there be 1 
cycle space provided per 2 bedroom dwelling and 2 for 3 or more bedrooms.  These spaces 
will be secured within any garages of the plots where such a structure is available.  For the 
remaining plots, a shed will have to be erected, which is recommended to be secured via the 
use of a condition at reserved matters stage.   

 
Offsite Works 

 
6.20 Given the above considerations, it is considered that the proposal could accord with the 

Development Plan and NPPF with regard to access/egress, highway impact and parking and 
cycle provision, and as such is acceptable in this regard.   

 

6.21 This is acceptability is on the provision that the developer enters into a Section 106 Agreement 
to secure the following: 

- Contribution of £312,712 towards highway improvements on and around the 
Cappers Lane, Eastern Avenue and the A5127 junction. 

- A travel plan fee of £2,407. 
-  

6.22 County Highways that in lieu of that condition a financial contribution can be made via 
a deed of variation to the original S106 for the sum of £1,172,673.40 in order for the 
Local Highway Authority to undertake the works. This will form a deed of variation to 
the original S106 and S73 removal or variance of condition associated with Condition 
10 of 12/00746/OUTMEI. This matter does not impact this application and if not 
undertaken then condition As part of the outline permission, 12/00746/OUTMEI, 
Condition 10 requires the submission of details and completion of off-site highways 
improvement works at the Trent Valley Junction. The submission of highways details 
needed to occur prior to commencement of the works with completion of the works 

Page 153



 

prior to the occupation of the 301st dwelling on the site. It has been agreed with 10 of 
the outline permission still stands.  

 
7 Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
7.1 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1, which is defined as having little or no risk 

of flooding from rivers or streams.  Such zones generally comprise land assessed as having a 
less than 1 in 100 annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year.  Nonetheless, the 
NPPF states that for proposals of 1ha or greater in Flood Zone 1, a Flood Risk assessment (FRA) 
is required.  

 
7.2 Paragraph 165 of the NPPF requires that major development incorporate sustainable drainage 

systems unless there is clear evidence that such would be inappropriate.  The FRA submitted 
with this application identifies that the scheme would result in additional impermeable areas 
being created within the site.  As such, Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems, including the use 
of an attenuation pond and permeable paving shall be utilised within the scheme to mitigate 
this impact. These details will be defined in any reserved matters application. The measures 
have been considered to be acceptable by the County Council’s Flood Team and therefore, 
subject to the use of a condition to secure the scheme’s delivery in accordance with the 
submitted FRA, in addition to a further condition to require details of foul and surface water 
treatment, as requested by Severn Trent Water, the proposal will comply with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and the NPPF in this regard. 

 
8 Sustainability 
 
8.1 Paragraph 150 of the NPPF requires that new development should comply with local energy 

targets. The NPPG advises that planning can help to increase the resilience to climate change 
through the location, mix and design of development.  Local Plan Strategy Policy SC1 sets out 
the Council’s requirements in respect of carbon reduction targets and requires that residential 
development should be built to code for sustainable homes level 6.  Subsequent to the 
adoption of the Local Plan Strategy the Government has advised that Code for Sustainable 
Home targets are no longer to be utilised within the planning process and rather Building 
Regulation requirements will ensure the development of sustainable built form.  Therefore no 
conditions are required to secure sustainable built technologies within the residential phases 
of this development. 

 
8.2 In view of the above, the scheme is considered capable of delivering built form equipped with 

suitable sustainable technologies and therefore, will comply the Development Plan and 
National Planning Policy Framework, in this regard. 

 
9 Ecology and Biodiversity 
 
9.1 The Ecology Team is satisfied with the methodologies and the information provided within the 

submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and all other supporting ecological information. 
The Ecology Team concurs with the conclusions of the above documents in that (given the 
data provided) it can now be considered unlikely that the proposed works would negatively 
impacting upon a European Protected Species (EPS) in a manner as defined as an offence 
under the Conservation of Natural Habitats Regulations (Habitat Regs.) 1994 (as amended 
2017); or upon a protected or priority species or habitat, as defined by the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 2016); The Protection of Badgers Act 1992 or listed under 
section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006) subject to the 
appropriate suggested measures of avoidance, mitigation, compensation and net gain 
measures as detailed within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment for Net Gain. 

 

Page 154



 

9.2 The LPA is therefore in a position to demonstrate compliance with regulation 9(3) of the 
Habitat Regs. 1994 (as amended 2017), which places a duty on the planning authority when 
considering an application for planning permission, to have regard to its effects on European 
protected species. It is also deemed that the LPA has sufficient understanding to discharge its 
“Biodiversity Duty” (as defined under section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006). 

 
9.3 Adherence by the applicant to all recommendations and methods of working detailed within 

the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Impact Assessment for Net Gain must be 
made a condition of any future planning approval.  

 
Quantitative assessment of Biodiversity Impact 

 
9.4 The Ecology Team is satisfied with the quantitative data submitted by the applicant at this 

time via the Biodiversity Impact Assessment for Net Gain dated May 2020. 
 
9.5 The Ecology Team considers that the quantitative data submitted is an accurate depiction of 

value/s of the habitat current on the site of proposed development (as regards total area, 
type, distinctiveness and condition) and agrees it to be accurate for the sites current 
biodiversity value to be viewed as 22.50 Biodiversity Units (BU). 

 
9.6 Equally the Ecology Team agrees that the Biodiversity Impact Calculator is accurate in 

describing the likely achievable biodiversity value of the site post development, as 31.74 
Biodiversity Units (BU). 

 
9.7 Achievement of both No-Net-Loss to Biodiversity and a sufficient Quantitative net-gain as per 

policy NR3 and para 6.33 of the Biodiversity and Development SPD. The quantitative data 
submitted is sufficient to provide assurance to the LPA that the current development scheme 
as described by the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Impact Assessment for 
Net Gain dated May 2020 is unlikely to result in a net-loss to biodiversity value and as such is 
deemed to conform to the guidance of paragraphs 9, 109 and the requirements of paragraph 
175 of the NPPF 2019.The Ecology Team welcomes the applicant’s intention to deliver net 
gains of 9.24BU as part of the proposed development scheme. The Ecology Team approves of 
the new habitats proposed for creation as part of the development scheme and considers 
them in adherence with the Lichfield District Biodiversity Opportunity Map (see Appendix E 
map 4 of the Biodiversity and Development SPD) and the recently adopted Nature Recovery 
Network Mapping. As such the development scheme is viewed as likely being able to achieve 
a 65.5 % net-gain to Biodiversity Value as defined by the habitat replacement ratio and so 
complies with both policy NR3 of the Local Plan and the requirements of the Biodiversity and 
Development SPD. 

 
9.8 However, the applicant will need to submit a Construction Environment Management Plan 

(CEMP) (as also requested by Country Housing) and a Habitat Management Plan (HMP) 
detailing, in full, the future habitat creation works (and sustained good management thereof) 
demonstrating a net gain to a value of no less than 9.24 BU. This should be supported by an 
updated biodiversity metric for the site. 

 
9.10 Within the CEMP/HMP documents the following information will need to be provided so that 

the LPA can assess the likelihood of any proposed habitat creation works being successful in 
achieving both desired habitat type and condition. 

  

Page 155



 

Impact on Cannock Chase SAC 
 
9.11 The application site lies within the zone of influence of the Cannock Chase Special Area of 

Conservation. Policy NR7 of the Local Plan Strategy sets out that any development leading to 

a net increase in dwellings within a 15km radius of the Cannock Chase Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) will be deemed to have an adverse impact on the SAC unless or until 

satisfactorily avoidance and/or mitigation measures have been secured. The Council has 

adopted guidance on 10 March 2015 acknowledging a 15km Zone of Influence and seeking 

financial contributions for the required mitigation from development within the 0-8km zone. 

The proposal lies within the 8-15km buffer of the Cannock Chase SAC, as such a financial 

contribution is not required. The LPA has carried out an appropriate assessment under the 

Habitat Regulations, and have concluded that the development can be avoided or 

appropriately mitigated by financial contributions provided by developments in the 0-8km 

zone of payment. Natural England have concurred with the assessment conclusions. The LPA 

have satisfied their duties as a competent authority.  

 

Trees 

 

9.12 Whilst there is initial concern by the Council’s Arboriculture Team over the need for improved 

landscaping and tree protection measures this issue is to be considered at reserved matters 

stage where full landscaping scheme will be submitted. It should be noted that most, if not all, 

trees and hedges are peripheral and are unlikely to be affected by the development owing to 

the generous buffer zones shown on the indicative plans. It has been highlighted that the 

majority of the tree structural/highway/road frontage tree planting (structural elements) of 

the landscaping should be within highway verge or POS or public domain. 

 
10 Education 
 
10.1 The majority of Staffordshire schools include residence in the school’s catchment area as a 

high priority within their admission arrangements. Even where this is not the case schools still 
give high priority to children who live in the local area. The location of a housing development 
in relation to schools in the local area is taken into consideration when assessing the 
mitigation required for education provision. 

 
10.2 Based on the location of the proposed development we have considered the impact on school 

places at the following school(s): 
 

 Streethay Primary School, Lichfield  

 St Chad’s CE (VC) Primary School, Lichfield  

 Scotch Orchard  Primary School, Lichfield  

 Lichfield Secondary School Cluster 
 
10.3 To understand the impact of this development on education infrastructure analysis has been 

undertaken using: 
 

 Pupil Number on Roll; 

 Net capacity/funding agreement of the schools; 

 Pupil projections which include committed developments  
 
10.4 In determining whether there is a need for the developer to mitigate the impact of this 

development it was calculated that 200 dwellings would require 63 primary school places and 
that 154 dwellings would require 35 secondary places and 7 Post 16 places. These are based 
on a pupil product ratio (PPR) 0.045 per dwelling per year group. Using 7 year groups for 
Primary, 5 for secondary and 1 for Post 16 places. Where appropriate all 1 bedroom dwellings 
have been deducted from the dwellings numbers and at secondary level only, all Registered 

Page 156



 

Social Landlord (RSL) dwellings have also been deducted in line with our Education Planning 
Obligations Policy. 

 
10.5 There are projected to be an insufficient number of school places in the local area to mitigate 

the impact of this development at both primary and secondary phases of education. Education 
Contributions for providing secondary school infrastructure will be sought through the CIL 
mechanism, however, S106 contributions are still being requested to deliver the necessary 
primary infrastructure. 

 
10.6 A new 1FE (210 places) primary school is being delivered for September 2019 as part of a 

strategic site of 750 dwellings at Streethay. The contribution from this development will be 
put towards the 1/2FE (105 places) expansion of this school which is proposed to mitigate 
further development within the area. The current estimated cost for the additional 
infrastructure to increase the school to a 1.5FE (315 places) is £1.5 million and therefore 
proportional costs are being requested towards the expansion of this new primary school.  

 
10.7 The cost of each pupil place based on the overall project costing £1.5million has been 

calculated at £14,285.71 and the contribution necessary from this development has been 
calculated based on the most up to date cost of the project. 

  
10.8 The primary school education contribution has been calculated as follows: £1,500,000 / 105 

places = £14,285.71 per pupil place x 63 places required by development = £899,999.73 
 

10.9 The Local Education Authority reserve the right to amend the use and the amount of the 
requested education contributions should circumstances materially change from this analysis 
to the point that the use(s) of the education contributions are finalised within the S106 
Agreement. 

 
11 CIL and Section 106 Contributions 
 
11.1 The applicant has entered into a S106 provide contributes to offset a number of issues relating 

to the scheme. Whilst not finalised this is nearing completion and can be issued if the 
application approved. The contributions are in line with the Developer Contributions SPD 
2016. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

11.2 The District Council adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 19th April 2016 and 
commenced charging on 13th June 2016. A CIL charge will apply to all relevant applications 
determined after this date. The application site lies within the Higher Value Zone of the CIL 
Charging Schedule and would be charged at a rate of £55 per square metre for residential 
development. 

 
 Highways 
 
11.3 This is acceptability of the scheme in terms of highways and access is on the provision that 

the developer enters into a Section 106 Agreement to secure the following: 
 

 £312,712 towards highway improvements on and around the Cappers Lane, Eastern 
Avenue and the A5127 junction. 

 Travel plan fee of £2,407. 
 

The applicant has also indicated that they will need to vary the original application and 
now make financial contribution of £1,172,673.40 in lieu of condition 10 on 
12/00746/OUTMEI which required the submission and approval of plans, and the 
completion of offsite highways works related to the Trent Valley Junction. This 

Page 157



 

payment will resolve the issue and allow the County Highway to undertake the work 
themselves. If this application is approved and S106 signed applications to vary the 
former application(s) will be submitted.  

 
Affordable housing 
 

11.4 Affordable housing would need to be provided at 35% equating to 70 units. These would need 
to have a housing mix and tenure in line with Policy H2 of the Local Plan or the latest guidance 
available at the time of submission of any reserved matters application. 

 
Education 
 

11.5 The cost of each pupil place based on the expansion of primary school costing £1.5million has 
been calculated at £14,285.71 and the contribution necessary from this development has 
been calculated based on the most up to date cost of the project.  

 
11.6 The primary school education contribution has been calculated as follows: £1,500,000 / 105 

places = £14,285.71 per pupil place x 63 places required by development = £899,999.73 
 
11.7 Please note that we reserve the right to amend the use and the amount of the requested 

education contributions should circumstances materially change from this analysis to the 
point that the use(s) of the education contributions are finalised within the S106 Agreement. 

 
11.8 Based on an agreed set of standard triggers the size of this development will necessitate 

payment of the education contribution at the following point(s): 

 30% on commencement of the development  

 30% on commencement of 30% of dwellings (i.e. for 500 dwellings it would be the 
151st dwelling)  

 40% on commencement of 60% of dwellings (i.e. for 500 dwellings it would be the 
300th dwelling)    

 
Public Open Space 

 
11.9 Policy HSC1 requires different types of open space to be provided for each development as an 

area per 1000 population. Equipped play, amenity space at 1.43ha per 1000 population, Semi 
natural areas at 1ha per 1000 population and allotments at 1 plot of 150m2 per 32 dwellings. 
For information, it should be noted that given the proposal is for 200 dwellings, which is 2.24 
people per property (as detailed within the Developer Contributions and Housing Choices SPD 
(2015)), results in 448 residents. This then means that 0.64ha of open space, 0.448ha of semi-
natural open space and 6.25 allotments or 0.09 ha of allotments. The total of general open 
space, semi natural areas and allotments equates to 1.178ha. This is increased marginally by 
the provision of equipped play.  

 
11.10 Public open space of 3.1ha including the attenuation basin has been shown indicatively and is 

likely to carry over to any reserved matters application which is a significant overprovision so 
no contributions are required as all open space can be provided onsite. Inclusion of this open 
space to be in accordance with the open space Policy HSC1 is to be included within the S106 
Agreement and this open space is to be managed by a management company. The open 
spaces will need to be delivered before development of houses passes 70%. 

  
12 Other Issues 
 

Heritage Assets 
 
12.1 The proposed development will bring built form closer to the south eastern side of 

Brownsfield Farm. This is encroaching on its setting but the proposed development is not 

Page 158



 

considered to sufficiently harm the setting of the listed building to the extent that it would 
harm its significance. 

 
12.2 The other Designated Heritage Assets listed in the Planning Statement are already impacted 

by the approved Phase 1 Streethay development and this proposed Phase 2 will not result in 
any additional impacts on these designated heritage assets. 
 
Archaeology 

 
12.3 Following negotiations with County Archaeology and upon review of documents related to 

the larger Streethay development there has been a withdrawal of the need for any further 
assessments and no need for the imposition of any conditions in this regard.  

 
Public Rights of Way 

 

12.4 There is a public right of way that skirts the sites northern edge but this will connect to the 

site via a new pedestrian link. There are no objections about the development in terms of the 

public right of way as it falls outside of the site and is not to be diverted but the Ramblers have 

noted that integration of the site’s pedestrian links to the PROW should be established; this 

will be fully covered under that landscaping reserved matter. In terms of impact from the 

PROW there will be a loss in views but this must be considered in terms of the larger Streethay 

development which result in the additional harm from this development being less significant.  

 

Phasing 

 

12.5 Whilst the applicant and developer suggests this part of Streethay development is to be 

undertaken in one phase by one developer but the Conservation Team have concerns as to 

the implications and issues associated with this and have requested a Design Code should the 

site be split into smaller parcels; this will provide some cohesion and consistency. This can be 

secured via condition.  

 

Refuse and Waste 

 

12.6 Each house needs to be provided with facilities for the storage of at least  

 1 wheeled refuse bin 

 1 wheeled recycling bin  

 1 wheeled garden waste  

 

12.7 On collection days these receptacles have to be left on the front boundary of the property 

adjacent to the adopted highway (not on the highway) for collection. The Council does not 

encourage the use of bin collection points as these have the potential to cause nuisance such 

as bins being left out after collection.  

 

12.8 The Council’s refuse and recycling service does not normally take vehicles into private roads 

and courtyards unless indemnified to do so. The road surface should be sufficient to take a 32 

tonne vehicle and there should be sufficient room to allow safe access and egress for a Refuse 

Collection Vehicle. The refuse/recycling collectors should have a pull distance of no greater 

than 10m. These are factors that need to be addressed in any detailed reserved matters 

submission but based on the scale of the development, the indicative layout and detailed 

designs for Streethay Phase I it is reasonable to assume that these matters can be adequately 

addressed. No conditions are required at this point and the applicants will be drawn to this 

information directly.  

 

  

Page 159



 

13 Human Rights 
 
13.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights 

Act 1998. The proposals may interfere with an individual’s rights under Article 8 of Schedule 1 
to the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their 
private and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be 
justified if it is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The 
potential interference here has been fully considered within the report in having regard to the 
representations received and, on balance, is justified and proportionate in relation to the 
provisions of the policies of the development plan and national planning policy.  

 

Conclusion 
 
The NPPF states that there are three dimensions to sustainable development, namely economic, social 
and environmental and that these should be considered collectively and weighed in the balance when 
assessing the suitability of development proposals. With reference to this scheme, socially, the 
proposal is sited ensuring no impact upon existing residents, whilst suitable conditions can secure the 
amenity of future residents within the site.  In addition the scale of development is broadly compliant 
with the requirements of the Council’s Local Plan Strategy.   The development will support the delivery 
of Lichfield District Council’s 2016-2020 Strategic Plan which recognises that a key issue for the district 
is the lack of affordable homes, especially for young people and the delivery of affordable housing is 
a strategic priority in the theme of clean, green and welcoming places. 
 
Economically the proposal will provide employment opportunities, through creating a development 
opportunity, whose future residents would support existing village facilities.  Environmentally the site 
would not elongate the form of development in Lichfield City, rather in-fill an area between existing 
built forms and occupies a location where any landscape harm will be localised.  It is considered that 
adequate, high quality public open space could be provided on site to meet the needs of the future 
and existing residents, whilst the number of dwellings and mix proposed, will provide a suitable 
density of development to integrate into the area, whilst also helping to meet the accommodation 
needs of the District. The proposed density of development would be of a similar level to that of 
properties within the locality. It is considered that, on balance subject to conditions, the benefits of 
the proposed development would provide much needed affordable housing.   
 
With regard to transport and highways, adequate information and detail has been included within the 
supporting information to demonstrate that sustainable travel choices are available in close proximity 
of the site. Acceptable details have been provided with regard to the vehicular accesses to ensure that 
the development can be safely and appropriately accessed without undue harm to the character and 
appearance of the area, existing or future residents and highway and pedestrian safety.  
 
The Authority is satisfied, that subject to suitable measures that there will be no adverse impact on 
protected or priority species and ecological habitats.  With regard to drainage, residential amenity and 
the development’s impact on the surrounding landscape, it is considered that adequate mitigation is 
provided and that, subject to appropriate conditions, no material harm will be caused.  
 
It is therefore considered that the principle of residential development is acceptable and that no other 
material planning considerations exist to warrant the refusal of the planning application. Therefore, 
subject to conditions and the applicant entering into a Section 106 Agreement, the recommendation 
is one of approval. 
 
 

Page 160



Primary School
Roman Catholic

25

22

39

2

1

DIMBLES HILL

Gaiafield

10

14
21

15

7

THE

Church

26

38

27

Saints
Peter and Paul

16

House

St Peter And St Paul

15

Argyll

D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20201:1,000LOCATION PLAN
20/00587/FUH

22 Gaiafields Road
Lichfield

Page 161



 

20/00587/FUH 
 
SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR AND ENLARGEMENT OF FIRST FLOOR SECTION. 
22 GAIAFIELDS ROAD, LICHFIELD, STAFFORDSHIRE, WS13 7LT 
FOR MR S ARMSTRONG 
 
Registered 05/05/2020 
 
Parish: Lichfield 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee due to significant planning 
objections raised by Lichfield City Council and a call-in request from Councillor Paul Ray on the 
following grounds: 

 Design  

 Planning Policy 

 Risk to established trees; and 

 Residential Amenity  

 Scale of development 

 Felling of trees  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 
 

2. The development authorised by this permission shall be carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and specification, as listed on this decision notice, except insofar as 
may be otherwise required by other conditions to which this permission is subject. 

 
CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to commencement of development hereby approved: 

 
3. Before the development hereby approved including any demolition and / or site clearance 

works is commenced or any equipment, machinery or materials is brought onto site, tree 
protection measures in accordance with the submitted tree protection drawing Tree Protection 
Plan Rev F shall be provided and retained for the duration of construction (including any 
demolition and / or site clearance works), No fires, excavation, change in levels, storage of 
materials, vehicles or plant, cement or cement mixing, discharge of liquids, site facilities or 
passage of vehicles, plant or pedestrians, shall occur within the protected areas. The approved 
scheme shall be kept in place until all parts of the development have been completed, and all 
equipment; machinery and surplus materials have been removed. 

 
All other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 
4. Notwithstanding any description/details of external materials in the application documents, the 

facing materials to be used for the external walls and roof of the extensions shall match in 
colour, size and texture, those of the existing dwelling and shall thereafter be retained as such 
for the life of the development. 

 
5. During the period of construction (including demolition), no works shall take place outside the 

following times: 07:30am to 19:00pm hours Monday to Friday and 08:00am to 13:00pm hours 
on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays (other than emergency 
works). 

 

Page 162



 

6. During the period of construction and demolition of the development, no deliveries shall take 
place to the site between the following times: 08:15am to 09:15am hours Monday to Friday 
(other than emergency works) and 2.45pm to 3.45pm Monday to Friday. No construction or 
contractor vehicles shall park (other than for deliveries) within the northern most section of 
Gaiafields Road which also serves numbers 23 and 25 Gaiafields Road.  

 
7. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development hereby approved 

shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft landscaping works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include 
full details of replacement tree planting to compensate for the loss of T1. The compensatory 
scheme shall include the planting of at least 2 trees. The approved hard and soft landscaping 
shall thereafter be implemented within eight months of the development being brought into 
use. 

 
8. Any tree, hedge or shrub planted as part of the approved landscape and planting scheme on 

the site and which dies or is lost through any cause during a period of 5 years from the date of 
first planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species. 

 
9. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

recommendations and methods of working, which are detailed within the submitted 
‘Preliminary Ecological Appraisal’ produced by DJOGS Landscape Architect and Ecology Services, 
dated 24th March 2020.   

 
10. Within one month of completion, a bat or bird box shall be installed within the site. The bat or 

bird box shall thereafter be retained as such for the life of the development. 
 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 
1. In order to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended. 
 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the applicant’s stated intentions, in order 

to meet the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance. 

 
3. To safeguard existing protected trees, in accordance with the requirements of Core Policies 3 

and Policies NR4 and BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the Supplementary Planning 
Documents: Sustainable Design, and Trees, Landscaping and Development and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

   
4. To ensure that the external appearance of the development is physically well related to 

existing buildings and its surroundings, in accordance with Core Policy 3 and Policy BE1 of the 
Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
5. To safeguard the amenity of residents in accordance with Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, 

the Sustainable Design SPD and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
6. In the interest of highway safety and to comply with Local Plan Strategy Policy ST2 and the 

National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
7. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

appearance of the area, and to provide suitable wildlife habitat in accordance with the 
requirements of Core Policies 3 and 13 and Policies NR3, NR4 and BE1 of the Local Plan 
Strategy, the Trees Landscaping and Development SPD, the Biodiversity and Development SPD 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 163



 

8. To ensure that any initial plant losses are overcome, in the interests of the visual amenities of 
the locality and in accordance with the provisions of Core Policy 3 and BE1 of the Local Plan 
Strategy, the Trees, Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning Document and 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. To safeguard protected species and ensure that there is no net loss to biodiversity on the site, 

in accordance with the requirements of Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy the Local Plan, 
Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

   
10. In order to encourage enhancements in biodiversity and habitat, in accordance with the 

requirements of Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
NOTES TO APPLICANT: 
 
1. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015), Lichfield 

District Local Plan Allocations (2019) and the Lichfield City Neighbourhood Plan (2018). 
 
2. The applicant’s attention is drawn to The Town and Country Planning (Fees for 

Applications,  Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2017, which 
requires that any written request for compliance of a planning condition(s) shall be 
accompanied by a fee of £34 for a householder application or £116 for any other application 
including reserved matters. Although the Council will endeavour to deal with such applications 
in a timely manner, it should be noted that legislation allows a period of up to 8 weeks for the 
Local Planning Authority to discharge conditions and therefore this timescale should be borne 
in mind when programming development. 

 
3. The development is considered to be a sustainable form of development which complies with 

the provisions of paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 
4. Severn Trent Water advise that there may be a public sewer located within the application site. 

Although our statutory sewer records do not show any public sewers within the area you have 
specified, there may be sewers that have been recently adopted under the Transfer of Sewer 
Regulations 2011. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly 
over or be diverted without consent and contact must be made with Severn Trent Water to 
discuss the proposals. Severn Trent will seek to assist in obtaining a solution which protects 
both the public sewer and the building. Please note that there is no guarantee that you will be 
able to build over or close to any Severn Trent sewers, and where diversion is required there is 
no guarantee that you will be able to undertake those works on a self-lay basis. Every approach 
to build near to or divert our assets has to be assessed on its own merit and the decision of what 
is or isn't permissible is taken based on the risk to the asset and the wider catchment it serves. 
It is vital therefore that you contact us at the earliest opportunity to discuss the implications of 
our assets crossing your site. Failure to do so could significantly affect the costs and timescales 
of your project if it transpires diversionary works need to be carried out by Severn Trent. 

 
5. A developer should be aware that even if the approved development's impact upon protected 

species was not raised as an issue by the Lichfield District Council when determining the 
application, there remains the possibility that those species may be encountered once work has 
commenced. The gaining of planning approval does not permit a developer to act in a manner 
which would otherwise result in a criminal offence to be caused. Where such species are 
encountered it is recommended the developer cease work and seek further advice (either from 
Natural England or the Lichfield District Council Ecology Team) as to how to proceed. 

 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 

Page 164



 

National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Local Plan Strategy  
Core Policy 2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 3 – Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 14 – Our Built and Historic Environment 
Policy BE1 - High Quality Development 
Policy NR3 - Biodiversity, Protected Species & their 
Policy NR4 - Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow 
Policy ST2 - Parking Provision 
Policy LICH1 - Lichfield Environment 
 
Local Plan Allocations 
No relevant policies 
 
Neighbourhood Plan 
Lichfield City Neighbourhood Plan (2018) 
 
Supplementary Planning Document  
Sustainable Design SPD 
Biodiversity and Development SPD 
Trees Landscaping and Development SPD 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

19/01041/FUH Single storey extension to rear and enlargement of first floor 
section 

Approve 28/11/2019 

19/00248/FULH Two storey extension to rear to extend kitchen and dining 
room area and form 1no bedroom with ensuite 

Withdrawn 29/05/2019 

19/00168/FUL Erection of 2no three bedroom detached dwellinghouses 
and garage block 

Approve 25/06/2019 

17/00864/FUL Erection of 2no three bedroom dwellings with detached 
garage and associated works.  
Appeal Allowed 15/3/18  

Refuse 22/09/2017 

16/01412/FUL Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 2no 4 
bedroom detached dwellings, detached garage block and 
associated works 

Refuse 09/02/2017 

15/00341/FUL Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 2no 5 
bedroom houses and associated works.  
Appeal Dismissed 9/11/15 

Refuse 01/05/2015 

04/00920/FUL Erection of two four bedroom dwellings each with a 
detached double garage 

Refuse 29/09/2004 

04/00231/FUL Erection of three four bedroom dwellings each with a 
detached double garage 

Refuse 20/07/2004 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Lichfield City Council: Recommend refusal on the grounds of loss of protected trees, massing, density 
and amenity issues due to the enlargement of Argyll House and increase to the second storey. 
(29.05.20) 
 
Tree Officer – LDC: Confirmed that the proposed removal of tree T1 is acceptable subject to the 
provision of appropriate compensatory planting within the wider application site being secured by 

Page 165



 

condition, this should demonstrate 2 replacement trees. Recommend that the installation of tree 
protection measures are secured via condition. (04.06.20). 
 
Previous Comments - Submitted tree survey does not relate to the current proposal and T1 is still 
shown for removal with the tree protection unchanged. It might be that the tree protection can work 
but we would still need that demonstrating on a revised report (28.05.20). 
 

Initial Comments - Submitted tree survey does not relate to the current proposal (07.05.20). 
 
Ecology Team – LDC: The Ecology Team is satisfied with the methodology and the information 
provided within the submitted bat survey and recommends the inclusion of a condition to ensure the 
development is carried out in accordance with the recommendations and methods of working 
contained therein. Further conditions are also suggested regarding habitat provision. Compliance is 
also required with the requirements of the Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) (04.06.20). 
 
Previous Comments - The original 2017 ecological surveys are required to be submitted. Provided bat 
survey does not provide a full context of ecological requirements for the site and is an update to 
previous surveys with regards to bats. Further comments will be provided when the original survey 
has been submitted. Compliance is also required with the requirements of the Biodiversity and 
Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (29.05.20). 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highways):  No objection, subject to conditions to secure the parking 
and turning areas as shown on plan reference ‘2327-01D’, time limitations for deliveries (10.06.20) 
 
Previous comment - No objection subject to conditions to secure the parking and turning areas as 
shown on plan reference ‘2327-01D’, secure (and weatherproof) cycle parking, Highways Construction 
Method Statement (27.05.20). 
 
Severn Trent Water: No objection and no drainage condition required. Recommends note to applicant 
regarding potential for a public sewer to be located within the application site. (26.07.19) 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
Five letters of objection have been received. The comments made are summarised as follows:  
 

 Balcony would result in lack of privacy; 

 Area not suitable for proposed amount of development; 

 Protected trees should be safeguarded; 

 Previously raised concerns on other applications at this site still remain; 

 Concerns re pedestrian safety regarding adjacent public footpath; 

 Impact on Gaiafield House due to change in site level between Gaiafield House and application 
site and 

 Discrepancies in submitted tree survey. 
 

OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Tree Report - THC/2020/06/04 – 04.06.20 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, 24.03.2017  
Bat Emergence Surveys – August 2019 
 
PLANS CONSIDERED AS PART OF THIS RECOMMENDATION 
 
Tree Protection Plan, May 2020, Rev F 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment, May 2020, Rev E 
Proposed Elevations and Layout, May 2020, 2327-01, Rev E 
 

Page 166



 

 
OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site relates to a detached, vacant dormer bungalow, which is currently in a state of 
disrepair, known as Argyll House. The dwelling is of a modern overall appearance with red facing 
external brick, white UPVC windows and doors, brown main roof tiles with two dormer windows to 
front. At the rear and side, single storey brick and UPVC glazed extensions are present. The site lies 
within the settlement of Lichfield as defined by the Local Plan Policies Map. 
 
The application dwelling is set within a triangular shaped plot measuring in total around 0.2 hectares 
which is currently unkempt, although it is understood that the applicant is carrying out some tidying 
works. Protected on site trees lie at the site’s boundary with Trees B2 (Birch) and C1 (Holly) being 
located nearest to the property.  Other protected trees are located in the north-western section of 
the site and along the northern boundary.   
 
The existing vehicle access is located to the south west of the application dwelling, accessed off the 
northern most section of Gaiafields Road which also serves numbers 23 and 25 Gaiafields Road. The 
access road has a narrow width and is an adopted public highway up to the public footpath (Lichfield 
City 5) which runs adjacent to the western boundary of the application site. 
 
The immediate surrounding area is residential, with the exception of St Peter and St Paul Roman 
Catholic Primary School which is situated 43m to the north-west. Surrounding residential dwellings 
are comprised of a mix of large two storey modern and traditional-style detached houses, modern 
detached dormer bungalows, and modern two storey semi-detached houses along Dimbles Hill to the 
north-east. 
 
The application site sits at the top of Gaiafields Road which slopes upwards from south to north, 
resulting in the site sitting at a higher land level than adjoining Gaiafield House and properties along 
Dimbles Hill.  
 
The application site is not within, or in close proximity to, a Conservation Area, is not within the West 
Midlands Green Belt, and does not contain, or affect, any designated or non-designated heritage 
assets. 
 
The existing application dwelling measures: 

 6.4m high to main roof ridge; 

 6m high to ridge of dormer windows; 

 Between 9.2m and 11.5 m wide; 

 Between 8.4m and 11.6m deep; 

 Existing rear extension measures 3.2m deep from original rear wall; and 

 Footprint of around 93m2. 
 
Background 
 
Two New Dwellings in Eastern Corner 
 
An application was previously submitted to the Local Planning Authority in June 2017 for the erection 
of 2 x three bedroom semi-detached dwellings and a detached garage in the eastern corner of the 
application site. The application went to the Planning Committee in September 2017 with an officer 
recommendation of an approval, which was overturned by Members of the Committee. 
 
Subsequently, the applicant sought an appeal to the Planning Inspectorate and filed a further appeal 
for costs against the Council. Both appeals were successful and allowed by the Planning Inspectorate. 
The appeal against application 17/00864/FUL was allowed on the following grounds (summarised): 
 

Page 167



 

 Mass, scale, layout and design is consistent with locality; 

 Density of 15 dwellings per hectare (including Argyll House) is commensurate with locality; 

 No harm to protected trees; 

 No harm to neighbours’ amenity; and 

 No harm to highways safety, or conflict with pedestrians from the increased use of vehicle 
access. 

 
Planning permission was subsequently granted in June 2019 for the erection of two detached houses 
and garages in the same location, in the eastern corner of the application site, which effectively sub-
divides the site leaving a site area of around 0.1 hectares associated with the application dwelling 
which is the subject of this current planning application. The pre-commencement conditions for the 
two new houses permitted under application 19/00168/FUL were discharged on 22nd October 2019, 
and this indicates the applicant’s intention to implement this permission. Both the application 
dwelling, and the two new houses would use the shared main vehicle access off of Gaiafields Road, 
which would be widened, and improved, as approved under planning permission 19/00168/FUL.  
 
As part of planning permission 19/00168/FUL, the Council’s Tree Officer Agreed to the loss of tree T1 
within the proposed widened vehicle access, and compensatory replacement planting. 
 
Argyll House (Application Dwelling) 
 
A number of previous planning applications at the site, which proposed to demolish the application 
dwelling and erect 2 x large detached houses, have been refused by the Council, and an appeal was 
dismissed in 2015 against the erection of 2 x 5 no bedroom houses on the following grounds: 
 

 Poor layout – cramped appearance and overdevelopment of site, proximity to protected trees; 

 Loss of protected trees – the loss of protected trees T9 and T13 would be unacceptable due to 
their high amenity value; and 

 Harm to neighbours’ amenity – overbearing relationship with neighbours’ adjoining rear 
gardens and resulting loss of outlook, privacy and increased shading. 

 
Notwithstanding the Inspector’s reasons above, they also state “I am satisfied that the contained 
nature of the site ensures that the proposed design and layout, other than the loss of the two central 
trees, would have only a limited impact on the character and appearance of the area.”  
 
A planning application was lodged in early 2019 under reference 19/00248/FULH for a two storey rear 
extension to the application dwelling, but was subsequently withdrawn by the applicant due to 
concerns raised by the Council’s Tree Officer regarding proximity of the extension to protected trees 
and the potential harm arising.  
 
A planning application was lodged in early 2019 under reference 19/01041/FULH for a single storey 
extension to rear and enlargement of first floor section to the application dwelling, and was approved. 
Specifically, the application sought permission for the erection of a single storey extension to rear, 
enlargement of first floor section and dormers to front and rear to provide an increase in the number 
of bedrooms from three to four bedrooms, and an extended kitchen area at ground floor. 
 
Proposals 
 
This application seeks permission for a single storey extension to rear, enlargement of first floor 
section and balcony with 1.8m high obscure glazed screen at first floor and bi-fold doors at ground 
floor. The front south western elevation will have the front door removed and relocated to the south 
eastern elevation with the addition of 2 no windows at ground floor and 4 no. roof lights.  
 

The single storey extension would measure 7.08m from the rear north eastern elevation with a width 
of 8.57m. The materials of brick and tiles will match the existing property. The balcony will be located 
off the extensions north western elevation and will lead from the master bedroom. The balcony will 

Page 168



 

look out over the rear amenity space.  An obscure screen is proposed at the western side of the 
balcony to avoid impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties to the north east. 
 
The enlargement of the first floor section would increase the overall height to 6.3m to the ridge with 
eaves height of 3.94m (decrease of 0.1m below the original 6.4m ridge height). The proposed 
extension does not comprise two storeys, although both the ground and first floors will be extended. 
The porch would project 1.63m from the south eastern elevation with a width of 2.57m. The pitched 
roof would be 3.95m with an eaves height of 2.32m. There will be a front door with a window either 
side to the south eastern elevation and windows to the south western and north eastern elevation. 
 
3 no parking spaces are present to the front of the application dwelling and the extensions would be 
finished in external materials to match the existing application house. Protected tree T1 is shown to 
be removed, with compensatory planting proposed and details to be submitted and agreed via 
condition.  
 
Determining Issues  
 

1. Policy and Principle of Development  
2. Design and Impact upon the Character and Appearance of the Surrounding Area 
3. Residential Amenity 
4.  Access and Highway Safety 
5. Impact on Trees  
6. Ecology  
7. Other Issues 
8. Human Rights 

 
1. Policy and Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield District 
comprises the Local Plan Strategy 2008-2019 (2015), Local Plan Allocations (2019) and the 
adopted (made) Lichfield Neighbourhood Plan (2018).  

 
1.2 The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, this is echoed in Local 

Plan Strategy Core Policy 2. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that “the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as 
the starting point for decision making.” Furthermore, paragraph 177 states that “The 
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where the plan or project is 
likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either alone or in combination with other 
plans or projects), unless an appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project 
will not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site”. In this case the site falls within the 
catchment of the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC), therefore it is necessary 
for the development to demonstrate it has satisfied the Habitats and Species Regulations in 
that the integrity of the Cannock Chase SAC will not be adversely affected, having regard to 
avoidance or mitigation measures. This issue is addressed later under section 6 of this report. 

 
1.3 The proposal seeks to extend an existing dwelling which is located within the sustainable 

settlement of Lichfield, and within an existing residential area and the principle is therefore 
considered acceptable. The main considerations are therefore design, amenity, trees, ecology 
and highways. 

 
 
 
2. Design and Impact upon the Character and Appearance of the Surrounding Area 
 

Page 169



 

2.1 Core Policy 3 states that development should protect and enhance the character and 
distinctiveness of Lichfield District Council, while development should be of a scale and nature 
appropriate to its locality. Policy BE1 states that new development should carefully respect 
the character of the surrounding area and development in terms of layout, size, scale, 
architectural design and public views.  

 
2.2 It is noted that concerns have been raised with regards to the proposed design; this was 

included as reason to call in the application to Committee. The proposed scale, and design, is 
considered acceptable and reflects the character of the original application dwelling and the 
mixed character of the nearby area. A condition would be included on any permission to 
secure the use of matching exterior materials to ensure a satisfactory appearance of 
development. The proposed rear extension at its maximum height would appear subservient 
to the main dwelling and would not result in harm to the character of the application dwelling 
or nearby area. 

   
2.3 Comments made regarding over-development of the site, and density are noted. Given the 

scale of the proposals and that once implemented, the extensions fall well within the curtilage 
of the application site, the resultant density is considered to be acceptable and complies with 
the residential design standards as set out in Appendix A of the adopted Sustainable Design 
SPD.  

 
2.4 When taking account of the large plot that the application dwelling is sited within, and the 

remaining space that would be present around the application dwelling, between nearby 
existing neighbouring dwellings, and between the dwellings approved in the eastern corner of 
the site, it is considered that the proposal would not result in over-development and is 
consistent with the character of the locality.  

 
2.5 The alterations proposed will bring a vacant and dilapidated dwelling back into residential use, 

and are considered to assimilate well with surrounding development. The proposals are 
therefore in accordance with Local Plan Strategy Policies BE1, CP3 and Lichfield 1. 
 

3. Residential Amenity 
 
3.1 Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy states that development should have a positive impact 

upon amenity by avoiding development which causes disturbance through unreasonable 
traffic generation, noise, light, dust, fumes or other disturbance. Core Policy 3 also states that 
development should protect the amenity of residents and seek to improve overall quality of 
life.  

 
3.2 The Sustainable Design SPD states that there should be at least 6 metres between a primary 

principal habitable room window and private neighbouring residential amenity space, except 
where there is no overlooking demonstrated. The SPD also sets out that no windows serving 
principal habitable rooms shall be provided on side elevations at ground floor level, unless 
there is an intervening screen.   

 
3.3 The SPD goes on to state that all private amenity spaces should be a minimum of 10 metres in 

length and the total area of garden should be a minimum of 65 square metres for dwellings 
with 3 and 4 bedrooms.   

 
3.4 Dimbles Hill to north-east – there is a distance of 14.5m between proposed habitable 

windows in the single storey rear extension, and the boundary to No.25 and No.27 Dimbles 
Hill. The extension would extend 4.1m further towards this boundary to the north east than 
the existing rear extension. The proposed balcony to the northern elevation, with 1.8m high 
obscure glazed screen at the north eastern boundary would be around 14.5m from 
neighbouring properties to the west and over 40m to neighbours habitable rear windows. As 
such, it is considered that the proposal would not result in significant harm to these 
neighbours’ amenity and complies with guidance set out within the Sustainable Design SPD.  

Page 170



 

 
3.5 Gaiafield House to south-east – there is a distance of 20m between the proposed ground floor 

kitchen window in the south eastern elevation and the boundary to Gaiafield House located 
to the south east and would be screened by a 1.8 close boarded fence around the application 
dwelling (as approved under discharge of condition application 19/00168/DISCH). This 
distance matches the existing distance between the current kitchen window in the application 
dwelling and the shared boundary, but would be located further north east away from 
Gaiafield House itself. The proposal also removes an existing conservatory which currently 
faces the neighbour’s boundary to the south-east a distance of 9m away. Roof lights are 
proposed in the upper floor facing this neighbour however, the roof lights are approx. 2m 
from floor level and as such the proposal would not result in any significant additional harm 
to this neighbour’s amenity given that a person would not be able to look directly onto their 
property. As such, the proposal complies with guidance contained within the Sustainable 
Design SPD.  

 
3.6 2 new dwellings in eastern corner (approved under 19/00168/FUL) – none of the proposed 

windows in the proposals would directly face habitable windows serving the two new 
dwellings which are yet to be built under previous application 19/00168/FUL. A distance of 
15m would be present between the proposed kitchen window in the proposed single storey 
extension and the living room window serving the nearest ‘Plot 2’ which would be screened 
by 1.8m high boundary treatment.  

 
3.7 The remaining garden area serving the application dwelling at over 700m2 would be well in 

excess of the recommended garden size of 65m2 as set out in the Council’s adopted 
Sustainable Design SPD.  

 
3.8 It is considered reasonable, and necessary, to impose a condition to restrict the hours of 

construction to safeguard neighbours’ amenity. Concerns raised regarding dust and air quality 
impacts arising from the development are noted, but are not considered likely to give rise to 
significant impacts on the immediate locality due to the minor nature of the proposed works. 
It is not therefore considered necessary, or reasonable, to impose any further conditions in 
this instance. 

 
3.9 Neighbours’ comments raised regarding impacts on amenity are noted, and these have been 

considered above and found to be acceptable subject to conditions. There are considered to 
be no grounds for a refusal relating to residential amenity in this instance and the proposal 
accords with Local Plan Strategy Policies CP3 and BE1, the aims of the Sustainable Design SPD, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. Access and Highway Safety 
 
4.1 Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy states that new development should be located in areas 

which have good safe access to public transport to reduce the need to travel by private car.  
Policy ST2 requires appropriate provision to be made for off street parking. The sustainable 
design SPD highlights parking standards and confirms that a four bedroom dwelling would 
require two off street parking spaces. 

 
4.2 The application dwelling would utilise the existing vehicle access which is to be widened as 

part of the permission relating to the two new dwellings in the eastern corner of the 
application site. The adopted parking standards only require two parking spaces to serve a 
three / four bedroom dwelling are therefore acceptable. 

 
4.3 The layout provides sufficient room to manoeuvre, and enable vehicles to leave the 

application site in a forward gear. On that basis the site provides the level of parking required 
based on adopted Parking Standards (two spaces), it is considered that the proposal would 
not result in severe harm to the operation, or safety, of the highway, or to vehicle and 
pedestrian conflict. The Highway Authority have not objected to this proposal and it is 

Page 171



 

considered that a refusal would not be warranted on highway safety grounds. A condition has 
been suggested by the Highway Authority to secure the parking and turning areas and porous 
bound materials. However, this condition is not considered to be necessary, given that parking 
and turning areas are already present on site and are operational for the dwelling as it 
presently stands.  

 
4.4 A condition has been recommended limiting construction hours and delivery times, to fall 

outside of school drop off and pick up times. This will address a number of comments received 
in relation to impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. 

 
4.5 Comments made regarding highway and pedestrian safety are noted, and these have been 

considered above and found to be acceptable, subject to conditions. It is considered that the 
proposal accords with Local Plan Strategy Policies BE1 and ST2, the Sustainable Design SPD, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework in this regard. 

 
5. Impact on Trees 
 
5.1 Policy NR4 states that trees, woodland and hedgerows are important visual and ecological 

assets and that trees will be protected from damage and retained. The application site 
contains a number of protected trees and this application is supported by a Tree Survey which 
has been carried out by a qualified, and chartered Arboriculturist and sets out how the 
majority of these trees would be retained, and afforded protection during works. 

 
5.2 The report identifies the felling of a protected Cypress tree ‘T1’ which has already been 

considered under previous planning permission 19/00168/FUL and 19/01041/FUH and was 
found to be acceptable subject to compensatory replacement planting which was secured by 
condition as part of those permissions. The Cypress ‘T1’ has been felled under this permission. 

 
5.3 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has raised no objections to the scheme subject to securing 

the replacement planting and tree protection measures in accordance with the submitted 
information. This will be secured via condition. 

 
5.4 Comments regarding the retention and protection of existing trees has been considered above 

and on balance, the proposal is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions, and accords 
with Local Plan Strategy Policy NR4, the Trees Landscaping and Development SPD and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6. Ecology 
 
6.1 Policy NR3 confirms that development should protect, enhance, restore and implement 

appropriate conservation management of biodiversity, and that development should deliver 
a net gain of biodiversity. 

 
6.2 The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat Survey demonstrates that the 

proposal is unlikely to negatively impact upon a European Protected Species (EPS) in a manner 
as defined as an offence under the Conservation of Natural Habitats Regulations (Habitat 
Regs.) 1994 (as amended 2017); or upon a protected or priority species or habitat, as defined 
by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 2016); The Protection of Badgers Act 
1992 or listed under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 
2006. 

 
6.3 The Local Planning Authority (LPA) is therefore in a position to demonstrate compliance with 

the Habitat Regulations, which places a duty on the LPA when considering an application for 
planning permission, to have regard to its effects on European protected species. It is also 
deemed that the LPA has a sufficient understanding to discharge its Biodiversity Duty (as 
defined under section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 

Page 172



 

2006). A condition is proposed to ensure that all recommendations and methods of working 
stated within the submitted report are adhered to.  

 
6.4 The recommendations of the Ecology Team regarding bat /bird boxes can be secured by 

condition, to ensure net biodiversity gains are achieved in accordance with Local Plan Strategy 
Policy NR3, the Biodiversity and Development SPD and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6.5 The application site falls within the 15km zone of influence for the Cannock Chase SAC, 

however this application for the extension of an existing dwelling would not result in a net 
increase in the number of dwellings at the site and therefore no mitigation measures are 
necessary. This proposal accords with Local Plan Strategy Policy NR7 in this regard. 

 
7 Other Issues 
 
7.1 Comments made regarding the approved development associated with two new dwellings 

within the wider application site cannot be considered as part of this current application which 
relates only to extensions at Argyll House. Each application is to be judged on its own merits. 

 
8. Human Rights 
 
8.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights 

Act 1998. The proposals may interfere with an individual’s rights under Article 8 of Schedule 1 
to the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their 
private and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be 
justified if it is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The 
potential interference here has been fully considered within the report in having regard to the 
representations received and, on balance, is justified and proportionate in relation to the 
provisions of the policies of the development plan and national planning policy.  

 
Conclusion 
 
The NPPF states that there are three dimensions to sustainable development, namely economic, social 
and environmental and that these should be considered collectively and weighed in the balance when 
assessing the suitability of development proposals.    
 
The material planning matters have been considered as set out in this report, and found to be 
acceptable, subject to the inclusion of necessary conditions. The modest scale and overall design of 
the proposed development is not considered to result in harm to the built or natural environment and 
the character of the area, and would bring about improvements to a vacant dwelling in a poor state 
of repair which currently detracts from the attractiveness of the area. The proposed balcony given the 
separation distances afforded would not give rise to any significant additional harm to adjoining, or 
nearby neighbours’ amenity.  
 
Therefore, it is recommended that this application be approved, subject to conditions, as set out 
above.  

Page 173



19b

GARDENS

RECTORY

15

1

15

17

5

16

19a

23

1

2

12

14

4

GREENFIELD AVENUE

7

12

1

Inn

Shelter

2
HOOD LANE

17

1

2b

5

Shelter

BO
AT

 H
OU

SE
 LA

NE

2a

El Sub Sta

1

8

Ga
te 

Sq
ua

re

21a

The Mount

14
a

10

11

23

13

19

PIKE LANE 2

5

3

17

1

3

8
10

4

21

9

The Swan

LB

Tks

21

77.4m

10

15

A 513

11RUGELEY ROAD

1 t
o 6

6

81.4m

2

D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20201:1,000LOCATION PLAN
19/01341/OUT

The Mount Pike Lane
Armitage

Page 174



  

19/01341/OUT 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF 3 NO DWELLINGS, INCLUDING DEMOLITION OF 
OUTBUILDINGS (ACCESS & LAYOUT) 
THE MOUNT, PIKE LANE, ARMITAGE, RUGELEY 
FOR MR & MRS A & R STANLEY 
 
Registered 24/09/2019 
 
Parish: Armitage with Handsacre 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee due to significant planning 
objections raised by Armitage with Handsacre Parish Council on the following grounds: 

 Access and traffic, 

 Collection of waste bins. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
(1) Subject to the owners/applicants first entering into a Unilateral Undertaking under the Town 
and Country Planning Act (as amended), to secure contributions towards the Cannock Chase Special 
Area of Conservation; and,  
 
(2) If the Unilateral Undertaking is not signed/completed by the 1st October 2020 or the expiration 
of any further agreed extension of time, then powers be delegated to officers to refuse planning 
permission based on the unacceptability of the development without the required contributions 
and undertakings as outlined in the report.  
 
Then APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of two years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of one year from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
Application(s) for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of one year from the date of this permission.  

 
2. The development authorised by this permission shall be carried out in complete accordance 

with the approved plans and specification, as listed on this decision notice, except insofar as 
may be otherwise required by other conditions to which this permission is subject or 
subsequent approval of a reserved matters application/s. 

 
3. This is an outline planning permission and no development shall be commenced until details 

of the design of the dwellings, the external appearance of all buildings including the materials 
to be used on all external surfaces and the hard and soft landscaping of the site have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority by way of a reserved 
matters application(s). The development shall then be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to commencement of development hereby approved: 
 
4. a) Before the development hereby approved is commenced (including demolition), a written 

scheme of archaeological investigation (‘the Scheme’) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Scheme shall provide details of the programme 

Page 175



 

of archaeological works to be carried out within the site, including post-excavation reporting 
and appropriate publication. 
b) The archaeological site work shall thereafter be implemented in full in accordance with the 
written scheme of archaeological investigation approved under condition 4A. 
c) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post excavation 
assessment has been completed in accordance with the written scheme of archaeological 
investigation approved under condition 4A and the provision made for analysis, publication 
and dissemination of the results and archive deposition has been secured. 
  

5. a) Before the development hereby approved is commenced (including demolition), a written 
scheme of archaeological building recording (‘the Scheme’) shall be submitted for the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority.  The Scheme shall provide details of the programme 
of archaeological works to be carried out within the site including appropriate publication.   
b) The archaeological site work shall thereafter be implemented in full in accordance with the 
written scheme of archaeological building recording approved under condition 5A. 
c) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation has been completed in 
accordance with the written scheme of archaeological building recording approved under 
condition 5A and the provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of the results 
and archive deposition has been secured. 

 
6. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a highways construction method 

statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
management plan shall specify details for the: 
a) A site compound with associated temporary buildings, 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
c) Times of deliveries including details of loading and unloading of plant and materials,  
d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development, 
e) Duration of works, 
f) Wheel wash facilities, 
g) Appropriate routing agreement using the most appropriate access route. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter adhered to throughout the construction period. 

 
7. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, details of the height, type and 

position of all site and plot boundary walls, retaining fences and other means of enclosure to 
be erected on the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved boundary treatments shall thereafter be provided prior to the first 
occupation of the dwellings. 

 
8. Before the development hereby approved including any demolition and/or site clearance 

works is commenced or any equipment, machinery or materials is brought onto site, the tree 
protection measures shall be provided in accordance with the approved plan ‘BALDS006-20 
TPP’ and retained for the duration of construction (including any demolition and/or site 
clearance works). No fires, excavation, change in levels, storage of materials, vehicles or plant, 
cement or cement mixing, discharge of liquids, site facilities or passage of vehicles, plant or 
pedestrians, shall occur within the protected areas. The approved scheme shall be kept in 
place until all parts of the development have been completed, and all equipment; machinery 
and surplus materials have been removed. 

 
9. Before the development hereby approved is first commenced, full details of the communal 

bin collection point shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The communal bin collection point shall be located on land within the Applicant's 
control and provided prior to first occupation and thereafter retained as such for the life of 
the development. 

 

Page 176



 

10. Before the development hereby approved is first commenced, full details of any necessary 
alterations to the existing boundary wall shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The alterations to the boundary wall shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved details before the development hereby approved is first 
occupied. 

 
11. Notwithstanding the details submitted, full details of parking for the existing dwelling shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved parking 
shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the development and retained as such for the 
life of the development.  

 
12. Notwithstanding the details submitted, full details of facilitation pruning to the trees adjacent 

to the access shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The facilitation pruning shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
13. Before the development hereby approved in commenced, full details of any proposed site 

regrading and the finished floor level/s of the dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
14. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, details of all external materials to 

be used in the construction of the dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details unless otherwise first agreed in writing. 

 
CONDITIONS to be complied with prior to the first occupation of development: 
 
15. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, the mitigation measures as 

detailed within the submitted ‘Bat Emergence Surveys’ produced by S Christopher Smith, 
dated 18th June 2020, shall be installed. The mitigation measures shall thereafter be retained 
as such for the life of the development.  

 
16. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, details of covered, secure cycle 

storage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed cycle storage shall be provided before the development is first occupied and thereafter 
retained as such for the life of the development. 

 
17. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, the access, parking and turning 

areas shall be provided in accordance with approved plan. The access, parking and turning 
shall thereafter be retained as such for the life of the development.  

 
18. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, the access and visibility splay as 

shown on approved plan ‘HAS/19-034/02’ shall be provided. The visibility splay shall 
thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 600mm above the 
adjacent carriageway level for the life of the development.  

 
All other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 
19. The dwellings hereby approved shall be limited to two-storey only and shall have a maximum 

of 3 bedrooms.  
 
20. Any windows within the side elevations shall be fitted with obscure glazing (to a minimum 

level 3) and non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 
1.7m above the floor of the room in which the window is installed.  

  

Page 177



 

 
21. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

recommendations and methods of working, which are detailed within the submitted ‘Phase 1 
Habitat & Protected Species Survey’, produced by Astute Ecology, dated January 2020 and the 
‘Bat Emergence Surveys’ produced by S Christopher Smith, dated 18th June 2020.   

 
22. During the period of construction of any phase of the development, no works including 

deliveries shall take place outside the following times: 07.30 – 19.00 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 – 13.00 on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays (other 
than emergency works). 

 
23. The landscaping scheme submitted in pursuance of Condition 3 shall include the retention of 

existing trees, and planting of 9 replacement trees. The scheme shall thereafter be 
implemented within 8 months of the first occupation of the dwelling. 

 
24. Any tree, hedge or shrub planted as part of the approved landscape and planting scheme (or 

replacement tree/hedge) on the site and which dies or is lost through any cause during a 
period of 5 years from the date of first planting shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species. 

 
Reasons for Conditions: 
 
1. In order to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended. 
 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the applicant's stated intentions, in order 

to meet the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy and the 
guidance contained with the National Planning Policy Guidance. 

 
3. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
4. To safeguard any archaeological interests in accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 

14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Document, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
5. To record any archaeological interests in accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 14 

and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations Document, 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Document, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6. In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of neighbouring residents in 

accordance with the requirements of Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

Page 178



 

8. To ensure the long term health and vitality of trees within the site in accordance with the 
requirements of Policies BE1 and NR4 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Trees, Landscaping & 
Development Supplementary Planning Document, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
9. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
10. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
11. To ensure sufficient parking provision within the site and in the interests of Highway safety in 

accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy 
AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. In order to encourage enhancements in biodiversity and habitat, in accordance with the 

requirements of Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Biodiversity and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. To ensure the long term health and vitality of trees within the site in accordance with the 

requirements of Policies BE1 and NR4 of the Local Plan Strategy, the Trees, Landscaping & 
Development Supplementary Planning Document, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
14. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
15. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations 
Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
16. To promote sustainable transport and to ensure sufficient parking provision within the site in 

accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy 
AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17. To ensure sufficient parking provision within the site and in the interests of Highway safety in 

accordance with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy 
AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 179



 

18. To ensure a sufficient access is provided and in the interests of Highway safety, in accordance 
with the requirements of Policies BE1 and ST2 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy AH8 of 
Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan, the Sustainable Design Supplementary 
Planning Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19. To ensure a satisfactory form and appearance of development, to safeguard the character and 

the appearance of the site and surrounding historic environment, in accordance with Core 
Policy 14 and Policies H1 and BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Policy BE2 of the Local Plan 
Allocations Document, Policies AH1, AH5 and AH8 of Armitage with Handsacre 
Neighbourhood Plan, the Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Documents and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents, in accordance with the requirements of 

Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
21. To safeguard protected species and ensure that there is no net loss to biodiversity on the site 

in accordance with the requirements of Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy the Local Plan, 
Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
22. To  protect  the  amenities of occupiers of nearby properties from excessive noise disturbance, 

in accordance with Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
23. To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, and to secure sufficient 

replacement planting, in accordance with Policies NR4 and BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy, the 
Trees, Landscaping & Development Supplementary Planning Documents and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. To ensure that any initial plant losses are overcome in the interests of the visual amenities of 

the locality and in accordance with the provisions of Core Policy 3 and BE1 of the Local Plan 
Strategy, the Trees, Landscaping and Development Supplementary Planning Document and 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
NOTES TO APPLICANT: 
 
1. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015), Lichfield 

District Local Plan Allocations (2019), and the Armitage and Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan 
(2018). 

 
2. The applicant’s attention is drawn to The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, 

Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2017, which requires 
that any written request for compliance of a planning condition(s) shall be accompanied by a 
fee of £34 for a householder application or £116 for any other application including reserved 
matters. Although the Council will endeavour to deal with such applications in a timely 
manner, it should be noted that legislation allows a period of up to 8 weeks for the Local 
Planning Authority to discharge conditions and therefore this timescale should be borne in 
mind when programming development. 

 
3. The development is considered to be a sustainable form of development which complies with 

the provisions of paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 
4. Please be advised that Lichfield District Council adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) Charging Schedule on the 19th April 2016 and commenced charging from the 13th June 
2016.  A CIL charge applies to all relevant applications. This will involve a monetary sum 
payable prior to commencement of development.  In order to clarify the position of your 

Page 180



 

proposal, please complete the Planning Application Additional Information Requirement 
Form, which is available for download from the Planning Portal or from the Council's website 
at www.lichfielddc.gov.uk/cilprocess.  

 
5. Severn Trent Water advise that there may be a public sewer located within the application 

site. Although our statutory sewer records do not show any public sewers within the area you 
have specified, there may be sewers that have been recently adopted under the Transfer of 
Sewer Regulations 2011. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built close 
to, directly over or be diverted without consent and contact must be made with Severn Trent 
Water to discuss the proposals. Severn Trent will seek to assist in obtaining a solution which 
protects both the public sewer and the building. Please note that there is no guarantee that 
you will be able to build over or close to any Severn Trent sewers, and where diversion is 
required there is no guarantee that you will be able to undertake those works on a self-lay 
basis. Every approach to build near to or divert our assets has to be assessed on its own merit 
and the decision of what is or isn't permissible is taken based on the risk to the asset and the 
wider catchment it serves. It is vital therefore that you contact us at the earliest opportunity 
to discuss the implications of our assets crossing your site. Failure to do so could significantly 
affect the costs and timescales of your project if it transpires diversionary works need to be 
carried out by Severn Trent. 

 
6. The dropped crossing to the site shall be constructed in accordance with submitted drawing 

no. HAS/19-034/02. Please note that prior to the access being constructed you require Section 
184 Notice of Approval from Staffordshire County Council. The link below provides a further 
link to 'vehicle dropped crossings' which includes a 'vehicle dropped crossing information 
pack' and an application form for a dropped crossing. Please complete and send to the address 
indicated on the application form which is Staffordshire County Council at Network 
Management Unit, Staffordshire Place 1, Wedgwood Building, Tipping Street, Stafford, 
Staffordshire, ST16 2DH (or email to nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk) 
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/  

 
7. All nesting birds are afforded protection under Part 1 section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 (as amended 2016), making it an offence to: disturb, injure or kill a nesting bird; 
disturb, take or destroy their nest; or damage, take or destroy their eggs. As such any site 
clearance works should occur outside of bird nesting season (March-September inclusive). If, 
site clearance outside of bird nesting season cannot be achieved then the site must be checked 
to be free of nesting birds, by a suitably experienced ecologist, immediately prior to 
commencement of any site clearance works. 

 
8. The written scheme of archaeological investigation required in condition 4 shall be in 

accordance with the Staffordshire County Council Historic Environment Officer’s comments 
dated 14th October 2019. 

 
PLANS CONSIDERED AS PART OF THIS RECOMMENDATION 
BALDS006-20 TPP,  
HAS/19-034/02 
0274-04R D,  
20-002-01,  
0274-02 B,  
0274-02L, B 
0274-06 B, 
0274-01 B,  
0274-05 B. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 181

mailto:nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/


 

PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Local Plan Strategy  
Core Policy 1: The Spatial Strategy 
Core Pollicy 2: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 3: Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 6: Housing Delivery 
Core Policy 12: Our Natural Resources 
Core Policy 14: Our Built & Historic Environment 
Policy ST2: Parking Provision 
Policy H1: A Balanced Housing Market 
Policy NR3: Biodiversity, Protected Species & their Habitats 
Policy NR4: Trees, Woodland & Hedgerows 
Policy NR7: Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation 
Policy BE1: High Quality Development 
Policy Rural 1: Rural Areas 
Policy Arm4: Armitage with Handscare Housing 
 
Local Plan Allocations 
Policy BE2: Heritage Assets 
 
Supplementary Planning Document  
Historic Environment SPD 
Sustainable Design SPD 
Trees Landscaping and Development SPD 
Biodiversity and Development SPD 
Developer Contributions SPD 
 

Armitage and Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan  
Policy AH1 – Conserving and Enhanceing Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
Policy AH5 – Better Design 
Policy AH8 – New Housing Development within the Village of Armitage with Handsacre 
 
Local Plan Review: Preferred Options (2018-2040) 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

19/00537/OUT Outline application for the erection of 9 dwellings (access 
only) 

Withdrawn 11/06/2019 

98/00259/FUL Au pair/children's nanny accommodation incidental to the 
principal use of the site 

Approved     11/05/1998 

97/00317/FUL Conversion of former stable blocks incorporated in 
extension and erection of swimming pool, domestic 
habitation 

Withdrawn 24/02/1998 

97/00316/FUL Extensions and conversion of existing buildings, domestic 
habitation 

Approved    20/05/1997 

L950497 Store balloon trailers vehicles in ex garages new LPG tank Refused 11/09/1995 

AD940051 Signs to front Approved   22/12/1994 

L940735 Renew permission L910737 dwellings outline Approved   14/11/1994 

L910737 Renewal of outline permission L880587 dwellings Approved   28/10/1991 

L880587 Renewal of outline permission L11848 2 residential units Approved   25/07/1988 

Page 182



 

L11848 Conversion and extension of existing building into two 
residential units 

Approved   02/09/1985 

L3934 Fitting of external light to counteract vandalising of parked 
cars 

Approved   19/12/1977 

 
    

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Armitage With Handsacre Parish Council - Strong objection. Pike Lane is very small in width and 
bordered by an old brick wall, the potential construction traffic access to and from the site may prove 
challenging for the large vehicles and then for the residents of the new homes. Also, the councillors 
would like the collection of the waste bins schedule considered, that the homeowners do not leave 
their bins out in the lane. If provision for storage and collection on site, this would help the issue. 
(6/4/20) 
 
Previous Comments: Objection. The Council feel that the lane is too small to accommodate any 
increase in traffic accessing the proposed new properties on this site. The visibility leaving the 
proposed site will be very restricted by the brick wall around the site. Also, if the development was 
permitted access to the site is very restricted by both ends of the lane by another small lane and large 
vehicles could destroy or damage nearby properties or boundary walls/hedges. (15/10/19) 
 
Spatial Policy & Delivery Team (LDC) – The principle of residential development in this location is 
supported by local and national policy. The site is within 8km of the Cannock Chase SAC, a contribution 
will be required. The site is in the lower charging zone for CIL. States the relevant policies. (4/10/19) 
 
Conservation and Urban Design Manager (LDC) – No further objections, subject to agreeing the 
design and materials. The scheme has been reduced to three dwellings which are now set well back 
from the main house and are clearly associated with the complex of ancillary buildings. The layout is 
acceptable in terms of the impact upon the main house, which is a non-designated heritage asset. The 
amended scheme will require the demolition of an existing outbuilding, this will need to be recorded, 
and this can be secured via condition. The scale and design will be vitally important and the new 
dwellings should be kept as low as possible and take their architectural cues from the surrounding 
outbuildings. (2/4/20) 
 
Previous Comments: The Mount is a non-designated heritage asset, reiterate comments made to 
previous application. Any new development should be designed to appear as subservient outbuildings 
to the main house. The proposed dwellings do not appear subservient and their siting and scale would 
impact upon the setting of the non-designated heritage asset. (14/10/19) 
 
Ecology Team (LDC) – Satisfied with the submitted Bat Emergence Surveys, concur with the 
conclusions of the surveys in that it can be considered that the presence of protected species and the 
extent that they may be affected by the proposed development has been established and satisfactory 
measures have been recommended to protect the protected species identified. It is considered that 
the development is unlikely to negatively impact upon protected or priority species or habitats. All 
recommendations and methods of working detailed in the submitted surveys must be made a 
condition of any future approval. The LPA must ensure that the three tests set out by Natural England 
can be satisfied. (7/7/20) 
 
Previous Comments: The submitted survey identifies Buildings B4, B5 and B6 as having moderate 
potential for bats. Since the survey was completed the scheme has been amended and Building B5 is 
now proposed for demolition. The Ecology Team do not have enough information in relation to the 
effects the development is likely to have on protected species (bats). Further bat surveys are required 
prior to determination. (6/4/20) 
 
Based on the sites location and the known presence of protected/priority species in the area a Full 
Ecological Assessment is required prior to determination. The scheme much provide a net gain to 
biodiversity. (24/10/19) 

Page 183



 

 
Arboriculture Officer (LDC) – Object on grounds of protection and retention of protected trees. Do 
not agree with the classification and removal of tree 3925. It is also proposed to retain the tree and 
crown lift by 50%, this would not be acceptable. (30/4/20) 
 
Previous Comments: Object. Concern over classification of tree 3925 and its removal. This tree is sited 
adjacent to the access. No compensatory planting is proposed. (26/3/20) 
 
Object. The submitted tree report references a tree protection plan BALDS006-20 TPP but this does 
not appear to have been made available. This is required prior to further comments being made. 
(20/3/20) 
 
Object. The site is subject to a TPO, as such a tree survey and protection plan is required prior to 
determination. (26/9/19) 
 
Environmental Health Team (LDC) – No response received.  
 
Waste Management (LDC) – States the requirements for bins and collection points. (25/9/19) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highways) – No objections subject to conditions to secure required 
visibility splay and access prior to first use of the scheme and a construction environmental 
management plan prior to commencement. Sufficient parking spaces will be required at reserved 
matters stage. There are no records of personal injury collisions on Pike Lane within 43 meters either 
side of the access in the past five years. (27/3/20 & 17/10/19) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) – The development would not require an 
education contribution, as it proposes less than 10 units and under a gross floor area of 1000m². 
(2/10/19) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Flood Risk Officer) - As the development is non-major, we are non- 
statutory consultees and so have no comments to offer. (24/9/19) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Historic Environment) – There are a number of HER points within close 
proximity of the site and the dwellings on the site date from at the 19th century, the site is also within 
the Trent Valley where prehistoric evidence has been found. Recommend that a programme of 
archaeological works is secured, which should include a geophysical survey with trial trenching. The 
outbuilding to be demolished should be recorded. (14/10/19) 
 
Severn Trent Water – No objection and do not require a drainage condition as the proposal will have 
a minimal impact upon the public sewerage system. Recommend a note to applicant. (1/10/19) 
 
Natural England – No objections, the proposal will not have significant adverse impacts on designated 
sites. Concur with the LPA’s Appropriate Assessment conclusions. (14/10/19) 
 
Environment Agency – The development has been assessed as having a low environmental risk. No 
comments. (25/9/19) 
 
Architectural Liaison Officer – No response received.  
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
8 letters of objection/representation have been received in respect of this application. The comments 
are summarised as follows:  
- Pike Lane is a unique area of the village and the character will be ruined if it’s over developed.  
- High density and over development.  
- Pike Lane is already busy and hazardous to cars and pedestrians due to its limited width. The 

proposed access will lead to safety issues, during construction and after.  

Page 184



 

- The outbuildings and boundary wall need to be repaired. 
- Unsure about the impact upon building F which is connected to neighbouring property. 
- Impact upon structural integrity of existing boundary wall to north. Who will be responsible for 

the upkeep?  
- Impact upon privacy, views and shadowing. Dwellings to north are at lower ground level. 
- Disturbance during construction, no building on weekends.  
- Noise and disturbance from future occupants. 
- Increased traffic. 
- Potential subsidence of neighbouring buildings and walls due to removal of trees and their roots.  
- Site is subject to a TPO. 
- Materials must complement any remaining structures and wider neighbourhood.  
- Existing sewer issues, the development will make this worse.  
- Impact upon wildlife.  
- Layout not appropriate.  
- There are other more appropriate brownfield sites which could be used.  
- If The Mount is converted to flats in the future this will cause further issues with traffic.  
 
OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Bat Emergence Survey, 
Phase 1 Habitat & Protected Species Survey, 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment & Method Statement, 
Highways Technical Note, 
Planning Statement
 

 
OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application relates to The Mount, sited north of Pike Lane in Armitage. The Mount is a 19th Century 
dwelling sited within a large plot with outbuildings to the rear and is a non-designated heritage asset. 
The site contains a number of large trees, particularly to the front (west), which are subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order (2019/19436/TPO). The site access is off Pike Lane to the west. The access is wide 
enough for 1no vehicle for approx. 12m rear of the highway and is bound by brick walls. Pike Lane is 
a single track road which serves a number of properties and links Rectory Lane and Hood Lane. The 
site is predominantly bound by brick walls, the northern boundary acts as a retaining wall as the land 
to the north is at a lower level then the application site. The site and Pike Lane increase in land level 
from Rugeley Road to the rear of the site, with the garden area on higher land then the existing house. 
The site is predominantly surrounded by residential properties, to the northwest is a public house and 
to the west is a small convenience shop. The site is within 8km of the Cannock Chase Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). The site is within the designated settlement boundary of Armitage with 
Handsacre. 
 
Background 
 
The site’s planning history includes planning permissions in the 1980’s and 90’s for the conversion of 
the existing outbuildings to form additional accommodation for the existing dwelling and alternate 
schemes to convert the outbuildings to form new dwellings. However, none of these have been 
implemented. The previous outline application for 9 dwellings was withdrawn prior to the LPA making 
a determination. 
 
Proposals 
 
This application seeks outline permission for the erection of 3no dwellings, widening of access and 
demolition of an outbuilding. The application seeks outline permission for access and layout, all other 
matters are reserved.  

Page 185



 

 
The dwellings will be sited to the rear (east) of the site and will be arranged as terrace properties. The 
dwellings will be sited 39m from the rear of the existing dwelling. The dwellings will each measure 
7.8m in depth and 6.5m in width. The dwellings will have private garden space to the rear and sides. 
The dwellings will have a shared parking and turning space to the front, with each dwelling allocated 
2no parking spaces.  
 
The existing access off Pike Lane will be utilised and widened. The existing private drive will be 
extended internally to serve the existing and proposed dwellings.  
 
DETERMINING ISSUES   
 

1. Policy & Principle of Development 
2. Layout & Impact Upon Non-designated Heritage Asset 
3. Residential Amenity 
4. Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
5. Arboriculture 
6. Ecology  
7. Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
8. Other Issues 
9. Human Rights 

 
1. Policy & Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield District 
comprises the Local Plan Strategy 2008-2029, Local Plan Allocations 2008-2029 and the 
adopted (made) Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan.   

 
1.2 The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, this is echoed in Local 

Plan Strategy Core Policy 2. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that “the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as 
the starting point for decision making.” Furthermore, paragraph 177 states that “the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where the plan or project 
is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either alone or in combination with other 
plans or projects), unless an appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project 
will not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site.” In this case the site falls within the 
catchment of the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC), therefore it is necessary 
for the development to demonstrate it has satisfied the Habitats and Species Regulations in 
that the integrity of the Cannock Chase SAC will not be adversely affected, having regard to 
avoidance or mitigation measures. This issue is addressed later under section 2 of this report. 

 
1.3 Core Policy 6 of the Local Plan Strategy expands upon Core Policy 1 with regard to the provision 

of housing within the District. The policy identifies key urban and the key rural settlements as 
the focus for residential development, Armitage and Handsacre is a designated key rural 
settlement. Policy Arm4 states that between 120-220 homes will be provided within Armitage 
and that infill development within the village will be prioritised. Policy AH8 of the Armitage 
with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan confirms that new housing within the settlement 
boundary will be supported, subject to meeting certain development management criteria, 
such as access, parking, and residential amenity. The proposed development will deliver 3no 
additional dwellings within the sustainable settlement of Armitage with Handsacre, as such is 
considered to be acceptable in principle.  

 
1.4 Policy H1 of the Local Plan Strategy encourages smaller (2-3 bedroom) homes, the need for 

which is identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment. However the policy does not 
set out a threshold for the housing mix requirement. The proposal will deliver 3no dwellings, 

Page 186



 

whilst at this outline stage the housing mix has not been established a condition will be 
imposed to ensure that the development delivers smaller dwellings in accordance with Policy 
H1.  

 
1.5 The development, subject to adhering to conditions, will deliver three additional smaller 

dwellings within the sustainable settlement of Armitage as such the proposal would comply 
with the requirements of the development plan in terms of the principle of development. 
Matters related to the general development management criteria are discussed below.  

 
2. Layout & Impact Upon Non-designated Heritage Asset 
 
2.1 Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan Strategy states that development should protect and enhance 

the distinctiveness of the District and its settlements, while development proposals should be 
of a scale and nature appropriate to its locality. Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy requires 
new development to carefully respect the character of the surrounding area and development 
in terms of layout, size, scale design and public views. Policy AH5 of the Armitage with 
Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan requires new residential development to be of good quality 
design and should address the following factors; setting, public realm, accessibility, site 
characteristics, frontages, innovation & responding to local context, roofscapes & chimneys, 
elevations, and parking standards. 

 
2.2 Core Policy 14 of the Local Plan Strategy states that “the District Council will protect and 

improve the built environment and have special regard to the conservation and enhancement 
of the historic environment”. Policy BE2 of the Local Plan Allocations states that “development 
proposals which conserve and enhance our historic environment will be supported where the 
development will not result in harm to the significance of the heritage asset or its setting.” 
And that “The loss of, or harm to, a heritage asset will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that the ensuing harm and loss of significance of the heritage asset is necessary 
to achieve public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss in accordance with the NPPF.” 

 

2.3 Whilst considering proposals which affect upon the setting of Listed Buildings regard is to be 
made of S16 (2) and S66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area Act) 1990, 
which requires the Local Planning Authority to “have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of a special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses”. The NPPF states that when determining applications in relation 
to a non-designated heritage asset the significance of the asset and the scale of harm should 
be considered and weighed in the planning balance. 

 
2.4 The application seeks permission for access and outline only, all other matters will be 

determined at reserved matters stage. During the determination of the application the 
proposed layout has been amended to ensure that the siting of the dwellings adhered to the 
required separation distances and to minimise the impact upon the existing dwelling. The 
dwellings will be sited to the rear of the site and will continue the range of outbuildings. Whilst 
the design will be determined at reserved matters stage, subject to a suitable design the 
dwellings will appear as additional outbuilding associated with the main house. The 
neighbours’ concerns about over development and the density are noted, however it is 
considered that the resultant site would not be overdeveloped and would have a lower 
density than the existing neighbouring properties.  

 
2.5 The Parish Council’s concerns regarding bin collection points are noted, the submitted layout 

demonstrates that there will be a designated collection point adjacent to the access within 
the site. The proposed bin collection location adheres to the Waste Management Team 
requirements.  No details of the design of the collection point are provided at this stage, as 
such a condition is recommended to secure details of this and ensure it is utilised by future 
occupants.  

 

Page 187



 

2.6 The application seeks to demolish an existing outbuilding in order to facilitate the 
development, the Conservation Officer has raised no objections to its removal, however as 
requested that the building is recorded prior to its demolition in order to keep a historical 
record of the site. This is considered reasonable and a suitable condition to secure this is 
recommended.  

 
2.7 It is considered that the layout of the proposed development will respect the character of the 

existing site and will have a minimal impact upon the non-designated heritage asset. Any harm 
caused to the non-designated heritage asset can be outweighed by the public benefits of 
providing 3no additional dwellings within this sustainable settlement. Overall, the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable in this regard.  

 
3. Residential Amenity 
 
3.1 Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Strategy states that proposals should not have a negative impact 

on amenity, and development should avoid unreasonable levels of disturbance through traffic 
generation, noise, light, dust, fumes, or other disturbance. This Policy is supplemented by the 
Council’s adopted Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which sets out 
the Council’s requirements for space about dwellings within Appendix A.  

 
3.2 The SPD requires a separation distance of 21m between principle habitable rooms which face 

each other. The SPD also requires there to be a 6m separation distance between primary 
principle habitable room windows and the garden area of neighbouring properties.  

 
3.3 The neighbours’ concerns with regards to overlooking, loss of privacy and outlook are noted. 

The proposed dwellings will be sited 39m from the rear of The Mount, and approx. 17m to the 
retained rear garden. To the east the rear elevation of the dwellings will be sited at least 6m 
from the rear garden of the neighbouring dwelling. The development is considered to provide 
sufficient separation to the front and rear and will not result in overlooking between existing 
and future residents in this regard.  

 
3.4 A 13m separation is required where a dwelling looks onto the blank elevation. The SPD states 

that where there is significant variations in ground level between the development and 
existing development increased separation distances will be required, a general guide is an 
additional 2m for every 1m rise in ground level.  

 
3.5 The dwellings will be sited in excess of 20m from the dwellings to the south on Pike Lane. The 

dwellings to the north are sited at a lower ground level. The submitted topographic survey 
identifies a 2.5m change in levels, as such any separation distance must be extended by 5m. 
The dwellings are sited 18m from the dwellings to the north. Whilst designs have not been 
provided at this stage a condition is recommended to require that any windows within the 
side elevations are obscure glazed and top hung and that the buildings are a maximum of 2no 
storeys, in order to prevent any overlooking and to ensure that the development complies 
with the requirements of the SPD. 

 
3.6 The SPD sets out the required private amenity space for dwellings based upon the number of 

bedrooms. The proposed layout demonstrates that each dwelling will have a private amenity 
space in excess of 65m² which would accommodate up to a 4 bedroom dwelling. As such it is 
considered that sufficient private amenity space for future occupants will be provided. The 
layout shows that an area in excess of 300m², as such it is considered that sufficient private 
amenity space for the existing dwelling will be retained.  

 
3.7 The neighbours’ concerns about loss of light and shadowing are noted. This application does 

not seek determination of scale or design, as such loss of light would be accurately assessed 
at reserved matters stage. A condition is recommended to ensure that the dwellings do not 
exceed two storey in order to limit the impact upon neighbouring properties.  

 

Page 188



 

3.8 The neighbours’ concerns regarding disturbance during construction is noted, as such a 
condition to limit the construction hours is recommended. The neighbours’ concerns about 
disturbance from the new occupants are noted, however the scale and nature of development 
is not considered to result in significant noise increase in the context of this existing residential 
area. 

 
3.9 Given the above, it is considered that the proposal complies with the LPA standards regarding 

residential amenity and will provide acceptable standards of living for future and existing 
residents of the locality. As such the development would accord with the development plan 
and the NPPF in this regard.  

 
4. Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
 
4.1 The proposal seeks to utilise the existing access off Pike Lane, and widen this to provide the 

required visibility splay. The Parish Council’s and neighbour’s comments regarding highway 
safety are noted. However, SCC Highways consider that the proposed access is acceptable and 
can safely accommodate the expected level of traffic. A condition is recommended to ensure 
that the widened access and visibility splays are provided prior to the first occupation of the 
dwellings.  

 
4.2 Local Plan Strategy Policy ST2 states that appropriate off-street parking should be provided by 

all developments, the Council's off street car parking standards are defined within Appendix 
D of the Sustainable Design SPD. The parking standards are set according to the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling. At this stage the scale and design of the dwellings has not been 
submitted, however the submitted layout demonstrates that each dwelling will be provided 
with 2no vehicle parking spaces. As stated within the SPD this would accommodate up to a 
4no bedroom dwelling, as such is considered acceptable. The submitted layout does not 
specify a parking area for the existing dwelling, however it is considered that the site contains 
sufficient space to accommodate this. A condition is recommended to secure details of this. 
The SPD also requires cycle storage to be provided, a condition is recommended to secure 
this. 

 
4.3 The Parish Council’s and neighbours’ concerns regarding construction traffic are noted. SCC 

Highways have recommended that a construction environmental management plan is 
secured. Given the constrained nature of the site this is considered reasonable and will be 
required.  

 
4.4 Therefore, it is considered that, subject to conditions, the proposal accords with the 

development plan with regard to access/egress and parking provision. As such the 
development would accord with the Local Plan Strategy and the NPPF in this regard. 

 
5. Arboriculture 
 
5.1 Policy NR4 of the Local Plan Strategy seeks to retain trees and design out the long term conflict 

between retained trees and development. The site contains a number of mature trees, 
particularly to the east. The site is covered by an area TPO. During the determination of the 
application a tree survey was submitted.  

 
5.2 Trees are identified in two main areas, the wooded frontage to the north of the site and the 

southern section in the rear garden. The development requires 8no trees to be removed to 
facilitate the development (3 Category B and 5 Category C), another tree is also proposed for 
removal due to ill health. The trees to be removed are sited predominantly along the rear 
boundary, with the exception of two trees adjacent the extended access. The trees to be 
removed are predominantly Lime trees, with 1no Apple, 1no Cherry, 1no Bay, & 1no Magnolia 
trees. 

 

Page 189



 

5.3 The Arboriculture Officer has objected to the scheme on the basis of tree removal and lack of 
replacement planting. The Arboriculture Officer has also raised concern about the removal of 
a Yew tree adjacent to the entrance, however it is not proposed to remove this tree. The 
scheme does not seek to remove any trees to the front of the site.  

 
5.4 Due to the positioning of the trees which are proposed to be removed and the existing 

boundary wall these trees are not particularly visible from public vantage points, only the 
magnolia is visible from the streetscene. Whilst these trees do provide screening to the site 
when viewed from neighbours’ gardens the trees are considered of minimal visual merit and 
not considered to contribute in their own right to the wider streetscene and area.  

 
5.5 The development will not affect the larger specimen trees at the front of the site which are 

considered to be important visually within the streetscene. As such the removal of the trees 
to the rear is considered to be acceptable given their limited impact upon the streetscene. A 
condition is recommended to secure a landscaping scheme which includes replacement 
planting for the 9no trees to be removed. It is considered that the site contains sufficient space 
for replacement planting.  

 
5.6 The proposed dwellings will be sited in close proximity to a large off site tree, which may result 

in shading to the rear gardens and rear elevations. The tree is sited to the east of the dwellings 
and as such will shade the gardens in the morning. The tree is on 3rd party land and as such 
could not be removed by any future occupier of the dwellings. However, it is considered that 
any future occupier will be aware of this relationship between the dwellings and this mature 
tree.  

 
5.7 The Arboricultural Officer has also raised concerns about the proposed facilitation pruning to 

the trees to the frontage, adjacent to the access to provide a clearance height of 5m. The trees 
overhang the existing access and if left would likely be effected by construction vehicles, which 
would impact upon the health of the tree and potentially pose a safety issue for passing 
pedestrians and vehicles. Whilst it is agreed that facilitation pruning is required to trees at the 
frontage near the access point, it is considered that a 5m clearance is excessive. As such a 
condition is recommended to agree a suitable level of facilitation pruning that will not result 
in any undue harm to the trees. A condition is recommended to secure the proposed tree 
protection measures to ensure that the retained trees on site are not harmed during 
construction. 

 
5.8 Overall, whilst the proposal will result in the removal of protected trees, the level of removal 

is considered in this instance on balance to be appropriate, when balanced against the visual 
contribution of the trees, replacement planting and the public benefits of delivering 3no 
additional small (up to 3 bedrooms) dwellings within this sustainable settlement. As such the 
proposal is considered on balance to have an acceptable aboricultural impact. 

 
6. Ecology  
 
6.1 To comply with the guidance contained within Paragraphs 9, 108 and 118 of the NPPF and the 

Council’s biodiversity duty as defined under Section 40 of the NERC Act 2006, new 
development must demonstrate that it will not result in the loss of biodiversity value across 
the site. Due to the Local Planning Authority’s obligations to “reflect and where appropriate 
promote relevant EU obligations and statutory requirements”, the applicant must display a net 
gain to biodiversity as per the requirements of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020. Furthermore, 
producing a measureable net-gain to biodiversity is also a requirement of all developments 
under Policy NR3 of the Local Plan Strategy and the Biodiversity and Development 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
6.2 The neighbours’ concerns regarding wildlife are noted. The scheme proposes the demolition 

an existing outbuilding and erection of 3no dwellings. During the determination of the 
application a Phase 1 Habitat and Protected Species Survey and a Bat Emergence Survey, 

Page 190



 

undertaken by a qualified Ecologists, were submitted. The surveys identified that there is 
evidence of nesting birds and potentially bats. The emergence survey identified that a Brown 
Long Eared bat are using the building to be demolished as a place of shelter, as such the 
development will impact upon protected species and their habitat through the loss of a roost. 
A Natural England license would therefore be necessary, while it is also necessary to ensure 
that appropriate replacement roosting provision and compensation is provided. A number of 
replacement provision options have been provided within the submitted ecological survey.  

 

6.3 The Councils Ecologist is satisfied that appropriate replacement provision can be provided, 
nonetheless it is necessary, as competent authority, to ensure that three tests are satisfied a) 
that there is no satisfactory alternative; b) the action authorised will not be detrimental to the 
maintenance of the population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status 
in their natural range; and, c) the action authorised preserved public health or public safety or 
other imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or economic 
nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment.  

 

6.4 The proposed layout is the result of prolonged discussion and amendments in order to achieve 
a scheme that is acceptable. It is considered that with appropriate compensation as proposed, 
it is not considered that the development would undermine the favourable conservation 
status of the Brown Long Eared bat populations. Finally it is considered that there are 
overriding social benefits of the delivery of 3 additional dwellings. The LPA are therefore of the 
view that the tests have been satisfied.  

 

6.5 The Council’s Ecologist recommends adherence by the applicant to all recommendations for 
mitigation, which also includes the requirement for a licence. This is considered reasonable 
and necessary and a relevant condition is imposed.  

 
7. Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

 
7.1 Policy NR7 of the Local Plan Strategy sets out that any development leading to a net increase 

in dwellings within a 15km radius of the Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
will be deemed to have an adverse impact on the SAC unless or until satisfactorily avoidance 
and/or mitigation measures have been secured. The Council has adopted guidance 
acknowledging a 15km Zone of Influence and seeking financial contributions for the required 
mitigation from development within the 0-8km zone. The proposal lies within the 0-8km 
buffer of the Cannock Chase SAC, as such a financial contribution is required. The financial 
contribution will be secured via either a Unilateral Undertaking or a CIL payment.  

 
7.2 Under the provisions of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Local 

Planning Authority as the competent authority, must have further consideration, beyond the 
above planning policy matters, to the impact of this development, in this case, due to the 
relative proximity, on the Cannock Chase SAC. Therefore, in accordance with Regulation 63 of 
the aforementioned Regulations, the Local Planning Authority has undertaken an Appropriate 
Assessment. Natural England are a statutory consultee on the Appropriate Assessment (AA) 
stage of the Habitats Regulations process and have therefore been duly consulted. Natural 
England have concurred with the LPA’s AA, which concludes that the mitigation measures 
identified within the Council’s Development Plan for windfall housing sites, will address any 
harm arising from this development to the SAC and therefore they have offered no objections 
to proposal. On this basis, it is concluded that the LPA have met its requirements as the 
competent authority, as required by the Regulations and therefore the proposal will comply 
with the requirements of the Development Plan and the NPPF in this regard.  

 
8. Other Issues 
 
8.1 The Council’s SPD Developer Contributions details the Council’s CIL requirements for 

development. The document identifies that this site is located within the lower levy charging 

area for residential development and as such will have a fee calculated at £25 per square metre. 

Page 191



 

An informative noting the need to finalise the CIL requirements for this development will be 

attached to the decision. 

 

8.2 SCC Education have advised that given the scale of the development a financial contribution is 

not required.  

 
8.3 With regards to drainage, the neighbour’s comments are noted, however Severn Trent Water 

have raised no objections and have advised that a drainage condition is not required as the 

proposal will have a minimal impact upon the public sewerage system. The Environment Agency 

and SCC Flood Risk Officer have raised no concerns to the application.  

 
8.4 The neighbours’ comments about future development of the existing dwelling are noted 

however fall outside of the remit of this application. Should any future application be submitted 

with regards to the existing dwelling this will be determined on its own merits at that time.  

 
8.5 The neighbour’s comments about the structural stability of the existing boundary walls and 

potential subsidence of neighbour’s properties are noted, however this are not considered to 

be planning matters. The proposal does not seek to alter the existing boundary walls aside from 

widening the entrance. It is also noted that matters such as landscaping, scale and design will 

be reserved for future consideration at reserved matters stage.  

 
9. Human Rights 
 
9.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights Act 

1998. The proposals may interfere with an individual’s rights under Article 8 of Schedule 1 to 

the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their private 

and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be justified if it 

is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The potential interference 

here has been fully considered within the report in having regard to the representations 

received and, on balance, is justified and proportionate in relation to the provisions of the 

policies of the development plan and national planning policy.  

 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development will deliver 3no additional dwellings within the sustainable settlement of 
Armitage with Handsacre. The layout of the development has been designed in order to minimise the 
impact upon both the existing dwelling and neighbouring dwellings. The proposed access is considered 
to be safe and sufficient and it is considered that the development will provide sufficient parking 
provision. The scheme, subject to adhering to conditions, will not have a negative impact upon 
protected or priority species, and subject to securing a financial contribution will not have a 
detrimental impact upon the integrity of the Cannock Chase SAC. The scheme will impact upon 
protected trees however, it is considered that replacement planting can be secured to mitigate the 
loss of trees.  
 
Overall, subject to conditions and a Unilateral Undertaking in respect of Cannock Chase SAC, the 
proposal is considered to comply with the requirements of the Development Plan and NPPF and is 
recommended for approval.  

Page 192


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Planning Applications
	Master Agenda Item 4 (New)
	CONTENTS SHEET A for Committee - 27 July  2020.doc
	753 LP
	19.00753.OUTMEI Rugeley Power Station Revised Submission Final
	1015 LP
	19.01015.OUTM Streethay Ph2 FINAL.docx
	587 LP
	19.00587.FUL 22 Gaiafields Road FINAL 
	1341 LP
	19.01341.OUT, The Mount, committee report FINAL.docx




